# **Goldsmiths Research Online**

Goldsmiths Research Online (GRO) is the institutional research repository for Goldsmiths, University of London

#### Citation

Thomson, Alison. 2019. Re-Doing Patient Experience Through Design-Led Research. Doctoral thesis, Goldsmiths, University of London [Thesis]

#### Persistent URL

https://research.gold.ac.uk/id/eprint/26288/

#### Versions

The version presented here may differ from the published, performed or presented work. Please go to the persistent GRO record above for more information.

If you believe that any material held in the repository infringes copyright law, please contact the Repository Team at Goldsmiths, University of London via the following email address: gro@gold.ac.uk.

The item will be removed from the repository while any claim is being investigated. For more information, please contact the GRO team: gro@gold.ac.uk



## **RE-DOING PATIENT EXPERIENCE THROUGH DESIGN-LED RESEARCH**

**Alison Thomson** 

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

MARCH 2019 DESIGN DEPARTMENT GOLDSMITHS, UNIVERSITY OF LONDON

#### Decleration

I declare that this thesis and the work presented in it is entirely my own. Where I have consulted the work of others, this is always clearly stated.

**Alison Thomson** 

### Acknowledgements

This thesis would not be complete without my two very patient supervisors, Alex Wilkie and Bill Gaver. Alex, thank you for your continued guidance throughout the literature and for your attention to detail. Bill, thank you for encouraging me to stay true to the practice and for sharing your unique perspective on design research.

This thesis would not have been possible if I had not met Gavin Giovannoni and the Barts MS research group in 2011. Gavin - thank you for the opportunity to work with you and for always believing in me. A special thank you to David Baker for your patience, your creativity and humour, which has given me the most wonderful experience of entering the world of MS research. And to the rest of the team - Monica Marta, Klaus Schmierer, Ruth Dobson, Rebecca Aldam, Ben Turner, Sharmilee Gnanapavan, Freya Edwards, Grace Anjorin and Angharad Davis - thank you for welcoming a designer to your team. I am also very grateful that I met Carol Rivas who has been an ambassador for my contributions to the field and for mentoring my development as a researcher.

This work was funded by a PhD studentship grant from Novartis and the MOT study was funded by the Horne Family Foundation Trust - thank you both.

The practice based work in this thesis involved Karen Hoffman, Harriet Smith and the inspiring participants of the study. I am greatly thankful for their time and efforts. Many people with MS have contributed to this work through the Barts MS Advisory Group - thank you Patrick, Bonnie, Elizabeth and Mark - and the many readers of the Barts MS Blog. Thank you all for sharing your insights with me.

My experiences with my PhD By Design colleagues - Maria Portugal, Bianca Elzenbaumer and recently, Sören Rosenbak - has helped me find my place in the design research community and given me motivation when times have been difficult. I also want to warmly thank the fellow researchers who have shared their PhD journey with me - Paulina Yurman, Sarah Pennington, Matthew Plummer-Fernandez, Nicola Gray and Sandra Neves. And of course, my oldest and best friend, Kirsten Darling-McQuistan.

It has taken a monumental amount of commitment, stamina and self-motivation to complete this PhD – all skills I have learnt from my friends and team mates at Kent AC. Thank you for showing me the importance of always showing up.

I am very lucky to have such a supportive family, that have encouraged me throughout this process. Thank you Janette, John, Michael and Scott. Finally, thank you Adam. It's taken me many years to get here, I needed this time, and you have been there for me every day. It's finished!

## **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements.		
Table of Contents. .		
List of Figures		
List of Abbreviations		
Abstract		
Chapter 1: Introduction		
Background to the Thesis		
Multiple Sclerosis		
Contribution of the Thesis		
Research Question		
Thesis Structure		
Accountabilities and Ethics		
Presentations, Workshops and Lectures Conducted Related to PHD		
Intended Future Outputs		
Chapter 2: Opening the Black Box of Experience – Towards a Performative Understanding of Patient		
Experience		
Experience 1: Subjective Approaches to Experience		
Phenomenology and Experience		
Assumption 1: Limitation of Perception		
Design and Experience		
Assumption 2: STS and Experience		
Experience 2: Patient Experience Data		
Assumption 1: Failing to have Experiences		
Experience 3: Opening the Black Box		
Assumption 1: Backstage Performances		
Assumption 2: Performativity of Language		
Assumption 3: Performativity of Non-action		
Experience 4: Experience and the Event		
Conclusion		
Chapter 3: A Methodology for Studying Patient Experience		
Methodological Rationale		
Research Methods		
Pilot Studies: Engaging with patients, healthcare professionals and MS researchers $\ldots$		
Research Study: A Design-led Approach to Explore the Performativity of Measuring Upper-limb		
Function in MS		

	Involving patients in research activities	8
	Research Participants	8
ľ	Measuring upper-limb function in MS	8
	Activities	8
	Removing assumptions	. 8
ſ	Recording	. 8
(	Consent	8
ľ	Ethical considerations of methodology	8
ľ	Reflexivity	8
(		9
hap	ter 4: Opening up technologies of experience through three pilot studies	9
-	Technologies of experience and slowing down	9
ľ	Pilot studies as part of design research	.9
ľ	Pilot Study 1: Willow Plate	9
	Dealing with the mess	10
	Misbehaviour	1C
ſ	Pilot Study 2: How far can you walk?	10
	Practices of simulation	11
ſ	Pilot Study 3: Consultation pie	11
	Working together with other experience phenomena	11
	Accountabilities and assumptions of technologies of experience	12
,	A new technology of experience	12
(		12
ар	ter 5: MOT – A study slowing down technology of experience	12
,	Working towards a new technology of experience	12
	MOT study overview	13
	MS experience ensembles	13
	Homegrown technologies of experience	14
	Artefacts as entry points to experience	14
	Non-transferable experience	15
	Translation caused friction	15
,	What I have learned in developing a new technology of experience?	15
	A turning point – what does a new technology of experience look like?	15
ſ	Proposal 1 – Individualised experience technologies built around a patient's own ensembles	15
ſ	Proposal 2 - Under and Over	15
	Limitations of proposals	16
(	Completing the table of experience	16
1	Conclusion	16
	tor 6: Conclusion	14

A contribution to understandings of the notion of patient experience
A contribution to design
A contribution to MS research and healthcare professionals
Future work
References
Appendix A: MOT sound recording transcripts
Appendix B: Notes from clinic observations
Appendix C: MOT study protocol
Appendix D: NRES MOT study approval
Appendix E: QMUL MOT study approval
Appendix F: QMUL sponsorship
Appendix G: IRAS form
Appendix H: Participant information booklet
Appendix I: Participant consent form
Appendix J: Questions for the Measurement on Our Terms meetings
Appendix K: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 1
Appendix L: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 2
Appendix M: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 3

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1	A photograph of the Blizard Institute part of Barts and the London school of	
	Medicine and Dentistry at Queen Mary University of London where the Barts MS	
	research team are based and conduct their lab based research.	17
Figure 2	A photograph of Ward 11D in the Royal London Hospital in Whitechapel, London	
	where people with MS are treated by the Barts MS clinical team.	17
Figure 3	A photograph of the Barts MS research team (Photo credit: Dolly Clew).	18
Figure 4	The Digesting Science kit	20
Figure 5	A family affected by MS learning about Vitamin D supplementation which has been	
	proven to reduce their risk of developing MS.	20
Figure 6	A MS specilaist physiotherapist and two children with a parent with MS after	
	completing the `How MS affects your eye sight' activity.	20
Figure 7	Props (luggage tags, return ticket, passport, translation book, postcard) used to	
	engage patients and staff to think about interactions within an ideal journey within	
	the <i>MS Outpatient Future Group</i> study.	22
Figure 8	Photograph of the patient journey map created in the MS Outpatient Future Group	
	study, where patients and outpatient staff came together to imagine an alternative	
	outpatient experience using the metaphor of travelling on an ideal journey.	22
Figure 9	Photograph of me wearing a lesion for an MRI scan, April 2010.	23
Figure 10	Timeline of the MOT study development and ethics process.	32
Figure 11	Stages in experience-based co-design as described on The Point of Care	
	Foundation website where healthcare staff can access the EBCD approach toolkit	
	(Source: The King's Fund (2018). Stages in experience-based co-design. [image]	
	Available at: https://www.pointofcarefoundation.org.uk/resource/experience-	
	based-co-design-ebcd-toolkit/step-by-step-guide/1-experience-based-co-	
	design/ [Accessed 27 Dec. 2014]).	43
Figure 12	A photograph of the MSIS-29 paper based PROM.	49
Figure 13	The diagram above shows the distribution of the manual ability of the people who	

have completed the PROM with people less disabled on the left and people more

49 disabled on the right. Figure 14 Table describing of the three stages of PROM development for the MS-IS 29. 50 Figure 15 A photograph of a patient journal map constructed in a EBCD project representing the stages in the health service that the patient can interact with. 53 Figure 16 Image still of a YouTube video where a person with MS is filming herself walk as far as she can after receiving the CCSVI treatment (Source: 23SheaCera (2011). CCSVI Before and After Video. [video] Available at: https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=NoAdoNSvUbl [Accessed 19 March 2015]). 64 Figure 17 Image still of YouTube video where a person with MS films herself walking with a cane before receiving the CCSVI treatment, and then without the cane after the treatment (Source: kumquat509 (2010). Barbara Before and After CCSVI Video. [video] Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Hn6p9R6fQaY [Accessed 10 March 2016]). 64 Figure 18 Table of experience (unfinished) 68 Figure 19 75 How the pilot studies informed the study design. Figure 20 The Abilhand Questionnaire listing the upper limb activites that are currently 84 measured in people with MS by the clinical team. Figure 21 The MOT study process 86 Photographs of the poster exhibition at the ECTRIMS conference, October 2014. 99 Figure 22 Figure 23 Instructions given to participants to explain the Willow Plate exercise. 100 Figure 24 Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 1, entitled: Does the lobar distribution of cortical grey matter lesions correlate with cognitive impairment seen *in multiple sclerosis patients?* The first author, Varun Sethi, is pictured above. 102 Figure 25 Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 2, entitled: Immunogenicity with peginterferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: data from the pivotal phase 3 ADVANCE study. The first author, Joleen White, is pictured above.103 Figure 26 Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 3, entitled: Paced auditory serial addition test: normative data in a Turkish population. The first author, Muharrem Gurkan, is pictured above. 104 Figure 27 Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 4, entitled: Neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging in multiple sclerosis spinal cord. The first author,

Hugh Kearney, is pictured above.

8

Figure 28	Stills from a video recorded on my phone of a patient with MS using a walking stick and having their walking ability measured by a neurologist outside the Blizard Institute in Whitechapel. I have observed my clinical colleagues 'walking' a patient with MS on many occasions. In doing this, they adhere to the requirements to generate walking distance for a clinical trial.	109
Figure 29	An illustration of the set-up of the walking device and different technologies involved in recording the pilot study.	111
Figure 30	A compiled illustration of the tracking data gathered from the Moves App running on my phone showing the distance covered and time duration. By visualising this data, I am able to show our journey and the misdirection of the train, shown in red. This shows the route that we travelled from SW7 to E1 plotted on a map, marking each time we completed 360m in distance with a time stamp from the sound recording. We travelled to the underground station, then passed through it. The total journey took 1 hour 14 minutes.	112
Figure 31	Video stills taken from the camera attached to the trundle wheel show clips from the journey on the way from the underground station to the participants work.	113
Figure 32	Photographs of the Royal London Hospital Outpatient Department consultation and waiting room in Whitechapel, where the MS clinic takes place.	117
Figure 33	Copy of the blank pie given to each participant before the consultation.	118
Figure 34	Copy of the blank pie given to each participant after the consultation.	118
Figure 35	Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 1 and the neurologist for the consultation pie activity.	120
Figure 36	Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 2 and the neurologist for the consultation pie activity.	121
Figure 37	Four scans of the completed pies by Patient 3 and the MS nurse for the consultation pie activity.	122
Figure 38	Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 4 and the MS nurse for the consultation pie activity.	123
Figure 39	Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 5 and the registrar for the consultation pie activity.	124
Figure 40	Diagram showing how the two groups of patients interact in the face-to-face meetings involving 10 people and the online survey which received 89 responses.	131

Figure 41	Photograph of the Unity Kitchen Café where the meetings took place. The	
	photographs are taken before the meeting when the participants were not present.	
	I did not have ethical approval to take photographs of participants in the space.	132
Figure 42	Photograph of the view from the Unity Kitchen Café in the Olympic park, London.	132
Figure 43	Screenshot of the MOT survey on the Barts MS Blog 13th December 2017 (Source:	
	Thomson, A. (2017). We need a new way to measure upper limb function in MS: can	
	you help us?. [Blog] Barts MS Research Blog. Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-	
	research.blogspot.com/2017/12/we-need-new-way-to-measure-upper-limb.html	
	[Accessed 13 Dec. 2017]).	134
Figure 44	The 24 top activities gathered from the MOT online survey.	135
Figure 45	The top 8 external factors gathered from the MOT online survey.	136
Figure 46	Activity objects displayed on the table in the meeting.	137
Figure 47	Close up photograph of the external factor signs. The top three most influential	
	external factors were selected per activity and ordered in first (blue dot), second	
	(orange dot) and third (black dot) level of importance.	139
Figure 48	Photograph of the external factor signs.	139
Figure 49	Photographs of the objects displayed in the second meeting.	148
Figure 50	Under and Over grid.	159
Figure 51	Under and Over pattern book.	159
Figure 52	Developing the activity with a person with MS with upper-limb disability in their	
	homes as part of patient design activity.	160
Figure 53	Under and Over was exhibited at the ECTRIMS conference in October 2018 in Berlin	
	(Photo credit: The Agency of Design).	161
Figure 54	Completed table of experience.	165

All images were taken by the author unless otherwise stated.

## **List of Abbreviations**

ANT	Actor-Network Theory
CCSVI	Chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency
DMT	Disease Modifying Therapy
EBCD	Experience Based Co-Design
ECTRIMS	European Committee for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis
EDSS	Expanded Disability Status Scale
FDA	Federal Drug Association
HCI	Human Computer Interaction
HRA	Health Research Authority
HRQoL	Health Related Quality of Life
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NRES	National Research Ethics Service
PD	Participatory Design
PML	Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy
PPI	Patient Public Involvement
PPMS	Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis
PROM	Patient Reported Outcome Measure
PUS	Public Understanding of Science
QMUL	Queen Mary, University of London
RRMS	Relapsing Remitting Multiple Sclerosis
SPMS	Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis
SSK	Sociology of Scientific Knowledge
STS	Science and Technology Studies

### Abstract

This thesis researches and examines how 'patient experience' is understood and approached through practice in healthcare, social science and design. In the UK, there is a considerable effort to access, measure and improve patient experience in the National Health Service (NHS). It is considered to be something that can be defined and thus made available for intervention alongside and in ways comparable to measures of clinical effectiveness and safety.

As such, current approaches to patient experience from healthcare, social science and design will be set out, identifying different assumptions that figure the patient and patient experience in radically different ways. The thesis will then go on to use the notion of performativity to show how different methods and techniques – and their associated rationalities – that aim to capture, measure and improve patient experience actually produce and enact different versions of patient experience.

The empirical and practice-based element of this research is based with the Barts Multiple Sclerosis (MS) research team at Queen Mary University of London (QMUL). This team researches MS, a degenerative and chronic neurological disease affecting over 100,000 people in the UK. Through engaging with the empirical contexts of an outpatient clinic, a scientific conference and a measurement activity, this research will explore how patient experience is enacted in different contexts and consider the ways in which patient experience, as human/non-human arrangements, come into being and is made capable for action/inaction by way of measurement tools, misbehavior, practices of simulation and different experience phenomena.

This thesis will demonstrate that design-led research offers the opportunity to rethink or redo the patient experience, drawing on scholars in Science and Technology Studies (STS) to develop a methodological approach to deal with performativity of method and the multiple enactments of patient experience. Viewing interventions as performative will disrupt and provoke different forms of knowledge, methods and people, as well as revealing processes, practices and procedures (or technologies of experience) that articulate patient experience. These then contribute to the design of three research events where I set out to develop a new patient-reported outcome measure to produce alternative forms of patient experience. As will become evident, this aim proved to be misguided, if not impossible; instead, my contribution is a better understanding of the requirements of a new approach to working with an expanded notion of patient experience. This thesis concludes by reflecting on the implications of design-led interventions to study different versions of patient experience alongside expanding on how design researchers can empirically engage with this topic.

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Most of us have been a patient at one point in our lives. Whether for something minor or life changing, we have sought health advice or medical expertise. For most, having to take health advice and recover is a temporary state. However, those living with a degenerative chronic disease such as multiple sclerosis (MS) are, and will always be, patients.

Since the 5th of July 1948, people living in Britain have had access to a publicly funded National Health Service (NHS) which has been, and still remains, free at the point of delivery. Yet, in recent years, the effects of an increasing and ageing population has put pressure on the service to deliver care at the same capacity. While this may be a disaster waiting to happen, the NHS seems committed to delivering care to the best of its ability. In 2003, the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) produced a national document which outlined how MS should be managed in primary and secondary care. This document enshrined principles for effective management, including the provision of person-centred care with more recent guidance from NICE outlining the components of 'good patient experience' in adult NHS service (NICE, 2012).

Similarly, Lord Darzi, the previous Secretary of State for Health, wrote a report that associated healthcare quality standards with patients' experiences (Department of Health, 2008). The report asserts patient experience is as important as clinical effectiveness and safety in defining high-quality care. The report also aimed to incentivise measuring efforts to improve patient experience with further policy outlining payments to hospitals based on quality measures. It is thought that by collecting patient experience data, the strengths and weaknesses in healthcare delivery could be identified, thus driving quality improvement through informing health service commissioning and promoting patient choice (Black and Jenkinson, 2009). Following this, gathering patient experience data became mandatory in all NHS trusts, along with standards and rights being introduced that patients could expect when receiving healthcare from the NHS (Great Britain and Department of Health, 2010).

These policy documents have enabled patient experience to be considered a key component in improving the quality of healthcare services provided by the NHS. They also show how the UK government and healthcare regulatory bodies are driving the patient experience agenda forward through introducing pressures to measure service performance through health outcomes.<sup>1</sup> The health service functions in a system of evidence-based practice where medical practice and decisions are based on the best existing evidence rather than solely the experience of clinicians, traditions or theoretical reasoning (Guyatt et al., 1992). Therefore, the health service required an empirical, evidence-based understanding of

<sup>1</sup> Patient experience consistently features in the NHS Outcomes Framework which is a set of indicators created by the Department of Health and Social care to monitor how the NHS is performing in relation to health outcomes of adults and children (Department of Health, 2018).

the experience of patients to improve it. In other words, only by knowing what the patient experience is can they then determine how to improve it.

So, in this healthcare climate, patient experience is reported and accounted for during commissioning and service provision. Design is considered capable of changing, improving and creating patient and other healthcare experiences as it has already done within the commercial contexts of, for example, the entertainment industry. It has been used in the entertainment industry to form relationships between products and services for sale and for consumer needs based on commercial interests and consumer culture. Moreover, design, in relation to health experiences, works to create and alter the experiences of people, users and patients when interacting with health services, products, devices and information.

In other areas of healthcare, however, designers engage with the practices and procedures of medicine and research to explore and expand on the potential for design-led research to contribute to the research process. Within this space, they are challenging the knowledge practices of medicine and the healthcare service, making room for alternative conceptualisations of what it means to be a patient and further questioning who or what is capable of having experiences. This links to larger debates across different fields of research including design, medicine and social science where the nature of knowledge practices is being questioned, for example, in discussions about the positioning of quantitative and qualitative data, the accountability of practice-based research, the role of lay knowledge and the material turn in recent social-cultural and political theory.

Patient experience is a multidisciplinary area of study and practice where tensions exist between different kinds of expertise from everyday people's experiences of living with a chronic disease to designers' different ways of knowing and of practicing research, and medical researchers' experience-based knowledge. This topic is the focus of medicine, governmental policy, and practices from specialist fields of design while also being something that individual people can relate to if they have received healthcare. This is why it is my thesis topic. My motivations have also been influenced by my previous experience of working within the field of healthcare and design for the past eight years as a designer and a researcher. In this time, I have witnessed and been involved in an increasing number of initiatives, funding opportunities and research projects focussed on increasing the engagement and involvement of patients in healthcare as a direct effect of radical policy set out by the Labour government in the early 2000s to involve patients and the public in planning and changing services (Health and Social Care Act, 2001). From my experiences, I have developed the opinion that design plays a key role in these changes, and this is where I hope this thesis can contribute.

This introductory chapter starts with the background context of the thesis, explaining my collaboration with the Barts MS research group based at Queen Mary University of London (QMUL) and some of the projects that I have been involved in with them which inspired me to start a PhD. Following this is an account of MS (which is the chronic disease that this work is centred around), this thesis' research question, aims, objectives, thesis overview, timeline of the practice-based research, ethics process and overview of the thesis' contribution.

#### **Background to the Thesis**

My interest in working within the field of MS started as a one-day placement project in 2009. This placement was part of a design brief set within the Design Interactions Department at The Royal College of Art where I was studying for my MA in design. This brief was typical of scientist-designer collaborations that came out of the course at that time which aimed at exploring the relationship between science and society through design. As part of this project, I was introduced to a research nurse from The Royal London Hospital who invited me to observe people with MS taking part in a medical research study. Later that week, I travelled out of London in a private taxi with her and a neurologist to a district hospital where people with MS were having blood samples taken in a port-a-cabin outside of the hospital building. I observed about twenty people coming in to have their blood taken. At the end of the day, I travelled with the blood samples back to the university research institute housed in an impressive, award-winning building (Figure 1). I met a scientist who took the blood samples, anonymised them, and then spun them in a centrifuge ready to start testing for the study. In one day, I observed a small snapshot of the medical research process: patients giving informed consent in the clinic, their blood sample being taken, the transport of the blood samples to the lab and the anonymisation of the samples into barcodes, as well as the routine work of the researchers in the laboratory with their technical instruments and devices. I was immediately struck by the different environments, practices and attention that surrounded the patient from those that surrounded their blood. That first day of observation led to two design projects within the MA course, followed by an offer of a research position within the Barts MS research group.

For three years, I worked as a 'Research Service Designer' at QMUL with the Barts MS research group (Figure 3).<sup>2</sup> My main responsibility was to improve the outpatient experience for people with MS. In this role, I had unlimited access to neurology clinics both in The Royal London Hospital and across London within other specialist neurology centres. I would routinely sit in on patient consultations next to the medical students and spend time talking to patients in the clinical trials unit as they were receiving their infusions (Figure 2).

As time went on, the projects I was involved in started producing results, and I was invited to meetings with the research team and asked to contribute to discussions

<sup>2</sup> At the time, the group was called the Neuroimmunology Group. 'Barts MS' was created in 2014 to give the team and their work a more public-facing title. Barts MS was chosen as the team is based in Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry, and the hospital is part of Barts Health NHS Trust (previously called Barts and The London NHS Trust).



**Figure 1** A photograph of the Blizard Institute part of Barts and the London school of Medicine and Dentistry at Queen Mary University of London where the Barts MS research team are based and conduct their lab based research.



**Figure 2** A photograph of Ward 11D in the Royal London Hospital in Whitechapel, London where people with MS are treated by the Barts MS clinical team.



Figure 3 A photograph of the Barts MS research team (Photo credit: Dolly Clew).

that surrounded research topics and health service delivery. Eventually, I started initiating projects with the research team, and my role extended into thinking about how the patient experience could be improved through educating people with MS about current biomedical and therapeutic research. Over three years, we developed a number of public engagement projects which enabled dialogue between the research team and people with MS and their families.<sup>3</sup> An example of this is *Digesting Science*, an educational set of activities for children aged six to twelve with a parent with MS.<sup>4</sup> The main aim of the project is to teach children about MS through creative activities, but more importantly, it also works as a health intervention where families can be educated about MS prevention (Figure 4-6). Another project, PML Risk Calculator is a simple infographic communicating the risk of developing a potentially fatal brain infection while on an MS treatment. Through making this data clearer for patients, the pharmaceutical companies' lack of communication around informing physicians about these figures was highlighted.<sup>5</sup> All of these projects were unlike standard healthcare information development as this information was delivered in formats and spaces outside of routine clinical practice - mainly as weekend or evening events outside of the hospital buildings or as digital platforms.

The design perspective and methods of intervention was valued within the research group as it could highlight opportunities to design interactions between two groups of people, MS researchers and patients, who would not normally interact. The design approach also became of interest to others working in the area of patient experience: the MS charities; other departments of the university, such as the Centre for Public Engagement; and pharmaceutical companies. I was invited to speak about the projects and this approach at academic conferences (Thomson et al., 2011, 2013, 2015a) invited to become a features editor of the Elsevier journal, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders* and peer reviewer of a funding stream at the Wellcome Trust. Working as a designer within this research group allowed me to experiment with different approaches to how design could tackle the perceived disconnect between people with MS and research, with the aim of improving the information that is delivered to patients. Through this work, I developed an understanding of the limitations of using design interventions to influence the MS services delivered within the NHS. I realised the importance and the many challenges of developing designs that could fit within and impact upon the complex social, technical and institutional apparatus

<sup>3</sup> The role of designers within the field of public engagement in science is thoroughly described elsewhere (Michael, 2011; Kerridge, 2015) and is discussed in the methodology chapter.

<sup>4</sup> The Digesting Science project exists as a set of educational activities within five activity boxes which addresses topics of how MS affects vision, bladder function, walking, treatments and the importance of taking vitamin D. There are five kits which are circulating the UK and kits in Australia, South Africa and Israel. The project is multifaceted as events can be led by clinicians, nurses, therapists, parents, carer associations, therapy centres or charities. The project website is aimed at encouraging these audiences to access the kit and run an event for families in their geographical area ("Digesting Science," 2015). Since August 2014, there have been 63 Digesting Science events in the UK attended by 269 families and 454 children with a parent with MS.

<sup>5</sup> The PML risk communication tool was developed originally in print in 2014, to be used in the neurology and infusion clinics at The Royal London Hospital. Since then, it has been developed into an online resource as part of the Clinic Speak project enabling healthcare professionals and patients to access up to date risk information about the Tysabri therapy (Giovannoni, 2016).



Figure 4 The Digesting Science kit



**Figure 5** A family affected by MS learning about Vitamin D supplementation which has been proven to reduce their risk of developing MS.



**Figure 6** A MS specilaist physiotherapist and two children with a parent with MS after completing the 'How MS affects your eye sight' activity. of healthcare delivery. One project that was close to this took the format of a research study I developed entitled Multiple Sclerosis Outpatient Future Groups, which engaged patients and outpatient staff to use creative tools (Figure 7-8) to imagine improvements to the current outpatient department through engaging a future scenario (Thomson et al., 2015b). The process of planning the study to fit within the guidelines of the National Research Ethics Committee (NRES) introduced me to the many restrictions and guidelines that are in place for research within the NHS. This was an interesting process, but I became aware of the many assumptions about exactly what the research activity was and how people would be engaged and involved in the research process as either a patient or a member of staff. As a design practitioner, I felt these assumptions overlooked the located and situated interactions that actually occur between researchers, participants and other things within research events. For example, one experience from this study involved my request to take still photographs of the study participants' hands using the physical tools I had designed. My request to include this in the study was rejected by the local ethics committee as it was thought that these photographs of people's hands could still reveal the identity of the study participants. I felt that, apart from being highly unlikely, this gave a larger reflection on the issues that the committee were concerned with rather than more realistic or practical issues such as considering what the researcher will wear, i.e., something appropriately professional, or, unprofessional, or imaginative (in a previous project, I explored the potential for patients to design and make garments for their MRI scans. I demonstrated this by having an MRI scan wearing a brain lesion costume, which would be my outfit of choice if I had MS but would be considered to some as inappropriate. Therefore, I was willing to wear imaginative outfits as part of a research project [Figure 9]). This experience, along with others, and the inability at that time for me to articulate my frustration with the settings that I was working in, motivated me to start this PhD research project.

#### **Multiple Sclerosis**

A textbook description of MS describes it as 'an inflammatory disorder of the central nervous system and the most common non-traumatic cause of neurodisability in the young', (Dobson and Giovannoni, 2012, p. 1). According to the MS Society (2015), MS affects around 100,000 people in the UK. MS can be characterised by relapses, which are the result of an immune attack on the central nervous system which causes the myelin that surrounds the nerves in the brain and the spinal chord to be damaged. Historically, MS has been categorised into four groups: benign MS, relapsing remitting MS (RRMS), primary progressive MS (PPMS) and secondary progressive MS (SPMS) which describe the different relapse rates. Benign MS is very mild, and although a person can have lesions (the sign of MS myelin damage in the brain and spinal chord) on their MRI scan, they may have no symptoms. RRMS is the most common type of MS and is where relapses, and the symptoms



**Figure 8** Props (luggage tags, return ticket, passport, translation book, postcard) used to engage patients and staff to think about interactions within an ideal journey within the *MS Outpatient Future Group* study.



**Figure 7** Photograph of the patient journey map created in the *MS Outpatient Future Group* study, where patients and outpatient staff came together to imagine an alternative outpatient experience using the metaphor of travelling on an ideal journey.



Figure 9 Photograph of me wearing a lesion for an MRI scan, April 2010.

can vary. The most common symptoms are optic neuritis and a pins-and-needles-like sensation in the limbs, but it can also include dizziness, imbalance and fatigue. As a person suffers from more relapses, they will recover less from these symptoms, accumulating more disability. People with RRMS will eventually develop SPMS where they do not recover from relapses and there is a gradual progression of their condition. People with PPMS do not have any distinct attacks or remissions but begin with subtle problems that slowly get worse over time.

Significant advances have been made in the past fifteen years in the development of treatments for MS. The aim of these treatments is to reduce the frequency and severity of relapses, prevent disability, relieve symptoms, prevent or delay disability arising from disease procession and promote myelin repair. Drugs used in MS treatment fall into three categories: treatment of relapse (steroids), disease modifying therapies (DMTs) or symptom relief. DMTs are used with the aim of modifying the long-term course of MS and have been found to be most effective for people with RRMS who are continuing to relapse. As yet, there is no DMT for progressive MS due to the neurodegenerative process involved. DMTs are either self-administered, meaning the patient can inject the drug or take the tablet themselves at home, or hospital administered, where the patient has to attend a hospital for infusion. The frequency of these visits depends on the treatment and can range from an infusion every four weeks to one every three months for two years.

Recent MS research, is now describing MS as one disease which operates without separate categories as they are deemed to be not supported by science (Giovannoni et al., 2017; Cerqueira et al., 2018). This argument proposes that the neurodegenerative phase of MS is present from the start of disease onset, rather than starting in the progressive stages, which would suggest that current treatments could work beyond one disease category. As almost all treatments are currently licenced for relapsing MS, the implications of this would enable people with progressive MS to access therapies and consider their MS as modifiable (Ciotti and Cross, 2018). For this to happen, clinical trials would need to firstly involve more disabled patients and outcome measures would need to be sensitive to their likelihood of change (Pardini et al., 2017). This makes the case for the need for new clinical tools to be able to measure change and improvement in more disabled patients, an important point this thesis explores further.

The Barts MS research group at QMUL is led by Professor Gavin Giovannoni. As a biomedical research group, it is at the forefront of clinical trials, re-myelinating studies and animal research in pushing the boundaries of MS research. The group consists of clinical researchers, PhD students, scientists, lab assistants, research nurses, MS nurse specialists and consultant neurologists. The group is part of UCLPartners, an initiative to bring together research groups across regional areas in London, which has access to 10,000 people with MS, about 10% of the total population of people with MS in the UK. In some respects, the group is traditional because its members conduct research, publish papers in academic

journals and present at conferences. But in others, it is innovative. Many members of this team contribute to the Barts MS Research Blog, which was set up by Giovannoni and the professor of immunology, Professor David Baker, in 2013. The blog is hugely successful and has a global readership, typically gaining over 7,000 hits per day.<sup>4</sup> The team uses the blog to have an open dialogue within the MS community (including people with MS, patients of the group, family members, other researchers, physicians and pharmaceutical representatives) about topical issues of the field. This includes posts on issues such as Political Speak, which discusses political issues of funding the NHS; Clinic Speak, which discusses issues from the neurology clinic and Neuro Speak, where topics are written about for other healthcare professionals. As a treatment centre, it runs a number of clinical trials, and much of the research this group produces has gone into developing treatments for people with MS currently being used today. The Barts MS research group is also open to collaboration with researchers from other fields, such as design. My ongoing collaboration with the Barts MS research group is testament to this and has continued through the process of this doctoral research.<sup>7</sup>

#### **Contribution of the Thesis**

This thesis aims to answer the following research question: how can design-led research redo 'patient experience' for people with MS? The inclusion of the word 'redoing' is key in reflecting how I propose that design-led research methods, conceived and conducted as 'performative', might enact a different version of patient experience, which I intend to be one of the main contributions of this thesis.<sup>8</sup> The thesis starts with these initial observations from my previous experience of working with the Barts MS research group and further investigates and examines how design-led research can rethink how patient experience is approached in both healthcare and design. In doing this, this thesis considers and works with different forms of knowledge, methods, practices and people. In the literature review, I set out a table of experience to think about how different forms of knowledge, methods, practices and people consider patient experience differently. This identifies the different assumptions that figure the 'patient' and 'patient experience' in radically different ways and shows how the different methods and techniques - and their associated rationalities - that aim to capture and measure patient experience actually produce and enact different versions of patient experience understood through the notion of performativity. This thesis aims to contribute this table of patient experience as an analytic framework to examine the relations between experience and design. The methodology used in this thesis proposes a performative understanding of patient experience, explored through practice-based, design-led research.

<sup>6</sup> The Barts MS research blog can be accessed from http://multiple-sclerosis-research.blogspot.com/. On Wednesday the 16th September 2015, the blog received 7,046 page views. The total page views for August 2015 was 185,744.

<sup>7</sup> The thesis was conducted part-time while I was working as a researcher as part of the Barts MS research group.

<sup>8</sup> The hyphen has been intentionally included in the thesis title, "re-doing", to emphasis this point.

Through the remaining chapters of the thesis, I consider how the notion of performativity can help examine exactly what goes on in research events that aim to generate patient experiences. Finally, the contribution is a better understanding of the requirements of a new approach to working with an expanded notion of patient experience.

The intended audience for the thesis is multiple. Firstly, it aims to contribute to practices of involvement and engagement of 'the patient experience' in research and service development projects, such as Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) activities based in universities and NHS trusts and health service design activities within UK hospitals, making the case for the unique contribution that design-led research can bring. Secondly, it seeks to demonstrate to the design community the opportunities and practical challenges of conducting design-led research within a medical research environment with the aim of contributing to the development of design research within healthcare. Finally, it considers designers' treatment of experience and how design is deployed within healthcare practice and healthcare research. Here, I would like to contribute an expanded understanding of how designers can practically engage with healthcare professionals, patients and notions of patient experience within healthcare contexts while working without adhering to assumptions of either discipline.

#### **Research Question**

How can design-led research redo 'patient experience' for people with multiple sclerosis?

#### Aim

The primary aim of this research is to investigate how patient experience is created and circulated for people with MS. A secondary aim of this research is to develop a practicebased way to involve and engage people to contribute to the development of new patient experiences.

#### **Objectives**

1. Identify different versions of patient experience and understand how they are influenced by social science, healthcare practices and design.

2. Suggest ways in which design can contribute to the performativity of patient experience.

3. Deliver a research study which explores how design-led research can uncover and explore the situated enactments of MS.

#### **Thesis Structure**

This thesis consists of six chapters: introduction, literature review, methodology, pilot study, empirical research and conclusion. Below, I provide an outline of the thesis structure with descriptions of the content of each chapter.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

This first chapter introduces the thesis with a description of how patient experience has become a preoccupation of healthcare commissioning (Department of Health, 2008) and introduces the growing involvement of design in this area. I also explain how I came to work in the field of MS with examples of previous work in this area, a description of MS and my relationship with the Barts MS group at QMUL.

### Chapter 2: Opening the Black Box of Experience – Towards a performative understanding of patient experience

The literature review chapter sets out how researchers involved in patient experience draw upon different theoretical approaches and how this figures the patient and patient experience in radically different ways. Here, I pull out from the literature four different theoretical versions of 'patient experience'. Experience 1 is influenced by phenomenological approaches to experience (Heidegger, 1927; Husserl, 1931; Merleau-Ponty, 1962) and can be seen in patient-subjective reports in nursing research (Crotty, 1996). Experience 2 is a data version which, drawing on Science and Technology Studies (STS) literature, can be thought about as immutable mobiles (Latour, 1987) generated through quantitative health measurement tools such as patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) (Walton et al., 2015) and design approaches to improve service experiences through experience-based co-design (EBCD) (Bate and Robert, 2007). Drawing on work of STS scholars, I move from understanding the production and enactment of patient experience from the register of representation to the idiom of performativity (Pickering, 1995; Law, 2004). Through doing this and including further work on performativity (Austin, 1976; Butler, 1990; Callon and Law, 1997), I set out how Experience 3 is a performative result of the situated interplays of human, practices and objects, among others (Danholt, 2005). Finally, **Experience 4** calls for a distributed experience around the notion of an event (Fraser, 2009; Wilkie et al., 2014; Michael, 2016; Lury, 2018).

#### Chapter 3: A methodology for studying patient experience

This chapter describes a methodological approach to the study of multiple versions of patient experience through design-led research. The chapter starts with the methodological rationale I have chosen to use as developed from performative (Law, 2004) and inventive methods (Lury and Wakeford, 2012). This is followed by a detailed description and explanation of my choice of research methods of pilot studies and three research events (Michael, 2016). This description includes the rationale I developed when I set out to develop a new PROM to measure upper-limb function for people with MS as a research study. It then provides an overview of the stages of the research study of three patient meetings and an online survey including reflections of the process of taking the study through Health Research Authority (HRA) approval. This chapter also includes a description of the design of these meetings as engaging situations where people, tools, and concepts come together to develop a PROM. In doing this, the chapter sets out methodological challenges and opportunities of intervening in a performative understanding of patient experience through design-led research. This highlights the limitations of current engagement and involvement methodologies of involving people in research from within the contexts of healthcare (Ives et al., 2013), social science (Lezaun, 2007) and design (Ehn, 2008), as well as outlining the ethics of working with a performative method (Danholt, 2008; Wilkie et al., 2014) with patient participants.

#### Chapter 4: Slowing down technologies of experience through three pilot studies

This empirical chapter reports on the three pilot studies that have been conducted as the first practice-based element of this thesis. Consultation Pie, Willow plates and How far can you walk? were all conducted between 2013 and 2015 and informed the design of the research study Measurement on Our Terms (MOT). It further describes the purpose and role of pilot studies as a research method in relation to both healthcare and design research fields. This chapter explores what kinds of technologies of experience (Ellwood, 1988) are at play in doing patient experience by introducing Stengers' notion of slowing down (2005). This enabled me to analyse experience in the making as chains of translations (Callon, 1986) and unpick specific situated practices (Mol, 2002; Suchman, 2007) and knowledges in an outpatient clinic, in a scientific conference and in a measurement activity. This chapter describes the intended aims of the pilot studies, what happened in their deployment and the learnings that each generated in my understanding of patient experience, including dealing with mess, misbehaviour, practices of simulation, working with other experience phenomena, accountabilities and assumptions of technologies of experience. The chapter concludes with an analysis of the performative effects of these studies in the contexts they are deployed.

### Chapter 5: Measurement on Our Terms – A study slowing down technologies of experience

This chapter presents the Measurement on Our Terms study consisting of three patient meetings and an online survey bringing people together to share everyday hand-and-arm activities that are affected by their MS. The chapter describes what happened, how the participants interacted and responded to the research setting and the accounts they share. The activities that are discussed are considered different practices of MS (Moser and Law,

2003), or MS ensembles, which involve a combination of human and non-human objects with different appreciations (Pols, 2005). The top responses are gathered, discussed and reviewed against external factors aided by objects representing each activity. The chapter uses the notion of performativity to inform the analysis of how the activities were performative, the role objects had in these activities and what specific conditions affected them. Here, I look at the results of these interactions as co-productions within material environments (Pols, 2005). I explore what theoretical questions are brought up about the conditions, procedures and instruments for producing knowledge, specifically looking at how the group describes and demonstrates the limits of each activity and what it means for their daily lives. I reflect on the activities, methods, tools involved and the process of the research study to explore patient experience, reporting on the liveness of the research event where bodies, issues and research tools come together. I consider the research site and the tools that have contributed to the production of new knowledge and associated accountability of this from the expertise of people with MS and their situated actions of living with MS (Callon and Rabeharisoa, 2004). At the end of this chapter, I describe my realization that doing a PROM that could simultaneously capture *experience ensembles* and be scalable is misguided, if not impossible. Instead, I discover that a new form of experience technology is required which is beyond the scope of this thesis, so I speculate about what this would look like and how it would exist. Finally, the chapter points to two directions as future possibilities for a new technology of experience, while outlining the practical contingencies of doing this type of work through practice-based design research within the NHS.

#### **Chapter 6: Conclusions**

This final chapter summarises the research findings and clearly articulates how the contributions of this thesis sits within understandings of healthcare, social science and design-led research. I reflect on the ways and degrees to which I have addressed my research question and how the research has contributed to the development of my design research practice and the opportunities it has provided me for further research. I conclude this section, and the thesis, with implications for future research in this area, reflecting on the contribution this research makes to current practices of patient experience in design, healthcare and social science, as well as future developments in areas such as patient engagement and involvement practices where the research may be further relevant.

#### Accountabilities and Ethics

One of the challenges of writing this thesis has been framing the work amongst different fields of research and practice. As I have already pointed out, there are multiple audiences for this work – designers, healthcare professionals, MS researchers and those involved in patient engagement and involvement - each with different academic traditions and accountabilities linked to them. Therefore, I am accountable to different audiences. For the practice based and theoretical contributions of this thesis to speak to these multiple audiences, it must not only meet, but stand on the same ground as them. The substantial appendix to this thesis demonstrates the level of transparency required in the health research process by presenting the number of regulatory documents involved in this work. I include these to clearly show that the research has been conducted according to ethical guidance in healthcare but also in part to demonstrate the amount of commitment, application and extended work involved to involve patients in research processes with design research. For audiences that are not accustomed to this process, the illustration in Figure 10 demonstrates the timeline of how I completed and successfully gained QMUL ethics, NRES ethics and HRA approval for the Measurement on Our Terms study.

#### Presentations, Workshops and Lectures Conducted Related to PHD

Throughout the duration of the PhD, I took part in a number of initiatives specific to this research, enabling me to present my work to a range of design, social science and medical audiences at different points in the research process. These are listed on page 33 and became incredibly productive moments as they enabled me to not only organise my thoughts at that time into a coherent presentation but also to gather feedback and responses on my research direction and thinking.

#### **Intended Future Outputs**

The intention is for this research to be disseminated in many different formats to different areas. The practice-based work is ongoing in that it continues to contribute to conceptions of a new technology of experience that will enable people with MS to measure their upperlimb function. At the moment, this involves the *Under and Over* project, which is briefly introduced in chapter 5. This will be shared and distributed across the patient community through the Barts MS research blog and the Barts MS and UCLP clinical services. It can also take on more participatory approaches of dissemination at patient events, such as *MS Life*, a bi-annual event attended by around 5,000 people with MS organised by the UK MS Society and *MS Research Days*, annual events attended by 350 people with MS organised by the Barts MS research team. The sustainment of this project will also contribute to the PPI and public engagement academic community at QMUL and wider where different results, insights and further research will go on to create more knowledge about the process of patient experience exploration.

The more theoretical aspects of the research, such as the table of experience and writing on how performative design-led research can explore patient experience, will be disseminated through academic papers aimed at researchers interested in healthcare research, design and STS. The hope is this will also be presented at relevant design research conferences, such as the *Design Research Society, Design 4 Health, Include,* and *Research* 

*Through Design*, to communicate effectively the value of this thesis' contribution to the design research community.



Figure 10 Timeline of the MOT study development and ethics process.

### PRESENTATIONS, WORKSHOPS AND LECTURES CONDUCTED RELATED TO PHD RESEARCH

- **2013** Interviewed by Leah Armstrong, for the Arts and Humanities Research Council project, *Mapping Social Design*, 4th December
- **2014** Lancaster University PhD Summer School presentation: *Re-doing patient experience through design-led research: considering the multiplicity and ontological politics of MS.* Lancaster University. 30th June 1st July
- **2015** Panel discussion: Design Culture Salon 15: *How does design address immobilities in our society?* V&A Design Culture Salon, 13th March

Research Presentation: *Speculation as Design Research*, Goldsmiths Design Festival, 2nd September

Research Presentation: *Re-doing the Patient Experience for people with MS*. Doctoral Research in Design, part of Goldsmiths Design Festival 3rd September

CSISP Salon. *Measures of/for health: Practices and instruments*. Co-organised with Vera Ehrenstein, 18th November, Goldsmiths

- 2016 Take part in Patient Engagement Steering Group, Wellcome Trust, January September
- **2017** Lecture to medical students: *How design-research can re-do the patient experience,* Complex Healthcare Processes Research Group, University of Southampton, 7th March

Lecture to MSc students: *How design-research can re-do the patient experience.* Anthropologies of Global Health Lecture to MSc Global Health Modules QMUL, 9th March

Research Presentation: *Speculation as Design Research*. Design Matters PhD forum, Department of Design Goldsmiths, 13th April

Research Presentation: *Speculation as Design Research*. Research Matters, Barts Health NHS Trust, 24th May

Research Presentation: *Speculation as Design Research. What matters to you?*, Patient Experience conference, Barts Health NHS Trust, 12th July

**2018** Contribution to Design for Health(care) track at DRS2018, University of Limerick, 25th – 28th June

Participate in Nordes summer school, *Design and Care*, Linnaeus university Växjö, Sweden, 14th – 17th August

Chapter 2: Opening the Black Box of Experience – Towards a Performative Understanding of Patient Experience This literature review will explore how 'patient experience' variously operates in healthcare and design by drawing on literature from philosophy and the social sciences. Patient experience is a phrase frequently used in research involving patients and health interactions which can be traced through diverse fields of literature. Therefore, it is important to be clear about the trajectory that I take through these different research disciplines to include and exclude different ideas and references to notions of 'patient experience'. There is a large body of qualitative research from the sociology and anthropology of health and illness that focuses on capturing and theorising different aspects of the patient experience, arguing importantly that it extends well beyond the clinical context, the body and its relationship to society and the patient themselves. For example, scholars such as Strauss' work on chronic illness expands understandings of illness as work conducted at home (1975). Reviews of 'lay' experiences of health and illness trace the 'missing voices' in historical accounts of patients life-worlds in medical sociology and point towards more interdisciplinary research (Lawton, 2003). More recently, there has been increased sociological attention that is critical of the way in which the patient experience is framed and incorporated in health policy, research and practice specifically looking at participation in healthcare (Rabeharisoa, Moreira and Akrich, 2014) and a more health services research approach to the problematic operationalisation of patient experiences (Martin, 2008; Martin, Carter and Dent, 2018).

The focus of this thesis, however, is on how the patient experience has been specifically deployed within clinical and scientific research settings rather than within the social sciences more widely. Empirically, my approach is distinct from studies of patient experience from sites of patients' homes or workplaces, to focus on particular situations within clinical interactions, scientific dissemination and measurement activities. The broad field of potentially relevant literature has been delineated for the purposes of this thesis by staying close to how 'patient experience' has been predominantly understood in research and participatory activities in healthcare, and then goes on to draw on ANT inspired research that emphasises performativity to rethink this. This specific trajectory has been further influenced and guided from the forms of sociology encouraged from the sociology community at Goldsmiths where this research is also closely linked.

Patient experience is also considered from embodied perspectives of disability studies in relation to equality and social inclusion. Again, this broad field of study encompasses a range of medical social scientific and rehabilitative disciplines (Bury, 1991; Williams, 1999; Barnes, Oliver and Barton, 2002) as well as the perspectives of disabled activists (Oliver, 1990; Shakespeare and Watson, 2001). Thus, though I briefly reference work at the intersections of STS and disability studies later in the thesis, the wider area of literature is not heavily drawn on. I am conscious that looking to this broader field would provide a further source of inspiration for thinking about the generative MS ensembles and technologies of experience that I set out later in the thesis. Although both sets of literature provide interesting and promising accounts of patient experience, it is beyond the scope
of this thesis to fully incorporate those literatures. These would be interesting directions for future research. Therefore, the literature included in this chapter focuses on the use of design thinking and practices as a means for rethinking and redoing patient experience in the context of primarily clinically orientated MS research and care.

This literature review chapter is organised around four versions of 'experience' as understood and practiced across a range of different fields. The aim here is to identify how these are mobilised in and enacted through practice and highlight the different assumptions inherent in these approaches. The first understanding of patient experience will start with a brief outline of the theoretical tradition of experience, drawing on particular philosophical perspectives. The second understanding will go on to review approaches to measure and capture patient experience within clinical and design practice. This will establish both qualitative and quantitative approaches to measurement as technologies of experience. The third understanding will introduce the notion of performativity as an analytic lens to further examine the patient experience and unpick exactly what these technologies of experience are doing. The fourth, and final, understanding will examine how the notion of an 'event' can contribute to thinking about how patient experience is brought about and the 'felicity conditions' that are required in its enactment. This chapter will conclude with some considerations for a performative understanding of patient experience and consider how this will inform the methodology chapter. Figure 18 on page 68, at the end of this chapter, presents these different understandings of patient experience alongside one another. Throughout this review, I will draw on empirical examples of patient experience from my research with the Barts MS research team to illustrate this analysis.

#### **Experience 1: Subjective Approaches to Experience**

To help follow my indexing of the different understandings of experience, and to help me in this discussion, I bookmark each new definition in the format of an indented box and **change of font** as I introduce and refer back to it. This allows me to compare and contrast different types of 'experience' in Figure 18 later in the thesis.

Experience 1: This first understanding of experience is of a patient's inner, subjective experience of events of which they have a first-hand experience. This understanding is heavily influenced by phenomenology and is dominant in healthcare practices that treat patients as subjective beings.

In this section, I introduce **Experience 1** starting with the various philosophical perspectives that are drawn upon and frequently referred to when explaining this version of experience. The reason for this starting point is that philosophical perspectives underpin and inform different approaches to experience within healthcare, and as I go on to point out, are similar to how designers approach experience within service improvement projects. This

is followed by a discussion on the assumptions that are inherit in the main understandings of lived experience – phenomenology. I will then draw on literature in STS to unpack the assumptions inherit in both medicine's and design's approaches to patient subjectivity.

The experience of thinking, acting and existing in the world is thought about and underwritten by different philosophical perspectives. Much of this can be traced back to the eighteenth century, when the approach to philosophy by David Hume, and before him John Locke, argued for experience-based thinking where nothing is knowable without experiencing it first in the physical world. This is called 'empiricism', which states that all knowledge comes from sensory experience - what we can see, touch and smell - and this is the only knowledge people can have. In other words, we can only know something through having had a sensory experience of it. It is through empiricism, and its further development into positivism, that the scientific method is logical. Positivism, coined by Auguste Comte, goes further than empiricism to argue that for this knowledge to be authentic, it has to be created through specific methods with logical principles - the scientific method. This scientific and logical treatment of sensory experience enforces principles to ensure authentic knowledge is produced. These principles are applied to sensory experiences through conducting experiments that produce results that can then be interpreted. Shapin and Schaffer (1985, p. 25) argue that experiments, or what was established as the experimental and dominant scientific mode of empiricism by Robert Boyle, include three key aspects: First, the exact apparatus pieces that are used to conduct experiments. Second, experiments and scientific procedures are to be carried out and documented in a specific way (e.g., documenting through writing in descriptive language and using intricate diagrams). Finally, repeating experiments and exploring if different or unintended results are produced. Here, a person witnessing an experiment is not enough to gain consensus of a result, it has to be repeated for and by others. The reliability of experiment results and the removal of individual bias - objectivity - is key to the scientific method.

Both empiricism and positivism treat sensory experience in this way, which is a very different approach to considering the inner, personal experience of a person. This is described as the lived experience, and it is the relationship between how people experience things as humans and the meanings things have in their experiences. This would describe experiences that people have as a phenomenal experience. This is different from how empiricists treat experience; they would try to determine the experience's meaning through third-person reliability and downplay any first-person interpretation. However, the study of phenomena argues that people ascribe meaning to every event as a mental construct that is unique for each person.

Since the nineteenth century, positivist thinking about experience dominated social and behavioural research where approaches to health research was based on numerical measurement and were generally quantitative research methods. But in the 1980s and 1990s, the use of qualitative methods in healthcare research grew rapidly through a rejection of this positivist paradigm within academic research (Morse, 1991; Smith, 1992; Nurse-Patient Relations and Benner, 1994; Greenhalgh and Hurwitz, 1998; Reiners, 2012). Influential articles in prominent journals such as the *British Medical Journal* called for more relevant, achievable and appropriate qualitative approaches to produce knowledge about patients' experiences, feelings and emotions than that of the currently dominant quantitative methods (Mays and Pope, 1996). This research, and considering people's phenomenal experiences being located in the human mind, went on to produce certain views of human subjectivity and patient experience that were taken up in healthcare, which I will now go on to explain.

### **Phenomenology and Experience**

The study of phenomena, phenomenology, is the dominant theory of experience within philosophy and is closely associated with the work of German philosopher Edmund Husserl and his student Martin Heidegger. It is based on the premise that reality is what is perceived or understood in human consciousness. There are essential differences between Husserlian and Heideggerian phenomenology, which can be illustrated in how it has been taken up in nursing research to try to better understand human behaviour in health and illness research. Following Husserl (1931), the nursing approach to understanding patient experience considers the patient's direct awareness of an event. Here, a researcher might conduct an interview with a patient to study the patient's description of their perception of an outpatient clinic. This is a descriptive approach to access the phenomena of experience concerned with epistemological issues of the basis of human knowledge, where people are detached subjects in a world of objects. Husserlian phenomenology retains the Cartesian object-subject divide. However, Heidegger (1927) reacted against this and argued that not everything is a product of consciousness (e.g., the feeling of anxiety and dread [Walters, 1995]). Heidegger's work is interested in more ontological issues and concepts of being in the world over knowing the world (Reiners, 2012). This is an interpretive approach based on existential perspectives which proposes that an understanding of the person cannot occur in isolation from that person's world. Therefore, a researcher might ask a patient to complete a diary about their outpatient clinic experience to better understand the interpretation of their experience of being in a clinic. Although both of these approaches to experience have been taken up by nursing researchers, much of this work fails to differentiate between the different epistemological and ontological focusses which have different implications for research methodologies (Walters, 1995, p. 791).1

Later developments in phenomenology went on to conceptualise the role of the body in how we experience, introducing the idea of embodied knowledge. Maurice Merleau-

1 This is also the criticism of Michael Crotty who in his book, *Phenomenology and Nursing Research*, argues that the research conducted by nurses using phenomenology actually developed a North American hybrid of the philosophy. See Crotty (1996).

Ponty's (1962) work considers health and illness as an embodied experience that we have a position of, from within a body that we are perceiving the world through. Merleau-Ponty calls this the lived body, and this is something separate from the objective body. The objective body is that which medicine treats and the lived body is how we experience our body. He argues that in first-hand experience of living day-to-day as a healthy person, we do not notice the difference between the objective body and the lived body. It is only when we are ill or something goes wrong (e.g., we experience symptoms, pull a calf muscle when running or get a headache) that the objective body is brought to our attention, and we start to notice our body. So this approach to experience would argue that two people can be affected by the same thing, but because they have different bodies, it will affect them differently. Phenomenology places an important role on humans' ability to perceive the world, stating that perceived experience is the foundation of subjectivity (Merleau-Ponty, 1962, p. 146).

## **Assumption 1: Limitation of Perception**

I have started to unpack some of the main philosophical approaches to experience. This has highlighted two key assumptions that underpin **Experience 1**. The first assumption is how phenomenology deals with the subjective perspectives of individual people and can be described as the limitation of perception. Havi Carel (2012) effectively uses the example of a native English speaker and a non-native English speaker hearing the same sentence in English. They hear the same sentence but perceive it differently due to their different perspectives of the world. Relating this to health, the experience of living with a chronic illness is different for everyone. For people living without the illness, the experience may look awful, but in fact, the experience of living with illness may be very different from what it is perceived to be. This critique on perception is also articulated by scholars of disability studies who argue that if we are not experiencing the same events through the same body, then we have no way of really grasping or understanding the embodied experience (Diedrich, 2005; Moser, 2006; Galis, 2011).

This assumption impacts how patient experience is thought about and approached in healthcare practice, research and policy. Within the NHS, it is widely understood that allowing patients to report on their experiences of care is key to understanding their experiences, as supported by departments such as The King's Fund (Goodrich and Cornwell, 2008). Within the Barts MS research team, patients talk about their experience of living with MS frequently. They run a three-day MS preceptorship teaching course where trainee neurologists, clinical nurse specialists and pharmaceutical representatives learn about MS treatments and care. The teaching course includes eight, thirty-minute sessions where patients share their experiences of issues such as pregnancy and MS, pain in MS, diagnosis, sphincter dysfunction, cognitive impairment and treatments. This is widely regarded as the most popular component of this course. In this situation, individual patients become representatives or spokespersons (Callon, 1986, p. 13) speaking on behalf of others, not just for their own experience but for 'the patient experience', representing a wider population of patients (Collins and Evans, 2002).

This assumption within **Experience 1** has further problems for accessing and reporting experiences. Phenomenology places experience in the minds of individual people, which presumes that an individual's mind is the centre of and cause for their experience. So then, the only way for others (in the case of this thesis, neurologists, researchers or designers) to access this experience is through the experiencing person reporting on it. In other words, as a person experiences an event, they interpret it, and it goes into that person's memory. As time passes, other memories join it. When that person then reports on that event, a description of the memory is reported. This is described as 'the problem' (Chalmers, 1995, p. 200) of subjectivity. As a source of knowledge, subjective experiences are unreliable as they are affected by that person's perspective of the world (their ontological view) when going in and out of our memory (Dennett, 1991). So then, when we recall an experience, we re-experience it in our minds. This is unlike empiricism and scientific experiments, where a third person can verify or falsify a result; it is not possible to separate the event from the person's viewpoint and see another person's raw data to compare the actual event with the report of the event itself.<sup>2</sup>

# **Design and Experience**

The phenomenological understanding of experience and the limitations of perception highlight interesting aspects of how experience has become a key operator in design. Different genres of design have responded to the notion of experience as a hitherto untapped and underdeveloped resource. The field of experience design (Shedroff, 2001; Benz, 2015; Wendt, 2015) focusses on the design of experiences as an aspect of consumption since the rise of the experience economy (Pine and Gilmore, 1999). This distinct historical stage of economic development in the 1980s saw an extension of consumer culture where global companies and brands such as Starbucks and Disney operated by way of staging or 'theming' (Lury, 2009, p. 75) experiences that provided particular sensations for people as customers and, in more recent work, addressing them as audiences (Ben Hayoun, 2017). Bill Moggridge (2007), co-founder of IDEO, one of the world's largest design companies at that time, described how experiences emerge in the interaction of objects, interactions, spaces and information, transcending different mediums (Svabo and Shanks, 2015, p. 26). Lury (2009) goes on to describe these complex relations between consumer and brand as *assemblages* to reflect the diverse practices, technologies and mediums that are involved

<sup>2</sup> The notion of 'raw data' is contested (Räsänen and Nyce, 2013) as the term was used by Swedish intelligence practitioners who were interested in challenging these common sense understandings of key terms like raw and cooked. They described how 'data' is already shaped and full of assumptions prior to being analysed – so 'raw' data rarely exists, if at all.

in the processes of branding. This approach of companies and designers working in this way to generate experiences for customers or audiences is described as a first-generation understanding of the experience economy in design. In this, people are reduced to passive targets who generate experiences as an automatic response to design (Strandvad and Pedersen, 2015, p. 108). But, beyond identifying that some form of value is created for people as customers, consumers or audiences, there is no more clarity on what an experience is according to this generation.

A second-generation understanding of the development of the experience economy in design focusses on customers' sensory perceptions, the creation of meaning and the process of co-creation (Prahalad and Ramaswamy, 2004; Boswijk et al., 2007). This understanding along with the growing focus and study of *users* (Bjerknes et al., 1987; Suchman et al., 2002a; Wilkie, 2010) from within fields such as user-centred design (Norman and Drapper, 1986) made people who were capable of experiencing, central to design activity.<sup>3</sup> Users became a central focus of design due to the influence of the Scandinavian design tradition. This influence was the result of union-supported projects introducing new workplace technology in Norway in the 1970s, which has since become internationally known as Scandinavian participatory design (PD). Here, users were invited to co-operate through the entire process of design, involving people to contribute their perceptions (and experiences) and taking their 'work practices seriously' (Greenbaum and Kyng, 1991, p. 15) in the design activity. The researcher wanted to empower the workers whose jobs would be otherwise replaced by the new technology (Ehn, 1989). This Marxist-inspired approach enacts democratic principles by inviting the end users of a design (the people who would be affected by the change, the workers) to co-operate in the entire process of design.

In the context of healthcare, over the past decade, there has been an emergence of PD-inspired approaches of co-design (Sanders and Stappers, 2008), co-creation (Cottam and Leadbeater, 2004) and co-production (Boyle and Harris, 2009) to consider the user as a central focus and active member of the design activity (Pullin, 2013; Donetto et al., 2015). Currently, the most successful approach to improve the patient experience of health services is experience-based co-design (EBCD) (Bate and Robert, 2006), which is deployed by the NHS Institute for Innovation and Improvement to allow staff, patients and carers to reflect on their experiences of a service and work together to identify improvement activities

3 I use the term user-centred design as a generic term to broadly describe approaches to design that consider user involvement and use contexts as essential of the design process. This includes Participatory Design (PD) (Greenbaum and Kyng, 1991; Schuler and Namioka, 1993; Kensing et al., 1998) and Human Computer Interaction (HCI) (Norman and Drapper, 1986) although I understand that these have different methods, practices and have been developed in relation to different theories. For example, early PD work was inspired by Marxist and Wittgenstein theoretical models of democraticisation and more recently interested in ANT (Callon, 2015), whereas HCI was interested in cognitive psychology concerning human factors, cognition and embodiment to think about human interaction with technology. (Figure 11). It is then up to this same group of people to devise and implement changes and then reflect on their achievements.<sup>4</sup>

EBD is a user-focused design process with the goal of making user experience accessible to the designers, to allow them to conceive of designing experiences rather than designing services. (Bate and Robert, 2006, p. 309)

The reference to the user in the quote above is typical of the EBCD approach for experience, as well as the design literature around experience design more broadly. It highlights the assumption of **Experience 1**, where design deals with experience as a pre-existing subject that is stored in someone's mind. The EBCD approach assumes that patients have access to their inner experience, the introspective event, which they can report on (Hollway and Jefferson, 2000), and in doing this makes assumptions that we can access our own inner experiences and know them (Henriques et al., 1998). If a designer wants to understand it then, they ask the person to report on it. Ultimately, once a designer can identify and grasp an experience, they can change it (Shedroff, 2001; Cain, 2010).

Participatory approaches in design, such as EBCD, attempt to remove the limitation of perception by involving people who will be part of the end change or service in the improvement activity to contribute their individual, subjective experiences to the design process (Pullin, 2013). But, this does not account for the reporting of experience being problematic, as everyone's ontological view is different. Further, in approaches such as EBCD, it is important to not overlook PD's original strong political agenda in workplace democracy. Due to this agenda, the reason for engaging these potential users within the design process is not only to make better products and systems but also to consider the social and ethical implications of a new design. In other words, organisations have many motivations for initiating these projects other than solely creating new patient experiences. For example, in a review of current EBCD projects, patients reported feeling like outsiders during the decision-making process, and staff referred to external locus of control (Bowen et al., 2013, p. 242) giving rise to particular configurations of power in both co-design activities and the implementation of change.

4 EBCD was originally developed from experience-based design (EBD). EBD was advocated by Cain (2010) for product development then further applied to a healthcare service improvement context by design company IDEO (Freire and Sangiorgi, 2010). A typical EBCD cycle would take between 9 and 12 months with six stages: (1) project set up, (2) gather staff experiences of the service through observations and interviews, (3) gather patient and carer experiences through observations and filmed interviews, (4) bring staff and patients together to watch a 'trigger' film of patient narratives to identify priorities to change, (5) co-design work in groups of 4-6 around these priorities. (6) have a celebration and review event. See Bate and Robert (2007).

.....



#### Project steering group

meets at critical stages:
1. Before the project starts
2. Before feedback events
4. After first co-design group
5. After celebration event

**Figure 11** Stages in experience-based co-design as described on The Point of Care Foundation website where healthcare staff can access the EBCD approach toolkit (Source: The King's Fund (2018). Stages in experience-based co-design. [image] Available at: https://www.pointofcarefoundation.org.uk/resource/experience-based-co-design-ebcd-toolkit/step-by-step-guide/1-experience-based-co-design/ [Accessed 27 Dec. 2014]).

# Assumption 2: STS and Experience

The second assumption of the phenomenological understanding of experience is that it prioritises the human perspective and perceiving subject above all others. John Searle (2008) describes how the phenomenological perspective is limited by saying that if something is not perceived to be present, then it is not real, meaning it only considers phenomenon that can be seen or experienced through human senses. Although Searle is referring to the limits of the ontology of phenomenology – what it considers to be real – the limitation of solely considering humans and human perception is also a criticism of the construction of scientific knowledge from STS.

STS is a field that has been preoccupied with the epistemic practices of scientists since the sociology of scientific knowledge (SSK) (Bloor, 1976; Barnes, 1983; Collins, 1983).<sup>5</sup> SSK challenged the historical dominance of the philosophy of science by questioning the production of scientific knowledge and knowledge claims. Laboratory studies were foundational to the development of STS as a response to SSK (Knorr-Cetina, 1981; Latour and Woolgar, 1986) where sociologists and anthropologists conducted ethnographic fieldwork, observing and following scientists in their natural – laboratory – settings, 'in action' (Latour, 1987, p. 59), to determine its qualities and attributes. Laboratory studies argue that knowledge can be studied through how it is produced and the material practices, objects and situations that are involved in creating it. Actor network theory (ANT), an approach within STS, grew out of laboratory studies, notably the work of Michel Callon, John Law and Bruno Latour, further developing the preoccupation with the empirical analysis of material practices.<sup>6</sup>

Somewhat notoriously, ANT includes the view that human and non-human actants should be treated symmetrically, or analytically equal (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987).' This is similar to Callon's (1986, p. 200) writing about *free-association*, where both society and nature need to be considered without a priori distinctions between them. ANT describes human and non-human *actants* (as the term *actor* is most likely to talk about the roles of humans) with the same language and gives them an equal amount of agency. Actants have the power to act and are tied in chains of association which construct networks of humans and non-humans. Through these actor networks, human and non-human entities emerge,

<sup>5</sup> Thomas Kuhn's The Structure of Scientific Revolutions (1969) energised a new discussion about science which opened up a space for

<sup>factors other than scientific method and truth to be considered in the contractions of scientific facts and reality. David Bloor (1976), along with Barry Barnes (1983), was influenced by the sociology of science and developed the strong programme in the SSK. The strong programme set out to provide sociological accounts of scientific knowledge and went on to have huge influence on STS.
6 The field of STS includes many different approaches - SSK, Laboratory Studies, Social Construction of Technology, feminist approache-</sup>

es and ANT history of science.

<sup>7</sup> The notion of symmetry was developed by Bloor and Barns is around explaining truth claims of knowledge. This is also described as a 'Whig' history (Law, 2004), where past scientific knowledge contributes to current facts. So, for example, if a scientist is conducting an experiment and it comes back positive, they are creating knowledge and can claim that knowledge to be true and scientifically sound within their experiment. They can do this without having to go back and re-prove the previous facts their experiments are based on because they are also considered true through scientific method. However, if previous knowledge does not fit with current ideas, then it needs to be explained. This is described as an asymmetrical explanation, as true and false knowledge are explained in different ways.

interact and produce effects such as the loss of leg function for a person with MS (Moser, 2000, p. 205). These networks are not pre-determined or absolute, but their identity is defined through their interaction with others. For ANT scholars, the relationship between all actants is under investigation. This is to say that it is how networks of actors act that defines what they are. Callon (1986) demonstrates this in his study of fishermen in Saint Brieuc Bay when he describes how, in the process of translation, both non-humans (the scallops) and humans (the fishermen and scientists) are being ordered and defined. Latour, a key proponent of ANT, directly criticises phenomenology for endorsing the concreteness of humans and for being unable to consider other, non-human objects having agency (or being capable of having experience).<sup>4</sup> Crucially, and in contrast to phenomenology, ANT can offer another understanding of patient experience that does not pre-suppose a model of the patient as being a subjective figure.<sup>9</sup>

Including STS literature and using an approach that draws on ANT not only enables me to unpack the assumptions within the ways that patient experience is currently enacted in healthcare and design (e.g., **Experience 1**), but it is also be an extremely effective tool for describing the processes by which patient experiences come into being, or fail to materialise. But in doing this, I need to be aware of theoretical and methodological debates surrounding the concept of non-human agency, some of which I describe here. Firstly, the implications of non-human agency is widely disputed as it is argued that humans and non-humans should not be given equal power in the network as humans have intentionality (Collins and Yearley, 1992; Winner, 1993; Bloor, 1999).<sup>10</sup> Latour (1992) responds to this anthropomorphism criticism - that of attributing human characteristics onto non-humans and objects - by saying that ANT treats all entities as having agency, but not human properties. Secondly, ANT has been criticised as describing accounts of agency as heroic (Star and Griesemer, 1989, p. 390) with its privileging of certain heterogeneity over others. In a network of heterogeneous actors, Star (1995) argues that the framing of these accounts is told from the point of view of the human - the scientist or the researcher - rather than the lab technician or the test tube, for example. Finally, there is the 'god trick' of viewing the world from everywhere and nowhere (Haraway, 1991, p. 189). This is in regards to how the researcher traces the networks without accounting for their own participation and potential influence. Regardless of these well-known criticisms, including Latour's (1999), which deals with ANT's central meaning, it is still an effective tool for rethinking ideas

8 Latour's account of understanding experience is influenced from Stenger's reading of Alfred Whitehead and his influence from William James, who gives an account of experience that is full of individuals more abstract than that of actors (Latour, 2005).

<sup>9</sup> Varela (1999, p. 331) discusses further work being done around the scientific studies of consciousness, which is also suspicious of subjective experience. Here, research aims to revise the manner in which accounts of human experience have to be approached in empirical research.

<sup>10</sup> ANT's notion of generalised symmetry is a form of radical symmetry which is more extreme than was previously developed by SKK scholars Bloor (1976) and Barnes (1983), and does not come without criticism.

that have been taken for granted, like **Experience 1**, that are problematised through ANT.<sup>11</sup> STS, and more specifically ANT, provides me with analytical tools through which to take apart phenomenologist understandings of patient experience and **Experience 1**, and can help explain how experience is produced and how it travels within healthcare.

## **Experience 2: Patient Experience Data**

Experience 2: This version understands patient experience as a measured and objective phenomenon such as a number or a measure produced through data as generated from and reported through patients' subjective accounts. This version can travel and have agency in making subjects, and it is an immutable mobile. It is reduced into numbers and icons through quantitative tools and diagrams. This is not to be confused with the phenomenological perspective of experience which is the inner experience of a person, this notion is a generalised data version.

In this section, I will discuss the second understanding of patient experience, **Experience 2**, where patient experience is accessed through quantitative measurement tools within clinical practice and reduced to diagrams in design activities. I will describe how different versions of patient experience are figured through these tools and describe the theoretical perspective underpinning their use.

Over the last decade, there has been a steady increase in efforts to gather data about patient experience to improve service quality (Wolf et al., 2014) while being used to get a better understanding of a patient's quality of life. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is 'the patient subjective perception of the impact of his disease and its treatment(s) on his daily life, physical, psychological and social functioning and well-being,' (Riazi, 2006, p. 93) and is gathered through a combination of questions which asks patients about different aspects of health and about how this affects their lives. Patient-recorded outcome measures (PROMs) are the research tools used to record and compile this data, and take the form of questionnaires and interviews designed to determine the patient experience. Health-rating scales, such as PROMs, are measurement instruments that aim to quantify characteristics of people that cannot be directly measured (like height and weight) (Hobart and Cano, 2009, p. 7). They are said to 'gain meaningful subjective accounts from those receiving care,' (Jenkinson and Fitzpatrick, 2013, p. 72) as they are completed by patients themselves. For example, the MSQOL-54 (Vickrey et al., 1995) includes questions to determine the HRQoL,

<sup>11</sup> I have attempted to be reflexive in my account of patient experience by including an upfront description of my involvement with the research context in the Introduction chapter. This is further addressed in the methodology chapter.

such as 'In general, would you say your health is,' with the option for the patient to respond with 'Excellent, Very good, Good, Fair and Poor'.

The medical community considers these paper-based tools to be new because the patient is at the centre of the evaluation activity; however, they are still used in conjunction with physician-based measurement tools to supplement more biomedical-defined outcomes. In MS care, PROMs are used to record the impact of the disease and treatment from the patient's perspective and are used alongside physician- or clinical-based outcomes, such as magnetic-resonance imaging (MRI) scans, relapse rates (Riazi, 2006) or Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) scores. In MS, many PROMs have been developed or repurposed to create a more complete picture of the patient experience of living with MS.<sup>12</sup> Examples include: MS Quality of Life 54 (Vickrey et al., 1995), Functional Assessment of MS (Cella et al., 1996), MS Quality of Life Inventory (Ritvo et al., 1997), Multiple Sclerosis Impact Scale (MSIS-29) (Hobart, 2001), MS Functional Composite (Fischer et al., 1999), UK Neurological Disability Scale (Sharrack and Hughes, 1997), MS Quality of Life Index (LaRocca et al., 1996), the Leeds MS Quality of Life (Ford et al., 2001) and the Health Related QoL for MS (Pfennings et al., 2009).

Within MS, PROMs are used as clinical outcome assessments to measure the efficacy of treatments in clinical trials (Walton et al., 2015). The importance of choosing the correct clinical outcome assessment for trials was recently discussed in the results of the ASCEND trial, where for the overall population of patients made up of people with RRMS and SPMS; the results of the trial were reported as negative (Giovannoni, 2014, 2015; Kapoor et al., 2018).<sup>13</sup> Yet, for people with SPMS involved in the trial, participants reported and showed signs of improved upper-body ability, but this was not reflected in the trial results because the PROM that measured the clinical outcome assessment was not sensitive to measure this improvement. The choice of PROM to report this then came under scrutiny, as it did not reflect this result.<sup>14</sup>

To have a better understanding of how these tools produce patient experience data and what assumptions of experience they draw on, it is necessary to have a closer look at how the tools are developed. One of the most widely used PROMs in MS is the MSIS-29

.....

Some outcome measures have been developed in one condition, such as stroke, and then used in another. This is a point of debate within the measurement field (Hobart et al., 2005) as although the original tool provided considerable evidence for validity in a variety of populations including MS, (Vickrey et al., 1995), later publications have disproven this with the inclusion of psychometric measures. 'Psychometric limitations of the SF-36 in multiple sclerosis include significant floor and ceiling effects (Freeman et al., 2000), limited responsiveness (Freeman et al., 2000), underestimation of mental health problems (Nortvedt et al., 2000) and a failure to satisfy

assumptions about scaling summary scores (Freeman et al., 2000)', (Hobart, 2001, p. 963).

<sup>13</sup> The ASCEND trial was a clinical study on the Efficacy of Natalizumab on Reducing Disability Progression in Participants with Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis.

<sup>14</sup> The clinical outcome assessment for the ASCEND trial was the 25-foot times walk and 9-hole peg test. People with SPMS are likely to suffer severely from mobility problems, which would not likely be improved through the use of the drug on this trial. Whereas, for people with RRMS who have less severe mobility problems, their walking would improve. As neither the RRMS or SPMS patients improved in the 25-foot test, the trials results were negative. Although, for people with SPMS, their upper-limb function did improve, which was recorded by the 9-hole peg test, but was not given enough importance in the reporting of the results of the trial. So, although the trial of the drug reported as negative, the drug had a positive impact for those patients with SPMS, as picked up by the upper-limb PROM and through their accounts.

shown in Figure 12, which was developed in 2001 by a team of physicians (Hobart, 2001). This was an important tool because it was one of the first to incorporate psychometric methods in its development.<sup>16</sup> PROMs (and other rating scales) map out people's responses as variables on a line where they can all be located. Psychometric methods evaluate the rating scales to determine their success at making the variable operational and locating people on this line. Psychometric methods are described as the theory of measurement and enable tools to become a measure by situating one person's response within a population of others. These methods combine 'the patient perspective with rigorous psychometric methods of data quality, scaling assumptions, acceptability, reliability and validity,' (Hobart, 2001, p. 962) to ensure that the final questionnaire would detect change in a person on the physical and psychological impact of MS.<sup>16</sup> In this tool, the patient answers 29 questions about how their MS affects their daily activities. Figure 14 on page 50 describes the standardised steps in the MSIS-29 PROM development process as endorsed by the Federal Drug Association (FDA). This shows the steps for using patient-derived data to generate PROM items.

In Figure 13 (Barrett et al., 2013, p. 810), the responses from the paper questionnaires have been turned into data in a spreadsheet. This acts like an inscription device where entities are translated into numbers, symbols and visualisations that are then considered 'facts' (Latour, 1987, p. 64). Star (1983, p. 270) describes this translation process as an essential part of scientific work where the presentation of cleaned-up results (from the messy labs, clinics and spreadsheets) are screened out through the production of graphs where facts are made. The graph displays the distribution of disability as concrete facts. This diagram is a typical visualisation of the responses to the PROM and acts as a demonstration of psychometric properties. These facts can then be transported, overlaid and calculated, becoming *immutable mobiles* (Latour and Woolgar, 1986) that can be acted upon. Immutable mobiles describes how representations of data such as this is made flat, which 'enables mastery' (Latour, 1990, p. 45) from the researchers showing this data. These immutable mobiles can go on to be transported without changing the inherent characteristics of those things as they are suspended in space and time through the diagram. They have agency as they are inscribed and circulate in the practices of healthcare, trial results, medical records

<sup>15</sup> It is interesting to note that the incorporation of psychometric methods in measurement tools is relatively new in neurology, having only been introduced in the 1980s (Cano et al., 2011). None of the PROMs and health measures mentioned above have developed using the psychometric approach, including the most widespread physician-based measure, the EDSS (Kurtzke, 1983). The EDSS is now said to have limited measurement properties (Sharrack et al., 1999; Hobart, 2001) when analysed with psychometric methods as it is heavily weighted towards measuring mobility and does not account for other aspects of MS that impact people's lives. This has led to an inter-disciplinary dilemma within the health measurement field where measurement researchers argue for psychometric properties and standards to be created for all measures (Cano et al., 2011; Giovannoni, 2015). Yet, clinicians argue that the time and resources to create new tools is too high.

<sup>16</sup> Data quality is concerned with the percentage of how many responses are missing and how much the target sample can be predicted from this. Scaling assumptions outlines a series of criteria for the set of items to legitimately form a single total score when values are given to them individually. Acceptability of the score is achieved when scores are well distributed across the scale. Reliability ensures that the scores are free from random error, and validity is whether the scale measures what it sets out to measure.

	two weeks, how much ha	ve Ne	ot A	Moderate	v louis	
	ions in your social and	1 1	all   little		a bit	Extremely
	ick at home more than	1	2	3	4	5
	s using your hands in	1	2	3	4	5
coale (MSIS-29)	ut down the amount	1	2	3	4	5
Multiple Sclerosis Impact Source	spent on work or ctivities?	1	2	3	4	5
hour about the impact of MS on your day-to-day ine	ng transport (e.g.	1	2 3			
The following questions ask for your views about the second	to do things?	1	2 3		4	5
during the past two weeks	things	1	2 3		4	5
For each statement, protections	oment)?		- 3		4	5
Please answer an question     A Moderately Quite a Extremely     bit	be toilet	1	2 3	-		
at all little	1	1	2 3		-	
In the pass (no vour ability to a vour ability to a vour MS limited your ability to a vour ability to a vour a vou	1	1	2 3		3	
L Do physically demanding tasks	ued? 1	2	3		5	
2 Grip things tightly (e.g. turning	• MS? 1	2	3	4	5	
a Carry things? Moderately Quite a Extremely	2 1	2	2	4	5	
two weeks, how much all little bit	ut, or	2	12	4	5	
In the past two mothered by have you been bothered by	1			4	5	_
A Problems with your balance?		-	3	4	5	_
pifficulties moving about     1     2     3     4     5		2	3	4	5	_
5. indoors? 1 Being clumsy? 2 3 4 5		2	3	4	5	_
6. suffness?	NE numb	er for	EACH			_
7. Summer arms and/or legs? 1 2 3 4 5	res Unit, JK	4 <sup>th</sup> Flo	or Queen	Mary Win	P. NHNN	
8. Heavy arms or legs? 1 2 4 5					a ranta	
9. Tremor of year limbs? 1 2 5 4 5						
10. Spasms in your and the state of the stat						
11. Your body not doing server 11. 2 3						
12. Having to depend on outer here beings for you?						
do table						
Please check that year Measures @2000 Neurological Outcome Measures @2000 Neurological Outcome Measures WC1N 3BG, UK						
1 ondon						

Figure 12 A photograph of the MSIS-29 paper based PROM.



Figure 13 The diagram above shows the distribution of the manual ability of the people who have completed the PROM with people less disabled on the left and people more disabled on the right.

Step 1	Thirty people with MS were interviewed, expert opinion was consulted and a literature review was carried out to create 129 questionnaire items (questions) to start the development of the PROM.
Step 2	1530 people with MS were sent a questionnaire with the 129 questions on it.
Step 3	<ul> <li>The 129 items were reviewed and reduced depending on statistical testing of data quality, scaling assumption, acceptability, reliability, targeting and validity. Data from 766 responses was analysed to determine which questions would make up the final questionnaire. The instrument now consists of 29 questions where people are asked about the impact of MS on their day-to-day life in the past two weeks. 22 questions relate to the physical impact of the disease and 11 items on the psychological aspects.</li> <li>Example questions in the tool asks, "In the past two weeks, how much has your MS limited your ability to"</li> <li>Do physically demanding tasks?</li> <li>Grip things tightly (e.g. turning on taps)?</li> <li>Carry things?</li> </ul> Patients have the choice to select from a Likert Scale of 1 - 5 with 1 being "not at all" and 5 being "extremely."

Figure 14 Table describing of the three stages of PROM development for the MS-IS 29.

(Berg, 1996), diabetes technologies (Danholt, 2008) and screening procedures (Singleton, 1998) that circulate healthcare and design, far beyond the original patient and paper PROM. They are reproducible in that they can be printed and copied with little effort. Latour's printing press example (1990) demonstrates how ideas can be shared across the world without distortion and how their activity occurs through further process of publication.

This second model of experience is different and arguably incompatible with **Experience 1**. Where **Experience 1** takes patient-reported accounts of the subjective experience, Experience 2 starts with this then produces numerical data creating immutable mobiles. Although, we can see how both versions typically and unproblematically operate in combination during clinical work of PROMs, they are not the same. As demonstrated through the ASCEND trial results (Giovannoni, 2015), the subjective experience of SPMS patients did not hang together (Mol, 2002, p. 55) with the PROM data of Experience 2. Following Anne Marie Mol, this is not a case of choosing one version of experience over another, but rather it concerns witnessing how different and divergent versions of experience, theories and practice hang together. This is raised by Callon and Rabarisoa (2004, p. 196) who point out in the French Muscular Dystrophy Association community, it is not about changing experiential knowledge to become accountable to the scientific and medical community, but about seeing the difference in the two forms of knowledge and giving them the same validity. The practical question for this thesis is how to work with different versions of experience symmetrically, without valuing one version as more valid or important than another.

#### Assumption 1: Failing to have Experiences

It becomes clear that there is more going on in PROMs than just measurement and representational activities. But, there are two practical assumptions about this approach to experience that should be explained. This technique of measuring presumes that people are not only physically capable of completing the questionnaire and recording information about their disease but are also reflexive, rationale actors. MS is a disease of the central nervous system and commonly affects peoples' cognitive functions; therefore these symptoms, practically speaking, could disturb the patient as a capable actor with the ability to read questions and write down answers. Firstly, this assumption is problematised in Jeanette Pols' work with people with mental illness where the consequences of understanding patient experience in this way says that if you do not have a voice or cannot complete a questionnaire, then you fail to have a patient experience (Pols, 2005; Carel, 2012). Literature from the ethnographic turn in the (STS) field of public understanding of science

(PUS) further examines how questionnaires are answered." Alan Irwin and Mike Michael (2003) highlight that this assumption is reflected in the provenance of questionnaire methods in psychology where the person is viewed as a repository of knowledge that can be 'quizzed' (p. 24) over aspects of their knowledge or experience. The standardised questions (developed through psychometric validation) that are quizzing the patients create a generalised patient experience in which that respondents need to fit. Secondly, this raises questions of whether individual differences might be left out and what type of knowledge the patients might have. Pols distinguishes this difference between the knowledge of medical professionals and patient knowledge as it involves many different 'techniques, values and materials,' (Pols, 2005, p. 74). This is practical knowledge that has been developed through action – living with the disease. It is contextual and is based on the day-to-day experience of living with a chronic disease involving activities such as dressing, washing yourself and cutting the grass rather than through an evidence-based process. The reductionist PROM approach of science to experience potentially overlooks the fact that people possess relevant and useful knowledge that do not meet standards of scientific inquiry (Star, 1983, p. 206).

The reductionist generation of diagrams and immutable mobiles in the creation of experiences is also identified within design approaches to patient experience. Within EBCD approaches, diagrams are created and used to represent the patient journey through a healthcare service. Marked on these diagrams, shown in Figure 15, are people, objects, spaces, things, websites and locations referred to as touchpoints (Clatworthy, 2011) where the user and the service interact and it is claimed the service experience is created (Robert, 2013).<sup>18</sup> Through the process of visualising these interactions on temporary paper diagrams and making changes to points represented on the map, it is thought that different service experiences are created (Shostack, 1984). Arguably, this immutable mobile acts to reduce the complexity of both humans and the act of design into simple shapes and lines that can address a reduced form of 'patient'. As Latour describes in reference to Dagognet (1969, p. 213), the power of the visual vocabulary in chemistry, through the periodic table, enables the compounds to become actionable and manipulated. Through visualising the different human and non-human entities in the service, they can be assigned agency and be made

<sup>17</sup> The field of public understanding of science, public engagement in science or public engagement of science and technology (these terms are used interchangeably) has been described as 'a wide and ill-defined area' (Wynne, 1995). This change in the naming of the field demonstrates a shift from a deficit model of engagement (Irwin and Michael, 2003) where the notion of an ignorant public that needs to be informed has changed to a more upstream engagement model (Wilsdon et al., 2004) of engaging empowered citizens (Irwin, 2006, p. 301). Within the field, established and traditional formats and methods for engagements between scientist and the public were originally outlined in the Bodmer report (Royal Society, 1985) from consultations at both a national and local level, deliberative polling, focus groups, citizen juries, consensus conferences, dialogues with stakeholders etc. Contemporary practices of public engagement of science based within and supported by UK institutions take the form of awareness events, conferences, science cafes to arts and design projects.

<sup>18</sup> This terminology has emerged in the language of service design (Evenson and Dubberly, 2009). The journey map has been developed from blueprinting where services are made an actual and visible object of design (Mager, 2008) which is similar to graphical representations of experience models, profiles, scenarios and opportunity maps to visually communicate service interactions (Blomberg et al., 2003). These are the moments where the service experience will arise and are specific points of interaction between a user and a product or brand.



Figure 15 A photograph of a patient journal map constructed in a EBCD project representing the stages in the health service that the patient can interact with.

workable. Star (1983) makes this point about science, but is applicable to design, describing how to conduct scientific research, things must be drawn, tasks must be made simple and goals must be made easy enough to achieve (p. 207).

The agency of this type of design is through both the visualisation and manipulation activity. Discussion topics could include how patients are approached by staff, the day-today working practices of the staff, information that is provided and procedures that take place. Literature about users from design and STS (Akrich, 1992; Suchman et al., 2002b; Danholt, 2005a), specifically Wilkie's definition of user assemblage (2010, p. 58), highlights the multiplicity of users that get both resourced and defined through the design process. Within the stages of the service design process, post-it notes are used as objects to determine current experiences and are also used to talk about future possibilities, identities and capabilities of existing, emergent and future users. Taking this further, Wilkie explores the performative potential that these temporary objects have when used in the prototyping activity (2010) and explores how each note could bring one potential future into being over another. The diagram acts as a distributing and collecting device (Berg, 1996) where the experience begins and ends. Although the diagram aims to simplify and make this a transparent process, involving people and eliciting patient experiences is complex and messy.

This raises questions as to what counts as experience. For designers, do they think that making changes to a simplified diagram, visualising a service counts as an experience? This is one of the criticisms of the EBCD approach (Bowen et al., 2013, p. 242). ANT puts forward the argument to re-consider what is thought of as facts. For example, **Experience 1** is typically viewed as a pre-existing property of humans that need only be correctly recorded. Or, **Experience 2**, which is produced and circulated through PROMs and documented in material objects, become representations of people's diseases (Berg and Bowker, 1997). When actually, all the recording apparatus, medical expertise, measurement techniques and so on recede into the background or get erased ('bracketed out', in Mol's language) to meet the factish demands of medical epistemology where it ultimately is presented as knowledge produced through scientifically rigorous methods. Arguably, however, what actually counts as experience is the upshot or effect of all these human/non-human relations.

In this thesis, I draw on ANT-inspired approaches, where experience is not a priori property of humans as cognitively endowed persons (**Experience 1**). Here, experience emerges out of the situated interplays between MS patients, medical technology, measurement tools, design practices and clinical expertise and draws attention to the relationships that all take part in patient experience. The following discussion is going to elaborate on and explain **Experience 3**.

# **Experience 3: Opening the Black Box**

Experience 3: This third understanding emerges out of the situated interplays between people, measuring instruments, diagrams etc, which are sociomaterially mediated. It argues that 'experience' is the result of these practices, devices etc. and cannot exist without them. It is performative in that it has agency, can cause other actants to act and produces subjects. Experience 3 is constituted in relation to various elements with there being no single central core. There is an indexicality of this experience where it is dependent of where it is embedded.

In the case of MS, the MSIS-29 in the PROM produces a measure of the patient's HQoL, making it seem as though the HQoL is a fact that exists before the process of creating it. Following ANT, I would argue that the HQoL does not exist before or without the questionnaire, the spreadsheet and the process of calculating it. These recording devices can be described as *technologies of elicitation* (Lezaun and Soneryd, 2007) where the PROM acts an instrumental tool to elicit (and in doing so shape) patient experience, which raises questions about the conditions, procedures and instruments for producing knowledge. This patient experience data is co-produced (Pols, 2005, p. 211) in the liveness of the measurement activity which includes bodies, researchers, recording equipment, and many different entities coming together. If thought about as pervasive technologies (Lezaun and Soneryd, 2007) the conditions in which **Experience 2** is produced is available for analysis. This, then, raises questions around the efficacy of these methods to uncover and 'represent' an authentic patient experience, and if patient experience is produced at all through these techniques (Pols, 2005). In science for example, Boyle set out the conditions needed to create authentic knowledge through an experiment. But I ask the question, when there are different types of knowledge hanging together, what types of conditions create them?

Latour's notion of immutable mobile shows how the PROM makes experience a concrete entity that can be acted upon, for example, to participate in clinical practices. In this thesis, I claim, measurement tools also produce new versions of experience. There is currently a preoccupation in sociological and cultural literature about questions of method and the realities they are purposively reporting on where research techniques (or measurement practices) contribute to the shaping of new phenomena (Osborne and Rose, 1999; Mol, 2002; Law, 2004). For example, members of the public's opinions are elicited through opinion polls, and through this, the seemingly objective fact 'public opinion' was created (Osborne and Rose, 1999, p. 1). Similarly, Lezaun describes how knowledge

about people is generated from their opinions shared in focus groups, which then produce statements that help form particular marketplaces (2007).

The presumption that has been set out at the start of this thesis is, within healthcare, patient experiences need to be made reportable and accountable for commissioning and service provision reasons (e.g., to measure the financial effectiveness of service improvement activities), and it is the role of the researcher to research, measure and produce representational material about this.<sup>19</sup> Similarly, when designers are said to design and change patient experiences, they visualise it. But scholars interested in performativity would argue that, through the process of measurement and representation, patient experience is *performed*. In other words, specific versions of patient experience are an upshot of the measurement and representational devices, which is a key argument of this thesis. This claim requires a close consideration of how knowledge is produced and a sensitivity to the techniques, situations and objects that are involved in this process. Here, Andrew Pickering puts forward what he calls the *performative idiom* (1995, p. 13), where the empirical context is considered as having the ability to produce something new. This is a performative understanding of science and knowledge practices, where tools, such as PROMs, measure entities and phenomena while producing and verifying facts. It is important to note that the performative understanding of (patient) experience has a key implication for an important assumption in this area of research. Performativity provides an alternative way to understand how experience is produced: it is not predicated on the assumptions of a subjective individual with cognitive capabilities, which phenomenology and areas of nursing research have encouraged. Nor does it limit understandings of patient experience to the objective body of any person that a disease might inhabit (Mol and Law, 2001).

Performativity has important implications for how to think about patient experience as a topic of research and for how to understand how design operates and might be practiced. The notion of performativity has been increasingly used within the humanities and social sciences to problematise the representational idiom of science, economics and the arts where language is understood as that which reflects states of affairs. The notion of performativity is frequently traced back to John L. Austin's (1976) series of lectures from Harvard University in 1955. Here, Austin states that there are two types of speech acts: constative and performative utterances. Constatives are descriptive statements which can be either true or false. When, for example, someone says, 'I went to the hospital', they are reporting on a matter of fact, and this statement can be true or false. They either did or did not go to the hospital. However, as Austin describes, performative utterances bring a state of affairs into being and, thus, perform reality. The term performative derives from the word

<sup>19</sup> I discuss the reflexive role of the design researcher in producing accounts of the research and new knowledge (Woolgar, 1988) in the methodology chapter.

'perform' relating to the noun 'action', indicating that language has agency and the capacity to create action. The example that Austin puts forward to describe this is uttering the words, 'I do', in a marriage ceremony. Here, the speech act is actively doing something in that moment (confirming the union of two people in matrimony). In other words, a performative speech act operates to bring new realities into being, rather than simply reporting on existing states of affair. Similarly, when we say, 'I promise to...' these words engage in the act of making a promise to another person that will (or should) affect the consequences of our actions.

According to Austin, for a statement to be performative, it needs to happen within 'appropriate circumstances', (1976, p. 6) or *felicity conditions*. These circumstances can include the words being uttered by an appropriate person (e.g., someone who is able to conduct marriage ceremonies), the act happening in a suitable context, the correct words being spoken and the interests of the utterer being considered. This can be further illustrated by way of diagnosis in clinical settings. Here, for example, if I were to sit across the table from someone in a hospital consultation room and tell them they had MS, the statement would not act as a diagnosis of the condition, as it would have no performative force for that purpose. I am not a trained neurologist, and the person does not identify me as such. Similarly, if a neurologist was to tell his pet dog that it had MS, then this statement would have no force. More accurately, it would not have an appropriate force because, for example, the dog might respond, but it would not be in relation to the semiotic valence of the statement, making the context inappropriate. Dogs do not develop MS, and it is in not the neurologist's interests to diagnose his dog. Following Austin's understanding of the performative utterance, it is the combination of the specific language used and the ability of the circumstances to set in motion a chain of events (further tests, scans, examinations etc.) that gives the speech act of diagnosis its performative force. The reliance on these circumstances suggests there is an indexicality of performativity in how statements can be considered reliant on the context in which they are embedded to make sense (Garfinkel, 1967). In other words, the meaning of the words 'You have MS' changes depending on the context in which they are spoken. Taking them out of this context not only changes the meaning of the words but also changes their agency. Felicity conditions is the precise point that current debates around performativity hang and I will come back to later.

The notion of performativity was first taken up and developed by feminist scholar Judith Butler, who has played a leading role in exploring the performative power of speech acts when applied to gender in feminist and queer theory. Following Austin and Jacques Derrida, Butler removes the focus from the utterer and puts more emphasis on what is being said in performative acts. Butler's (1990) approach to performativity shows there is a disconnect of linguistic agency from the human speaker. She argues that the power of the speech act is not entirely dependent on the person uttering the words, but it is the actual words they say. This puts forward an understanding of gender and sex formations not as expressions of an inward nature but as performative acts. In other words, gender does not happen at birth, but it is a repeated sequence of acts that construct, and create, an identity. The implications of this for patient experience is that patient statements recorded and distributed through PROMs do not just report on events that a patient has experienced, they actually perform (deliver the action of creating) the patient experience. The statements 'speak' by way of being material-semiotic entities. This is the upshot of the translation process that begins with the conversion of patients' responses into data. Patients are performed through all kinds of linguistic activities (such as diagnosis, examinations and descriptions of symptoms) and, so by extension, patient experience. This goes further than the indexical nature of Austin's performative utterances, and for Butler, these statements, once produced, have the capacity to act beyond the original location. They create versions of patient experience which then are used to refer to the patient in other contexts (dependent on specific felicity conditions). This is where Butler, drawing on Derrida's (1988) reading of Austin, situates the effects of performativity. For people with MS, once versions of patient experience are measured and brought into being, they cause different effects such as affecting the disability benefits for that patient, limiting their access to treatments and affecting the results of a drug trial. The statements contribute to the performance of instruments of experience. These are consequences of the performative act and can have important impacts on people's lives. This is why performativity has been the focus for many humanities and social science scholars as semiotic and material processes can produce and transform reality. Butler locates it in the 'performative act' (1988, p. 521), meaning that performative agency is not in a pre-existing subject that exists before language, but is an effect of the process of citation. This suggests that patients, and experiences, do not pre-exist particular clinical and healthcare mobilisations, they are performed through and because of them. They are constructed in these encounters. This hints to an indexicality of experience which points to what else needs to be in place - the felicity conditions that Austin previously mentioned. Butler explains that this is how subjectivity is performative, as it is something that is done in an ongoing practical process. Gender, or for that matter being a patient with MS, is not a fixed and stable attribute of a person. There is not a preexisting subject that people enact, or not, each day. Butler argues that people are always in a process of reiterating, producing and maintaining their subjectivity through their actions. Patient experience is something that is done and needs to be re-done every day in different situations. Another way of thinking about this would be as an achievement or *situated* accomplishment (Lynch, 2001, p. 140) - an ongoing, collective, and practical process. These accomplishments are generated on every occasion by different actors, and this process does not just involve language but also action and things. This is an extension of **Experience 3**, which opens up the analytic possibility of other non-humans acting.

Karen Barad provides another prominent approach to performativity, suggesting a more post-humanist understanding of the wider practices that enable patient experience

to be produced. This is focussed on the idea that non-humans can contribute to the performance of both human and non-human arrangements. Like Butler and Austin, she questions the representationalist assumption of science by disagreeing, arguing that entities do not have prior attributes and there is nothing out there waiting to be represented as knowledge (Barad, 2003). Along with Pickering (1995), Barad argues that the world is full of agency and that we, the observer or researcher, are part of this ongoing 'intra-action' (2003, p. 815). Barad describes how if things do not have prior attributes, then they become or are made in the moment when intra-action occurs. It is through this intra-activity, an iterative and reciprocal two-way process, that specific entities and phenomena come into being, and they are all part of this doing, or process of *becoming*. It is thought that through a process of becoming, both knowledge and a new existence is produced. This process of becoming involves different things described by Peter Danholt (2005b) drawing on Isabelle Stengers (2000, p. 148) as vectors of becoming which are brought together. Alfred N. Whitehead (1978, p. 23) describes 'How an actual entity becomes constitutes what that actual entity is... It's "being" is constituted by its "becoming". Considering this, and work by Wilkie (2013) on design prototypes, enables me to view patient experience not as objects and subjects, but rather as a process (of *experiencing*) that undergoes continual change. The measurement tools, patient body, subjectivities and clinics co-become and are mutually defined in the measurement process. Key here is that this change is dependent on the felicity conditions that are contained within the moment of becoming. Danholt, who says this becoming is a located practice where the outcomes are always indexical, echoes this.

This understanding has profound implications for conceptualising patient experience, suggesting that it is not attributed to the physical body, like Butler argues, as a predefined property, but it is a 'doing' through performative actions and gestures. If the subjectivity of a patient is not pre-existing, nor determined by the body, then the cause of it is the effect of a practice making it happen - or as Butler describes, recitations of cultural norms which regulate it (1990). For patient experience, this then includes the material and physical PROMs, interviews, consultations and the human, material, object and nonhuman elements that surround the patient. Callon accounts for a combination of the performativity of language and action as happening within the performative utterances. He draws on the work of Deleuze and Guattari and the notion of assemblage which is neither linguistic nor outside of discourse to describe how heterogeneous agency and (non-human) action is achieved (1986, p. 4). He describes that it is within the heterogeneous socio-technical assemblage of actor-networks that material-discursive entities exist.

For Butler, gender can be removed from the object, the physical body, and performed, and similarly, the patient experience can be performed away from the body of the patient through things such as data visualisations, diagrams and service maps which all do this work. Although this also means, following Barad's rethinking of entities, not having a priori attributes calls into question the 'givenness' of the categories of human and non-human. If nothing has qualities before it is interacted with (and if the subject/object divide is removed, or the man/machine distinction removed [Suchman 2007]), then there is no distinction between human and nonhuman and everything has the ability to act, then everything has agency, raising the question of who and what has agency to perform.

Performativity has become a widespread conceptual resource across many substantive areas of gender studies (Butler, 1990), economic sociology (MacKenzie and Millo, 2003; Callon, 2006), social and cultural research, and design (Danholt, 2005b; Ehn, 2008; Yaneva, 2009; Wilkie et al., 2015); however, it is not without its critics. In the field of economic sociology, Uskali Mäki (2013) establishes some interesting arguments as to why the notion of performativity has become confused when developed beyond its Austin's original purposes. Mäki describes how modern finance theory performs the financial market (MacKenzie, 2004). He also describes how MacKenzie, in his three definitions of performativity, 'generic', 'effective' and 'Barnesian', (Mackenzie, 2006, p. 17; MacKenzie, 2008, pp. 55-56) misinterprets the 'direct constitution' that is required for something to be performative. Mäki argues that Mackenzie's use of the concept misinterprets this for causal influence, i.e., there is no constitutive, or direct, relationship between the economic theoretical model and the empirical practices or the effects that MacKenzie claims are performative. In other words, the effects on the economy are not actually directly caused by the performative claim, but by other things. In light of this, Mäki calls for a returned to Austin's original understanding of the term and for the emphasis to be placed back on the felicity conditions. Before I going further, I will outline three other key critiques of performativity that are relevant to this thesis and my understanding of the term.

#### **Assumption 1: Backstage Performances**

Erving Goffman's dramaturgical model of sociality (1990) views human interactions as theatrical performances. This model uses the analogy of the stage and its associated actors, where people perform for an audience on a stage with curtains frontstage, and there is also the existence of a backstage for preparation to conceptualise performativity. This analogy can be problematic as it can lend itself to misunderstandings of the term where humans have the ability to choose the staging of the interaction in their daily lives, the objects involved in it and the audience they would perform to (Mol, 2002). But, this would presuppose a cognitive decision, referring back to **Experience 1**, where patients would be cognitively aware of their inner subjectivity and could choose what they wanted to perform, insinuating that there is a 'doer' behind the deed (Salih, 2007). This is quite different from other scholars' understanding of performativity who argue that performativity is an action brought about through the happening of a situation. To move away from these misconceptions, in *The Body Multiple*, Mol suggested renaming performativity as enactment to move away from theatrical connotations. Since then, the term enactment has been taken up in a number of health studies (Berg and Bowker, 1997; Law and Singleton, 2003;

Lin, 2013), but arguably, this renaming is not really doing much more because scholars (Mol, 1998, 1999; Law and Urry, 2004) tend to use the two terms interchangeably, but more importantly, they are not engaging in the critical debate around the theoretical and empirical use of the notion of performativity (Mäki, 2013).

# Assumption 2: Performativity of Language

In Austin's original description of performativity, agency is clearly displaced from the utterer to language. Callon's (2006) work on performativity of financial markets draws attention to the socio-technical networks of agency, providing a basis to criticise the emphasis on discourse. From an ANT-informed perspective, as well as discourse analysis, language and semiotic entities can thus be seen to have agency. A good example of this can be found in Monica Greco's (2012) work around medically unexplained symptoms. Here, medical research literature has performative effects when naming and categorising the range of symptoms that people are experiencing that cannot be explained. This work acknowledges the performative power of words through analysing the effects of the rejection of psychological dimensions of these unexplained symptoms by classifications by the medical community. Further, Mark Learmonths (2005) analyses the performative and non-performative effects of language practices used within and around administration and management in the NHS, and Lars Nordgren (2008) traces the performativity of service management discourse in the linguistic usage of the customer concept in healthcare as going from a passive recipient of care to a co-producer of care. Evident in all these examples is that the performative dimension stays with language. They draw on Butler (1993) who, although going on to talk about the body, is unable to move away from the construction of language as the performative force. Mol (2002) also highlights that Butler's performative construction of female identities fails to consider the materiality of medical instruments and female organs.

# Assumption 3: Performativity of Non-action

Up until this point, I have developed an understanding of performativity where some form of action or agency is happening that can involve some combination of humans and non-humans. This view depends on there being a resulting effect of the performative act. This would then mean that if there is no end result, then something is not performative. However, I would argue there is the possibility that sometimes interventions produce effects and sometimes they do not. Note that this is different from saying that something has failed to be performative.<sup>20</sup> Nevertheless, what does this mean empirically if some

<sup>20</sup> Christian Licoppe (2010) describes how every social performance is open to failings, as well as creative invention. Moreover, performative action is continually being repeated, however, following Butler, there is no guarantee of the same subject being produced. Licoppe provides an interesting example of video communication technology being used in a French courtroom where the video fails to deliver the performative instruction from the judge in one room to a security guard in another.

things fail to produce effects? Hennion and Gomart illustrate this through their work with drug users and music amateurs where their 'active passion' is the effect of an experience with something (1999, p. 220).<sup>21</sup> Their description of a sociology of attachments describes the active passion and performative relations that humans can make to objects and situations. They apply action beyond ANT concerns around who is acting in the network, to questioning the limitations of action suggesting that within events there can be active and passive modalities (p. 222). For example, with drug users, even though sometimes there is no physical effect of their addiction visible on their body, the addiction is still performative and does not make it any less real. Hennion and Gomart justify this move away from ANT in critically saying that ANT does not allow access to events that are not actions. Their argument is that ANT is preoccupied by asking 'Who' acts within a network, which implies both human action to objects and a perspective on the network itself.<sup>22</sup> Instead, they propose that we start to consider 'what happens?'. This also aligns itself with Butler's description of performativity not being a single act, but a series of repetitions. If everything is constantly performing all the time, then what enables some actions to create effects and consequences and others not?

Performativity has been taken up as a way to inform design practice in regards to how designers perform future users in the things they make (Niedderer, 2007) as well as inform theoretical accounts of design practice (Danholt, 2005b; Wilkie and Michael, 2009). Work on the performativity of prototypes (Suchman et al., 2002b; Danholt, 2005b; Wilkie et al., 2015) describes how prototypes can be performed in how they shift between the present and the future. Danholt (2005) makes the case for considering the fruitfulness of thinking in terms of performativity in design in his study where he develops a diet diary for users with diabetes. Moreover, he considers how including users and artefacts in a design process affect each other. Described as socio-material prototypes, the interaction of socio-material forms are concrete and present as well as imaginary and futuristic (Danholt, 2005a, p. 5). This is a materiality of performativity where the material contributes. Through the prototyping process, the interaction of objects and bodies, subjectivities and bodies are also produced. Designers play a part in this production through the objects they introduce to this situation.

This is where I anticipate there being space for this thesis to contribute, as it works with a performative understanding of experience that is currently used in both medicine and design. For example, a popular tool used in design are *experience prototypes*. Developed by IDEO, designers use proxy objects (camera, diaries) to attempt to access 'first hand appreciations' of (p. 424) particular situations, such as living with a pacemaker, travelling on a train or living with a physical disability (Buchenau and Suri, 2000). This approach

<sup>21</sup> This understanding of experience is similar to John Dewey who describes the experience of art as a mix of doing and undergoing where the subject does not bring it about, rather it is something that overwhelms us. See (Dewey, 1934).

<sup>22</sup> This echoes some of the criticisms around ANT and how agency is described as 'managerial' (Star and Griesemer, 1989; Fujimura, 1992) as well as Haraway's criticism of a world where everything is performative, where there is no innocence. See Haraway (1991).

aims to enable designers, clients and users to experience something themselves through staging **Experience 1** for others around specific situations. This is a different understanding of prototypes from that of experience prototypes where designers attempt to stage a performative effect for others but are unaware of the potential multiplicity of performative effects. I would argue that such tools, experience prototypes, also operate to engender commercial practices around the design of experiences that are similar to a first-generation understanding of the experience economy.

### **Experience 4: Experience and the Event**

Experience 4: Distributed and de-centred experience where agency is dispersed. It is not pre-existing and can have no visible effects. It is dependent on felicity conditions. This understanding of experience is influenced by the notion of event to consider the situated action of this model of experience.

This brings me to the final understanding of experience that I have identified in the literature, Experience 4. Mariam Fraser's notion of event (2009) can contribute to the critique of performativity to understand how performativity reduces or centres agency to particular acting entities - neurologists, drug users, patients and measurement tools. Drawing on Deleuze's version of event, Fraser describes it as more than just something that happens. It is described as the coming together of entities that are social and material, human and non-human. The 'giving up action for events' (Gomart and Hennion, 1999, p.2) seeks to describe the relations between things, bodies and happening, and the independent reality of these events in themselves. I will use an example of an event in MS to illustrate and examine this critique of action from the literature. The recent controversial case of the unproven Chronic Cerebrospinal Venous Insufficiency (CCSVI) therapy as a cure for MS was escalated through the use of YouTube (Mazanderani et al., 2013).<sup>23</sup> The scientific and medical community disassociated with this therapy because it was scientifically unproven (Gafson and Giovannoni, 2014), whereas the patient community endorsed it because it claimed to provide miraculous improvements in walking ability and cure people (Benjaminy et al., 2018).

Between 2011 and 2013, a range of videos started to appear on the internet of people with MS sharing their experience of the CCSVI therapy before and after they had the procedure. In these videos (Figure 16 and Figure 17), the patients carried out medical

23 CCSVI is a reported abnormality in blood drainage from the brain and spinal cord. In 2009, Dr. Paolo Zamboni from the University of Ferrara in Italy published a hypothesis that this may contribute to nervous system damage in MS. This hypothesis was both socio-politically and scientifically controversial and went viral via social media informing many people with MS about the therapy. Since then, Dr. Zamboni's results have not been validated, yet many people with MS have undergone the therapy. This situation is particularly interesting due to the role that social media played in the development of the controversy around the treatment for MS. See Gafson and Giovannoni (2014).



**Figure 16** Image still of a YouTube video where a person with MS is filming herself walk as far as she can after receiving the CCSVI treatment (Source: 23SheaCera (2011). CCSVI Before and After Video. [video] Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NoAdoNSvUbI [Accessed 19 March 2015]).



Figure 17 Image still of YouTube video where a person with MS films herself walking with a cane before receiving the CCSVI treatment, and then without the cane after the treatment (Source: kumquat509 (2010). Barbara Before and After CCSVI Video. [video] Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Hn6p9R6fQaY [Accessed 10 March 2016]).

outcome measures to demonstrate their improved physical ability and fitness, particularly people walking further than a previous video after the treatment. These videos consisting of personal stories (**Experience 1**) and the completion of medical outcome measures (**Experience 2**) created action and enough evidence for other patients to go out and get the dangerous therapy. There was a widespread increase in the number of patients going to get the treatment who then reported back in the same format. This example shows new and novel ways that experience circulates outside of the expert setting.

Using Fraser's notion of event, it is much more difficult to identify where the agency is in this situation, but it does give importance to consider the materials that are actively involved in the production of experience. Is it the person filming themselves, the technical capacity of the camera, the home environment, the use of examples of things they can and cannot do or the aesthetics of the video, or is it a combination of all the above coming together? It is these specific felicity conditions that are part of the process of becoming, creating these versions of patient experiences. Gomart and Hennion (1999, p. 416) describe these as 'mediators' that 'are not passive...but active producers'. Also, all of the entities existed before they came together, but changed in this process. The medical information existed in the clinic, in journals, at scientific conferences and the patients interacted with this knowledge through healthcare professionals. Within these videos, patients were adopting, adapting and appropriating the practices of medicine to demonstrate differences in their disease. Viewers of these videos were interacting with medical knowledge along with experiential knowledge through the videos, and this became very problematic for the medical community as it created something else, while also changing that which was involved. Everything changes in this coming together - the drug user (Gomart and Hennion, 1999), the researcher (Michael, 2011) or the user with diabetes (Wilkie, 2013). So regardless of the scientific community rejecting the therapy, scientific knowledge and the medical community were part of the becoming of these experiences. Some of these are analytically available and others exist where access is not possible. Stengers describes how events occur outside the control of any single actor and the effects of an event remain unknown and unknowable (2000, p. 66).

The concept of the event highlights a process where patients, experiences, practices, tools and researchers co-become, which is currently being discussed in design literature (Wilkie and Michael, 2009; Wilkie et al., 2014; Jönsson, 2014). The focus of this discussion is on how design can work with the potential of events while acknowledging the performativity of method. In other words, moving away from the idea that experiences can be designed or scripted as, ultimately, entities may do something quite different from what the designers intended. This is an opportunity to use the research event to ask more inventive questions about what could become in moments of interaction between patient, bodies, clinics and measurement tools (Wilkie et al., 2014). In relation to my thesis, what potential combinations of things (humans and non-humans) can be brought together in

designing research events to consider forms of patient experience? Answering this will then push to imagine, and create, new forms of patient experience. Also, what changes through these events and how? What conditions need and should be in place to direct this? What are productive felicity conditions?

This focus on event over actions when thinking about patient experience allows me to consider the limited access to events that are not actions and the limited ways of relating to patient experience when it is not being measured. In developing a working definition of performativity to take forward through this thesis, I understand it as a development from the performativity literature which opens up the view that entities can do things, which is precisely the point that ANT makes, but along with becoming and event, it says that things can change in this process of action. By taking up my previously developed definition of performativity around the notion of event, I can think about the design process, and moments of design, as where multiple and diverse elements come together and, in coming together, change one another (Wilkie, 2013, p. 4).

# Conclusion

In this first chapter, I have examined literature around four different versions of patient experience. **Experience 1** describes the phenomenological approaches dominant within healthcare and design methods, such as EBCD. ANT points out how this understanding prioritises the subjective mind within humans, rendering them capable of having experiences. Drawing further on STS, **Experience 2** is the immutable mobiles version generated through quantitative tools and design inscriptions circulated as data and visualisations in health measurement activities and EBCD processes. After this, I explore how **Experience 3** is a performative result of the situated interplays of patients, objects and measurement practices and yet is limited by assumptions related to performativity around backstage analogies, terminology and limitations of recognising performativity as capable of only producing visible effects. Finally, **Experience 4** calls for a distributed experience around the notion of event. By pulling out assumptions within these versions and considering how they either successfully or unsuccessfully hang together, patient experience as a knowable, concrete entity starts to unravel.

The table of experience, shown in Figure 18, has now been populated with few exceptions with the different versions of experience identified throughout this chapter. As can be seen, there are two blank boxes marked with question marks at the bottom right of the table. These identify, at this stage in the thesis, unknowns. It is here that I am focussing my research and hope to contribute. I very much see this table as marking out the practo-theoretical boundaries of this thesis and will return to address these empty boxes at the end of Chapter 5.

Moving on to the methodology chapter, STS provides sensibilities on how to look at the empirical situations where accounts of patient experience are co-produced and highlight the attention that must be paid to the particular conditions in which such expressive arrangements take place. I will also take forward an understanding of patient experience as a situated accomplishment that is indexical to its site of production and to its locale of circulation. In light of the strengths, weaknesses and challenges set out in the performativity literature, I argue that performativity is an important conceptual tool for understanding how patient experience is constructed and mediated in practice, and that this performativity is situated, indexical and dependent upon particular felicity conditions.

	Description	Assumptions	Design approach
Experience 1	This first understanding of experience is of a patient's inner, subjective experience of events that has happened to them. This understanding is heavily influenced by phenomenology and is dominant in healthcare practices that treat patients as subjective beings.	The limitation of perception where individual people view the world differently depending on their embodied perspective and ontological view. This also presumes that humans know their own minds and access their thoughts, i.e. their memories. STS would argue that this point of view prioritises humans as perceiving subjects above all others.	A first generation of experience design understands customers as being passive recipients of experiences that designers can create. A second- generation understanding likens experience design with co-creation and participatory design tradition where users are involved to talk for themselves and contribute to the change process. This understanding has underlying motivations of democratic principles of work management dynamics.
Experience 2	This version takes patient experience as a measured and objective phenomenon such as a number or a measure produced through data as generated from and reported through patients' subjective accounts. This version can travel and have agency in making subjects. This is not to be confused with the phenomenological perspective of experience, which is the 'inner experience' of a person, this notion is a generalised data version.	Presumes people are reflexive, rationale actors. If you fail to produce data, you do not have an experience. People are a repository of knowledge that need to be quizzed. Raises questions about the different forms of knowledge left out by methods to capture or represent this information.	Typical design inscription (immutable mobiles) that visually reduces knowledge production to simple and interrelated shapes. Action is ascribed to these shapes that are at the center of design activities.
Experience 3	This third understanding emerges out of the situated interplays between people, measuring instruments, etc. which are socio-materially mediated. It argues that 'experience' is the result of these practices and so cannot exist without them and has agency that can cause other actants to act and produce subjects. It is constituted in relation to various elements, and there is no single central core. There is an indexicality of this experience where it is dependent on where it is embedded.	This version rejects the object/subject divide, but as a performative understanding, it has been used to focus on language, presupposes a backstage where there is a consciousness and is limited to recognising performativity as producing visible effects.	An understanding of the design process as entirely performative where both subjectivities and bodies are performed. Socio- material assemblies of patients, measurement tools, health professionals, spreadsheets, etc. are performed that achieve different experiences. Can be simulated through experience prototypes and design tools.
Experience 4	This is a distributed experience that has distributed agency. It is not pre-existing and can have no visible effects. It is dependent on felicity conditions. This understanding of experience is influenced by the notion of event to consider the situated action of this model of experience.	Ś	Ś

Figure 18 Table of experience (unfinished)

# Chapter 3: A Methodology for Studying Patient Experience

In this chapter, I describe my approach to studying a performative understanding of patient experience through design-led research. The chapter will start with the methodological rationale I have chosen to use in this thesis, describing a combination of conceptual underpinnings from sociology and design-led methods. I then provide a detailed description and explanation of my research method choice. Finally, I discuss the methodological issues and challenges I anticipate encountering when conducting a study of patient experience through design-led research.

### Methodological Rationale

The methodological rationale of this thesis builds on the assumptions within approaches to patient experience discussed in the literature review from the fields of social science, medicine and design. These assumptions raise methodological challenges such as how to develop knowledge about patient experience that is not influenced by the method of knowledge generation and how different understandings of experience that are seemingly incompatible (e.g., quantitative and qualitative, ANT and subjectivity) can and are, in practice, made workable and hang together. Finally, it challenges what the implications of a performative understanding of patient experience are, taking into consideration the weaknesses that have been pointed out by critics of performativity.

The methodological rationale for this thesis is inspired by ANT approaches and the performativity literature which considers knowledge to not be pre-existing, fixed or stable. Rather, according to the literature, knowledge is produced through practices and interactions of different actors. For example, in *Enacting the Social*, John Law and John Urry argue that social inquiry and its methods are not only means of uncovering but also means of enacting because they can make social realities and social worlds. As already outlined in the literature review, the performativity of method views them as constitutive, meaning they do not only describe worlds but they also participate in, reflect upon and enact these worlds. Law and Urry ask the question to researchers and, in my case, to designers, 'Which realities? Which do we want to help to make more real, and which less real? How do we want to interfere (because interfere we will, one way or another)?' (2004, p. 11). Here, I take 'interfering' as intervening through design, contributing to making new worlds by adding new relationships, elements and capabilities. Therefore, I too am enacting a reality and version of patient experience through attempting to study it. Danholt (2008, p. 74) argues that 'When not subscribing to a sharp distinction between description and intervention, the repertoire of what constitutes intervention and thus potential contributions is considerably broadened'. So, in relation to this thesis, how can design construct 'good', better or different patient experiences? Within this, it is interesting to think about what the potential connections that could be made between different human and non-human actors through my research are, what might be brought into being, or more importantly, 'what should be brought into being', (Law and Urry, 2004, p. 6). This decision, or ontological politics (Mol,

1999, 2002; Law and Urry, 2004), describes how, or through which methods, we enact ethical worlds (and what kinds of ethics), shape new realities or design new tools for understanding and describes how these decisions are made and dealt with through design. Marc Berg (1998) argues that design is ontological politics and in doing so charges design with the responsibility of enabling certain outcomes whilst downplaying others. Law and Urry recognise the challenge of this methodological rationale (2004, p. 5); additionally, Haraway articulates there is no neutral position to research and describe the patient experience in a world where everything is performative (1988, 1991, 1994). So, my challenge is to think about how design research can move forward in this precarious position.

To start, I suggest that, by following Callon's notion of generalised symmetry, I can trace the networks that claim to make an **Experience**. Callon states that we must not constantly separate humans from non-humans when making these new entities and understandings of patient experience. This has been Callon's (2004) criticism of participatory design processes which solely consider the participation of humans actors and the resources available to them. Hence, when developing and researching alternative forms of patient experience, or designing new methods, it is not just a question of satisfying the needs of human beings involved in the process (people with MS, clinicians, MS researchers). Rather, it is also about enabling the non-human agencies in enacting future possibilities. This argument, along with Pols' (2005, p. 207) work describing how studying the patient perspective through talk only silences those without those capabilities, establishes why I am not directly asking people to report on their experiences. They would only produce **Experience 1** and support these human-centric assumptions.

In the previous chapter, I argued that experience is indexical to the site of its production and is dependent on felicity conditions. Therefore, in this research, I am aware of how the felicity conditions contribute to making different patient experiences and also take seriously the empirical settings (including things in them) that contribute to current versions of experience. In this research, I focus on the outpatient clinic, scientific conference and measurement activities that have been the subject of previous studies which observe the clinical practice (Singleton, 1998; Mol, 2002) and the scientific conference as a location where scientific resources are mobilised (Irwin and Michael, 2003). In her study on the patient perspective of people in mental healthcare, Pols (2005) describes that observations of 'situations' with specific characteristics will allow humans (and non-humans) to enact appreciations. As I go on to describe later in this chapter, for the practice-based element of this research, I develop three pilot studies to scope out these situations. A more in-depth rationale for the pilot study approach is described later in this chapter, with the next empirical chapter providing a full description of each study and an empirical account of what happened. Through practice-based design interventions in these spaces, I attempt to enact new patient experiences and test their 'success' or efficacy and, like ANT, open the black boxes (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987) of experience to
shed light on the complex relationships that exist amongst all actants, from MS patients, clinical practices, knowledge and non-medical objects to measurement technologies. In doing this, I use a similar descriptive framework when faced with either a human, questionnaire, trundle wheel or tuning fork. This helps me see how actor communities rally, network and position themselves to become knowable, hang together and also fail (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987). This proposes the empirical task of following and tracing the actors and complex assemblages of practices, materials and discourses in and through which patient experiences are made. So, similarly to Latour (1988, p. 255), I study the practices and processes of making patient experience, paying attention to the places where patient experience is produced, circulated, made stable and inscribed in the practices of healthcare. Mol and Law (2004) demonstrate it is the routine and in-situ enactment of these bodies, diseases and medical practices where different versions of patient experience are enacted alongside each other. By following the procedural process of PROM development (the measurement tool used to measure patient experiences of their MS), I follow the process of knowledge production. This highlights opportunities for exploration and also identifies assumptions within these practices. This includes, for example, the clinic site as a specific location where Experience 1 is generated through consultations and measurement procedures, the scientific conference where **Experience 2** is circulated through poster presentations with the patient body absent, and **Experience 3**, which is generated through design processes. This research explores the potential for **Experience 4** to be brought into being through considering the notion of a research event.

This calls for a methodological engagement with the open-endedness of the social world where the object of study is multiple, and any intervention is performative. In *Inventive Methods* (2012), Celia Lury and Nina Wakeford build on Law and Urry's (2004) understanding of the performativity of method to propose an inventory of research methods that enable the happening of the social, rather than just capturing or recording the here and now. Lury and Wakeford give examples of research tools such as tape recorders, patterns and design probes that actually come closer to being devices or instruments that go onto expand the present as 'on going maximisation of the agencies involved in social life' (2012, p. 5). This description enables the happening of the social through these research tools, acknowledges a socio-material perspective and gives attention to the properties of the medium, which is a core interest of design practice. Designers are already aware that materials have different capacities within the situations they are deployed. For example, using a focus group, a post-it note, mapping tools or prototypes in the situation makes a huge difference in what is achieved. The articulation of inventive methods encourages working with the potential agencies that design can provoke where designed interventions can prompt emergent enactments of potential situations while highlighting problematic existing practices. Yet, Inventive Methods further articulates the implications of using design within this methodological approach. For example, the inventiveness of the design can

never be known in advance of its deployment within a situation. Although the design can have an intended aim, I do not know what the social world will do until the research event, and thereby the heterogeneous network of actors, goes live, bringing together participants, knowledge, resources, recording devices, spaces and speculative forms of design.<sup>1</sup> In relation to this, what emerges from the design is completely dependent and reliant on its relation to the situation in which it is used. This involves the agency and performativity of both human and non-human actors. This is a broader definition of method than used in more traditional social science. However, for design practice, I am engaged in working with the unpredictability of method inventiveness and in designing interactions that take the research context and specific problems into consideration. Moreover, I engage others in this process. Here, I think it comes down to a continuum of how things play out in practice with what is planned, what can be hoped for, what is brought forward in these moments and the capacity of what emerges in the use of design to address the problem.

### **Research Methods**

This next section will give an account of the research methods I use to involve and engage people in this design research. I start with a brief background to the setting of the thesis, describing the current situation in design research as practiced in healthcare. I then describe the two main methods, the pilot studies and a research study involving three research events, followed by how these methods draw on engagement and involvement techniques currently being used in the health service, design and social science. In doing this, I highlight some issues, critiques and challenges of involving people in design research within healthcare context.

The practice-based element of this PhD thesis started in October 2012 and was a continuation of the work I was conducting as a visiting research assistant within the Barts MS research team at QMUL. Throughout the thesis I have held a research role at QMUL. As such, I have access to resources such as hospital and university spaces, conferences and lab meetings, as well as medical and scientific expertise that are relevant to the PhD research. It is important to acknowledge that this research is also positioned in the field of design research, along with engaging with the very specific field of MS. There are different definitions and understandings of design research which are generally described as research for design, research into design and research through design (Frayling, 1993), where the use of design within research is represented within these three different approaches. For this practice-based PhD, I understand design-led research to be when design practice has informed subsequent research, reflection and analysis, and where knowledge production involves the design and development of designed interactions. In other words, I practice

Michael (2014) provides an interesting account of a research incident with a cat and a tape recorder which demonstrates how non-human agency can intervene in a research event.

design through deploying interventions and use these events, and the interactions of different actors within them, as performative and empirical knowledge generating moments to explore new knowledge about patient experience (Sevaldson, 2010; Löwgren and Reimer, 2013). In this thesis, I am using design as a method to research my object of study, which is the different, future possible versions of patient experience (Jonas, 2007). So, I would describe this work as research through design where the 'process of iteratively designing artefacts as a creative way of investigating what a potential future might be' (Zimmerman et al., 2010, p. 312). This is a design epistemology where the designerly way of knowing (Cross, 1982, p. 6) is valued as an important part of the research process and is separate to the practice of design, which is an approach to knowledge creation (Wilkie, 2013). In other words, thinking about design and doing design can be separated. This is why this thesis is practice-based. Doing design involves the practical engagement with the messy practices of measuring, visualising, acting on and designing patient experiences which goes on to inform further thinking.

It is also important to keep in mind that the design practice presented in this thesis is not intended to solve perceived problems in the patient experience, nor is it to develop potential products or new services.<sup>2</sup> The intention of each design intervention is to redesign the relations that are enacted in the specific sites to change patient, clinician and medical interactions, as well as roles within the sites, to generate new knowledge by provoking the existing system structures. Therefore, the designs presented in this thesis should not be judged as standalone design outcomes or solutions, but as reference points in a research process of exploring new knowledge about how patient experience can be generated, altered and affected by introducing design. As such, the research in this thesis did not begin with a research approach or perspective. Instead, it has been guided and informed by my current and previous design practice.

Similarly, this methodology was not in place prior to the start of the PhD. Rather, it has developed as I engaged further with the literature and the practical projects. Both the establishment of the literature review and the results of the pilot projects contributed to the methodology and suggest further directions for the practice-based research. Figure 19 shows a reflective image of how the pilot studies feed into the design of the research study.

#### Pilot Studies: Engaging with patients, healthcare professionals and MS researchers

The three pilot studies are designed to further explore the assumptions within patient experience that are identified in the literature review. These are around different versions of experience hanging together, non-human agency and the performativity of design. The aim of the pilot studies is to empirically explore the conditions, procedures and instruments

.....

<sup>2</sup> I would argue that this PhD started from my observation of designers attempting to design for the perceived problem of 'patient experience' in healthcare through approaches such as EBCD.



Figure 19 How the pilot studies informed the study design.

that produce knowledge about the different versions of **patient experience**. The pilot studies are designed from my previous experience of the clinic and scientific conferences as I am already familiar with the conditions of these sites (different groups of people, my role within these spaces, the technical apparatus, environment, procedures etc.). I explore the performative effects of deploying specific activities and objects to see what happens in these sites as the studies are designed to engage with the social world rather than just investigate it.

I have been working with the Barts MS group for around eight years and within this time have delivered and been involved in many different projects as a design researcher. Although I am known in the field and at the study sites, in a way I am still an outsider, as I do not have medical training. This enables me the position to ask questions about 'what everybody knows', (Shapin and Schaffer, 1985, p. 6) asking questions about simple or obvious aspects of medical and scientific culture without being thought of as a trouble maker. The pilot studies probe at and investigate some of the taken-for-granted aspects of medical and scientific culture and practice to highlight aspects of **patient experience** that I am researching. The participant groups involved in each study are different. I approach each group of participants myself and invite them to take part in the project, explaining what the purpose of the study is, what their role is and how their involvement would be used. Each study has an activity for the participant to complete, which strikes a balance of being novel, enjoyable and inviting while being able to prompt participant engagement.

The aim of the pilot studies is not to produce information to be analysed. Rather, the aim is to use and deploy them, providing information and insights on the connections of present actors. The activities and associated tools enable playful, explorative responses from the participants that generate new thinking about how patient experience is performed in the clinical encounter, at scientific conferences and through measurement activities. In this way, the pilot studies can be likened to cultural probes (Gaver et al., 2004) which are deployed in the design process to develop unique and often unexpected understandings of a situation rather than produce coherent, generalisable accounts.

Speculative design is a body of work that grounds the practice-based element of this thesis. As a field of design, speculative and critical design marks itself as different from that of affirmative and commercial design in that it is a design practice which does not respond to the practical needs of users and are developed outside the rules and constraints that inform and direct the development of normative commercial products.<sup>3</sup> This design approach creates combinations of obliquely functional objects, manipulated photography, imagery and film to present fictional scenarios to create space for dreaming, challenging

<sup>3</sup> Critical design is often connected to the works of Anthony Dunne and Fiona Raby from the Royal College of Art, London (2001) where it was introduced almost fifteen years ago and has continued to resonate by practicing designers and within the design research world. As a previous student of the MA Design Interactions department at the Royal College of Art, these approaches have had a large influence on my design practice and my perspectives on design research.

and debating. The purpose of this is to engage people to explore how the world could be, which in turn aims to highlight problems, complexities and opportunities to move forward. These scenarios are intended to appeal to a broad and diverse audience, and though a variety of contexts such as the general public in museums and galleries or experts working in related fields. Dunne and Raby (2001) suggest that designers can initiate a critical discussion about the long-term implications of emerging technologies, such as nanotechnology and synthetic biology through workshops, exhibitions and publications, which provide opportunities for audiences to engage with this form of design and its ideas. Unfortunately, it is precisely these dissemination formats that have been the focus of much of the criticisms of critical design.<sup>4</sup> However, situated in an emerging scientific discourse and material culture, speculative design (which tends to have a more ethnographic approach through techniques such as cultural probes) seems to have become more absorbed into design research practices. For example, in the Energy Communities project led by the Interaction Research Studio at Goldsmiths, speculative prototypes were implemented and installed in users' homes to encourage novel relations amongst participants and prototypes to potentially reconfigure what the very 'fact' or 'problem' might be around issues such as what counts as energy and what actors, communities and issues are involved (Gaver et al., 2015). Michael (2012a, p. 174) describes how these probes and speculative design artefacts seek 'the idiotic'. Michael does this using Stengers' (2005) reflective figure of the idiot, which she adapted from Deleuze. It is also characterized by a 'proactive idiocy' in what he calls 'engagement events' (2012b). The idiot is a designed *object*, responding to events in non-sensical ways, challenging their meanings. So, for example, the idiotic prototypes that were deployed in domestic settings were described as creating inventive problems through participants' responses. Thereby, they were framed not as satisfying human needs but, rather, as designerly ways to frame public engagements around energy-demand reduction. This work reflects the recent growing interest from STS scholars and design researchers to work together to explore the potential of a messier, more material and more speculative process of research, where researchers from both sides show an interest in each other's practices, skills and philosophical offerings.

The main point here is to show how the design of activities, tools, objects and interactions between people, other objects, issues and so on act as creative explorations into emerging issues and situations bringing things about, rather than returning data. The designs in this thesis follow the ethos and practice of speculative design for two reasons. Firstly, speculation can be used as a tool for questioning how patient experience, as a generally accepted fact within healthcare and design, is done to open up conversations

<sup>4</sup> Matt Malpass describes how critical design has suffered from oversimplification through its chosen formats of communication. For example, a typical output of a critical design projects is in galleries or magazines, which present the work alongside short captions which in cases have misrepresented the work (2013, p. 335).

about what might be left out through inventive problem making and question how current practices enforce specific kinds of patient experience. And the second reason is to allow the potential of the objects of design to speculatively intervene in clinics, conferences and measurement activities, enabling the possibility of these events to become apparent. This then allows a less human-centred approach to be used for one that is more performative. This thesis aims to contribute how to understand the coming together of entities, people, bodies, knowledge and tools, and understand the potential of the contribution of design to enter into these new relationships. The pilot studies are explained further in the next chapter of the thesis.

# Research Study: A Design-led Approach to Explore the Performativity of Measuring Upper-limb Function in MS

The final and substantive method of this thesis is the design of a research study that sets out to develop a new PROM to measure upper-limb function for people with MS.<sup>5</sup> The study brings together people with MS to take part in three research events that are based on the FDA PROM development process.<sup>6</sup> I have already pointed out how the FDA PROM process uses different versions of patient experience (**Experience 1, 2 and 3** and their associated assumptions) to create a reduced list of general measurement activities which further work to distribute versions of **Experience 2**. The research study in this thesis focuses on the situated enactments of MS and goes through the development process, exploring the potential for design methods to create a new PROM and generate alternate versions of patient experience. Going through these stages allows me to study the simplification process that medicine operates in to generate facts of **patient experience** and seeks to creatively explore what new types could be created through the introduction of design.

This research study, focuses on meaningful, situated and interesting activities where people's upper-limb function is affected by their MS. These can be anything, including hobbies, daily routines, interests, desires or wishful activities. The aim is to investigate what happens to the arm and hand function when attempting to complete these activities – what is the combination of bodies, tools, environments and objects that come together in these moments. I use an empirical, situated approach to see what versions of experience and issues come up (Star, 1983, p. 206). This takes the situated action of MS seriously, which has been discussed in the STS analysis of disability studies (Galis, 2011), where disability is an effect of a process of associations in a network. For example, pavements, outpatient departments, medical practices and measurement tools, can all enact action – agency.

<sup>5</sup> At the start of this research, I set out to develop a new PROM in the final research study. As we shall see in Chapter 5, this effort proves to be misguided. However in this methodology chapter, I explain the reasoning I used in setting up the study with this original aim.

<sup>6</sup> I am describing these as research events, rather than workshops or focus groups to open up the event to consider the performativity of method (Michael, 2012a). The aim is to raise questions about the conditions, procedures and instruments for producing knowledge.

As ANT extends intentionality to non-human entities, I can consider a range of objects and how they perform action. This is a closer consideration of the material politics of design. If fastening shirt buttons and peeling an onion can become enactments of health progression as developed through a system by medical experts, then what would a system of measurement look like if developed by people with MS? What if other instruments are used for producing knowledge?

These activities are recorded and collected through a combination of participant insights and comments, along with observations of physical demonstrations of the activities. With the participants, we investigate what measurement means in the context of each everyday activity to develop some form of understanding of how it is completed for different people in different contexts. Introducing objects into this discussion enables people to take a new perspective on the measurement activity, triggering reactions, affects and responses to the activities. This is a re-imagining of the measurement activity where there is an openness and playfulness to prompt participants to share unexpected rationalities. This builds on insights from the pilot studies where the reactions and actions of both the participants and the researcher contribute to the performative effects of a design. The research events are settings for a generative collaboration between myself, the participants and the interaction of objects (tools, setting, environment) present to create a space for new versions to emerge. The three events are held in a non-medicalised setting as I am particularly interested to find out what versions of experience can be made without the inclusion of medical spaces, equipment and assumptions. This is an opportunity for the patients, bodies, tools, objects and activities to come together and co-become, changing in this process.

At the simplest level, this process gathers a range of activities that affect the upperlimb function of people with MS that are meaningful to them in their daily life, rather than activities that are statistically meaningful to medicine. I imagine this to be a contribution to the existing ABILHAND tool which requires its current activities to be updated for people with MS (Penta et al., 1998; Barrett et al., 2013). However, I aim for something more radical in both its format and its function.

In the responses and reactions from participants, I am not looking for patterns or solutions, but specificities that can be developing into what I originally intend to produce, a new PROM to generate new and different versions of patient experience. I am looking to explore the potential of creating an alternative PROM tool that is not limited to producing numbers (**Experience 2** like current PROMs). But, rather, generate, or script, more inventive and playful activities to measure upper-limb function and other versions of patient experience. The format this takes – digital, video or instruction manual – is unknown. However, it is a more engaging material object than the existing paper-based questionnaire. This acts to reframe the measurement activity not only as something that is done to people with MS but rather as something that also is more participatory and engages other actors.

# Involving patients in research activities

This research is part of a part-time PhD registered at Goldsmiths, University of London, so it must comply with the University of London ethics procedures. As it also involves people who are patients of the NHS trust that this research is linked to, it must have successful Health Regulatory Authority (HRA) approval. This is the process for research conducted in England with the NHS trust that assess the governance and legal compliance of the research. I will discuss the ethical issues around this work shortly. The implication of going through this process is that specific research procedures that apply to medical research must be followed. This involves producing a protocol document (see Appendix C) which sets out the procedure for conducing the research, including information on the sampling decisions, consent process, dissemination plan, confidentiality and data storage.<sup>7</sup> There is an increasing number of design research projects that engage with HRA approval procedures which also aim to explore aspects of design research (Bowen et al. 2010; Macdonald 2013; Neves 2014).<sup>8</sup> This engagement with the practical procedures increases the accountability in the positioning of the project as design research does not have authority in medical research since it is from a different field. This is an important point for practitioners working with patients in a healthcare context, or those that would like to establish themselves as a researcher in this field and have impact within it. It involves strict and rigorous regulations and is a time-consuming and complex process to complete as part of a PhD. I have previous experience putting together and delivered previous research involving the deployment of design tools within a healthcare study (Thomson et al., 2015). This experience highlighted strengths, limitations and opportunities within the medical research process for designled research to further explore, interrogate and make proposals around the assumptions of involving people in research. This also allows me to further explore some of the assumptions that are inherent in the process, for example, the way patients are produced within the

.....

<sup>7</sup> Operational documents, like the study protocol are more frequently encountered in medical research than design (Berg, 1997; Timmermans and Berg, 1997; Berg and Mol, 1998) where its aim is to outline the procedures of the research study, or bring order where there is disorder (Berg and Mol, 1998, p. 228). The protocol can also be thought about analytically as a technique, or a tool that embodies of script of how the research event is supposed to be implemented with delegated roles and tasks for researchers, patients, healthcare professionals and ethical committee members (Akrich, 1992). The protocol is a sequenced description of how to act in each situation of the research study. Although it is a written text, it affects peoples work and as I attempt to argue, contributes to the definition of versions of patient experience.

<sup>8</sup> This point is in comparison to design projects that engage with healthcare but under a consultancy model such as those ran by the Design Council, Think Public, Helen Hamlyn Centre at the RCA and also projects produced from the hybrid design and healthcare space, the Helix Centre. Problematically, all too few design projects are asking questions of what types of research we are enacting and how we intervene through the design projects and proposals.

medical research process and the limited role ascribed to patients in the process of being either research *subjects* or *participants*.

There are two reasons for choosing to conduct this research.<sup>9</sup> Firstly, practically, contribute to the field of practice-based design research within healthcare. Secondly, it enables me to highlight assumptions about patient experience in the medical research process. Patients are currently involved in the research process through patient public involvement (PPI) activities.<sup>10</sup> These have traditionally been considered activities that increase trial recruitment. However, now PPI activities are working towards being more participatory, empowered roles for patients in the research process. Levels of participation in PPI projects are commonly categorised using Arnstein's (1969) ladder of participation, ranging from no participation and tokenistic involvement to full participation. More participatory activities would be patients contributing to research studies steering committees, analysing data and contributing to writing up the research. Unfortunately, these are difficult to achieve with most PPI activities that are actually carried out being criticised as being tokenistic formats of involvement (Buck et al., 2014). However, considering the assumptions of Experience 1 and an ANT-informed understanding of participation (Andersen et al., 2015), these levels are ascribed through subjective intensions both from participants and those leading PPI activities. Whereas, ANT is concerned with things in the making and so enables me to look beyond the participation of specific and solely human actors, and see participation as an achievement of a network with performative effects.

Further criticism of existing PPI activities is said to be about the lack of theoretical consideration about the ways that patients are included in research activities and the lack of analysis of the epistemological implications of these modes of engagement (McKevitt, 2013; Boaz et al., 2016). For example, focus groups are a popular method to gain patient opinions on topics of potential research in the grant-writing stage and frequently used to evidence PPI activities. Lezaun (2007) describes how the group dynamic is used to bring relevant opinions into existence. Focus groups which originated in business and were used to obtain a range of opinions on products with the goal of enhancing marketing strategies (Krueger and Casey, 2009). Where a selected group is brought together with the goal of getting the individuals to share ideas and perspectives by asking them questions to start the discussion. Yet, further literature describes focus groups as *technologies of elicitation*, a term I will explore

<sup>.....</sup> 

<sup>9</sup> Research activities within medicine and healthcare that involve human participants can be described in different ways. Clinical studies, sometimes called clinical trials for example, are where participants are assigned specific interventions according to a research protocol. Observational studies are where participants are not assigned to specific interventions and the group is observed. But there are many other types. Common to all these studies is their aim to answer specific questions on how to prevent, diagnose and treat the participants that are involved in the study. There is no clear definition of a research study, but I would describe it as the recognised procedural process, involving established research methods, of developing new knowledge within healthcare.

<sup>10</sup> INVOLVE are a national advisory group set up by the Department of Health who promote and support public involvement at every stage of the research process. They have published widely in this area, including guidance on planning, managing, designing research instruments, undertaking, analysing, writing, disseminating and implementing research.

further in Chapter 4, as they empower the agenda of the researcher. These assumptions of participation have not been problematised in the field of PPI. Design that engages with the politics of knowledge production, as influenced from fields such as public engagement in science, has an opportunity to engage patients in research in novel ways. Therefore, there is an opportunity for design research that has a performative understanding of method and an awareness of the assumptions of patients' experience to contribute to the field of PPI empirically and theoretically.

#### **Research Participants**

Participants that are invited to take part in the research study are people with MS and healthcare professionals (neurologists, occupational therapists, MS nurses). These groups of people are involved in this study due to the type of knowledge they can potentially contribute in an attempt to provide a symmetrical approach to engagement. The involvement of people with MS in the research process is due to their embodied, practical knowledge of MS. I describe it as knowledge rather than experience of MS to try and avoid picking up some of the assumptions surrounding the use of experience that have already been highlighted in the literature review. Unlike scholars associated with public engagement in science, I do not describe it as 'lay opinion', which stands in contrast to an expert opinion.<sup>11</sup> Ives et al. (2013) point out that as people with lay knowledge become more involved in the research process, they ultimately lose their 'layness' and become 'tamed' (p. 3), therefore becoming unable to remain objective of the process they are involved in. Instead, involving people in contributing their embodied knowledge attempts to keep an empirical focus on the study while also following the participatory design tradition and identities, and recognises people as competent practitioners (Suchman, 2007). Within this project, they are competent practitioners, as they contribute their knowledge of day-to-day situations where MS affects them in the home.

This study invites people with MS who suffer from problems with their upper-limb function and generally have the progressive form of MS either PPMS or SPMS. This type of MS is characterised by having a persistent increase in disability, where other forms of MS will have plateaus with periods of not getting worse. People with SPMS and PPMS will usually have walking difficulties and rely on either a walking aid such as a stick, a walker or be in a wheelchair. Until recently, the treatments that have been developed for people with MS have focussed on people with the relapsing form of the disease, as it was considered that once a person had gone onto the SPMS and PPMS stages, they could not be helped by treatments. Now there is an argument to save as much function in people with MS, regardless of the fact that they are already in a wheelchair (Giovannoni et al., 2017). But the

<sup>11</sup> Ives et al. (2013) describe the importance of the lay opinion within research processes as it brings the opinions and experiences of illness and service use of `outsiders' into the research process.

problem, that has been outlined in the literature review, was illustrated in the ASCEND trial, where treatments are not considered to help improve (or save!) function in SPMS and PPMS as the outcome measures to measure and prove the improvement of taking the treatment all focus on walking distances. The ASCEND trials showed an improvement in upper-limb function through using the 9-hole peg test.<sup>12</sup> This calls for a more sensitive and realistic measure of people with MS's upper-limb function.

Clinicians are involved to contribute their practical knowledge of MS from medicine and their understanding of the body. This group involves one MS specialist occupational therapist and one MS specialist neurologist, Gavin Giovannoni (Professor of Neurology), to ensure that the study is designed and carried out with interest and relevance to the field of MS while also ensuring the ethical conduct of research. My role in the research study is as the principle investigator, which has responsibilities for designing the research study, completing the procedural ethical requirements, recruiting for the study, managing the research team and managing logistics (patient travel, funding, room booking, catering). The research events are facilitated by Harriet Smith, a collaborator from my previous work, who is also a professional facilitator and a person with MS; therefore, she has a skillset that can facilitate the session and contribute to the suitable set up of the sessions.

# Measuring upper-limb function in MS

The procedure follows the standard stages of the PROM development process as set out by the FDA, focussing specifically on item generation and selection, developing a scale and testing (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and Food and Drug Administration, 2009). The aim of the research study is to develop a new PROM to measure upper-limb function for people with MS. The current PROM that is used to measure upperlimb function is the ABILHAND questionnaire shown in Figure 20 (Penta et al., 1998). It lists 56 questions which measure manual ability (defined as the capacity to manage daily activities using the upper limbs, regardless of the strategies involved) and asks patients to record on paper by making an 'X' on a Likert scale of difficulty, ranging from 'Not at all' to 'Extremely'. The results of all of the questions are given scores so, when summed up, a total score is produced which is used to measure the variable upper-limb function. The questions that are asked are considered measurements of the variable, upper-limb function. The appropriateness of this measure has gone under scrutiny recently as it was originally developed to measure people recovering from stroke and was not developed with psychometric measures. This work highlights the need for extending the scale in two ways (Barrett et al., 2013). Firstly, by adding tasks that are more difficult than question 16 (threading a needle) and easier than question 14 (washing your hands). Secondly, it was

12 For a full comparison of upper-limb function measures, see Lamers and Feys (2014).

Patient			Date		
	How <b>DIFFICULT</b> are the following activities?	Impossible	Difficult	Easy	?
1.	Pulling up the zipper of trousers		Х		
2.	Peeling onions	Х			
3.	Sharpening a pencil		Х		
4.	Taking the cap off a bottle		Х		
5.	Filing one's nails				X
6.	Peeling potatoes with a knife		Х		
7.	Buttoning up trousers	Х			
8.	Opening a screw-topped jar		Х		
9.	Cutting one's nails				Х
10.	Tearing open a pack of chips			Х	
11.	Unwrapping a chocolate bar			Х	
12.	Hammering a nail	Х			
13.	Spreading butter on a slice of bread		Х		
14.	Washing one's hands			Х	
5.	Buttoning up a shirt		Х		
6.	Threading a needle	Х			
7.	Cutting meat	Х			
18.	Wrapping up gifts				Х
19.	Fastening the zipperofa jacket		Х		
20.	Fastening a snap (jacket, bag,)			Х	
21.	Shelling hazel nuts				Х
22.	Opening mail				Х
23.	Squeezing toothpaste on a toothbrush			Х	

Figure 20 The Abilhand Questionnaire listing the upper limb activites that are currently measured in people with MS by the clinical team.

described that there is a need to make the activities more relevant to people with MS, as the activities listed on the questionnaire are not specific to the condition.<sup>13</sup> Through the three events of the research study, participants propose new *items* to include in this new scale and measure that are both more relevant to them, and better measure their capabilities.

#### Activities

The three research events take place two weeks apart and each last three hours in total, with comfort breaks throughout. The three-hour session is structured around a number of group activities that are encouraged and supported by objects displayed in the room. Each event begins with a welcome from the facilitator and a description of what is about to happen.

The new items are represented through objects which invite participants to take an active role in contributing their knowledge to the study while also being designed in a way that allows non-humans opportunities for agency. The use of objects, tools, props or probes in design activities has been widely used in design research.<sup>14</sup> Ehn and Kyng (1991) describe how the use of prototypes of rough materials such as foam, cardboard and clay can create a language where everyone in a workshop can share. Other tools such as probes (Gaver et al., 1999; Mattelmäki, 2006) or design games (Brandt, 2006) can engage participants to experiment and explore new possibilities. Figure 21 illustrates and explains the three stages of the research study.<sup>15</sup>

Involving objects to represent activities recognises the performativity of design and moves on from Butler's performative understanding of language to involve thinking about the material agency of the tools and activities that are involved in the research events. These have been described as co-agents in performative acts (Anderson, 2006) where, in a way, we can create what we study through the design of activities, taking into account our knowledge practices and their capacity and involvement in making knowledge. I aim to work with this productively, in choosing to study patient experience through upper-limb activities positioned around activities of measurements which celebrate situated interactions to bring about interesting future experiences.

.....

<sup>13</sup> In an article on the Barts MS research blog, people with MS suggested activities of popping a pill packet, picking their nose, playing dominoes and bum wiping as example activities that are affected by difficulties in upper-limb function (Giovannoni, 2016). These were in response to a blog article about the limitations of the ABILHAND questionnaire to capture activities that affect people with MS.

<sup>14</sup> Cultural probes are starting to be adapted and used by health researchers and applied within healthcare contexts (Wherton et al., 2012). This has sought criticism from designers as a misappropriation of the core principles and values of the technique and described as a discount ethnography (Boehner et al., 2012). Therefore, it is important that I am clear of the purpose of these explorative tools and what they contribute to the research activity.

<sup>15</sup> Figure 21 is itself an immutable mobile in how it renders the research event as flat and contrivable (which I know it is not). This illustration has been produced to describe the procedural process of the study here in this thesis and also for the ethical planning process.



THE MOT STUDY

# **Removing assumptions**

The research study is held in a private meeting room in a venue at the Olympic park, Stratford, East London. The main reason for this is that it is a neutral environment which does not prioritise any of the participant groups (i.e., it is not a clinic space). This physically removes the participants from the hospital space with medical devices and sterile flooring and reduces the chance of interruptions by clinical colleagues. Similarly, all participants have to travel to the study venue, which is a journey to a new space rather than their regular journey to work, or journey to a hospital appointment. The material environment can have an enabling or disabling role and play an important part of interactions, as Pols (2005, p. 212) describes how hospital spaces can influence how and if appreciations are enacted. It is hoped that this material engagement moves participants beyond categorised roles of 'patient', 'researcher' and 'clinician' that are ascribed to people in professional, hospital and research contexts to enable them to explore different or alternative roles.

# Recording

Within the research study, I take on an analytical role to observe the research events. This is a form of participant observation, a data collection method most commonly used in ethnographic studies that has been adapted by designers.<sup>16</sup> Design-led approaches to participant observation differ from the more social science or anthropological approaches where descriptive accounts are produced and analysed via formally recognised means. When designers directly observe social situations, they do this with the aim to not produce 'good' descriptive accounts, but to produce insights for the design activity.

Within the research events, I focus on the empirical interactions between human and non-human actors, their orderings, disorderings and effects. Also, by tracing how things go wrong in social processes, we can trace how non-humans play their part (Michael, 2004, p. 6). I document the reactions and actions of the participants through sound recording and hand transcription (Appendix A), note-taking (Appendix B) and still photography. I focus on the 'liveness' of the research event, reporting on the heterogeneous network of actants that are brought together and their agency. I also include non-humans into the analysis in a

.....

<sup>16</sup> Ethnography is a methodology that originally developed within anthropology where a researcher aims to produce descriptions of people's practices and interpretations of their meaning by becoming involved in their everyday activities (Blomberg et al., 2003). 'Traditional' ethnography is often seen as difficult to integrate with design processes (which are deadline-driven, or play a smaller part of a larger design activity) as ethnography is intended to be a 'prolonged activity' over several years, and produces findings that are often long and discursive (Hughes et al., 1995). As a result of this, several forms of more flexible approaches to participant observation have developed that provide designers with valuable insights into the perspectives and experiences of those they are designing for. 'Design ethnography' (Salvador et al., 2010, p. 36) or 'quick and dirty' ethnography (Hughes et al., 1995) is where short, focused studies are conducted to quickly gain a general picture of the research setting. These approaches are used within academia as well as industry, with IDEO developing 'corporate ethnography' (Suri and Howard, 2006) for manufacturers to aid product development and evaluation. Here, the approaches focus on portions of contexts and patterns of everyday life that are deemed important to inform design, instead of attempting a comprehensive understanding of a context. Yet, it is for this reason that designers have been criticised as not being suitably qualified to produce an understanding of a context as they develop bias understandings with superficial overviews and lack analytical sensibilities.

way that does not imply dichotomy of human/non-human, subject/object (for this Michael proposes the term co-agent [2004, p.19]).

Following the critique of performativity through the lens of event, it becomes much more difficult to identify where agency is happening. I expect that some of the performative effects are analytically unavailable, and for others access is not be possible (for example the effect of drug users as described by Gomart and Hennion [1999]). The point here is that events occur outside of the control of any single actor and the effects of this is unknown and unknowable. Therefore, in an attempt to record non-action, I sound-record, note-take and capture still photography where necessary to capture how the activities unfold.

#### Consent

Conducting any form of research involves ethical procedures that need to be followed to ensure that the research is carried out in a procedural and ethical way, but delivering a study within a healthcare context involves an extra level of contractual and procedural processes. This thesis is based within the design department at Goldsmiths, and the practice-based element, the pilot studies and the research study situated within the Barts MS research team at QMUL. The people involved in this research are clinicians (neurologists, occupational therapists, clinical researchers and neuroimmunologists) and patients (people with MS) who are invited to take part in the research activity from the Barts health NHS trust. Therefore, I gain informed consent from all of the participants involved." A participant information sheet explains how their involvement and information shared in the session is used, what to do if they would like to withdraw from the study and confirm, for the patient participants, that their clinical care is not affected by their involvement. There is no formal ethical approval in place for the pilot studies as they are linked to service-improvement activities related with my professional role within QMUL. All participation in these studies, and the research study, is voluntary and confidential where no data collected will make it possible to identify any individuals.

In regard to anonymisation throughout the thesis, I have changed the names of individual patients, but unlike other studies of healthcare groups in sociology (Berg, 1996; Singleton, 1998; Mol, 2002; Pols, 2005) or in design (Danholt, 2008; Wilkie, 2010), I do not anonymise the locations or institutions. The reason for this is that the work is practice based and will be in the public sphere associated with my name, and so would be easy to find.

<sup>17</sup> Medical research ethics were put in place after the horrific treatment and experimentation of the sick and other groups of people carried out in the medical institutions of the Third Reich's Universities, hostels and concentration camps. After World War Two, this led to the development of principles intended to regulate the relationship between patient and doctor, science and subject. The key to this relationship was the recognition of the right of the patient, or the subject, through the principle of 'informed consent', which is a contractual agreement and understanding of what their participation will involve.

# Ethical considerations of methodology

This design research engages in the practice of medical measurement of individual's physical disability and chronic illness progression, investigates practical activities that are conducted between healthcare professionals and patients, and attempts to have a closer look at how MS is enacted in people's lives. I use explorative design research methods that are inventive, and where I am even unsure of the effects of their deployment, in that they can bring some things into being over others. There is no standard design-led research procedure for navigating this complex situation, so I must take on, re-design and adapt current health service research procedures to make this work, and conduct responsible and accountable design research. In light of this, the study does not necessarily encourage the involvement of newly diagnosed patients. I also acknowledge and am aware that people with MS are coming together to share their thoughts and feelings about their care and life living with MS, including potential private and upsetting stories. I treat all of these contributions with the greatest respect and can provide details of further sources of support if this is necessary. There are more details on this process in the MOT study protocol in Appendix C.

#### Reflexivity

In most research methodologies, interfering with the object of study constitutes bias. Hence, researchers are encouraged to account reflexively for their biases in order for others to evaluate the knowledge claim. The idea of bias is significantly reconfigured when drawing on STS and understandings of performativity where the possibility of obtaining unmediated access to an 'objective world' is disregarded.<sup>18</sup> Further, this idea needs to be extended with practice-based design research that aims to intervene in the world it aims to study, in one way or another. Therefore, the concern of bias changes and becomes somewhat irrelevant as it presumes that research should be conducted out with limitations of interventions and perspectives.<sup>19</sup>

This is of particular interest to practice-based design research that focusses on physical interactions within the world which, in my case, are embroiled with the researcher's involvement in the research setting. Through my research, I am not aiming to produce pristine objective descriptions of the world and the research context.<sup>20</sup> Instead, using a performative understanding of research, I consider the instruments, techniques and representations, considering how they enable knowledge to be produced. Following

<sup>18</sup> For critiques and further unfolding of the problem and implicit assumptions of reflexivity, see Latour (1987) and Barad (2007).

<sup>19</sup> As previously mentioned in the literature review, Haraway (1991) points out how some accounts of STS researchers tracing technoscientific networks do not include accounts of their own participation and influence in the construction of knowledge and can be likened to a 'god trick' with their view of the research as from above looking down.

<sup>20</sup> This is related to the criticisms of design approaches to ethnography which suggest that designers do not observe in such a way as to minimise their influence, and that any understanding they develop is biased, subjective and not formulated according to any formal analytic techniques. In order to clarify the role and influence of my subjectivity in this research, I include evidence of my research development process in the accounts of the pilot studies, the study development and as documents in the Appendix of this thesis.

STS, a central contention is an appreciation of those instruments, apparatuses, theories and representations, since they are practices through which the world is cultivated and performed.

When writing up my account of the research events, I include descriptions of my involvement to attempt to provide a reflexive account. For this, I draw on Latour's 'infrareflexivity' (1988, p. 169) and Donald Shön's (1983) reflexive practitioner to make clear how my accounts of the research texts are produced. The notion of the reflexive practitioner, and extension to the reflexive designer, produces accounts of design that are situated and emergent through the thesis and made valid for design research. Michael (2004) describes this as being a co-agent where the researcher is situated, embodied, emergent and embroiled within the range of actors present.

In this research, and for this thesis, I am telling the stories of the research, so I am aware there is a certain impossibility of symmetry as I provide an account of the research from my perspective as a human actor and a feminist design researcher. In relation to providing reflexive written accounts of the research activity, there are three main formats that are produced: the analytical and theoretical descriptions in reference to the different perspectives set out in the literature review and methodology chapter; practical and operational descriptions of the research study in the study protocol informed by medical research to comply with the HRA process; and another account for participants in plain English describing their involvement in the study, what information is gathered and how it is used.

# Conclusion

In this chapter, I have outlined the methodological rationale I have developed to study a performative understanding of patient experience. I have also discussed the key issues and challenges involved in working with patients in this research. I described how patient experience can be studied as a performative, emergent phenomenon in a design-led research process involving pilot studies and research events. To do this, I argue that these forms of inventive methods are necessary to explore the potential for studying something that, I argue, can have no visible effects. This equips me with an empirical approach for exploring and understanding the PROM development process, and how different versions of patient experience are brought about, can co-exist and can also be made *through the introduction of design*.

# Chapter 4: Opening up technologies of experience through three pilot studies

This chapter starts with a question: what kinds of technologies are at play in the doing of patient experience? I ask this question to open up the locked-in world of patient experience as a given, or an existing, authentic truth that is considered available to be acted upon, measured, designed and improved. Therefore, experience-in-the-making affords an opportunity to investigate the performative activities through which different versions of patient experience are currently accessed, captured, measured, defined, reproduced and circulated. In studying how new versions of experience emerge, I will draw on the table of experience developed in the literature review that put forward many different versions of experience from different writings in recent science studies, medical sociology and design practices. These different versions pose problems and challenges for the potential for working with new and different versions.

This chapter presents and reflects on three pilot studies where practice-based design interventions are deployed to investigate situated circumstances in which approaches to patient experience might be re-thought within three distinct contexts of an international academic medical conference, of a neurology outpatient clinic and in a clinical measurement activity between a clinician and a person with MS. The pilot studies aim to rethink how patient experience is done in these settings through considering how slowing down the processes by which experience is grasped can thereby open up ways of understanding other kinds of experience that are being ignored and screened out, as well as the possibility of determining new kinds of experience. I am interested in how techniques of experience measurement can be rethought as the situated enactments of experience rather than the generation of cleaned-up versions. Finally, if I slow down experience-in-themaking, I can also appreciate how the exchange of other objects, or experience phenomena, might be understood as another example of situated experience that gets screened out of measurement practices. Once sensitised to new versions, it becomes clear how new versions of experience can be located, how they operate and how they circulate in contrast and amongst other versions. But before this, I include a brief survey of the literature that I will draw on throughout the rest of the chapter and a description of the use of pilot studies in design-led research.

This chapter is organised backward, flipping the traditional order of conventional research processes. It starts with dissemination, then considers processing, and ends with capturing patient experience. The intention is to discover how new versions might operate away from existing assumptions and unlike other forms of knowing. The chapter concludes with some reflections on how the pilot studies sensitised me to different contexts where new versions of experience might be identified, traced and potentially better understood.

#### Technologies of experience and slowing down

Technologies of (patient) experience work to capture, record, process, format and circulate patient experience as different versions – in other words, instruments and technologies

of experience produce experience. The term can be traced back to Paul Ellwood's 1988 article in the *New England Journal for Medicine* which outlines the introduction of outcome management after the US health reforms in the 1970s. These are 'designed to help patients, payers, and providers make rational medical care-related choices based on better insight into the effect of these choices on the patient's life' (1988, p. 1556) bringing together multiple concerns from the US health system linking health outcomes with financial interests. In the context of patient care for people with MS and upper-limb function, the impact of this view can be evidenced today within the NHS with a wide range of subjective measurement tools such as PROMs (described in Chapter 2), as well as objective measures such as the nine-hole peg test (Feys et al., 2017) and the Box and Blox test (Platz, 2005).<sup>1</sup>

I want to draw similarities between Ellwood's call for the development of outcome measurement as critical for physicians to remain in control of their profession (Sullivan, 2003) and Lezaun and Soneryd's (2007) framing of technologies of elicitation in the study of public consultations in PUS. Public consultations, research interviews (Jerak-Zuiderent, 2015; Mazanderani and Paparini, 2015), opinion polls (Osborne and Rose, 1999), home interviews (Callon and Rabeharisoa, 2004) and focus groups (Lezaun, 2007) are framed as techniques to capture events where experts are brought together with devices and instruments to make communities real for the productivity of interested parties as they 'generate lay views on the issues at hand' (2007, p. 279). Further ethnographic work by Vinh-Kim Nguyen (2010; 2013) draws on Foucault's notion of 'technologies of the self' (1988). In it, Nguyen looks at peer support, counselling, participatory research and public testimonies as 'confessional technologies' (2013, p. 440) in a performative approach to knowledge practices of HIV in Africa. These all raise epistemological and ethical questions about the use of different technologies as a means of accessing and producing knowledge of people's experiences.

In this chapter, I argue that technologies of experience are important theoretical sites for feminist technoscience studies because of how the materiality of bodies, roles and knowledge are positioned as matters of fact and 'do-able' (Fujimura, 1987), by scientific practice and medical work.<sup>2</sup> This thesis takes a material-semiotic perspective developed by ANT (Haraway, 1991; Law and Hassard, 1999; Latour, 2005), which views material objects, tools and bodies, as active participants that shape human bodies as part of heterogeneous networks creating new practices and knowledge (Ruppert, Law and Savage, 2013). Here, I use a broader definition of technology. Therefore these technologies, even if they are as simple as chairs around a table, measurement tools, or conventions in interactions, are used across health services, national trials and research studies in the form of PROMs

<sup>1</sup> A concise overview of outcomes measures related to upper-limb function in MS can be found in Laymers and Feys (2014).

<sup>2</sup> Casper and Berg (1995) make similar points in their analysis of developments of sociology of medical and scientific work. Interestingly, they call for more communication between the sociologies of science and medicine when considering this field of study.

(Giovannoni, 2017), patient experience surveys (Barts Health, 2018), self-monitoring apps (Roche, 2018), PPI initiatives (Thomson, 2014) and patient registers (Osborne et al., 2013) contributing to the creation of large-scale data collection, aggregation and quantification of different forms of experiential data. This shows socio-technical progress towards measurement-based medicine where medical data is assembled online on websites such as Patients Like Me (Scanlon, 2013).

Patient experience metrics, such as the distance a person with MS can walk (which is considered an important indicator of the health of a person's neurological system), can be sorted, combined with other people's data and compared and re-assembled through different categories of type of MS, EDSS score, month and country of birth, creating 'population objects' (Ruppert, 2011, p. 219). This, along with other data, is used to generate a variety of predictions about that person's current health, including their disability prognosis, their response to treatment (along with assumptions about their personal relationships) and their occupational future. Used in this way, these technologies have direct impact on the lives of those with MS, as shown with the recent personal independent payment (PIP) walking criteria change from 50 to 20 meters. This is crucial because the dependence on walking criteria effects how MS benefits are calculated, with a miscalculation reducing or even stopping weekly payments to people who greatly need it.<sup>3</sup> Described by MS charities as 'senseless criteria' (Wetherly and Erez, 2018, p. 28), it raises many questions about the nature of the knowledge generated by these technologies of experience, as well as the influence of market forces and healthcare-provider incentives in the production of metrics.

Isabelle Stengers' notion of slowing down (2005) is a helpful tool to question the role of technoscience and expert knowledge in shaping contemporary worlds. She introduces the idea of slowing down thinking and decision making in the context of experimental scientific research, but it also has important implications for researching patient experience through design research. The implications for patient experience would stop experience from being seen as a resource that can be exploited for the sole benefit of research or service development and would create opportunities to engage with the uncertainties of human (patients, researchers, designers) and non-human (measurement tools, research objects, scientific processes) entanglements. Specifically, this enables me to think about whose interests are being fulfilled or suited in the way that patient experience is currently researched and produced, allowing me to question the influences of healthcare policy (WHO, NICE, NHS trusts), research funding and agendas (set by MS charities, research councils, national clinical guidelines) or the pharmaceutical industry in the production of, what Stengers describes as, fast science. This is an opportunity to develop an awareness

<sup>3</sup> The PIP is the new disability living allowance which calculates how much weekly financial support a person with MS should receive. The new PIP guidelines introduced in 2013 use the 20-meter walk test to determine how disabled a person is and has received negative feedback from charities, healthcare professionals, patient groups and their families.

of the particular and selective thought style of researchers and clinicians in the field of neurology and MS.

In this chapter, I embrace this call for slowing down and apply it through design research in a practical way. In the presentation and analysis of the pilot studies, I consider what happens when working with patient experience is slowed down. It then becomes possible to pay attention to the things that are not counted or included in the scientific and medical methods of doing patient experience. Slowing down through design research will enable me to look and learn from things left out and consider if what they fail to capture is interesting, useful or important. So, an important question at this point in the thesis is, what can design research aimed at slowing down tell us about technologies of experience and experience in the making?

This engagement with patient experience could be a way to perform different versions of patient experience as an opening that slows down thought and potentially generates new possibilities, rather than researching what does, or does not, already exist as found objects of **Experience 1**. This call to slow down is not about offering another solution. Instead, it enables an opportunity to rethink how patient experience is done and opens up new ways to explore differences. It creates opportunity to arouse a slightly different awareness of the problems and solutions around us. This important point effects the analysis of all three pilot studies, as firstly it slows down the creation of the material things (Bingham, 2008) such as scientific posters, research abstracts and emails between colleagues, which have important performative effects in the circulation of new versions of experience. Secondly, bodily practices become settings where things get slowed down, such as how walking can embody what Stengers (2005) calls a politics of slowness. Existing scholars looking at walking methodologies consider the human walker as the animate agency on a walk (Springgay and Truman, 2017) creating space for hesitation and resistance, producing new modes of relating. This enables me to think about what else is happening in walking activities.

The pilot studies slow down and open up the chains of translations, or how different actors form different networks (Callon, 1986) involved in the construction, or enactment, of new patient experiences. The translation and inscription process, or simplification work (Star, 1983), of scientific and medical research transforms one version of experience, **Experience 1**, to another, **Experience 2**, and then inscribes it in a specific format of the poster as a result. In other words, this is experience as immutable mobiles (Lynch, 1985; Latour, 1987). Meaning data versions that are mobile, in that they can be shared while also remaining unchanged, can be used as evidence in scholarly papers, reports and posters adhering to demanding standards about their reliability. As interventions, the pilot studies propose different forms of interaction amongst different actors and material forms - or inscriptions (Callon, 1991, p. 143) - and the researcher. By slowing down this process, the possibility of translating and inscribing in unexpected ways becomes possible. This

supports the argument that patient experience is precisely what emerges out of the chain of translations, or technologies of experience, that produce it.

Slowing down can also help understand not only planned interventions but also responses from participants. Stengers' figure of the idiot (2005), taken from Deleuze, is a helpful analytical tool to interrogate the implicit assumptions about patient experience and the way it shapes existing arrangements, relationships and interactions in specific settings. This makes it possible to be more sensitive to the ways in which particular identities and participant reactions emerge, as well as understanding the role of design research in the context of MS. Michael (2011) uses the conceptual figure to describe how speculative design experiments in public engagement activities can idiotically affect the sense of what constitutes a piece of research material. The idiot, as well as the practice of pausing and reflecting, helps think through what is known, what is not known and what cannot be known. Here, I am looking to see how the pilot studies work within and also overspill the framing of existing measurement procedures, dissemination events and clinical encounters to question whether I can know what is going on and, in this case, whether experience is really being captured.

In this chapter, I bring the notion of slowing down to experience technologies to analyse the knowledge production process and practices around it. Technologies of experience process, format and produce taken-for-granted versions of experience, arguably speeding up the process of patient experience generation and circulation for the purpose of external actors, such as commissioners, health trusts, funders and regulators. Through this research, I am intentionally intervening and disrupting this process, slowing it down both in thought and in practice. This will have implications on how it results in everyday contexts.

# Pilot studies as part of design research

The short practice-based pilot studies described in this chapter are experiments where I use design to investigate patient experience in three distinct contexts: an international academic medical conference, a measurement activity and a clinical consultation. Within these specific settings, there are many different opportunities for design to intervene and a number of different roles that design could take. Design is frequently positioned or implicated within healthcare as contributing to increasing efficiency and productivity, reducing error (West et al., 2014), improving care (Donetto, Tsianakas and Robert, 2014) and ultimately improving experiences. However, this thesis problematises this positioning of design in relation to generating and altering pre-existing experiences. So, it becomes a balance between problem solving and more playful explorations to open up valuable new directions (Pullin, 2009) when working as a designer within healthcare. I suspect that by slowing down design's involvement in healthcare will enable design researchers to think beyond 'doing good' and spend more time thinking through how else design can contribute

to new notions of patient experience.<sup>4</sup> To do this, design work needs to be relieved from the reductionist constraints and limitations of solving problems so that design exploration can disrupt, react and provoke reactions which otherwise would not come forward (Danholt, 2008).

Pilot studies are frequently used when designing clinical research to evaluate feasibility, efficiency, accuracy of measurements, recruitment and outcome rates, and effect sizes to improve study design prior to performing a full-scale research project (Hulley et al., 2007; Thabane et al., 2010). For example, in a pilot study looking at how feedback from patients can improve nursing care, the study provided evidence that conducting surveys on hospital wards via staff was a feasible approach to gather patient experience data (Reeves, West and Barron, 2013). The study could then deliver a phase-three, randomised and controlled trial using this approach. Considered as preliminary tests, pilot studies are particularly helpful to the overall research process for new interventions when the risk of failure is high but the value that they bring in exploring the unknown is worth this risk.

In design practice and research, activities of testing and iteration are described as workshops, probe activities (Gaver, Dunne and Pacenti, 1999), prototypes (Wilkie, 2013) and storyboarding where early ideas are tested with participants and design expertise is enacted in specific ways. There are a few studies where these early test activities have been referred to as pilot studies. Interestingly, they all relate to health and wellbeing research (Hielscher, Fisher and Cooper, 2007; Dong and Vivat, 2008; Bossavit and Parsons, 2018; Knutz, Markussen and Thomsen, 2018). This suggests that design researchers are borrowing language from clinical research in an attempt to increase the validity of processes and methods that are unfamiliar to the medical field. This is one example of how the practicebased work of this thesis must acknowledge its precarious positioning between design and health research.

The pilot studies used in this thesis have been developed from a design perspective, rather than the medical perspective that would value qualities of reproduction, validity and efficacy. The purpose of these pilot studies is to make a foray through new and unfamiliar activities to enable behaviours, practices and interactions within moments where patient experience is generated, measured and circulated. The aim of approaching patient experience through these unfamiliar directions is to look at these contexts in new ways and hopefully uncover potentially exciting and unexpected results. This addresses one of the main aims of this thesis: the ways design research creates new ways to think about current problems, what design brings forward, and who or what else design speaks to.

From the perspective of design research, and for the purpose of the research presented in this thesis, the studies are being used as the crucial first practice-based explorations

<sup>4</sup> Jerak-Zuiderent (2015) takes a similar approach in social science investigation by slowing down the problem-solution-found plot of

accounts in qualitative healthcare interview research.

into working with patient experience to direct further research activities. It is key that the design of the studies are not considered finished design ideas, or even possible or plausible directions for further development or iteration. Instead, they should solely act as props that play a role in enabling interactions to happen (Moggridge, 2007).

In the remainder of this chapter, the three studies are presented in sequence. This is so each study can be described and analysed separately, allowing me to discuss the particularities of each pilot study in the discussion. I explain the background to each of the three pilot studies. Then, I describe the rationale for the study, the results, my reflections and responses. This is followed by an analysis. I am not going to explain everything that happened nor go through each response in detail, but I will highlight key points that developed my thinking on how design can work with patient experience. At the end of the chapter, I weave the pertinent data from each pilot study and my discussion into one paragraph, considering their relation.

#### **Pilot Study 1: Willow Plate**

Academic conferences are key sites in which medical and scientific versions of patient experience are enacted, shared and disseminated. For MS research, the ECTRIMS conference is the largest, attended by over 10,000 MS specialists, including neurologists, nurses, health and scientific researchers, and pharmaceutical companies. Often, researchers stand next to their Ao poster (which displays research objectives, methods, techniques, findings and implications), and they respond to questions from fellow conference participants (Figure 22). These academic posters are important tools for research dissemination. As such, I designed the *Willow Plate* pilot study to intervene in the poster session at the 2013 conference and explore the process by which patient experience is translated and produced in this setting.<sup>5</sup>

I approached researchers standing in front of their posters and invited them to participate in the *Willow Plate* pilot study using an information sheet (Figure 23), to which they all agreed. Participants were asked to draw a description of their research on paper, copy this onto a ceramic plate, and then use the plate to describe their research in place of the poster. Traditionally, the existing research visualisation methods found on research posters follow institutional guidelines, have bulleted text, and have computer-generated graphs to represent complex statistical results. However, drawing on a ceramic plate removed these physical and visual constraints, allowing for other representations and forms to come forward. Creating hand-drawn patterns of complex science on ceramic plates was inspired by the elaborate blue and white Willow pattern painted on eighteenth-century

<sup>5</sup> To give a sense of scale, there are 4,000 posters on display at ECTRIMS 2013. Recent regulation has stopped pharmaceutical companies taking clinicians to conferences (e.g., paying for their registration, travel, accommodation and meals) if they are not themselves contributing research, hence the large number of poster acceptances (Anand, 2011).



Figure 22 Photographs of the poster exhibition at the ECTRIMS conference, October 2014.



Figure 23 Instructions given to participants to explain the Willow Plate exercise.

tableware conveying Chinese narratives and fables. I drew similarities between how an observer must learn to understand these distinctive patterns for the story to unfold as being similar to the technical presentation of research on a scientific poster and the technical knowledge needed to be able to understand the poster content.

Engaging researchers to hand draw a description of their research created an opportunity for them to be spontaneous and expressive, much like *Surrealist Games* (Brotchie and Gooding, 1995).<sup>6</sup> The aim of this was to help bring about surprising or non-ordered responses from participants, breaking their traditional thought patterns to create unpredictable outcomes.

Eight participants (with roles as biomedical researchers, PhD students, pharmaceutical representatives and clinical academic researchers) engaged in the activity with even more conference delegates interacting with these participants throughout the process shown in Figure 24-27 (Gurkan et al., 2013; Kearney et al., 2013; Sethi et al., 2013; White et al., 2013).<sup>7</sup> Below, I report on three examples of unexpected encounters from the activity:

 In the poster hall, there was a steward's station that provides support for poster authors to hang their posters. I stored the plates here during the activity, and as I returned with each completed plate, one of the stewards became increasingly interested in the activity. On the creation of the final plate, the steward left the station to approach the researcher, listened to the description of the plate, and then asked questions about his sister (who was a participant of a cancer research study).

2. While one of the PhD student participants was drawing their plate, a conference delegate asked what they were doing. They responded with 'We're making our work easy for patients to understand'.

3. One week after the conference, I received an email from the participant who worked for a pharmaceutical company and created Plate 2 asking for images of the plate so they could request legal approval for it. All material produced by pharmaceutical

<sup>6</sup> I filmed the participants explaining the research on their poster, drawing their pattern on paper and then on the plate, and using their plate to explain their research again. At the end of the activity, I took a portrait photograph of each participant with their completed plate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> I had originally aimed to work with 20 researchers, but the participants took longer than expected to draw and re-draw their plates, so I reduced my expectations of this number and was able to produce eight completed plates.



Figure 24 Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 1, entitled: *Does the lobar distribution of cortical grey matter lesions correlate with cognitive impairment seen in multiple sclerosis patients?* The first author, Varun Sethi, is pictured above.





**Figure 25** Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 2, entitled: *Immunogenicity with peginterferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: data from the pivotal phase 3 ADVANCE study.* The first author, Joleen White, is pictured above.





**Figure 26** Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 3, entitled: *Paced auditory serial addition test: normative data in a Turkish population.* The first author, Muharrem Gurkan, is pictured above.







**Figure 27** Photographs documenting the creation of Plate 4, entitled: *Neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging in multiple sclerosis spinal cord.* The first author, Hugh Kearney, is pictured above.

companies need to comply with the Association of the British Pharmaceutical Industry guidelines (PMCPA, 2016).

The activity was met with positive responses from the participants who engaged with the study and from passing conference delegates commenting 'what are you doing?', 'Wow - interesting' and 'this is better than your poster'.<sup>8</sup> This could be due, in part, to many things - such as the novelty of the activity, its similarities to public engagement projects that are common at UK research institutions, or my association with patient-involvement sessions that I run at ECTRIMS.

I was surprised that none of the participants re-drew any of the scientific visualisations, line graphs or illustrations from their original posters. Instead, they drew a variety of objects and icons, such as a patient lying in an MRI machine, brains being cut, MRI scans of spinal cords, an ear, music notes, a house, a bonfire, a bicycle, a money symbol, male and female bodies, walking sticks, and happy and sad faces. These objects provided insight into some of the other bodies, medical apparatuses and techniques necessary to conduct their work that are not included or represented on the original poster. This suggests the pilot studies can intervene in the chain of translations that produce patient experience, involving other experience phenomena, i.e., stewards, conversations, graphs, and approvals.<sup>9</sup>

# Dealing with the mess

Academic posters as technologies of experience produce cleaned-up versions of **Experience** 2, which are precisely framed as workable, generalizable, knowable, analysable and measurable as immutable mobiles, like other forms of objective data (Lynch, 1985, p. 43).<sup>10</sup> When immutable mobiles that have to travel around and get worked upon are made in this clinical research setting, things get left out. The creation of the plates slowed down this translation and inscription process. It also enabled me to pay attention to the removal of objects or cleaning up of the mess of unworthy objects. This included the brains of deceased patients, dissected spinal cords, medical apparatuses, and emotion, in addition to tensions and complexities that were screened out and erased (Star, 1983), ultimately resulting in new versions of cleaned-up research. Moving away from cleaned-up versions exposes different realities of this work, including failed studies, patients' feelings, emotions and gender, which

8 The plates were not intended to be used beyond the poster session because I was specifically interested in the process of their creation, rather than them as a final product or resource, thus in part reflecting the short lifespan of the posters themselves. Many posters are not claimed at the end of the session and are disposed of after the poster sessions by the stewards.

.....

<sup>9</sup> By this term, I refer to objects, responses, and events caused or performed by doing patient experience.

<sup>10</sup> Latour and Woolgar (1986) refer to this as the work that goes into the social construction of scientific realities through the making of 'facts'.

play an important part in influencing research, and which are left out by medical science.<sup>11</sup> By looking closely, I analyse the negotiations between included and excluded visualisations, bodies and tools and create opportunities to arouse 'a different awareness of the problems and situations that mobilises us', and the scientific community (Stengers, 2005, p. 994). Slowing down brings this new awareness to the problems and situations that are not predetermined or vetted through the translation process. This pilot study shows that having a different activity represent research brings into play research elements that would have otherwise been stripped away.

This brings me to an important question: how do technologies of experience generate versions of experience with issues implicit within them? There is a possibility for a less predictable or prescribed version of experience to come forward if you do not adhere to the rules and traditions of medical science. This version is less scientific, as it is not beholden to characteristics of heterogeneity, comparability and transferability. Instead, it is more about context and specifics, which result in a different form of knowledge claim. This begs the question, should experience be solely based on clean accounts? Or, instead, what happens when we follow Stengers and reclaim the mess, learning how to deal with what escapes objective categories (2002, p. 27)? Then, technologies of experience must be designed to allow for problems and issues to come forward.

#### Misbehaviour

Stengers argues that an understanding of slow science must include the ways that other kinds of experience come to matter for other collectives, suggesting a diversity of actors involved in patient experience (2002, p. 84). Translating a paper poster into a ceramic, hand-drawn plate mobilised experience in a new and unusual format and enabled new connections amongst different implicated actors to come forward (Stengers, 2002, p. 252). This included the unexpected actions and responses from the steward sharing a healthcare experience of a sibling, the pharmaceutical industry seeking regulatory permissions, and the PhD student's assumptions becoming explicit. In the form of a plate, experience comes to matter (or not) for the implicated actors.

In the conference setting, researchers, scientists and clinicians are seen as more powerful than non-experts. Additionally, in this setting, the technologies of experience ascribe, or script, the roles of researchers, stewards and representatives, making them experts participating in a research dissemination activity with other experts. This is evidenced with the PhD student's response exposing a knowledge hierarchy between the authoritative position of researchers and others. Here, design explores this directionality of

<sup>11</sup> MS is predominantly a disease that affects women, yet most people recruited onto studies are men, and there is very little research into issues that affect women (pregnancy, menopause, etc.). This, coupled with the uneven gender distribution in the clinical and academic workforce (most MS specialist clinicians are male, and almost all MS nurses are female) is gaining more attention (International Women in MS, 2018).
knowledge and expertise and shows how the involvement of different formats exposes this. The plate becomes an accountable version of experience for the steward, encouraging him to misbehave as a steward (Michael, 2012), which allows him to become a resource in his interaction with the expert. This re-configures his identity as a brother an associated patient experience. The steward takes the plate seriously, has the powerful right to do so, and in doing this, serves to trouble the very exercise of the poster when he does not value or feel entitled to participate in the workable, generalisable and knowable **Experience 2**. But, to treat audiences symmetrically, I cannot say the poster is more important, serious or sensible than the plate or steward's stories about his sister. The methods of the pilot studies deliberately leave the definition of the actors underdetermined and the direction of travel open. Here, I have learned that patient experience can travel in different directions and also be reclaimed.

In the process of exploring other ways of eliciting experience through design research, it is important to be aware that the techniques are still beholden to certain requirements, such as regulatory guidelines of the pharmaceutical industry and organisational rules and regulations. If thought about as a technology, they predetermine the identity and role of the actors in the script, formatting the conduct of researchers and of where and how they can circulate. Although, in the example of requiring company approval for the plate, the experience phenomena is able to undermine these pre-existing identities, roles and scripts by becoming subject to the demands of medical science and highlighting them as unnatural. It seems ridiculous that the same requirements for scientific posters are applied to the plate, a very different technology of experience that exposes different things and acts radically different, which the company's rules evidently consider equivalent. This builds on previous questions around whose interests are these versions of experience produced and what counts as experience, and for whom.

### Pilot Study 2: How far can you walk?

The second pilot study explores how medical versions of patient experience and patients walking distance are defined and generated through outcome measures. Interestingly, there is lack of consensus within the neurology literature and clinical field around exactly how to measure and record the optimum walking distance of a person with MS safely and rigorously within clinical research and practice. The following approaches and associated critiques are put forward: a clinician pushing a trundle wheel while walking with a patient is criticised to be time consuming (Bethoux and Bennett, 2011)(Figure 28); patients walking on a treadmill is said to be unrealistic (Bethoux and Bennett, 2011); and patients verbally describing their walking ability over specific distances, or between two landmarks such as the hospital and the tube station, is flawed because people are unable to judge exact distances (Sharrack and Hughes, 1997; Giantomaso et al., 2003; Commins et al., 2013). Arguably, this debate is preoccupied with determining the optimum environmental conditions and practices to generate clinical data through simulating walking in *real life*,



**Figure 28** Stills from a video recorded on my phone of a patient with MS using a walking stick and having their walking ability measured by a neurologist outside the Blizard Institute in Whitechapel. I have observed my clinical colleagues `walking' a patient with MS on many occasions. In doing this, they adhere to the requirements to generate walking distance for a clinical trial.

i.e., re-creating a patient walking that is not for measurement purposes. This argument is based on this field's understanding and associated assumptions of thinking about **patient experience 1**. I am interested in how this procedural uncertainty from within the neurology field reflects their conceptual assumptions about how patient experience is generated and performed and how this materializes in the practices in conducting measurement activities with patients.

In the *How far can you walk*? pilot study, the participant, who is a consultant neurologist (not a person with MS), was instructed to walk 360 meters before pausing for a two-minute rest. After the pause, we continued to walk for 360 meters, then paused again, and so on until we reached the final destination. The distance of 360 meters was selected because this was the distance that the person with MS filmed in Figure 28 could complete before needing to rest. I measured the distance by pushing a trundle wheel and documented the activity with a sound recorder, video camera and the Moves application running on my phone (Figure 29-31).

The pilot study aimed to explore the assumptions of simulating patient experience as a measurement activity. For this design intervention, I drew on approaches from user studies in design, where the subjective experience of users are simulated as part of the design process to create a 'connection with the users' and get close to 'contexts, actions, feelings, attitudes and expectations' (Mattlemäki, 2002, p. 267) through empathy probes and experience prototypes (Buchenau and Suri, 2000) by simulating the measurement activities, tools and behaviours.

This was conducted in the neurologist's everyday life setting of commuting to work. This was done to see if it could provide active participation in another's subjective experience, as these tools claim it can (Buchenau and Suri, 2000; Mattlemäki, 2002). Also, it aimed to explore the apparent need to provide ways to help physicians gain empathy for their patients, which is well known in medicine (Halpern, 2003; Jeffrey, 2016).

On the morning of the study, the neurologist and I walk from their home in South West London at 7 am to the tube station, stopping every 360 meters. While we walk and pause, conversations cover multiple topics (e.g., our immediate surroundings, topics the participant brings up of their next house move, people who live in the area we are walking through). By the time we arrived at the station it was later than usual. As such, rush hour made it impossible for us to board the train. The participant suggested we travel south one station to board the train when it is quieter, before it gets to this station. We do this and complete the journey to their work. The consequences of conducting this activity and deploying this data on the participant's commute to work was immediately apparent for that participant.

Not surprisingly, while walking our conversations started around the task at hand and the limitations of only being able to walk 360 meters. It then moved on to topics of interest to both of us, such as living in London, house prices in the area, marathon training, and



Figure 29 An illustration of the set-up of the walking device and different technologies involved in recording the pilot study.



**Figure 30** A compiled illustration of the tracking data gathered from the Moves App running on my phone showing the distance covered and time duration. By visualising this data, I am able to show our journey and the misdirection of the train, shown in red. This shows the route that we travelled from SW7 to E1 plotted on a map, marking each time we completed 360m in distance with a time stamp from the sound recording. We travelled to the underground station, then passed through it. The total journey took 1 hour 14 minutes.



Figure 31 Video stills taken from the camera attached to the trundle wheel show clips from the journey on the way from the underground station to the participants work.

a recent public scandal of someone who lives in the area. What we did not consider were the implications of only being able to walk 360 meters at a time for a person with MS or the associated activities related to this, such as having to leave at a different time to incorporate the rest times, pre-planning areas to rest, and asking for a seat on a busy tube. These are all important considerations that people with MS who have limited walking ability must consider, and will be crucial to ensure they can complete the journey.

When conducting this activity and simulating the walking limitations as an embodied feminist researcher, I realised the limited access I had to any actual pre-existing walking distance limit and also any pre-existing patient experience. The participant actually became frustrated by the activity and continually having to pause. After the activity, I attempted to visualise, illustrate and capture some of the other things that came forward on the walk and created a visual account of the study. This made me reflect on the constraints I had designed into the activity, and I compared them to the constraints in place within the medical simulations with patients – tools, routes, clinical observation, time of appointments, etc. – which impact its creation.

# **Practices of simulation**

Measurement activities, such as walking a person with MS, attempt to uncover, measure and record the true experience of another person through practices of simulation. In temporarily signing up to this claim, this pilot study aimed to remove the true walking distance from the patient body and sought to apply it in a different event to explore how it would travel. The pilot study shows how the artificially imposed walking limitation of 360 meters (of a person with MS on a person that does not have MS) is only one part of a person with MS's experience, as it was also only one part of the stuff that happened on our walk. This demonstrated the entangled relation of both humans (patients, clinicians and researchers) and non-humans (measurement tools, recording devices and trains) in the ongoing practice of making experience, and shows how the simulations themselves actually create new **Experience 3**, which are dependent on the measurement tools, bodies and subjects that produce it. Therefore, if a true distance existed, it could never be separated from the other potential things going on (e.g., the weather, possibly having a relapse, possibly having a bladder infection, and their shoes).

Measurement outcomes as technologies of experience, attempt to capture a snapshot of a person's life in the production of stable, valid and generisable measurement. But as a practice of simulation, they are perspective-less assessments, much like disembodied scientific objective knowledge (Haraway, 1988), which removes standpoints of patients and researchers from nowhere (Mol, 1999). Feminist scholars point out that walking is an embodied practice (e.g., [Haraway, 1988]). Disembodying data may make them transportable to certain places within medical practice and scientific research (audit reports, medical notes, cost calculations), but it does not transport it to other bodies. Scientific reliability and robustness is situated, bound to the constraints of its production. So when these leave, they leave behind specific reliability and robustness (Stengers, 2005, p. 118). So walking with a person with MS works in a very constrained, narrow way that is utterly unlike 'walking' in an everyday context. For it to be successful, it depends on the conditions of its creation.

This pilot study shows the tension of how measurement outcomes value impairments, such as walking, and shows the tension of how standards are set up and fail to shift during the course of an illness. This raises important questions about how experience is represented in knowledge practices and how crucial things such as endpoints of improvement or deterioration are determined. The consequences of this is seen in how population metrics are applied in the PIP as 'senseless criteria'. These technologies produce or exclude subjectivities with immediate material affects that detrimentally impact people's lives. By slowing down this technology, I reject the properties of fast science and what it represents – efficiency, replicability, reliability – and discover these relations have been replaced by oppositions between contradictory interests (Stengers, 2005, p. 103). Examples of contradictory interests that came forward in this intervention were that of deciding the best tube stop to get on at, consider the time of day to complete an activity, and figuring out how to cope in extreme weather.

The pilot study shows how these representations of reality through technologies of experience as different words, images and practices are contestable when taken out of the clinical field. Although I attempted to use design visualisations to explore other representations, it seems clear now that the way to move forward would be to ask how patients might represent themselves. This contributes to my understanding of experience, as it highlights that **Experience 2**'s quality of transferability is actually an assumption. In other words, as an immutable mobile, the version of experience in this pilot study does not move or transport anywhere else as it is presumed to.

In summary, the contribution of this pilot study was to show that you cannot actually recreate other people's experiences, as these are embedded in specific contexts involving specific objects such as environments and patient bodies. This study also showed that as the participants of the study discussed other things while walking, so will a patient when being measured. Patients have other concerns, and walking can only be part of it. This study also contributed that simulation can only teach you about part of what is going on in the experience of a measurement activity. There are larger things happening that you do not have access to through this method. This is particularly important for designers to understand when working with patient participants so they understand that disability, for example, is thoroughly intertwined with other aspects of a person's experience that they will not get access to.

# **Pilot Study 3: Consultation pie**

At the Royal London Hospital, people with MS have appointments with their clinical team in either MS-specific or neurology clinics held in the outpatient department (Figure 32).<sup>12</sup> The clinic always has a busy waiting room with patients waiting to be seen, family members accompanying patients, healthcare assistants moving notes, and medical students approaching patients to take part in research, audits and database projects.<sup>13</sup> Data generated from patients through these tools go on to create data versions of patient experience (**Experience 2**) circulating as academic papers, audit reports, research posters and databases.

The *Consultation Pie* pilot study is designed to explore how patients and healthcare staff report on actual events once probed by a recording tool in order to question what these tools gather, what they presume to be valid data (**Experience 2**), and what is left out. The pilot study activity consisted of me giving both a healthcare professional and a patient a recording tool (much like an over-photocopied A4 paper questionnaire) before and after the consultation, shown in Figure 33 and Figure 34. Both groups were asked to describe how they thought the time would be spent in the consultation on the first sheet. It then asked how it was actually spent on the second sheet, completing a section of the pie for each activity.<sup>14</sup> So, for example, 100% of the pie would represent the entire clinic time, and they could draw different percentages of time for each activity or topic.

The tool was designed to prompt participants to respond and capture these responses in an open way. Arguably, measurement tools with pre-determined responses work to maintain the assumptions that the tool itself is a rational actor and that there is a logical relationship between the question being asked, its intentions and the format for recording the response. Further, that data generated from the tool can then be used elsewhere, unbeknown to original context, and keep its (human) logic. This tool puts this assumption under pressure by blurring the boundaries of what it is intended to do. I am interested in opening up the assumptions within measurement tools to consider how to question their intention.

I attended the MS clinic on two occasions and I approached five patients who all agreed to take part. Once the patient had verbally agreed to participate, I informed their healthcare professional (two patients saw the neurologist, two saw the MS nurse and one saw

<sup>.....</sup> 

<sup>12</sup> Regular appointments are allocated fifteen minutes, but patients who are newly diagnosed will be given an appointment slot lasting thirty minutes. However, most run over that time. Depending on their health and which treatment they are on, patients could attend this clinic three times a year or once a year.

<sup>13</sup> The Royal London Hospital is a teaching hospital and is linked to the medical school at QMUL – Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry. Trainee doctors of different levels (medical students, foundation year doctors, registrars) are frequently involved in this clinic when they are on placement with the Barts MS team. Depending on their role, they can sit in and observe clinics, conduct research in the waiting room or run consultations for the clinicians.

<sup>14</sup> The concept of patient experience is problematic because researching 'patient experience' would ignore the assumptions of the performativity of speech acts and the views of patients reporting; therefore, this pilot study is described as recording humans' expectations rather than their experiences. Further, I had doubts when I found out others had written about how patients learn to enact the types of experiences that are legitimate (Renedo and Marston, 2011). In other words, I wanted to avoid asking people about their experiences and them providing a predictable response as this would play into the assumptions that I have previously criticised earlier in the thesis.



**Figure 32** Photographs of the Royal London Hospital Outpatient Department consultation and waiting room in Whitechapel, where the MS clinic takes place.



Divide the pie into sections to show how the time was spent on different topics of discussion or activities in the consultation.

Figure 33 Copy of the blank pie given to each participant before the consultation.

**Figure 34** Copy of the blank pie given to each participant after the consultation.

the registrar) and asked them to complete the pie for that patient noting their expectations of how the consultation would go. Figure 35-39 show scans of the completed consultation pies.

There are a number of typical topics that are covered in a neurology consultation, 'small talk/catch up', 'recent events/new symptoms', 'old symptoms', 'social issues', 'future therapies', 'medication review', and 'blood tests', which were described to me in a preliminary activity with the neurology professor. Yet, for patient 2, the neurologist includes 'olive oil' as a before and after entry. This is because this patient always brings the neurologist a bottle of olive oil from her home in Spain. This is clearly an important object involved in their time spent together, yet it would certainly not be something that would be valid in a database, nor in medical notes.

Involving different healthcare professionals in the study allowed me to observe how they responded to the tool differently, and the scans show visible differences in the amount of information from the neurologist (Patient 1 and 2), the MS nurse (Patient 3 and 4) and the registrar (Patient 5).

The physical paper object worked well as a tool to facilitate interactions between myself and the participants without having to verbalise their response (**Experience 1**). Not affording, or scripting (Akrich, 1992), specific actions such as ticking boxes or selecting from pre-determined responses enabled other responses to come forward. The activity generated a variety of responses in participant reactions to the activity and content in what it gathered because it was an unusual task for people to be invited to complete.

## Working together with other experience phenomena

The ambiguity and openness of the tool leaves space for other phenomena, with different types of agency, to come forward in this activity. The olive oil bottle is a non-medical object that the neurologist and the patient have made an accountable object of patient experience and validated it by including it in the tool 'before' the consultation, the patient bringing the bottle, and then repeating this entry in the 'after' pie. This situated interaction suggests that they have established a way of working together, with a different type of experience phenomena involved in patient experience allowing one concept of what is important (discussions on symptoms and treatments) to move aside for another (receiving a bottle of olive oil as a gesture). It mobilises another kind of knowledge, through a situated activity of knowing, drawing attention to which objects are counted as valid in medicine and which are not. Stengers (2005) points out that what matters is rather the possibility of creating relevant modes of togetherness between practices, both scientific and non-scientific, finding relevant ways of thinking together. This is especially the case for the neurologist who has developed professional autonomy (Winthereik, van der Ploeg and Berg, 2007). This version of patient experience is based on their mutual dependencies and ambiguities, as well as the ambivalences of the doctor-patient relationship. However, this is screened out of



Figure 35 Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 1 and the neurologist for the consultation pie activity.



Figure 36 Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 2 and the neurologist for the consultation pie activity.



Figure 37 Four scans of the completed pies by Patient 3 and the MS nurse for the consultation pie activity.



Figure 38 Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 4 and the MS nurse for the consultation pie activity.



Figure 39 Four scans of the pies completed by Patient 5 and the registrar for the consultation pie activity.

medical work and medical discourse. Yet, both the patient and the neurologist make this an accountable practice (Latour, 1990; Winthereik, van der Ploeg and Berg, 2007).

I see it as a task for design to create technologies of experience to explore ways of thinking together beyond reductionist categories of subjective, objective, quantitative, and qualitative to find ways of working together and explore the techniques people develop and use to validate experience. It also shows how there are other ways to validate experience and create versions which can be accountable to multiple actors.

## Accountabilities and assumptions of technologies of experience

Slowing down the data producing site of the clinic exposes a number of competing assumptions and expectations within that clinic within the hospital materials, routine clinical activities and work requirements of healthcare staff to maintain it (Star, 1999; Wiener, 2000). These are infrastructures to keep the clinic working as a technology of experience. This highlights the institutional pressure for patient experience data, the work involved in this process of healthcare staff to collect data, the work dedicated to prove the quality of the service they deliver (Wiener, 2000), and the distributed responsibility to actors (staff, recording tools, medical notes, clinic schedules) in the field. These factors affected how the healthcare professionals completed the pilot study through wanting to do it correctly,<sup>15</sup> its effect on increasing time pressure on the clinic,<sup>16</sup> competing requests from other data-generating tasks and patient expectations to complete correctly under the demand of making healthcare practices accountable takes work (Star and Strauss, 1999). More generally, the material practices observed in the clinic within and around patient consultations are mundane and draw attention to them (through slowing down in the pilot study). They also help disrupt the commonplace production and reproduction of the 'neglected things' of patient experience (Puig de la Bellacasa, 2011, p.100), such as the olive oil. Slowing down shows how design interventions can explore the agendas around patient experience that are enrolled and translated in everyday clinical and healthcare environments (Latimer, 1998). It tells me that producing and generating patient experience makes demands on spaces and material practices in which it is embedded.

This pilot study shows that MS is a situated disease, and medicine is leaving information out through their existing recording and measurement tools. Importantly, things that are left out by medicine can get revealed by other activities.

15 In contrast to the neurologist, the registrar completed the activity with a huge amount of detail including information on every topic that was covered in their discussion. The registrar actually completed the activity twice for this patient, as she was unhappy with how the pie looked once she completed it, she then remade it a second time with different proportions. You cannot tell this from the final image as it is the second version.

.....

<sup>16</sup> The neurologist had a long waiting list of patients and was running over time and as such completed the tasks very quickly, stating, 'I need to be quick'.

# A new technology of experience

From the analysis of the pilot studies, it has become clear that patient experience is not just a thing that is found, waiting to be measured. It is something that is made. The work involved in performing experience involves not only patients, healthcare professionals, and researchers but also medical measurement tools, representational devices and non-medical objects (including olive oil bottles, plates and emails). Experience technologies can make things transportable, fast and fluid, but in doing this, things get left out. These practices and technologies that make things transportable are taken for granted and are designed to be as frictionless as possible, thereby speeding this process up. I argue that currently, healthcare professionals, researchers and designers working with patient experience do not stop to question what they are doing. The pilot studies have shown how design research can intervene in the making of experience to slow things down to let different experience phenomena come to the surface.

Further, these techniques show how other experience phenomena which have different representations, renderings and expressions can be made valid, even though they come with different assumptions attached to them. Experience is situated in practices that create it and are not transferable in the sense you can give somebody the same experience that somebody else has. If it travels, it creates other things.

The deployment and subsequent analysis of the pilot studies has brought me to the point where I can set up my approach to a different technology of experience. This is a proposal for an alternative treatment of experience through technologies that value different things (e.g., situatedness), ignore transportability and include other things (e.g., does not clean up), and can contribute to different understandings of the treatment, research and care of individual people living with MS.

The interesting thing about my experience technology is that *it* performs experience which is purposefully not transportable. What that means is that it insists on a specific context and specific experience that they are exposing. It can then focus on the properties of staying with the issues and practices that are currently screened out in MS care. Therefore, if design research slows down technologies of experience and the versions of experience they produce, I can then pay attention to other experience phenomena which are valid and do not scale. The question then becomes about how to work with these and what happens if you do not scale experience. Can I make a virtue of them not being transportable? Patient experience has always been approached from a statistical and population-metric perspective with technologies inbuilt and with the assumptions of that type of relationship between the individual case and the data set, as well as the larger population. Arguably, these are biopolitical technologies because existing technologies of experience, both from medicine and design, operate to match the individual to the group and work to configure the individual as a population. In other words, how an individual experience matches up with a larger population of people. This scaling happens in design. For example, in medicine, how does

the design of your individual experience match up with a larger population, which is the same approach as in design and can be predicated on mass production and taking the individual user (Wilkie, 2010) as a proxy for populations of people. However, I am saying something different. Instead, I am proposing that, instead of matching people to a group, there are opportunities to pay attention to experiences that do not fit and do not scale. These experiences will tell you something else. At this point in the thesis, I can now start to explore the implications for designers working within healthcare settings (maybe they need to think about designing slower experience technologies).

# Conclusion

The pilot studies presented in this chapter have investigated specific points of investigation and pulled out a number of new learnings about working and researching patient experience. It has uncovered that in trying to make experience transportable, crucial information is left out. This provides an opportunity for people that work in and research this field to pay attention to experiences that might not scale and make more out of what is getting left out.

The chapter has described and analysed bespoke design interventions deployed as practice-based designs. In doing this, it has attempted to make the case that it is in designers' interest to intervene in the creation of experience. It can suggest alternative ways to think about and approach experience while also contributing to medical and scientific understandings. In saying this, these were initial design experiments where some worked better than others in accessing the object of study. In this deployment process, I learned that design leaves information out too. This is an important point.

# Chapter 5: MOT – A study slowing down technology of experience

This final empirical chapter describes practice-led design studies of patient experience-inthe-making through the stages of developing a new technology of experience. This work continues with the approach introduced in the previous chapter of slowing down to think through how new associations and arrangements of patients, researchers, healthcare professionals, designers, technologies of experience and experience phenomena can produce and bring into being different versions of patient experience. By continuing to do this, I can reconsider how patient experience is made and what it is made up of. I can also start to consider the potential implications of these new ontological compositions. By continuing this commitment to work with those affected by this research issue, specifically the experience phenomena that emerge by way of my research practices, it becomes a speculative obligation. This is speculative as this process does not define in advance what the end result of this process is or what it *could be*. This research process has brought me to the point where I am tasked with exploring the potential of working with experience phenomena through performative research events.

This chapter starts with a brief description of the setting of the Measurement on Our Terms (MOT) study,<sup>1</sup> describing how I brought people with MS together to discuss how their upper-limb function is affected by their MS. This is the final piece of research practice in this thesis. I use the analysis of the material produced through these research activities to develop my model for a new technology of experience that started in the previous pilot study chapter. In this chapter, descriptions of what happened in these research activities will be framed through the lens of the following theoretical instances: MS ensembles (a term introduced later in this chapter), homegrown technologies, artefacts as entry points, nontransferable experiences and frictions. Each section will include analytic discussions which draw on accounts, findings and reflections from the activities. This will allow me to develop the model to see how it does or does not work with this new material. The chapter will end with a discussion on directions for the future of the research and implications for my understanding of working with patient experience through design-led research.

# Working towards a new technology of experience

As previously described in this thesis, PROMs are technologies of experience in that they produce and circulate specific versions of experience that hold certain assumptions about the nature of experience, subjectivity and what it means to be human. Slowing down the process by which medical technologies of experiences are developed will allow me to pay close attention to the practices and assumptions within each procedural stage of PROM development. This includes specific objects, tools, phenomenon, processes, spaces and

<sup>1</sup> The study name, Measurement on our Terms, was developed by the Barts MS advisory group who were consulted on the development of this study in August 2017. The title is intended to reflect the perspective of people with MS having previously been not involved in PROM development activities. It is to show that I am interested in working with people's experiences on their terms, instead of those set by medicine or science. The phrase 'on our terms' has been used in mental health participatory research (Gillard et al., 2012).

bodies involved in their creation. This is a speculative exploration in that I am now not aiming to produce a new PROM tool or questionnaire to measure or capture patient experience but instead aim to explore the techniques of developing a new technology to see what the potential for an alternative type of technology of experience could be. Therefore, this research is interested in addressing the characteristics and assumptions inherent in existing medical and healthcare technologies: for example, the assumption that the unit of measurement is pre-existent, that some entities are excluded, and that versions remain unchanged by tools to gather and create it.

To research these different practices, assumptions and versions within the PROM development process I developed and ran the MOT study. The medical PROM development process involves patients in limited roles of producing **Experience 1** and commenting on the dissemination format. However, involving patients directly in my study enables me to work with an expanded notion of experience relatively free from assumptions while being able to consider how the participant's direct involvement can contribute to new understandings of working with different versions of experience. This is aligned with current PPI practices in healthcare research of involving patients throughout the research process to contribute in more inclusive, collaborative and democratic ways as well as co-design and participatory design practices. Further, involving people with MS is an exciting opportunity to explore both the administrative and regulatory research practices of involving people who are not researchers or clinicians in a research activity based in healthcare and involving design, as well as the theoretical possibilities and practical issues of working with patients.

## **MOT** study overview

The MOT study consists of three meetings and one online survey shown in Figure 40. These were roughly modelled on the medical PROM development process of item generation (collecting new activities to measure), item reduction (reducing activities to a manageable number) and psychometric measures (calculations on internal validity amongst other things) (Hobart and Cano, 2009). The medical PROM development process values characteristics of replicability, scalability, and anonymisation to ensure that the measure is coherent and can measure patient populations (Dowrick et al., 2015).

The MOT study ran from November 2017 to January 2018 and was held in The Unity Kitchen community café, a location not associated with the hospital or the university in East London (Figure 41 and Figure 42). The three meetings involved ten participants whose hand and arm function are affected by their MS.<sup>2</sup> These people can be considered patients in this context since they are seen as patients of the MS service at the Royal London Hospital.

<sup>2</sup> I intended to include between ten and twelve people in the meetings. The selection criteria is outlined in the study protocol (Appendix C) which describes the requirements for people to take part, along with the resources, research techniques and equipment that you need to run the project. The purpose of this was to ensure that they could in fact discuss an experience of their upper limb being affected by their MS. Marc Berg compares the protocol document to a form of scripting of the research process (Berg, 1997).

# Measurement on Our Terms study



Meeting 3
-----------

Figure 40 Diagram showing how the two groups of patients interact in the face-to-face meetings involving 10 people and the online survey which received 89 responses.



Figure 41 Photograph of the Unity Kitchen Café where the meetings took place. The photographs are taken before the meeting when the participants were not present. I did not have ethical approval to take photographs of participants in the space.



Figure 42 Photograph of the view from the Unity Kitchen Café in the Olympic park, London.

Therefore, the study sought and successfully received National Research Ethics Service (17/LO/1684, Appendix D) and QMUL (QMERC2017/52, Appendix E) ethical approval, QMUL sponsorship (Appendix F)<sup>3</sup> and Health Research Authority approval (IRAS project ID: 228062, Appendix G).<sup>4</sup>

In the first meeting, patients verbally shared activities where MS affected their hand and arm function in response to some opening questions (Appendix J). The participants shared accounts of situations, challenges and techniques of everyday life living with MS. They were curious about other people doing similar things, so we designed questions to ask a larger group of people through an online survey. The questions were:

- 1. What hand and arm (upper limb) activities do you find difficult, due to your MS?
- 2. What external factors affect how you complete these activities?
- 3. Are there any tips, hacks, devices or tools you use to help you complete any of these activities?
- 4. Are there any upper limb activities that you avoid doing?

The survey was posted on the Barts MS research blog (Figure 43) and received 89 survey responses over three weeks from readers whose hand and arm function is affected by their MS.<sup>5</sup> This took place in between the first and second face-to-face meetings.

From the responses of the 89 survey participants, I brought the most frequent 24 activities in response to question 1 to the patients in the second meeting (Figure 44), and they reviewed them with the most frequent external factors shown in Figure 45, which were responses to question 2. A full listing of the data gathered and categorised into activity groups and external factors is presented in Appendix K and Appendix L.

At the second meeting, the participants discussed these activities in two groups aided by an object to represent each activity (Figure 46). They selected and categorised the top three external factors that would have the biggest impact on them completing each activity. The purpose of this was to replicate how traditional PROMs reduce **Experience 1** through psychometric calculations. Instead of this reduction happening through calculations, I let

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There were many conversations about which institution would sponsor the study (i.e., take legal responsibility for the project). My professional role, and where I conduct my practice-based work, is based in QMUL, but the study would be included in this thesis, which is registered at Goldsmiths. It was concluded that QMUL would sponsor the study as they had existing links with Barts Health NHS Trust where the patients are treated. I think this situation is important to include here because it highlights the procedural issues that need to be navigated and addressed to carry out this work.

<sup>4</sup> Recruitment for the study was conducted through the Barts MS service at the Royal London Hospital in Whitechapel. Clinicians of this service suggested patients who met the inclusion criteria and would likely be interested in taking part. Once I had their phone numbers and email addresses, I contacted them individually to share the participant information booklet (Appendix H) and consent form (Appendix I) which was signed at the beginning of the first meeting. Potential participants then confirmed their interest and their availability to attend the meeting dates. The recruitment process took eight days.

<sup>5</sup> The Barts MS Research Blog itself is an interesting technology of experience in how it mediates patient experience amongst healthcare professionals, MS researchers, pharmaceutical companies, charities and people with MS and their families. The role of digital technologies in medical interactions related to patient knowledge, expertise and experience is discussed elsewhere (Vennik et al. 2014; Speed, Davison, and Gunnell 2016; Dudhwala et al. 2017).



Figure 43 Screenshot of the MOT survey on the Barts MS Blog 13th December 2017 (Source: Thomson, A. (2017). We need a new way to measure upper limb function in MS: can you help us?. [Blog] Barts MS Research Blog. Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-research. blogspot.com/2017/12/we-need-new-way-to-measure-upper-limb.html [Accessed 13 Dec. 2017]).

Activity	What hand and arm (upper limb) activities do you find difficult, due to your MS?
Activity	
1	Opening crisps
2	Knife and fork
	Carrying liquids
4	Dealing with coins
5	Pills out a blister pack
6	Changing sheets
7	Tying shoe laces
8	Sewing
9	Using keys
10	Playing piano / guitar / instrument
11	Lifting heavy pots while cooking
12	Hair; washing, drying, brushing, straightning
13	Typing
14	Touchscreen tech.
15	Handwritting
16	Putting on Jewellery
17	Make up
18	Putting on a bra
19	Opening a jar
20	Chopping vegetables
21	Getting dressed
22	Carry heavy plates
23	Buttons
24	Heavy kettle

Figure 44 The 24 top activities gathered from the MOT online survey.

Γ

	What external factors affect how you complete upper limb activities?
External Factor 1	Time of day
External Factor 2	Duration of activity
External Factor 3	Temperature
External Factor 4	Visibility
External Factor 5	Emotion
External Factor 6	Being watched
External Factor 7	The activity before
External Factor 8	Other

Figure 45 The top 8 external factors gathered from the MOT online survey.



Figure 46 Activity objects displayed on the table in the meeting.

patients decide which activities to 'other'. In the third meeting, we collated the discussions by counting the frequency of each external factor featured in the top three of an activity. This activity was recorded visually on a series of display signs that displayed one external factor per sign (Figure 47 and Figure 48). The study concluded with a discussion of potential new ways to measure upper-limb function at home.

This next section pulls together the responses from what happened when patients were brought together around the proposal of developing a new technology of experience. Each section describes an overview of what happened, a demonstration from the data and analysis.

# **MS** experience ensembles

The assumption that healthcare staff, researchers and designers can process the experiences of people with MS has now been positioned as problematic by this thesis. One of the primary motivations to work with patients directly in this final piece of research is to uncover exactly how patients can contribute to a technology of experience or provide material to participate through it.

In the discussions, patient participants shared accounts of having temporarily or permanently lost lower- and upper-limb function. In great detail, they explain the effort and organisation involved for them to complete everyday activities of getting dressed, eating, interacting with others, moving about their homes, caring for their children, and so on. They shared examples of the struggles to complete very specific tasks of fastening buttons on a shirt, fastening earrings, writing with a pen, cutting food, handling spaghetti with a fork, tying shoe laces, and more.

> I find eating food and handling cutlery increasingly difficult. Handling a knife just ends up slipping and turning in your hand when trying to cut things. It's very strange actually, just trying to get to get food to your mouth. That sort of action [brings hand to mouth] is still very hit and miss. **Participant 1, meeting 1.**

Although you see me now making notes, writing should be avoided at all costs. I'll use the PC. Writing for literally a few minutes and I can't read my own writing. **Participant 6, meeting 1.** 

Give up the idea of swirling spaghetti. Participant 7, meeting 1.

Some of these activities were shared by more than one participant, whereas others were unique to individuals. Patients who responded through the online survey shared similar accounts of these everyday activities.



Figure 47 Close up photograph of the external factor signs. The top three most influential external factors were selected per activity and ordered in first (blue dot), second (orange dot) and third (black dot) level of importance.



Figure 48 Photograph of the external factor signs.

While I can type and knit I cannot do it for any length of time. My hand can be quite painful if I do too much. It is quite restricting. Holding a needle to sew is very difficult as I cannot feel the needle with my fingers. **Survey respondent 22.** 

Difficulty using hair dryer and brushing/combing hair, some days I cannot lift my arms high enough and find the hair dryer too heavy to hold steady. **Survey respondent 65.** 

Writing, small buttons, putting on earrings and necklace, hand tires quickly so struggle to eat pudding and main, putting on makeup, picking up coins/small objects, measuring pulse (can't feel it), sewing. Doing hair (arm tires easily), hanging out washing (arm tires after a few items). Survey respondent 4.

Both groups of patients described the objects, or experience phenomena, involved in supporting them to complete these tasks – using wheelchairs, using cutlery, using technology software, using gadgets, using the floor or chairs to help them put on trousers and also using other people such as partners, other family members or professional carers. Three participants attended the meetings with a family member and one with a professional carer to support them in their involvement.<sup>6</sup> The important role of the carers is exposed in the meeting where a partner as a carer describes that 'Yes, we see an MS Nurse' in their routine care, including herself as part of the patient ensemble that is affected by MS.

A significant part of the discussion was around other things that affect their ability to take part in the rigours of daily life, which they termed 'external factors'. These included the temperature of the room they were in or a hot summer, visibility in a space or at night, being watched and the fear of dropping something, or time of day that they were completing the activity (as they have more energy in the morning). Below are some examples from the meeting discussions and the survey responses around the external factor 'time of day'.

> I find it hard doing up buttons. Doing up my eldest daughter's dresses. She always comes to me "can you do up the button on the back." Typically, she's going to ask me at 7, 7.30 at night or whenever and it's just impossible. If she asked me at 7 in the morning I'm normally able

.....

<sup>6</sup> Most notably, one participant did not have any hand or arm ability and had full-time professional carers. Interestingly, this participant should not have been involved in the study since her MS was too severe, according to the inclusion criteria of the study. However, her clinician highly recommended I invite her because she is still able to work as a jeweller supported by technicians. This participant could attend the meeting because she was supported by a professional carer throughout the project.

to but when we get to 7 at night it's a bit more of a chore. Participant 2, meeting 1.

The evening is worse, when I am tired. Survey respondent 41.

Worse as day goes on. Much better first thing in the am. **Survey** respondent 43.

Left side does not function when tired so need help afternoons and evenings. **Survey respondent 54.** 

These external factors are situated and contextual. Although hard to quantify, each person had to take them seriously. The discussion below demonstrates how the risk of fatigue makes managing the external factors priority in everyday life.

Participant 1:	I found there is ways you can save energy for something
	else you're going to have to do. Save energy. You know I
	have a limited amount of energy available and have to use
	it sparingly, or choose how you use it.
Participant 5:	If you can do it, do it.
Participant 1:	You need to try and preserve the energy you have.

Another example was that 'being watched matters'. Because people must simultaneously assess the uncertainty of the activity, their bodies and the situation, the addition of being watched only adds to the pressure of the situation. One participant felt fine drinking a pint of water at home, but felt very self conscious drinking a pint in the pub in the fear that they would drop it in front of people. It is important to remember that the MS ensemble produces the careful person in the pub. In these examples, bodies and specific external factors all play a part in how these ensembles are performed (Mol, 2002).

It was surprising that these external factors had been experienced by all the participants but affected each one of them slightly differently within each activity. For example, none of the participants could function after taking a hot bath or shower or in hot weather because they were affected by the heat.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>7</sup> People with MS are unable to control their core, or inner body, temperature as temperature control is part of the autonomic nervous system, which is affected by MS. This has a major impact on the functioning of their nerves which become sensitive to temperature and block or stop conducting at even modest rises in core body temperature (Romberg et al., 2012).

I find the hot weather really difficult, you just get wiped out. **Participant 8**, **meeting 2**.

I'm more tired after being in a hot bath. Participant 7, meeting 2.

If I get out a hot shower I can't do anything. Participant 5, meeting 2.

The temperature also affected many of the survey respondents.

Heat. Survey respondent 43.

If it's hot weather I feel very fatigued. Survey respondent 5.

When it's very hot I find everything more difficult. Survey respondent 77.

Patients are aware of the capacities of their bodies, which are enhanced or not by machines or people, and where they can and cannot circulate. What became clear early on in the discussions with patients is that people with MS were aware of the work involved just existing as a person. In these accounts, it becomes clear that these people depend on the network of different entities - the floor, chairs, carers - to take part in the rigours of daily life. If thought about as hybrid collectives (Callon and Rabeharisoa, 2004) or MS ensembles, it shows how action is distributed across human and non-human networks that are adapted for their survival with all the articulation and connections required. Everything must work meticulously together in the ensemble between people with MS, their bodies, others bodies, technologies, objects and tools around them just to perform everyday tasks. These are ceaseless practices, hidden labours and situated actions (Suchman, 2007) to maintain everyday life, where things work as a network of care to enable them to complete tasks.<sup>e</sup> I initially did not comprehend the demand it took on their bodies and energy to do this nor their commitment to complete the simplest of activities. The limit of the MS ensembles became apparent when one of the partners had a cold and decided not to take part in the meeting so as not to spread germs amongst the participants with MS. This would have been high risk to those with weakened immune systems as this could cause a relapse of their MS. Here, she has to account for her body as part of the MS ensemble she is part of, and the other ones in the session.

<sup>8</sup> Moser (2006) points out that disability is ordered and performed in situated and particular ways and importantly for this thesis, material objects have a role in enabling or limiting interactions. Further, focussing on taken-for-granted stories is a common strategy for scholars of feminist science and technology studies (Latour, 1987; Star, 1990; Suchman, 1995; Star, 1999; Bowker and Star, 2000). By doing this, I am enabled to unpack the invisible work requirements that make up this taken-for-granted work, of living as a person with MS.

These accounts make me aware of the maintenance that is required everyday to live and how they constantly have to deal with and take into account many factors and make a number of decisions before they do things many people would take for granted. This is different work to that of doing patient experience, as these accounts describe the work involved in just being a person with MS before they can even be captured by a technology of experience (such as in a questionnaire, or an interview). But what this highlights for my understanding of patient experience is that the examples of patient experience discussed in this thesis so far have the assumption that experience is being performed for other people - healthcare professionals, researchers and designers - to access and utilise. What these accounts of experience do not consider or account for is any of the upfront work patients are already engaged in. This work not only enables these people to exist and function, but it also enables them to participate in this study as participants. I experienced a glimpse of this demand when the cups the meeting venue provided had no handles. A partner of a person with MS pointed out that we needed to change them because the patients could not use them without a handle. This work enabled them to attend this meeting and tell me their accounts to make patient experience - Experience 1.

This pre-capture information then becomes interesting to turn into patient experience, as it has not yet been cleaned up by any technology of experience and probably is the stuff that normal measures of patient experience do not actually get at. This material may not pertain to innovative outcome development or scientific expertise, but as Haraway (2008) points out, it is the mundane and the ordinary that helps understand what kinds of worlds are being made (and unmade). In healthcare research, this requires attention to the role of the mundane, everyday materials and practices of these people's lives to make their worlds (Latimer, 2018, p. 379). It also shows an awareness of the problems that concern patients, and does not take this for granted. The exclusion of what does not count according to medical research is seen in how the carer's role is not considered as a valid part of patient experience by the research ethics team, as they were not considered to be part of the meeting. So, the question of whether they should grant informed consent did not arise. However, without them, many of the MS ensembles would not have been able to participate.

Another point here is that patients brought forward external factors which affect both them and their MS ensembles. Here, it is not just that time of day is important, but that the patient's involvement in this process has demonstrated how these factors need to be part of working towards a new technology of experience. It is clear that the participants value them and take them seriously, so should not the research community also? I suggest here that perhaps a technology of experience needs to look at people's skill in recognising and working with these external factors. Thinking back to how work practices of healthcare staff is erased from **Experience 2** in the clinic, it is important that patient work and skill are not erased.
# Homegrown technologies of experience

An important assumption for existing technologies of experience is that experience is transportable, fluid, friction-free and fast. This study works with the mess and what is left out of medical versions of patient experience. In slowing down the process of PROM development in these encounters with patients, I take a closer look at how exactly things are included, considered as valid or excluded. The pilot studies showed how non-medical objects, such as olive oil bottles, can be validated as an object of experience by a clinician and patient in the clinical setting; and the scientific validation process has been written about elsewhere (Shapin and Schaffer, 1985), but what about in different settings of the everyday lives of people with MS.

Participants shared their stories in the discussions and the survey of how their MS affects their hand and arm activities. A number of examples came forward, demonstrating a practical knowledge of managing activities.<sup>9</sup> These included using dictation software to write emails, opening a packet of crisps with scissors, buttoning up a shirt before putting it on, and buying pre-cut frozen butternut squash rather than having to cut it yourself.

Participant 6: I work in an office, I'm still working and I wear shirts all day. I have a few remedies I found is one when I take this shirt off...

**Participant 2:** Leave it done up?

Participant 6:This button (top) gets undone, the rest stay done. It goes<br/>in the wash and it stays that way. I have been known to<br/>spend 5 minutes, especially the top one, not the very top,<br/>the next one down, because you can't see it. So frustrating.<br/>So a little gadget and it's got a little loop, like a paperclip<br/>sort of metal which you put through the button hole.<br/>It hooks the button up and you pull it back out and I can<br/>do that in seconds. Very very useful.

**Participant 7:** Didn't know they worked.

At the next meeting the same participant reported the below:

Participant 7: [Participant 6] said about the button tool, so I bought one. I was saying earlier that I can do buttons up now!

9 See Appendix M for practical examples collected through the online survey.

They also, interestingly, shared examples of activities they conduct regularly to measure experience for themselves. One participant shared an activity he completes everyday and uses to tell how his hand function is changing:

I eat a yoghurt most days and things like using a small teaspoon to clean out the bottom of the yoghurt pot is impossible to turn it and do that action [gesturing a wrist turn movement]. It's just one of those things it's not so difficult that I can't eat them. Just sometimes you notice and you think, that's getting more difficult. It's just an observation when your scraping out the last bits. **Participant 1, meeting 3.** 

Similarly, another participant shared their experience of seeing the change in their painting:

I'm right handed, I feel things with my left arm and generally I'm quite a broad painter, I'm not going to ... but I used to be a mathematician, partly because in art I can be messy, you don't have to be so tidy. So, I'm not worried because if I lose fine movements, I'll start painting in different ways. I already see changes in my brush strokes. **Participant 3, meeting 3.** 

Here they discover what their bodies are capable of in the process of adopting mitigating tactics. These examples show patients' ways of working with their bodies and within their MS ensembles is through practical interactions involving experiments and tests with everyday objects found in their homes. Pols (2014) frames patient knowledge, developed out of routine practices in their everyday lives, as practical knowledge which considers how patients use medical forms of knowledge to work with what they know and do. As practical knowledge, it aims to improve daily life of people living with disease (Mol, 2006). Patients have developed knowledge and techniques to interpret and shape their daily lives with a disease to 'cope'. Coping here is a matter of adjusting, coordinating, gaining advice, and testing. This is a messy type of knowledge involving a variety of different things. This is in contrast to the medical way of working with patient experience through knowledge and knowledge practices. In the button example, one technique for one person is shared practically and becomes valid for someone else. This has also been seen in examples of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) patients (Pols, 2005) and patients with muscular dystrophies (Callon and Rabeharisoa, 2004) transferring practical knowledge. The point is not to privilege patient accounts over medical versions but to analyse the utility of these accounts for understanding patient experience and how it is done. What is interesting

for this thesis is that a practical way of knowing is more akin to design with similar approaches to generating knowledge that are also practice based.

The yoghurt pot tests and the painting examples can be thought of as a home-grown technology of experience or practices of everyday monitoring. They have developed a situated personal measure of how their MS is doing out of everyday activities. Pols describes this type of knowledge as a form of 'know-now' (Pols, 2014, p. 80) as they are situated activities of knowing. These practices are developed between interactions of their bodies, their environment and other objects framed in this way to produce knowledge of their MS and bodily functions. The practices simultaneously mitigate and produce knowledge about MS. Unlike medical and scientific measures, it is not separated from the everyday flows of life. Importantly, this information is for themselves. If we go back to Ellwood's description of the purpose of technologies of experience in that they were originally intended for patients are currently using their everyday activities to capture, process and format their experience. Facilitating this discussion in the study enabled the patient to circulate it to another patient who was then able to validate it for themselves in their home and returned to report on it.

Techniques invented locally may not travel beyond the places of their creation and so become problematic for medicine since they cannot be used for care. One design proposal would be to make them transportable as a resource, which leads me to think about proposals to collect these techniques and make them available to others. This would need to be done not through methods of medicine, but through design methods of practice.

However, if I take a different direction and do not see what is generated as a resource, then what can it be used for? Well, the patients have put forward their accounts of purpose - a useful tool to help patients articulate change in their daily lives. So, if everyday practices are supported to exist and circulate, and not put under pressure to be cleaned up or scaled, then they could supplement clinical data. Mol (2006) suggests the notion of tinkering to show how healthcare professionals and patients together can come to specific standards for medical practices which are valid and accountable for patients' specific, situations. These articulations could contribute to this area. In other words, these specific, situated patient practices - involving external factors and mitigating strategies - give a view of patient experience that is different from (and perhaps a more accurate reflection than) those given by traditional clinical experience technologies. Following Mol, I argue that these should be allowed to exist without trying to convert it into a (traditional) experience technology. This would be a more practical, everyday consideration of experience brought forward in everyday interactions and be closer to thinking through a lens of care (Puig de la Bellacasa, 2017; Latimer, 2018). Thinking about experience through care exposes the need for changing how science and technology, medicine and healthcare are produced. I explore this further later in this chapter.

MS is a disease that fluctuates daily, changing either through relapses or in progression over time, making living with a changing body and everyday negotiations crucially important. It needs to be re-done daily in changing situations. Being able to know what you are capable of one day, and not the next, is something that people with MS and other degenerative diseases will be used to. However, it poses specific challenges for ways of measuring and reporting in sporadic annual medical visits. The proposal of a technology of experience that patients can use at home to report on where they are suggests a hopeful way of reporting on their experience. What this means is that technologies of experience need to work and adapt to situations far more varied than the clinic or the scientific conference and to places such as kitchens in people's homes, the pub, workplace offices and artist studios. These situations are where people with MS need approaches to diagnose a situation and find out how to react to it.

## Artefacts as entry points to experience

By opening up the PROM development process, I can compare the knowledge practices of medicine and healthcare research to the practice-based approach of design research. Accounts of everyday practices of living with MS feature heavily in patient discussions and also in the role of objects and artefacts. This study foregrounded practice as a way to further articulate the focus of research (patient experience), taking a closer look at the socio-material conditions (tools, practices, methods) for bringing new versions of experience into being through the discussions and accounts of patients. This picks up on the findings from the previous chapter to further explore how exactly non-medical objects can become included as valid versions of patient experience.

I took the accounts from the group and the survey and presented this back to the group through physical displays (Figure 49). They were specific in their description of the activity and specified a material constraint of the specific object presented in the meeting space (i.e., not the home). The purpose of displaying the objects that are involved in these activities was to further explore the role of the object in these accounts and to be a technique to help participants express their ideas about measurement.

The objects presented on the table, although proxies, have been brought into discussions about patient experience through their accounts. They represent activities and interactions which have come into being through the discussions to uncover and represent different realities of MS (Mol, 2002, p. 5).

There were two purposes of introducing the objects in the second meeting. Firstly, as people reported problems with specific activities that involved different MS ensembles, they commonly included specific objects such as laces, needles, coins, and keys in their descriptions. However, with this, there is ambiguity around what type of shoe or size of



Figure 49 Photographs of the objects displayed in the second meeting.





























needle, or type of keys for which lock. Secondly, patients suggested involving physical artefact representations of the activities in the meeting in a preliminary activity for people to use, manipulate or touch, if they wanted, to help articulate their descriptions. In the designing the study activities, I have to be mindful of the capacities of the people involved and their potentially limited ability to interact with any physical activities or tasks presented to them. Therefore, it was important not to limit them to contribute ideas only physically, but to allow verbal responses and the possibility of interacting with these objects.<sup>10</sup> I was aware of other studies in design which have found that people with physical and cognitive impairments struggle with probe-drawing activities provided by design teams (Smeenk, Sturm and Eggen, 2018). Therefore, I limited responses to verbal contributions.

What happened was unexpected. Through these activities, I found that the simulation of activities with these objects did not work in the meeting. Patients did not touch or manipulate the objects nor comment on their specific design. They described activities of opening a packet of crisps, using a knife and fork, carrying liquids, dealing with coins, changing bed sheets, typing on a computer, sewing, using keys, and so on. However, it was not this specific set of keys or this hairbrush on the table that they would struggle to use. Them using keys in their homes gives rise to a practice with accountabilities that are linked to their MS ensembles. By placing the keys or an example keyboard on the table, it then becomes isolated from any ensemble or 'bracketed out' (Mol, 2002, p. 36). This is because it is different from the object at home and also not in the usual context of use. Objects in practice are not the same from one site to another. The situation at home triggers other ways of behaving than the situation in this meeting or in clinics for example. Clinics are about organisation and cleanliness, this meeting was about groups of people coming together to discuss and give feedback, the home is about comfort and probably involves family members and friends.

This goes back to the discussion in the earlier chapter around practices of simulation and the utility of recreating bodily practices for the purpose of measurement. In the pilot study, clinicians were walking patients to measure their optimum distance in front of them and with validated medical tools. Here, I am similarly asking patients to do the same. The lack of response to this activity supports the findings of the pilot studies in showing that patients do not engage in simulation. I know now that MS ensembles do not engage in simulations because the objects presented were not situated and were stripped out of their ensembles (i.e., it was not their keys nor was it their usual setting).

The variety of objects show how almost anything can be part of an MS ensemble since everything has the capacity to be painful and problematic, everything has capacity to be a struggle (Moser, 2006), and therefore tell you something about your MS. In addition, it can

<sup>10</sup> This is unlike many participatory activities in design research which commonly ask people to write responses down on some form of paper tool (Knutz, Markussen and Thomsen, 2018).

be part of the practice of experience. Unexpectedly, the objects on the table became an entry point in thinking and talking about a situated activity with certain types of conditions and factors, where the object acts as proxies for generalised activities. What this tells me is that patient experience can be brought forward through specific artefacts and not just human reporting. This is an important finding as it adds to the limits of **Experience 1** which is limited to cognitive reporting. This work shows that patient experience does not sit in people's heads, in protocol documents or in textbooks. It is part of practices, devices and situations.

I think it might be helpful here just to clarify that working with a situated experience is different from working with a subjective experience – which would be a human-centred cognitive entity. I am making the point that experience can be brought forward through artefacts, not just human reporting, which I think contributes to the discussions in codesign where ANT has been celebrated for its ability to explain how materials and artefacts always play a role as non-humans determining how people and materials participate in collaborative activities (Eriksen, 2012).

So, what does this mean for healthcare design? What was interesting was the participant's reflections on objects that had been adapted in their design to try to compensate for their lack of upper-limb function to, for example help with reduced grip strength or dexterity. Products such as the OXO range and thicker cutlery were described as 'useless' because they made a presumption that if the physical impairment was subsidised by a product, then the task could become achievable. This leads me to question the success of these designs for this group of people. What was discussed to be a more productive suggestion was that their hacks around activities be shared. Here, design has made assumptions about MS bodies and ensembles and what they are and are not capable of. Therefore, this is a different role for design; rather, in trying to compensate, design should work to support existing MS ensembles to produce experiences they want to produce and find interesting and useful.

# Non-transferable experience

A key stage in the translation of experience within a technology is the generalisation and reduction of data to become visualised. The purpose of this attempts to formalise and scale this version of experience. In the meeting, participants discussed how they complete activities and then compared them to accounts from other patients from the survey data. It became clear through these discussions when comparing others' activities and personal choices to their own experiences that there are a number of different ways to do things. This is for a number of reasons – external factors affected people differently, there are different

ways of completing each activity, some activities are irrelevant to some people, and different people had different priorities.

Participant 1:	Yeah I mean there are some things you want to do yourself.		
Participant 4:	Do you have to wear a shirt?		
Participant 6:	I work full-time, I literally just came from work.		
Participant 4:	Do you have to wear a shirt?		
Participant 6:	I can get away with not wearing a tie, but not a shirt.		
Participant 4:	Smart casual?		
Participant 6:	Fridays I would say.		
Participant 4:	Do the people in the office know your situation?		
Participant 6:	Yes.		
Participant 4:	I'm sure they wouldn't mind, if you didn't wear a shirt.		
Participant 6:	I just choose to try and stay the same as much as I can.		
	People say, "Why are you working?" and I intend to stay		
	working as long as I can. There's no other reason for it.		
	Personal choice.		

Combining the responses of the survey with those of the patients enabled a deeper discussion to take place where patients expressed anger, humour and disagreement. This actually became the source of tension and disagreement where some of the suggested activities brought forward from the survey were rejected by the patients in the meeting and asked to be removed from any future way of measuring your function, such as when taking pills from the packet was considered not valid as it was 'too difficult to measure'.

# Translation caused friction

What is interesting about involving patients in this PROM activity is their reactions and responses. It was if they were validating the survey responses to their own **Experience 1** and it caused friction. For example, when discussing how MS affected their ability to tie shoelaces Participant 5 stated, 'Laces, laces. In the morning I can do them up but after lunch I need my mum'. Participant 4 shared that he opted to wear Velcro shoes: 'Aren't you better buying the shoes with the Velcro? I've had the same shoes, the same type of shoe for 10 years. Don't walk anymore, don't wear them out and so much more convenient'. Participant 5 explains that he liked his trainers and did not want Velcro, which Participant 4 could not understand. Their experiences did not match, and this caused friction between the coherent stories and messy practices of everyday life.

When the information was being collated on the visual displays with categories and dots, the participants began to show reactions of surprise and almost disbelief at some of the results. Even though they had been part of the generation and collection of them,

visualised in this way, they did not match their own **Experience 1**. Here, the discussion data is combined through the collation of their categorised external factors. This is a key step in PROM development where messy contextual information is formatted to produce **Experience 2** data. This activity positioned the participants as spectators (or an audience) to the reduction process. When they were not participating any more and their experience become redundant, part of the information was left out of the new version being created in front of them. This is shown in a comment from a participant: 'It's like your Carol Vordamin on countdown'.

This comment was followed by laughter from the group of participants. There was laughter at different points through the discussions, highlighting feelings of nerves, jokes or tensions. However, this specific moment of laughter is interesting and I think worth analysis, due to the activity we were engaged in. It is important to pay attention to the interruption and response in the visualisation activity as an opportunity to generate sensitivities and questions about the activity rather than ignore it. As a design researcher, this was a disconcerting moment where I feared I was excluding the participants and became part of the translation process. Likening me to a TV host within a joke is an interesting response to the activity. Laughter is a situated activity that is part of the communication between the people involved and has been discussed in the ethnomethodology literature (Jefferson, 1979). This is interesting for a number of reasons. The moment of laughter could indicate how ridiculous and strange the participants find the idea that you reduce accounts of life into dots on paper. Alternatively, it could be a sign that they are nervous in that they are now not in control of their contributions. If thought about through the role of the idiot here, laughter 'slows us down to resist the consensual way in which the situation is presented' (Stengers, 2005, p. 994-995). Only by slowing down can I challenge the taken-for-granted-ness of what should be taken seriously. This use of humour stops to check if we really know what is going on here. Is experience really being captured? This is an important moment as it shows that focussing not on coherent moments where subjective accounts are shared but on messy practices can activate their potential for generative critique.

This activity demonstrates how making **Experience 2** visible and tangible is a disembodying process. The purpose of creating the visualisations is to remove the mess of the working, the individual bodies and the outliers, and objectifying the information. This is exactly what scientific knowledge and processes do when they objectify the body in making it visible in these formats (Callon and Rabeharisoa, 2004, p. 28) and making data comparable for populations of people. At this point, the information becomes unhelpful for patients to use in their everyday situations, for the here, and now to complete the necessary tasks to exist. It also alienates them so that they do not recognise their own practices in

the data. This suggests that data visualisations are useful for medicine, but not often for patients.

This also raises questions about the relations between **Experience 3**, **Experience 4** and recording tools. Patient experience is done in different ways and in different contexts, and depends on everything and everyone necessary to it to be active. The previous section has shown how you cannot consider an object independently of the ensemble; so again I follow scholars of ANT who pay attention to the richness of settings, which is a common trait of ANT research (Star, 1990; Singleton and Michael, 1993; Mol and Law, 2004). These visualisations exclude the patients and their bodies, and this is why patients cannot relate to them as versions of their experience and result in this reaction from the group. As a technology of experience, the production of visual representations is key to its ability to circulate. The removal of bodies enables these visualisations to happen. In contrast to this, these visualisations could not travel to patients homes, whereas the button technique could.

This becomes a crucial turning point in working with patient experience as I'm now treating it as **Experience 4** rather than **Experience 2** – deciding not to reduce it, clean it up or marginalise the tinkering going on (Mol, 2006). Ultimately, this limits the possibility for it to travel to create a population metric scale, but in doing this, ensures that specific versions of people are included. As demonstrated in the previous chapter with the olive oil bottle being included in a consultation, healthcare professionals and patients are already working together to calibrate alternative versions of experience, and Mol argues that we should be strengthening these practices (Mol, 2006).

#### What I have learned in developing a new technology of experience?

- MS ensembles are critical to people living with their MS and includes much of the stuff that is left out of the medical PROM development process.
- At the moment, understandings of working with patient experience are too general and formal, and they don't account for plural settings with a range of diversity within them. These meetings have shown how what happens in a hospital is different to what happens in the home.
- By foregrounding practicalities and materialities of patient experience, I
  can take account of the heterogeneous actors involved, and their noncoherent accounts, in contributing to what is done in practices through
  specific conditions. This is a new approach to working with patient
  experience that values practice, the everyday and the mundane. It does
  not value scale over specifics.
- Material objects and tactics are part of these ensembles performing experience.

 The problem with using objects to somehow capture or measure experiences (considered as Experience 2) is that they are deeply embedded in their situations / ensembles.

#### A turning point - what does a new technology of experience look like?

When I designed the MOT study, I set out to make, or at least be able to initiate the creation of, a new PROM for people with MS through design-led research. But through the investigation and development of the different theoretical versions of patient experience and observations of practice from the pilot studies, I have come to the point where I have realised that this is, in fact, impossible. I am unable to make a PROM from what I have found because these things do not travel and they cannot scale. What is needed is an experience technology that could simultaneously capture experience ensembles, respecting their situated nature and also be scalable. That really calls for a new kind of technology of experience look like that does not reduce, clean or marginalise particularities?

From the trajectory that I have taken in this thesis, I do not think it is enough to leave it at this point as the discussions in this chapter have fundamentally challenged the idea of capturing patient experience (**Experience 1** and **Experience 2**) when framed from healthcare and medical perspectives. I have alluded to inviting another perspective or purpose. In the context of delivering quality care, Mol (2006) has shown that it is a problem to assume one gold standard for all if health is at stake. If I apply the purpose of PROMs to my new thinking about patient experience, then it seems silly to only have one format to produce technologies of experience. We need multiple, and I now want to know what this might look like. Therefore, it is clear to me that the next thing to do would be to briefly present two possibilities to take this proposal of a new technology of experience forward.

# Proposal 1 – Individualised experience technologies built around a patient's own ensembles

The first proposal is around the existing practices of people's daily life, such as the yoghurt pot test mentioned in the MOT meeting, which are not scalable. This proposal suggests working with MS experience ensembles before they have been cleaned up. It aims to take the mundane, everyday activities that people with MS find important, seriously. Developing this as a proposal would involve going to people's homes to uncover practices of measurement embedded within the situated actions and activities that are personal and meaningful to them. If this activity then became the technology of experience for that individual person, then it could be used in conversations with their neurologist or nurse to talk about change, subtleties and progress of their condition within the context of their life. This is an individualised PROM for situated, individual people. As it is for this one person, it does not need to travel. Therefore, it could become even more specific within their lives based on

how they are affected by external factors. To develop these patient-embodied measures, I propose an ethnography or participatory form of research within the homes of people with MS willing to participate to discover the situated actions that are used as ways of measuring their experience.

The challenges of this proposal for medicine are that it would require individualised care, letting go of scale and comparability. Nevertheless, it would allow the patient to measure and articulate their experiences in ways that are relevant to them, and the only way of doing this is through the actions the patients have, not through statistics or psychometric calculations. I can imagine this could be of value to patients with progressive MS who are likely to have co-morbidities (i.e., multiple health concerns and illnesses) and are patients with complex medical needs (MacLurg et al., 2005). This proposal would address the limitation that current PROMs perform patient experience at a population level at the expense of those patients being able to recognise themselves in the results (as demonstrated in the MOT study). Patients would be able to identify themselves in the data generated. This would lead to further questions such as, what could a homegrown technology of experience tell us about accountability practices for people with MS, and for generating knowledge outside of clinics and labs?

As an **Experience 4** based proposal, it recognises ensembles including people, objects and activities rather than the phenomenological version of **Experience 1**. Therefore, it does not do what existing technologies of experience do. By staying situated in everyday actions involving the specificities and complexities of individual people's lives, it can not be part of population data as it stays completely individual. **Experience 4** is not applicable to others and not transportable. This proposal intentionally sacrifices scalability by creating a really situated personal measurement of home based ensembles. This is a trade-off between engaging with the very situated worlds, actions and meaningful activities of patients' lives and the need to be transportable, which is currently not explored in outcome measurement research and development.

I argue that this proposal has agency in other ways. In relation to how this proposal works with different versions of **Experience**, this approach could actually compliment transportable versions or forms of **Experience 2** e.g., the clinical data, the visualisations and graphs, produced in routine clinical care. The proposal reveals and works with things left out by medicine and follows Stenger's reclaiming of mess to deal with what escapes objective categories. It operates differently to clinical technologies of experience as the patient, rather than the clinician, researcher or designer, works with the demands on material practices to produce experience. In other words, it stays with a person's subjective experience, embodied perspective and ontological view as they validate experience for themselves, through their interactions within specific activities. As a technology of experience, it includes and

celebrates the materiality of subjectivities that are central to impacting on people's everyday lives through how they work, care for themselves and their families.

This would enable **Experience 4** to become a clinical tool that could be useful to further illustrate specific and complex aspects of people's lives, that current tools struggle to access. This proposal provides a way to contribute knowledge to crucial clinical conversations such as what is improvement or deterioration in everyday situations providing information that might not be picked up by clinical tools. For example, the pilot studies highlighted a tension in how measurement outcomes, such as walking distance measures and the PiP criteria, are set up to include and consider only certain things as valid and fail to shift during the course of an illness. This proposal would be sensitive to subtle changes for individual people, such as being able to eat a yoghurt better than the day before, having better control of the paintbrush, or being able to do up more buttons in the evening. Ultimately, it centres on activities that people actually care about e.g., controlling a paintbrush won't matter to everybody, but it will matter a great deal to some.

If these two versions (**Experience 4** and **Experience 2**) could hang together, co-become, or collaborate in this way it would be quite radical as it would recognise the everyday practices of (non-clinical) people could supplement and work with the cleaned up practices of medicine. This has the potential to contribute to wider discussions about trial or treatment endpoints of improvement and how these are determined for different people living with MS. What this also does is work towards creating versions of experience that count for patients in their everyday lives, not just the original intensions of PROMs for medical accountabilities and resource management – which has been a key question raised throughout this thesis.

# Proposal 2 – Under and Over

The second proposal is to design a task that could become part of everyday life for more than one person. This is actually an approach that I am starting to work on outside of this thesis in my work with the Barts MS research team and collaborators The Agency of Design. In September 2018, we launched *Under and Over*, a hand-and-arm activity pack that comes with a plastic grid, two shoe laces and a pattern book (shown in Figure 50 and Figure 51). The grid has been designed for people with MS whose hand and arm function is affected by their MS. They can thread the grid with the laces, creating an endless variety of different patterns and designs. The book that comes with the grid proposes a range of designs, from simple patterns to complex imagery. Initial design development with five people with MS has been conducted and it has been exhibited at the ECTRIMS conference in October 2018 (Figure 52 and Figure 53), where the response has been very positive. One participant we tested it with had significant hand-function impairment and physically struggled to complete the simplest pattern. However, the participant found this challenge motivating,



Figure 50 Under and Over grid.



Figure 51 Under and Over pattern book.



Figure 52 Developing the activity with a person with MS with upper-limb disability in their homes as part of patient design activity.



Figure 53 Under and Over was exhibited at the ECTRIMS conference in October 2018 in Berlin (Photo credit: The Agency of Design).

allowing them to compete against their own ability. As such, ultimately it was rewarding and enjoyable.

So this proposal provides a group of people with a standardised activity but at the same time, also allows a large amount of individualisation, as they can make it part of their everyday lives in different ways. The tool is flexible enough that people can create their own patterns or complete pre-designed patterns in any way they like, and conduct the activity where and when they like. Once this has been further developed, I anticipate that what people do with the tool will be indicative of their hand and arm function; they will be able to complete more complex patterns over a longer period of time if they have more cognitive and physical function. This then opens the door to explore if this activity contributes to the rehabilitative functions for a person who completes it regularly. This is a work in progress and requires a major study involving a large group of patients to use this tool in their homes over a long period of time. Given the institutional complexities of arranging such a study, this is beyond the scope of this thesis.

This proposal seeks to explore and take seriously external factors, paying close attention to how people with MS manage to complete a standard activity in different conditions. This is done in an open way involving design without being overly scripted or dominated by being externally visualised into **Experience 2**. This avoids some of the assumptions of designs current involvement in designing patient experiences as mentioned in the literature review as a first and second generation understanding of experience design. In *Under and Over* specifically, the visualisations that patients can make work with the assumptions of materiality (where people are solely depositories of knowledge to be visualised) to establish it as an **Experience 4** tool where the artefact is the entry point into experience. Through making the patterns, they are performing their patient experience. These patterns are not pre-existing but are dependent on felicity conditions, or external factors, so are created in response to the changing MS ensemble which fluctuates and changes daily. In the pattern's creation, it brings forward MS ensembles to produce knowledge, instead of reducing it.

It is interesting to think through the implications of this proposal for how MS is practiced in clinical care and in research. As mentioned in Chapter 1 when introducing the field of MS research, the categorisations of MS are changing where the historical disease categories are being rethought and challenged to create new opportunities for the treatment, care and monitoring of people with MS. The *Under and Over* proposal supports this future outlook as it is sensitive to the changing nature of MS as a degenerative disease over time and recognises and works with the variety of external factors affecting people each day. This activity is open ended enabling people to adapt it to their lives by standardising conditions around them depending on a number of factors such as how they feel, their upper limb ability, if they're being watched, the weather etc. In a very subtle way, it can be used as an indicator or test of upper limb function for people that use it.

I imagine three different ways this standardised design tool could be used in practice which would have productive implications for my different understandings of experience. Firstly, giving this standardised object to a variety of people in a variety of ensembles, could go onto create controlled **Experience 2** visualisations by removing the openness of the tool and administering it with specific tasks. So this would be a controlled use of the tool where some of the specificities (such as pattern choice, or activity duration) are controlled or standardised across a group of people. The completed pattern can be considered as an immutable mobile, visually representing and recording the specificities of experience **2** and becomes a tool to enable patients to represent their ability at that time. Interestingly, the validity of this technology sits in the material object as it is standardised across all patients, bodies and ensembles.

Secondly, if you give it to people with MS to use at home with the pattern book they can use the tool freely and there is an openness to it. People can do whatever they like they are in different situations, they have different interests, aesthetic preferences as well as abilities. What they will produce is totally unknown before they start the activity, and is completely dependent on the external factors of that time and space. This would produce **Experience 4** however, any appearance of **Experience 2** might be misleading. In this example, **Experience 4** becomes positioned arguably closer to experience, or can be thought of as a fuller way of talking about experience by incorporating different versions, as the MS ensemble has more freedom over what is produced making it an entry point to think about experience.

Thirdly, there is an option where the tool could work between these two previous examples. So even when someone might produce the same pattern as someone else, they could be produced in different ways. For example, one person would complete the pattern over three days and another person in one hour. Here, they could be producing data for **Experience 2** in ways that don't imply the constraints of a cleaned up **Experience 2** process.

These three scenarios illustrate how the tool spans a range from **Experience 2** to **Experience 4** depending on how it is used. This means that the same tool can service multiple forms of experience as it moves fluidly between recognising **Experience 4** and being allowed to be used for **Experience 2**. This shows how the different versions of experience are not competing, but provide lenses on the same experience.

Discussing the two proposals in this section of the thesis has brought me to the point where I am starting to develop a narrative about how these tools might work based on my understandings of a new technology of experience. The implications of this impacts on my understanding of the different versions of experience and this productively starts to suggest how the separation of these versions in the experience table might not be as clean cut as it might originally suggest. For example, this initial discussion has demonstrated how they can be used as different lenses to view what is going on in different practices of patient experience.

# Limitations of proposals

These two proposals outline practical and theoretical directions to which the research of this PhD has led me. It is important that I describe the limitations as to why I am unable at this point to take either of these directions further within this PhD. The practical contingencies of working in a practice led way with patients within the NHS demands a significant amount of time and preparation. I have illustrated the ethics process with timelines involved for the MOT study (see Figure 10 on page 32) and have included documents generated in the appendix of this thesis to demonstrate the demands involved in this work. For me to conduct either approach with people with MS would involve another research study, involving protocol design and development and seek ethical and HRA approval." These activities are beyond the scope of this PhD. I understand that it is a shortcoming that I cannot present the results of this work here. Nevertheless, I describe these promising research directions as they are the direct results of, and evidence for the success of, the research reported in this thesis.

#### Completing the table of experience

I now refer to the table of experience developed in the literature review to complete, albeit tentatively, the final two boxes at the bottom right of the table shown in Figure 54. The reframing of Experience 4 aims to contribute to a better understanding of the requirements of a new approach to working with experience in light of the assumptions raised in previous versions. This describes the positioning and properties of **Experience 4** as being distributed and embedded within experience ensembles. These ensembles show how action is distributed across human and non-human networks where everything must work meticulously together just to perform everyday tasks. These are not pre-existing and are totally dependent on external factors including specific differences in environments, bodies, objects etc. Assumptions in this version include how everything can be performative and be able to change in moments of coming together. This accounts for how Experience 4 includes much of the stuff, or mess, that is left out of the medical PROM development process and includes it as experience phenomena. By involving design to work with **Experience 4** it can foreground practicalities and materialities so objects can capture and measure experiences if they are deeply embedded in their situation or ensembles. But the limit to this is that they can not also be scalable nor generate simulations of experience. In order to work in this way

<sup>11</sup> I am currently developing a protocol for *Under and Over* to allow me to test it in people with MS's homes. It is planned to submit for ethical review later in 2019.

	Description	Assumptions	Design approach
Experience 1	This first understanding of experience is of a patient's inner, subjective experience of events that has happened to them. This understanding is heavily influenced by phenomenology and is dominant in healthcare practices that threat patients as subjective beings.	The limitation of perception where individual people view the world differently depending on their embodied perspective and ontological view. This also presumes that humans know their own minds and access their thoughts, i.e. their memories. STS would argue that this point of view prioritises humans as perceiving subjects above all others.	A first generation of experience design understands customers as being passive recipients of experiences that designers can create. A second- generation understanding likens experience design with co-creation and participatory design tradition where users are involved to talk for themselves and contribute to the change process. This understanding has underlying motivations of democratic principles of work management dynamics.
Experience 2	This version takes patient experience as a measured and objective phenomenon such as a number or a measure produced through data as generated from and reported through patients' subjective accounts. This version can travel and have agency in making subjects. This is not to be confused with the phenomenological perspective of experience, which is the 'inner experience' of a person, this notion is a generalised data version.	Presumes people are reflexive, rationale actors. If you fail to produce data, you do not have an experience. People are a repository of knowledge that need to be quizzed. Raises questions about the different forms of knowledge left out by methods to capture or represent this information.	Typical design inscription (immutable mobiles) that visually reduces knowledge production to simple and interrelated shapes. Action is ascribed to these shapes that are at the center of design activities.
Experience 3	This third understanding emerges out of the situated interplays between people, measuring instruments, etc. which are socio-materially mediated. It argues that 'experience' is the result of these practices and so cannot exist without them and has agency that can cause other actants to act and produce subjects. It is constituted in relation to various elements, and there is no single central core. There is an indexicality of this experience where it is dependent on where it is embedded.	This version rejects the object/subject divide, but as a performative understanding, it has been used to focus on language, presupposes a backstage where there is a consciousness and is limited to recognising performativity as producing visible effects.	An understanding of the design process as entirely performative where both subjectivities and bodies are performed. Socio- material assemblies of patients, measurement tools, health professionals, spreadsheets, etc. are performed that achieve different experiences. Can be simulated through experience prototypes and design tools.
Experience 4	This is a distributed experience that has distributed agency. It is not pre-existing and can have no visible effects. It is dependent on external factors. This understanding of experience is influenced by the notion of event to consider the situated action of this model of experience brought forward through MS ensembles.	Everything is performative and changed in the moments of coming together. Everything has the capacity and potential to become an experience phenomena – not limited to medical or scientific objects. It is not scalable and cannot be simulated.	Can work with experience through artefacts as entry points. Works with mess through practice. Can be inventive and speculative in that it is unknown before the event. By slowing down can let other things come forward that would have been othered.

through design, it is necessary to slow down to let other things come forward, that would have otherwise been othered.

In a way, the proposals presented in this chapter problematise the presentation of these categories of experience that I set out in the experience table in that they appear separate from one another and appear to sit in contrast. Thinking through these proposals actually suggests that the different categories might influence, or serve each other, working as different lenses to view and understand the same experience. These versions of experience are not different experiences, they are different lenses on the same experience. In the conclusion I reflect on the table of experience as a contribution of the thesis along with further implications and limitations of this work.

#### Conclusion

This chapter has described the MOT study, which emulated the tactics of producing a PROM. It did this by bringing together people with MS whose upper limb function is affected by their MS to discuss activities they do every day. Through comparing these with others' experiences and interrogating the specificities of these situations, things came up like aspects they have difficulty with, personal preferences and external factors. This was interesting, as I found that introducing substitute objects to the discussions were unusually unlike the situated experiences of their homes. It further highlighted points about the limited performative effects of visualisations of experience data and the potential for MS ensembles to travel and scale.

This study has challenged the ability of a PROM development process to represent the world out there to involve actual patients and actual practices. Slowing down patient experience has enabled me to unpack the motivations and requirements of generating experience for research and medical purposes. This then suggests that there is a world of experiences and other technologies that is jeopardised by the practices and existence of current PROM tools and approaches.

This chapter, in the description of the MOT study, has opened the door for the need for a radically new way to do patient experience - one that privileges the ensemble over scalability. I have concluded this chapter by pointing to two different directions as future possibilities to continue to build on the work presented in this thesis and to propose the next steps of how they might operate.

From the discussions in this chapter, I have completed the table of experience developed throughout this thesis while also starting to explore how these different understandings might be brought together, or could work together in different ways in clinical practice and care. This is an incredibly interesting proposition and point for further research.

# **Chapter 6: Conclusion**

In this final concluding chapter, I revisit the main arguments of the thesis to draw out the contributions of knowledge to the fields of healthcare, social science and design research. I will also use this chapter to address and answer some of the practical and theoretical questions that I have raised throughout the thesis.

This thesis has identified different ways that patient experience is enacted in the NHS for people with MS in an environment with multiple pressures from government policy, quality standards, commissioning and measurement outcomes. This leads to a number of specific versions and practices of working with patient experience from different fields that carry with them a variety of assumptions, procedures and tensions. I referred to these as different versions of experience and present them as a table of experience in the table in Figure 54. I use this table to firstly identify areas to contribute conceptual understandings of the notion of patient experience, then again at the end of the thesis to position my new discoveries. Methodologically, this thesis has investigated the conditions, procedures and instruments for producing these versions by opening up existing technologies of experience.

The methodological rationale for this thesis is built on ANT approaches and performativity literature, which considers knowledge not to be pre-existing, fixed or stable, so that any object of study is brought into being through specific situations, interactions, objects and humans involved in them. Therefore, this practice-based design research approach has shown how practical interventions can be deployed in specific situations to enable alternative versions of experience to come forward. In doing this, design research slows down existing technologies of experience to see how certain things are left out, are made transferable and can be made valid. The discussion and analysis from the practice and theoretical discussion, in light of the resulting interactions from the pilot studies, affected the trajectory of the final piece of research and my original intensions to make a new PROM. As it became clear in the analysis and discussion in Chapter 5, I cannot make a PROM based on individual ensembles because respecting them means sacrificing scalability and transferability. These, however, can be worked with if considered appropriately. Therefore, at the end of Chapter 5, I point to two directions as future possibilities for a new technology of experience around Experience 4, involving the development of individual embodied experience measures based on individuals' activities and the design turn of introducing a physical artefact that could become part of people's lives. These directions as future research work will take years to unfold, given the practicalities of working with design-led research in the context of the NHS.

This thesis contributes to knowledge in three main areas. Firstly, it contributes to understandings of the notion of patient experience as it has identified and articulated a range of versions of experience in theory and practice. Secondly, this thesis reports on and provides analysis of design-led research within a complex and challenging health care environment involving patients, healthcare professionals and medical researchers to explore different versions of experience. Thirdly, it has uncovered situated actions of people whose MS is affected by their upper limb function and the work involved in everyday practices of maintenance, measurement and care. I will now go into each contribution in more detail.

#### A contribution to understandings of the notion of patient experience

This research was initiated from pressing concerns that emerged from my previous practice when I was asked to "improve the patient experience for people with MS through design." This first engagement with patient experience as a concept, was as something to improve through my involvement as a designer working in an interdisciplinary landscape. By unpacking the assumptions and claims in this statement, mainly that patient experience can be known, that it can be improved, and importantly, that design can be involved in this, my understanding of this concept has radically changed. I trace this exploration through the construction of the table of experience which is a key infrastructure of the thesis that I now return to and reflect on as an important contribution.

The work in this thesis has demonstrated that patient experience is not a topic of research restricted to healthcare, medicine nor design, but involves interconnected fields and practices. The table articulates nuances between these contrasting fields, where patients are positioned differently and are beyond being predictable generators of data, or resources to be accessed. It has become a resource that situates and juxtaposes a number of contrasting understandings next to each other in an accessible way. As patient experience is a timely, complex and multifaceted object of study, the table initiates a vocabulary to tease out different characteristics useful to multidisciplinary work. This will support interdisciplinary conversations between teams of designers interested in healthcare projects or healthcare researchers interested in design methods to understand the principles within different methods and approaches of engagement and involvement when working with patient experience.

Having summarized the strengths of the table, it is also important to consider the limitations, weaknesses or unresolved aspects of this model of patient experience. Reflecting on these also help to point me towards ways in which this research can be further developed. In the presentation of these different versions of experience, I am mindful of the cleaning up process that scientific facts go through and do not forget that design leaves stuff out too. This table has been constructed from my empirical work based in one specific chronic condition, within a clinical academic research groups in east London through my practice of relatively unconventional interaction design. A point of interest, or future work, would be the investigation of this table either across another chronic condition or through other forms of practice. The nature of the table and the different understandings of experience being transportable to other conditions or areas of health research is an interesting and important consideration. It would be interesting to consider how the approaches and assumptions behind **Experience 1** and **Experience 2** would seem to travel between different situations e.g., for a cancer or diabetes patient opposed to someone living with a degenerative neurological

disease, or whether **Experience 2** would operate in the same way in a rural hospital in the Outer Hebrides as our centre in East London.

In response to the practice-based elements of the work, I am frequently asked if my existing practice-based work would 'work' with other conditions so for example if Digesting Science could be used with children suffering from asthma, or cancer and not just children affected by MS. I am reluctant to speculate as to the efficacy of transporting the pilot studies or either proposal to another condition or context, but transporting the tasks, tools and design process used to produce them could provide further interesting work. The methodology of inventive methods and pilot studies can be explored elsewhere but applying the finished practice feels like a discounted form of research, and design. Although this non-transferability could be considered a limitation of the work, pulling out and articulating different definitions and assumptions has demonstrated the richness of paying attention to sensitivities to specific settings of research that we are always already involved in. For example, the situatedness of scientists communicating at the ECTRIMS conference, or people with MS having their walking measured uncovered particular insights to this setting. This follows what Puig de la Bellacasa (2017) frames in Matters of Care as the possibilities and obligations of being involved in more than human worlds. This puts forward ways to start to care again for patient experience through situated practices of research. This involves taking into account others who have cared for it, for example through different research disciplines understanding of experience. So instead, what I hope that this thesis has demonstrated through the building of this table is the importance that the question of how to do patient experience needs to be posed and reposed for different bodies, illnesses and spaces by different researchers and practitioners.

The task of this research is not only to identify how patient experience is currently done, but also how it can be undone, and re-done through the creation of different versions and technologies of experience. This is relevant to designers, design researchers, health researchers and clinicians working with patient experience as a subject, topic, or as material to highlight that patient experience is something that is made, and continually re-made in the everyday practices between patient bodies, tools, environments, objects, and people. By consciously addressing this topic through research and practice, there is a danger of enacting our own assumptions and those from our field when engaging patients in research. Therefore, the purpose of the work in this thesis is to illustrate that we are also in position to do it differently, as this research is concerned with producing knowledge that can inform others to work differently when working with patient experience. The reframing of **Experience 4** at the end of Chapter 5 supports this and aims to contribute to a better understanding of the requirements of a new approach to working with experience.

As is frequently the case in healthcare research and service improvement projects, there is a requirement to involve patients directly in the process. This thesis has shown how to work with an expanded notion of patient experience to contribute to these practices by acknowledging the variety of differences in people and not reducing or constructing them as vulnerable subjects, nor responding to a need to empower them through solutions.<sup>1</sup> By paying attention to people and their capacity to participate through different methods enables different possibilities to come forward. This is a move away from working with patients in forms that are already constructed, to different understandings where they can be actors in ensembles - a network of different entities working together - that have the ability to say, think and act in the way they want. This is relevant to those concerned with involving people in either a research, design, or service development process, such as PPI practices, EBCD work (Donetto et al., 2015) or experience prototyping (Buchenau and Suri, 2000), where practitioners are responsible for enabling the articulation of patient contributions and relevant sensitivities to conduct this work. Hopefully, the contributions of this thesis can suggest how to address some of the barriers and challenges in the complex institutional processes ingrained in the settings of this work, where, for example, ethical approval or guidelines does not guarantee that you are prepared for the ethical dilemmas that you may be confronted with in practice. Thus, researchers and research participants cannot be dealt with in a single guideline. If we are to start to uncover the messiness of patient experience work, and relations within the richness of settings, then a more nuanced understanding of ethical principles needs to be developed. The table of experience, for example, could be a starting point in practice-based work involving patients to articulate their roles and unique contributions to collaborative projects.

#### A contribution to design

This thesis suggests a new way to work with patients as MS ensembles through design. As a whole, the design interventions allowed for a better understanding of the values and processes underlining and within different understandings of patient experience. It revealed some of the requirements and considerations of working specifically with the ensembles of a degenerative, chronic illness, opposed to the experiences of users or consumers. In contrast to medical or scientific research approaches, this design led process of inquiry engaged MS ensembles involving people with MS, their carers, technology, objects and tools to bring forward new insights and issues relevant to this specific group. From the results of this work, I now suggest that design needs to consider slowing down (Stengers, 2018) in order to be sensitive to external factors and account for specific versions that are an upshot of existing measurement and representational devices. This is a key argument of this thesis and

1 Arguably, Callon (1986) argues that this is working against empowerment, as to speak for others is to silence them.

suggests opportunities for further intervention within this context to better understand the different values and processes underlining different practices of MS.

One of the questions discussed in this thesis has been, what counts as experience, and for whom? This is still an important question to take forward by designers interested in this area. I imagine this will contribute to a discussion about how designers working in healthcare specifically consider patient experience, both practically and theoretically, with influence on their own reflective positions. Here, this would be a consideration beyond what designers can see and anticipate, including the representations and reduction of patients in visualisation and workshopping activities or the potential assumptions that design tools may carry within them. This particularly sets a challenge for designers to encourage participation without limiting activities to physical interactions, but to engage ensembles in design activities. In doing so, this recognises the limitations to participation and acknowledges the capabilities of humans to take part, along with the potential for nonhumans. Thus, this calls for creating spaces and approaches where things can come forward and invites a new consideration of what designers think they are making or doing (Michael, 2011). It could also further support designers to be critical of how design is possibly being enrolled or involved in service improvement projects and the assumptions that others have of designs' role.

For this research process, the idiosyncrasies of the pilot studies and being able to respond to what I was experiencing was crucial to developing both the MOT study and constructing insights on ways of working with experience that had an important influence on shaping the thesis. This thesis sets out to research patient experience and then create a PROM. Through the course and trajectory of the combination of the theoretical and empirical research process, it turns out that in actual fact, creating a new PROM is not the correct thing to do. Re-positioning the research to respond to these insights enables this work to become a form of brief or requirements, or a starting point for other's research to create a new form of experience. Or to continue my own. This decision steers me clear of being pressured into creating an intervention that runs the risk of assuming pre-made experiences. By not presenting a concrete solution to patient experience but demonstrating how to re-configure the problem, or the starting point and technologies for those practices, I turn patient experience from matters of fact to matters of concern (Latour, 2004).<sup>2</sup> If thought about as a matter of concern, this then offers new possibilities for conceptualising patient experience in alternative ways compared to how it has currently been positioned i.e. as a pre-existing resource to be measured, acted upon and improved. This then contributes towards building a critical approach to patient experience work with a sensitivity for the implications of individuals involved in this work. For example, my proposal for a

<sup>2</sup> As matters of concern, patient experience can be thought about as open to critique where the different ways it is gathered and assembled can be interrogated.

performative understanding of experience emphasises the practices of patients as well as researchers and clinicians as concrete material actions that produce knowledge. By researching the performativity of patient experience in the making of research events, new compositions of the topic of study have been produced. This is a benefit of slowing down the design involvement in patient experience, as it opens up new ways of thinking about current problems and how they are presented, to thinking about what design can bring forward, as well as who else design can speak to.

On reflection, I possibly could have anticipated that by not choosing traditional methods of research - interviews, observations, and questionnaires, but to critique them for enacting coherent accounts and employing inventive methods, would not enable me to create a PROM on their terms. My argument is that by using scientific or medical research methods to investigate patient experience would cause the subtleties, frictions, and mess of practices of patient experience to be overlooked. This has productively been described as 'undoing methodological hierarchies through care' (Jerak-Zuiderent, 2015, p. 903), where the hierarchal order of different empirics - ways of producing knowledge - is removed to value practice-based knowledge. By having a sensibility or attending to the research topics as 'matters of care,' has enabled me to stay with the process of new understandings of experience in the process of becoming. By keeping close to the frictions, mess and complexities of what happened in practice enabled me to uncover where and how to study these new versions. This helps to avoid the 'god trick' (Haraway, 1988) of researching from nowhere and instead, enabled me to stay situated. For me, this is an incredibly valuable lesson that the PhD has taught me.

Another important point to reflect on in concluding the arguments of this thesis is my position in relation to feminist technoscience and how the work of this thesis engages with this field. Feminist technoscience is a field of work that I did not intentionally address in the outset of this research, hence the lack of direct reference to it in the early chapters of the thesis, but one that I naturally stumbled across both in theory and practice. Looking back now, as I was trying to find my way through notions of patient experience within the literature, authors such as Annemarie Mol, Susan Leigh Star, Vicky Singleton, Donna Haraway and particularly Jeannette Pols have guided me through both the empirical and theoretical work. From examples of practice, my colleague from PhD By Design, Bianca Elzenbaumer and other feminist design researchers including, Sarah Pennington, Ramia Mazé, Kristina Lindström and Åsa Stahl demonstrated how to account for and think through my embodied position as a researcher embedded in an empirical context, with an emergent topic of study.

I can now trace how these influences have guided the investigation and discussion in the thesis, in particular in the ways I have taken up the notions of slowing down and paying attention as interesting ways to think through exactly what happens in moments when patient experience is brought into being and circulated. These concepts build on established feminist modes of observing and doing technoscience in a situated manner which enabled me to think through my practice and deny any form of reliance on unmovable assumptions. This gave me the confidence to involve my own subjectivity and remove the distance which might have created safe and disembodied analysis or design proposals. Within the practice, it encouraged me to have confidence to slow down and stay with the specific of what I was uncovering with the patients I was working with. It encouraged me to pay attention, and take the yoghurt pot or paint brush example seriously. I see this call for slowing down design research as an empirical approach to dealing with the mess uncovered and brought forward through design encounters within design-led research. These concepts have come to show me the importance of my voice, my design insights, and my approach to engaging in new and different contexts as a design researcher. These sensibilities provide me with skills for not just my future research endeavours, but for how I navigate academia and the institution in the next stages of my career as I continue on my academic journey.

I come back to this balance of working as a designer within healthcare, where the demand (onus) is to constantly do good and improve people's lives, productivity, reduce error, etc. Thus, almost resisting this, in the name of research, is to seek out what is arguably equally as important and takes time to slow down and study properly. This contributes towards design research being understood through its own terms rather than through the lens of the dominant positivist approaches of science and medicine, which is the historic effort of the field of design research (Rodgers and Yee, 2016), or being pressured into commercial interests to produce solutions. This contributes to design being acknowledged as a distinct research discipline, which can contribute to better understandings of research problems from other fields, such as science and medicine. In turn this will strengthen other fields' understanding of design as more than visualisations or problem-solving practices, but as a research discipline. In light of this, I plan to disseminate the findings of this thesis directly to the design research community but also in the medical and healthcare research communities highlighting the unique contribution of practice-led design research to the topic of patient experience. These publications will contribute to the growing body of healthcare design research collaborations and contribute knowledge on the unique interdisciplinary nature of this work.

This thesis was initiated from my reflections from my long-term collaboration working as a designer within an MS research team based in at QMUL. My reflections and learnings were brought about through investigating patient experience and have enabled new directions in my design practice that I doubt would have otherwise happened. It has also enabled me to position this design practice within the context of academia in a number of fields, such as STS and healthcare research. This contributes to existing evidence around the fruitfulness of design-science collaborations and contributes to the practice of design researchers working within NHS services and healthcare research requirements. The benefit of a long-term collaboration has enabled me time to demonstrate to the MS team, the medical school and the university (which does not have a design department) the potential of design-led research. This is another important lesson at this early stage of my academic career, as I'm aware of the national academic climate where researchers need to be able to clearly articulate and demonstrate the contributions and impact of their work. It is hoped that the completion of this thesis and future work relating to it can encourage and support more design research collaborations with academic healthcare research groups.

This prior experience with the Barts MS team along with the experience of the PhD has equipped me to work with the NHS, which I have already described as challenging. Ethical processes and obtaining permissions to conduct practice-based research takes a heavy demand on time, which is limited over the course of a PhD and is demonstrated in the number of procedural documents included in the appendix. By including these documents I hope to demonstrate how this process is far more complex (practically and conceptually) than any guidelines currently describe for designers wishing to work with patients as part of a research process (Suri and IDEO, 2015). So, I hope that this thesis can productively contribute to the growing body of literature and practice which demonstrates how practice-based design can work within the NHS research processes and procedures and not only this, but also use this as a site to be conceptually productive. For there to continue to be design research conducted in collaboration with medical researchers, in my opinion, there needs to be more work to support the HRA and NHS ethics panels to understand different research approaches and forms of knowledge, beyond the restrictive categories of qualitative or quantitative divisions.

As I conclude the work of this thesis, I am now in a position to reflect on my own personal position within the research and also the Barts MS research team that I have been embedded for so long. I am very privileged to be able to conduct research within a medical research environment and in such close proximity to biomedical researchers and clinicians who are world leading in MS. This is not to say that at times, it hasn't been a lonely pursuit, being the only designer in a medical school, but more often it has provided me with inspiration and endless insights into the fascinating world of MS. The trajectory of this PhD has opened up many possibilities to study and work with this team of health care clinicians and medical researchers beyond what I could have ever expected. As I deployed the pilot studies in the clinic, or asked researchers to take time out of their poster session to draw a plate, I was always conscious that I was asking them to do something that wasn't possibly what they would consider as research as it was not following anything like their methodologies or techniques. After much analysis over the pilot studies, I can now see that it was because of the constraints of medical research and specifically the field of Neurology, that I was inspired to respond through practice in these unconventional ways.

As I have become more accustomed to the Barts' teams' research processes, their language and formats of work over the past 8 years, it has been challenging to remain an outsider. I am now very much part of the Barts MS team. A consequence of this is that now, perhaps, I have gone too far into the wild, I have become 'native' as I am now more comfortable with a group of neurologists than I am with designers. For this I attribute the specific qualities that I brought to the research in being able to connect with a wide range of people including consultant neurologists, nurses, people with MS and their families and engage them into different forms of design exploration. This makes the act of writing this thesis and my experience with PhD By Design even more important as it has ensured that I know how to speak back to design researchers, and those interested in leading design-led research in health contexts. This in itself is a process that has taken time to craft, but in doing so also enables me to value and reflect on the skills and assumptions inherit to design.

In saying this, I am conscious that my research process and results appear to be presented in this document as a somewhat linear narrative. This process was in fact messy, full of uncertainty and analytical iteration and the presentation of this work within this finished thesis is at risk of tidying up the mess and producing a sanitised version. I mention elsewhere in this chapter my concern that the table of experience may now come across as an essentialist reading of experience. But as a researcher, I will never forget the false starts, the uncertainties, the sketches of research ideas, the disagreements with my supervisors, the looks of puzzlement on the face of my clinical colleagues, and importantly, the sense of reward when working with different people. So I see it as a challenge for the future, to somehow stay closer to the mess, and in a way, celebrate this for what it is. One step towards this, I feel, will come from the validation and confidence that completing this thesis will provide, which builds on the support of the research communities and scholars that I have engaged with and been supported by throughout this process. I am encouraged and excited to think about how I can not only present, but also produce different versions of my research without sacrificing the mess for accountability.

#### A contribution to MS research and healthcare professionals

The MOT study I conducted was the first to involve patients whose upper limb function was affected by their MS in the development of a new measurement activity. The findings from this research activity suggest opportunities for intervention within the context of upper limb studies, rehabilitation and outcome measure development in order to elicit, uncover and better understand what is at stake, as well as the different priorities and concerns of the different actors involved. The study found that the current experience of trying to complete upper limb activities are dependent on a variety of external factors that are important considerations for the everyday practices of being a person with MS. Here, design-led research has provided a valuable approach to directly involve patients and their MS ensembles in the generation of this valuable information.

Specifically, for people with MS, these findings have uncovered and articulated the work that goes into completing everyday activities, and possibly, ones that would have been overlooked by medical methods of investigation. This design-led approach of inventive methods was unpredictable and investigated patient experience in the making to demonstrate how to think with mess and deal with unusual or non-typical responses from participants. In these encounters, the design activities, tools, objects, and interactions between people and issues acted as creative explorations into emerging situations, bringing new things about, rather than returning data. In doing this, the use of design has highlighted the pre-occupations with functional aspects, validation, measurement and revealed an absence of patient input or human factors. The research has revealed new knowledge that could be valuable for considering contexts of use for outcome measures, occupational therapy and rehabilitation strategies as patients share their concerns about what is changing in their lives due to their MS. This approach has demonstrated how involving design can elicit further, deeper conversations about measurement and the role of this in people's lives and about healthcare practices in general. I hope this work can contribute to enriching the way that clinical outcomes are studied to consider what is left out. This is not suggesting that design-led approaches replace medical ways of developing outcome measures or recording experience, but hopefully, I have made the case that design approaches can strengthen and enrich these practices. This thesis has argued to not dispute the present, nor confirm it, but to add to it.

# **Future work**

As I conclude this thesis, it is important to reflect on plans for this work beyond this thesis. I anticipate there being three kinds of future work, one conceptual, one methodological and the third practical. Conceptually, there is potential to further consider how different versions of experience work together, which has already been suggested in the proposals along with how patient experience is enacted in other spaces of MS treatment and care not considered in this thesis. Specifically, these could be MS research areas around prevention where there is an interesting role of speculation in research events. In relation to design, there are aspects around the notion of slowing down healthcare practices to investigate how patient ensembles are brought forward. This could lead to productive explorations for how design could play a role in thinking through new engagement and involvement practices.

At the beginning of this thesis I set up the notion of performativity and used this as an analytical lens throughout the research. It is a notion that has already been used in economics (MacKenzie, 2008), linguistics (Austin, 1976), gender (Butler, 1990) and healthcare (Danholt, 2005) and I now consider how my exploration of the performativity of patient experience contributes to existing understandings. The material I present articulates how performativity can be considered to enact patient experience in particular and specific ways and explores designs role in what changes, making proposals towards what can be changed. The main question around performativity is around the ongoing make up of things, such as gender. If that's the case of gender, then there are parallels in healthcare, and patient experience of a chronic disease, such as MS, is performed in everyday activities on an ongoing basis which is not a self-contained process. In the final chapter I introduce the term ensemble, which suggests that patient experience ensembles brought forward would include gendering processes as well as lots of other processes. What I have learned through this research is that I cannot treat healthcare discreetly, I have to take these other things, such as gender, into account in experience ensembles. This thesis is limited in scope and the activities around gender in these experience ensembles could be something that I go onto look at in the future.

Finally, this practice-based research will continue through the development of the two proposals introduced in Chapter 5. Although they look like they are leading in separate directions, they are actually speaking to each other as suggested in the final discussion in the chapter. The ethnographic, participatory home based proposal seeks to work through the tensions within how specific practices in people's everyday lives produce different experiences and understanding exactly how these might work with clinical versions. The second proposal, the **Experience 4** based tool, accounts for the changing nature of MS and how it can impact on people's everyday lives from day to day. It is easy to understand how *Under and Over* could be the basis for a new form of **Experience 2** measurement, while nonetheless respecting **Experience 4**. How this artefact is capable of producing different experiences is conceptually and practically an interesting question for the future. Both proposals start to imagine how new technologies of experience could work amongst clinical tools, home environments and different MS ensembles. I am currently developing a research of this thesis.

On a wider scale so to speak, this work sits within the changing context of MS research where clinical categories and understandings of the disease are being challenged. The practical work presented in this thesis and the table of experience proposes to contribute to this changing field through endorsing practice-based knowledge to contribute to some of the complex problems of the field. For example, in this changing treatment and research landscape of MS in the UK, the proposal suggests moving on from PROMs being static, population measures driven by economic pressures to open up the potential for them to be a tool to have real impact in people's daily lives. Ultimately, enabling a way for people to account for change in their condition. The proposals, as performative re-figuring's, suggest another way of thinking about patient measurement and engagement, arguing for and working with the expanded notions of experience I have identified. They do not transgress the present, nor confirm it, but add to it. The implications of this is that these different versions of experience, which are not intended by medicine and design practices thus become usable by other areas and other reasons which are more than functional, positivist tools. They become ideas to re-imagine what patients, and their activities that generate experiences, could become.

Central to all of this future work is the continuation of my research position with the Barts MS research team at QMUL where I now occupy the role of a Lecturer. This will ensure that I can continue to build on our collaboration as a design researcher based within a clinical team and hope to build a hub for this kind of work in the future. This would involve the continuation of publications, presentations and teaching around the topic of study.

In conclusion, this thesis set out to answer the following research question: how can design-led research redo 'patient experience' for people with MS? I can now answer this question through the reflecting on the work of this thesis which has identified different versions of patient experience and understood how they are influenced by social science, healthcare practices and design. Through the practice-based work in the pilot studies and research study it has suggested ways in which design can contribute to the performativity of patient experience building on the key argument of this thesis that specific versions of patient experience are an upshot of the measurement and representational devices. Finally, by delivering a research study which explores how design-led research can uncover and explore the situated enactments of MS I concluded by creating two proposals which explore how changing material practice and representational devices enables alternative experiences to be produced. By outlining the different versions, or lenses with which to view experience practices, this thesis has pointed out how this can be potentially useful to clinicians and researchers. Equally this work acknowledges a broader range of patient experience which is potentially rewarding, and less alienating for patients, as they can recognize their experience in ways that they haven't been able to do before.
References

Akrich, M. (1992) The De-Scription of Technical Objects, In Bijker, W. E. and Law, J. (eds.), *Shaping technology/building society: studies in sociotechnical change, Inside technology,* Cambridge, Mass, MIT Press.

Anand, A. (2011) Professional Conferences, Unprofessional Conduct, *Medical Journal Armed Forces India*, 67(1), pp. 2–6.

Andersen, L. B., Danholt, P., Halskov, K., Hansen, N. B. and Lauritsen, P. (2015) Participation as a matter of concern in participatory design, *CoDesign*, 11(3-4), pp. 250-261.

Anon (2015) Digesting Science, *Digesting Science*, [online] Available at: http://digestingscience.co.uk/ (Accessed 14 June 2015).

Arnstein, S. R. (1969) A Ladder Of Citizen Participation, *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*, 35(4), pp. 216–224.

Austin, J. L. (1976) How to do things with words: the William James lectures delivered at Harvard University in 1955, London, Oxford Univ. Press.

Barad, K. (2003) Posthumanist performativity: Toward an understanding of how matter comes to matter, *Signs*, 28(3), pp. 801-831.

Barad, K. M. (2007) Meeting the universe halfway: quantum physics and the entanglement of matter and meaning, Durham, Duke University Press.

Barnes, B. (1983) T.S. Kuhn and Social Science, London, Macmillan.

Barnes, C., Oliver, M. and Barton, L. (eds.) (2002) Disability studies today, Cambridge, UK ; Malden, MA, Polity Press in association with Blackwell Publishers.

Barrett, L., Cano, S., Zajicek, J. and Hobart, J. (2013) Can the ABILHAND handle manual ability in MS?, *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 19(6), pp. 806–815.

Barts Health (2018) Patients' experience at Barts Health hospitals is improving, *Barts Health NHS Trust Blog*, [online] Available at: https://bartshealth.nhs.uk/news/patients-experience-at-barts-health-hospitals-is-improving-3604 (Accessed 20 September 2018).

Bate, P. and Robert, G. (2007) *Bringing user experience to healthcare improvement: the concepts, methods and practices of experience-based design*, Oxford; New York, Radcliffe Pub.

Bate, P. and Robert, G. (2006) Experience-based design: from redesigning the system around the patient to co-designing services with the patient, *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 15(5), pp. 307-310.

Ben Hayoun, N. (2017) *Homo Faber and Animal Laborans met in Mission Control to Dream of Space: The Design of Experiences at NASA*. PhD Thesis. London, Royal Holloway, University of London.

Benjaminy, S., Schepmyer, A., Illes, J. and Traboulsee, A. (2018) Resilience, trust, and civic

engagement in the post-CCSVI era, BMC Health Services Research, 18(1).

Benz, P. (ed.) (2015) *Experience design: concepts and case studies*, London ; New York, Bloomsbury Academic.

Berg, M. (1996) Practices of reading and writing: the constitutive role of the patient record in medical work, *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 18(4), pp. 499–524.

Berg, M. (1997) Problems and promises of the protocol, *Social Science & Medicine*, 44(8), pp. 1081-1088.

Berg, M. (1998) The Politics of Technology: On Bringing Social Theory into Technological Design, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 23(4), pp. 456–490.

Berg, M. and Bowker, G. (1997) The Multiple Bodies of the Medical Record: Toward a Sociology of an Artifact, *The Sociological Quarterly*, 38(3), pp. 513–537.

Berg, M. and Mol, A. (1998) *Differences in medicine: unraveling practices, techniques, and bodies,* Durham, N.C., Duke University Press.

Bethoux, F. and Bennett, S. (2011) Evaluating Walking in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis: Which Assessment Tools Are Useful in Clinical Practice?, *International Journal of MS Care*, 13(1), pp. 4–14.

Bingham, N. (2008) Slowing things down: Lessons from the GM controversy, *Geoforum*, 39(1), pp. 111–122.

Bjerknes, G., Ehn, P., Kyng, M. and Nygaard, K. (eds.) (1987) *Computers and democracy: a Scandinavian challenge*, Aldershot [Hants, England] ; Brookfield [Vt.], USA, Avebury.

Black, N. and Jenkinson, C. (2009) Measuring patients' experiences and outcomes, *BMJ*, 339(July 02 1), pp. 2495-2495.

Blomberg, J., Burrell, M. and Guest, G. (2003) An Ethnographic Approach to Design, In Sears, A. (ed.), *The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook*, London, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, pp. 964–986, [online] Available at: http://www.crcnetbase.com/doi/abs/10.1201/ b11963-52 (Accessed 2 November 2016).

Bloor, D. (1999) Anti-Latour, *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part A*, 30(1), pp. 81–112.

Bloor, D. (1976) Knowledge and social imagery, Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

Boaz, A., Biri, D. and McKevitt, C. (2016) Rethinking the relationship between science and society: Has there been a shift in attitudes to Patient and Public Involvement and Public Engagement in Science in the United Kingdom?, *Health Expectations*, 19(3), pp. 592-601.

Boehner, K., Gaver, W. and Boucher, A. (2012) Probes, In Lury, C. and Wakeford, N. (eds.), *Inventive Methods: The Happening of the Social*, Routledge, pp. 185-201.

Bossavit, B. and Parsons, S. (2018) Outcomes for design and learning when teenagers with autism codesign a serious game: A pilot study, *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34(3), pp. 293-305.

Boswijk, A., Thijssen, T. and Peelen, E. (2007) *The Experience Economy a new perspective*, AmsterdambPearson Education.

Bowen, S., Dearden, A., Wright, P., Wolstenholme, D. and Cobb, M. (2010) Participatory healthcare service design and innovation, In *ACM Press*, p. 155, [online] Available at: http:// portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=1900441.1900464 (Accessed 29 November 2014).

Bowen, S., McSeveny, K., Lockley, E., Wolstenholme, D., Cobb, M. and Dearden, A. (2013) How was it for you? Experiences of participatory design in the UK health service, *CoDesign*, 9(4), pp. 230-246.

Bowker, G. C. and Star, S. L. (2000) Sorting things out: classification and its consequences, Inside technology, First paperback edition, Cambridge, Massachusetts London, England, The MIT Press.

Boyle, D. and Harris, M. (2009) *The challenge of co-production: how equal partnerships between professionals and the public are crucial to improving public services*, Discussion paper, London, New Economics Foundation.

Brandt, E. (2006) Designing Exploratory design Games a framework for participation in participatory design?, In *Proceedings of the ninth conference on Participatory design Expanding boundaries in design* - Volume 1, ACM Digital Library, [online] Available at: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1147261 (Accessed 11 February 2016).

Brotchie, A. and Gooding, M. (eds.) (1995) A book of surrealist games: including the little surrealist dictionary, Boston, Shambhala Redstone Editions : Distributed in the United States by Random House.

Buchenau, M. and Suri, J. F. (2000) Experience prototyping, In *ACM Press*, pp. 424–433, [online] Available at: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=347642.347802 (Accessed 16 April 2015).

Buck, D., Gamble, C., Dudley, L., Preston, J., Hanley, B., Williamson, P. R., Young, B. and The EPIC Patient Advisory Group (2014) From plans to actions in patient and public involvement: qualitative study of documented plans and the accounts of researchers and patients sampled from a cohort of clinical trials, *BMJ Open*, 4(12), p. 6400.

Bury, M. (1991) The sociology of chronic illness: a review of research and prospects, Sociology of Health and Illness, 13(4), pp. 451-468.

Butler, J. (1993) *Bodies that matter: on the discursive limits of 'sex'*, Routledge classics, Abingdon, Oxon ; New York, NY, Routledge.

Butler, J. (1990) Gender trouble: feminism and the subversion of identity, Routledge classics,

New York, Routledge.

Butler, J. (1988) Performative Acts and Gender Constitution: An Essay in Phenomenology and Feminist Theory, *Theatre Journal*, 40(4), p. 519.

Cain, J. (2010) Experience-Based Design: Toward a Science of Artful Business Innovation, *Design Management Journal* (Former Series), 9(4), pp. 10–16.

Callon, M. (1986) Some elements of a sociology of translation, Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Callon, M. (1991) Techno-economic network and irreversibility, In Law, J. (ed.), A sociology of monsters: essays on power, technology, and domination, Sociological review monograph, London New York, Routledge, pp. 132-164.

Callon, M. (2015) The role of hybrid communities and socio-technical arrangements in the participatory design, *Journal of the Center for Information Studies*, (5), pp. 3–10.

Callon, M. (2004) The role of hybrid communities and socio-technical arrangements in the participatory design, *ResearchGate*, 5(3), [online] Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/255620728\_The\_role\_of\_hybrid\_communities\_and\_socio-technical\_arrangements\_in\_the\_participatory\_design (Accessed 15 April 2016).

Callon, M. (2006) What does it mean to say that economics is performative?, CSI Working Papers Series, Centre de Sociologie de l'Innovation (CSI), Mines ParisTech, [online] Available at: http://econpapers.repec.org/paper/emnwpaper/005.htm (Accessed 15 April 2016).

Callon, M. and Law, J. (1997) Agency and the Hybrid Collectif, In Smith, B. H. and Plotnitsky, A. (eds.), *Mathematics, Science, and Postclassical Theory*, Duke University Press, pp. 95-117, [online] Available at: https://read.dukeupress.edu/books/book/656/chapter/130944/ (Accessed 13 November 2018).

Callon, M. and Rabeharisoa, V. (2004) Articulating bodies: the case of muscular dystrophies, *Body and Society*, 22(10), pp. 183–203.

Cano, S. and Hobart (2011) The problem with health measurement, *Patient Preference and Adherence*, p. 279.

Carel, H. (2012) Phenomenology as a Resource for Patients, *Journal of Medicine and Philosophy*, 37(2), pp. 96–113.

Casper, M. J. and Berg, M. (1995) Constructivist Perspectives on Medical Work: Medical Practices and Science and Technology Studies: Introduction, *Science, Technology, & Human Values,* 20(4), pp. 395-407.

Cella, D. F., Dineen, K., Arnason, B., Reder, A., Webster, K. A., karabatsos, G., Chang, C., Lloyd, S., Steward, J. and Stefoski, D. (1996) Validation of the functional assessment of multiple sclerosis quality of life instrument, *Neurology*, 47(1), pp. 129–139.

Cerqueira, J. J., Compston, D. A. S., Geraldes, R., Rosa, M. M., Schmierer, K., Thompson,

A., Tinelli, M. and Palace, J. (2018) Time matters in multiple sclerosis: can early treatment and long-term follow-up ensure everyone benefits from the latest advances in multiple sclerosis?, Journal of Neurology, *Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 89(8), pp. 844-850.

Chalmers, D. J. (1995) Facing up to the problem of consciousness, *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 2(3), pp. 200–219.

Ciotti, J. R. and Cross, A. H. (2018) Disease-Modifying Treatment in Progressive Multiple Sclerosis, *Current Treatment Options in Neurology*, 20(5), [online] Available at: http://link. springer.com/10.1007/s11940-018-0496-3 (Accessed 2 January 2019).

Clatworthy, S. (2011) Service Innovation Through Touch-points: Development of an Innovation Toolkit for the First Stages of New Service Development, *International Journal of Design*, 5(2), pp. 15–28.

Collins, H. M. (1983) An Empirical Relativist Programme in the Sociology of Scientific Knowledge, In Knorr-Cetina, K. and Mulkay, M. J. (eds.), *Science Observed: Perspectives on the Social Study of Science*, London, Sage, pp. 85-113.

Collins, H. M. and Evans, R. (2002) The Third Wave of Science Studies: Studies of Expertise and Experience, *Social Studies of Science*, 32(2), pp. 235–296.

Collins, H. M. and Yearley, S. (1992) Epistemological chicken, In *Science as Practice and Culture*, Chicago, The University of Chicago Press, pp. 301–326.

Commins, S., McCormack, K., Callinan, E., Fitzgerald, H., Molloy, E. and Young, K. (2013) Manipulation of visual information does not change the accuracy of distance estimation during a blindfolded walking task, *Human Movement Science*, 32(4), pp. 794-807.

Cottam, H. and Leadbeater, C. (2004) *Red Paper 01 Health: Co-creating Services*, Design Council.

Cross, N. (1982) Designerly Ways of Knowing, Design Issues, 3(4), pp. 221-227.

Crotty, M. (1996) *Phenomenology and nursing research*, South Melbourne, Victoria, Churchill Livingstone.

Dagognet, F. (1969) Tableaux et Langages de la Chimie, Paris, Le Seuil.

Danholt, P. (2005a) How Is User-Centered Design Interested in Users? A Posthumanist Approach, In *Proceedings of the 28th Information Systems Research Seminar in Scandinavia* (IRIS), Kristiansand, Norway, IRIS Association.

Danholt, P. (2008) Interacting Bodies: Posthuman Enactments of the Problem of Diabetes: Relating Science, Technology and Society-studies, *User-Centered Design and Diabetes Practices*, Roskilde Universitet.

Danholt, P. (2005b) Prototypes as performative, In *ACM Press*, p. 1, [online] Available at: http://portal.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=1094562.1094564 (Accessed 26 January 2015).

Dennett, D. C. (1991) Consciousness explained, 1st ed, Boston, Little, Brown and Co.

Department of Health (2008) *High Quality Care For All: NHS Next Stage Review final report,* London, The Stationery Office.

Department of Health (2018) NHS Outcomes Framework Indicators - November 2018 Release, England, Department of Health, [online] Available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-andinformation/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current (Accessed 14 December 2018).

Derrida, J. (1988) Limited Inc, Evanston, IL, Northwestern University Press.

Dewey, J. (1934) Art as experience, New York, Berkley Pub. Group.

Diedrich, L. (2005) Introduction: Genealogies of Disability: Historical emergences and everyday enactments, *Cultural Studies*, 19(6), pp. 649–666.

Dobson, R. and Giovannoni, G. (2012) *Multiple Sclerosis: Visual Guide for Clinicians*, Oxford, Clinical Publishing.

Donetto, S., Pierri, P., Tsianakas, V. and Robert, G. (2015) Experience-based Co-design and Healthcare Improvement: Realizing Participatory Design in the Public Sector, *The Design Journal*, 18(2), pp. 227-248.

Donetto, S., Tsianakas, V. and Robert, G. (2014) *Using Experience-based Co-design (EBCD) to improve the quality of healthcare: mapping where we are now and establishing future directions*, London, King's College London.

Dong, H. and Vivat, B. (2008) Co-Design Involving people with disabilities, In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Engineering and Product Design Education*, 4 & 5 September 2008, Universitat Politecnica De Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain.

Dowrick, A. S., Wootten, A. C., Murphy, D. G. and Costello, A. J. (2015) 'We Used a Validated Questionnaire': What Does This Mean and Is It an Accurate Statement in Urologic Research?, *Urology*, 85(6), pp. 1304–1311.

Dudhwala, F., Boylan, A.-M., Williams, V. and Powell, J. (2017) Viewpoint: What counts as online patient feedback, and for whom?, *Digital Health*, 3, p. 205.

Dunne, A. and Raby, F. (2001) Design noir: the secret life of electronic objects, Basel, Birkhäuser.

Ehn, P. (2008) Participation in design things, In *Proceedings of the Tenth Anniversary Conference on Participatory Design 2008*, PDC '08, Indianapolis, IN, USA, Indiana University, pp. 92–101, [online] Available at: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1795234.1795248.

Ehn, P. (1989) Work-oriented design of computer artifacts, 2. ed, Stockholm, Arbetslivcentrum.

Ehn, P. and Kyng, M. (1991) Cardboard Computers: Mocking-it-up or Hands-on the Future,

In Greenbaum, J. M. and Kyng, M. (eds.), *Design at work: cooperative design of computer systems*, Hillsdale, N.J, L. Erlbaum Associates.

Ellwood, P. M. (1988) A Technology of Patient Experience, *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 318(23), pp. 1549-1556.

Eriksen, M. A. (2012) *Material matters in co-designing formatting & staging with participating materials in co-design projects, events & situations,* Malmö, Faculty of Culture and Society, Malmö University, [online] Available at: http://dspace.mah.se/handle/2043/13674 (Accessed 11 November 2018).

Evenson, S. and Dubberly, H. (2009) Designing for Service: Creating an Experience Advantage, In Salvendy, G. and Karwowski, W. (eds.), *Introduction to Service Engineering*, Hoboken, NJ, USA, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., pp. 403-413, [online] Available at: http://doi. wiley.com/10.1002/9780470569627.ch19 (Accessed 9 December 2018).

Feys, P., Lamers, I., Francis, G., Benedict, R., Phillips, G., LaRocca, N., Hudson, L. D., Rudick, R. and Multiple Sclerosis Outcome Assessments Consortium (2017) The Nine-Hole Peg Test as a manual dexterity performance measure for multiple sclerosis, *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 23(5), pp. 711–720.

Fischer, J. S., Rudick, R. A., Cutter, G. R., Reingold, S. C. and National MS Society Clinical Outcomes Assessment Task Force (1999) The Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite measure (MSFC): an integrated approach to MS clinical outcome assessment, *Multiple Sclerosis*, 5(4), pp. 244–250.

Ford, H. L., Gerry, E., Tennant, A., Whalley, D., Haigh, R. and Johnson, M. H. (2001) Developing a disease-specific quality of life measure for people with multiple sclerosis, *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 15(3), pp. 247–258.

Foucault, M., Martin, L. H., Gutman, H. and Hutton, P. H. (eds.) (1988) *Technologies of the self: a seminar with Michel Foucault*, Amherst, University of Massachusetts Press.

Fraser, M. (2009) Facts, Ethics and Event, In Jensen, C. B. and Rødje, K. (eds.), *Deleuzian Intersections Science, Technology and Anthropology*, New York, Berghahn Books, Inc., [online] Available at: http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=544318 (Accessed 16 April 2015).

Frayling, C. (1993) Reseach in art and design, London, Royal College of Art.

Freeman, J. A., Hobart, J., Langdon, D. and Thompson, A. (2000) Clinical appropriateness: a key factor in outcome measure selection: the 36 item short form health survey in multiple sclerosis, *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 68(2), pp. 150–156.

Freire, K. and Sangiorgi, D. (2010) Service design and healthcare innovation : from consumption, to co-production to co-creation, In *Proceedings of the Nordic Service Design Conference*, 1-3 December 2010, Linkoping, Sweden.

Fujimura, J. H. (1987) Constructing `Do-able' Problems in Cancer Research: Articulating

Alignment, Social Studies of Science, 17(2), pp. 257–293.

Fujimura, J. H. (1992) Crafting Science: Standardized Packages, Boundary Objects, and 'Translation.', In Pickering, A. (ed.), *Science as Practice and Culture*, University of Chicago Press, pp. 168–211.

Gafson, A. R. and Giovannoni, G. (2014) CCSVI-A. A call to clinicans and scientists to vocalise in an Internet age, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 3(2), pp. 143–146.

Galis, V. (2011) Enacting disability: how can science and technology studies inform disability studies?, *Disability & Society*, 26(7), pp. 825–838.

Garfinkel, H. (1967) *Studies in Ethonomethodology*, 1st ed, Englewood cloffs, New Jersey, Prentice-Hall, Inc.

Gaver, B., Dunne, T. and Pacenti, E. (1999) Design: Cultural probes, *Interactions*, 6(1), pp. 21-29.

Gaver, W., Michael, M., Kerridge, T., Wilkie, A., Boucher, A., Ovalle, L. and Plummer-Fernandez, M. (2015) Energy Babble: Mixing Environmentally-Oriented Internet Content to Engage Community Groups, In ACM Press, pp. 1115-1124.

Gaver, W. W., Boucher, A., Pennington, S. and Walker, B. (2004) Cultural probes and the value of uncertainty, *Interactions*, 11(5), p. 53.

Giantomaso, T., Makowsky, L., Ashworth, N. L. and Sankaran, R. (2003) The validity of patient and physician estimates of walking distance, *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 17(4), pp. 394-401.

Gillard, S., Simons, L., Turner, K., Lucock, M. and Edwards, C. (2012) Patient and Public Involvement in the Coproduction of Knowledge: Reflection on the Analysis of Qualitative Data in a Mental Health Study, *Qualitative Health Research*, 22(8), pp. 1126-1137.

Giovannoni, G. (2014) ASCEND Trial: why I think the natalizumab in SPMS trial will be negative, *Barts MS Research Blog*, [online] Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-research. blogspot.com/2014/11/ascend-trial-why-i-think-natalizumab-in.html (Accessed 11 February 2016).

Giovannoni, G. (2017) Clinic Speak: An informed resource for people with MS, *Clinic Speak*, [online] Available at: http://www.clinicspeak.com (Accessed 1 July 2017).

Giovannoni, G. (2015) NewsSpeak: the aftermath of the negative ASCEND trial, *Barts MS Research Blog*, [online] Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-research.blogspot.com/2015/10/ newsspeak-aftermath-of-negative-ascend.html (Accessed 22 October 2015).

Giovannoni, G. (2016a) ThinkHand: what iconic image captures hand function best?, *Barts MS Research Blog*, [online] Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-research.blogspot. com/2016/07/thinkhand-what-iconic-image-captures.html (Accessed 11 February 2016).

Giovannoni, G. (2016b) Understanding your risk of PML with Tysabri, *Clinic Speak*, [online] Available at: http://www.clinicspeak.com/understanding-pml-risk-on-tysabri/ (Accessed 15 June 2016).

Giovannoni, G., Cutter, G., Sormani, M. P., Belachew, S., Hyde, R., Koendgen, H., Knappertz, V., Tomic, D., Leppert, D., Herndon, R., Wheeler-Kingshott, C. A. M., Ciccarelli, O., Selwood, D., di Cantogno, E. V., Ben-Amor, A.-F., Matthews, P., Carassiti, D., Baker, D. and Schmierer, K. (2017) Is multiple sclerosis a length-dependent central axonopathy? The case for therapeutic lag and the asynchronous progressive MS hypotheses, *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 12, pp. 70-78.

Goffman, E. (1990) The presentation of self in everyday life, London, Penguin.

Gomart, E. and Hennion, A. (1999) A sociology of attachment: music amateurs, drug users, *The Sociological Review*, 47(S1), pp. 220–247.

Goodrich, J. and Cornwell, J. (2008) Seeing the person in the patient: the Point of Care review paper, London, King's Fund.

Great Britain and Department of Health (2010) *Equity and excellence: Liberating the NHS*, Norwich, The Stationary Office.

Greco, M. (2012) The classification and nomenclature of 'medically unexplained symptoms': Conflict, performativity and critique, *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(12), pp. 2362–2369.

Greenbaum, J. M. and Kyng, M. (eds.) (1991) *Design at work: cooperative design of computer systems*, Hillsdale, N.J, L. Erlbaum Associates.

Greenhalgh, T. and Hurwitz, B. (eds.) (1998) *Narrative based medicine: dialogue and discourse in clinical practice*, Medical research, London, BMJ Books.

Gurkan, M., Ozakbas, S., Piri Cinar, B., Bircan Kursun, B., Oz, D. and Ozturk, O. (2013) Paced auditory serial addition test: normative data in a Turkish population, In *Proceedings for ECTRIMS 2013*. *October 2-5, 2013*, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Guyatt, G., Cairns, J., Churchill, D., Cook, D., Haynes, B., Hirsh, J., Irvine, J., Levine, M., Levine, M., Nishikawa, J., Sackett, D., Brill-Edwards, P., Gerstein, H., Gibson, J., Jaeschke, R., Kerigan, A., Neville, A., Panju, A., Detsky, A., Enkin, M., Frid, P., Gerrity, M., Laupacis, A., Lawrence, V., Menard, J., Moyer, V., Mulrow, C., Links, P., Oxman, A., Sinclair, J. and Tugwell, P. (1992) Evidence-based medicine: A new approach to teaching the practice of medicine, JAMA, 268(17), pp. 2420-2425.

Halpern, J. (2003) What is clinical empathy?, *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 18(8), pp. 670–674.

Haraway, D. (1994) A Game of Cat's Cradle: Science Studies, Feminist Theory, Cultural Studies, *Configurations*, 2(1), pp. 59–71.

Haraway, D. (1988) Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the

Privilege of Partial Perspective, Feminist Studies, 14(3), pp. 575-599.

Haraway, D. J. (1991) Simians, cyborgs, and women: the reinvention of nature., New York, Routledge.

Haraway, D. J. (2008) *When species meet, Posthumanities*, Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.

Health and Social Care Act (2001) *Health and Social Care Act*, [online] Available at: http:// www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/15/pdfs/ukpga\_20010015\_en.pdf (Accessed 11 February 2016).

Heidegger, M. (1927) Being and time, 35th ed, Malden, Blackwell.

Henriques, J., Holloway, W., Urwin, C., Venn, C. and Walkerdine, V. (eds.) (1998) *Changing the subject: psychology, social regulation, and subjectivity*, London ; New York, Routledge.

Hielscher, S., Fisher, T. and Cooper, T. (2007) How often do you wash your hair? design as disordering: everyday routines, human object theories, probes and sustainablity., In 7th *European Academy of Design Conference (EAD07): Dancing with disorder: design, discourse and disorder*, Izmir, Turkey, 11-13 April 2007 [online] Available at: http://fadf.ieu.edu.tr/ead07/# (Accessed 19 February 2017).

Hobart, J. (2001) The Multiple Sclerosis Impact Scale (MSIS-29): A new patient-based outcome measure, *Brain*, 124(5), pp. 962-973.

Hobart, J. C., Riazi, A., Lamping, D. L., Fitzpatrick, R. and Thompson, A. J. (2005) How responsive is the Multiple Sclerosis Impact Scale (MSIS-29)? A comparison with some other self report scales, *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry*, 76(11), pp. 1539–1543.

Hobart, J. and Cano, S. (2009) Improving the evaluation of therapeutic interventions in multiple sclerosis: the role of new psychometric methods, *Health Technology Assessment*, 13(12), [online] Available at: http://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta/volume-13/issue-12 (Accessed 4 August 2016).

Hollway, W. and Jefferson, T. (2000) *Doing qualitative research differently: free association, narrative and the interview method*, London ; Thousand Oaks, Calif, SAGE.

Hughes, J., King, V., Rodden, T. and Andersen, H. (1995) The role of ethnography in interactive systems design, *Interactions*, 2(2), pp. 56–65.

Hulley, S. B., Cummings, S. R., Browner, W. S., Grady, D. G. and Newman, T. B. (2007) *Designing clinical research*, 3rd ed, Philadelphia, PA, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Husserl, E. (1931) *Ideas: General Introduction to Pure Phenomenology*, Routledge classics, London ; New York, Routledge.

International Women in MS (2018) Gender Inequities in the Multiple Sclerosis Community: A Call for Action, *Annals of Neurology*, 84(6), pp. 958–959.

Irwin, A. (2006) The Politics of Talk: Coming to Terms with the 'New' Scientific Governance, *Social Studies of Science*, 36(2), pp. 299–320.

Irwin, A. and Michael, M. (2003) *Science, social theory and public knowledge*, Maidenhead ; Philadelphia, Open University Press.

Ives, J., Damery, S. and Redwod, S. (2013) PPI, paradoxes and Plato: who's sailing the ship?, *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 39(3), pp. 181-185.

Jefferson, G. (1979) A technique for inviting laughter and its subsequent acceptance/ declination, In Psathas, G. (ed.), *Everyday language: Studies in ethnomethodology*, New York, NY, Irvington Publishers, pp. 79-96.

Jeffrey, D. (2016) Empathy, sympathy and compassion in healthcare: Is there a problem? Is there a difference? Does it matter?, *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 109(12), pp. 446-452.

Jenkinson, C. and Fitzpatrick, R. (2013) Patient Reported Outcomes, In Ziebland, S., Coulter, A., Calabrese, J. D., and Locock, L. (eds.), *Understanding and using health experiences: improving patient care*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 72-80.

Jerak-Zuiderent, S. (2015) Keeping Open by Re-Imagining Laughter and Fear, *The Sociological Review*, 63(4), pp. 897–921.

Jonas, W. (2007) Design Research and its Meaning to the Methodological Development of the Discipline, In Michel, R. (ed.), *Design Research Now: Essays and Selected Projects*, Basel, Birkhäuser Basel, pp. 187-206, [online] Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7643-8472-2\_11.

Jönsson, L. (2014) *Design Events: On explorations of a non-anthropocentric framework in design.* Phd Thesis, Copenhagen, Denmark, Royal Danish Academy of Fine Arts School of Design.

Kapoor, R., Ho, P.-R., Campbell, N., Chang, I., Deykin, A., Forrestal, F., Lucas, N., Yu, B., Arnold, D. L., Freedman, M. S., Goldman, M. D., Hartung, H.-P., Havrdová, E. K., Jeffery, D., Miller, A., Sellebjerg, F., Cadavid, D., Mikol, D., Steiner, D., Bartholomé, E., D'Hooghe, M., Pandolfo, M., Van Wijmeersch, B., Bhan, V., Blevins, G., Brunet, D., Devonshire, V., Duquette, P., Freedman, M., Grand'Maison, F., Jacques, F., Lapierre, Y., Lee, L., Morrow, S., Yeung, M., Dufek, M., Havrdová, E. K., Kanovsky, P., Stetkarova, I., Talabova, M., Frederiksen, J., Kant, M., Petersen, T., Ravnborg, M., Sellebjerg, F., Airas, L., Elovaara, I., Eralinna, J.-P., Sarasoja, T., Al Khedr, A., Brassat, D., Brochet, B., Camu, W., Debouverie, M., Laplaud, D., Lebrun Frenay, C., Pelletier, J., Vermersch, P., Vukusi, S., Baum, K., Berthele, A., Faiss, J., Flachenecker, P., Hohlfeld, R., Krumbholz, M., Lassek, C., Maeurer, M., Meuth, S., Ziemssen, T., Hardiman, O., McGuigan, C., Achiron, A., Karussis, D., Bergamaschi, R., Morra, V. B., Comi, G., Cottone, S., Grimaldi, L., Mancardi, G. L., Massacesi, L., Nocentini, U., Salvetti, M., Scarpini, E., Sola, P., Tedeschi, G., Trojano, M., Zaffaroni, M., Frequin, S., Hupperts, R., Killestein, J., Schrijver, H., Van Dijl, R., van Munster, E., Czarnecki, M., Drozdowski, W., Fryze, W., Hertmanowska, H., Ilkowski, J., Kaminska, A., Klodowska-Duda, G., Maciejowski, M., Motta, E., Podemski,

R., Potemkowski, A., Rog, T., Selmaj, K., Stelmasiak, Z., Stepien, A., Tutaj, A., Zaborski, J., Boyko, A., Chefranova, Z., Evdoshenko, E., Khabirov, F., Sivertseva, S., Yakupov, E., Alvarez Cermeño, J. C., Escartin, A., Fernandez, O. F., Garcia-Merino, A., Hernandez Perez, M. A., Ayuso, G. I., Lallana, J. M., Gairin, X. M., Oreja-Guevara, C., Saiz Hinarejos, A., Gunnarsson, M., Lycke, J., Martin, C., Piehl, F., Roshanisefat, H., Sundstrom, P., Duddy, M., Gran, B., Harrower, T., Hobart, J., Kapoor, R., Lee, M., Mattison, P., Nicholas, R., Pearson, O., Rashid, W., Rog, D., Sharrack, B., Silber, E., Turner, B., Williams, A., Woolmore, J., Young, C., Bandari, D., Berger, J., Camac, A., Cohan, S., Conway, J., Edwards, K., Fabian, M., Florin, J., Freedman, S., Garwacki, D., Goldman, M., Harrison, D., Herrman, C., Huang, D., Javed, A., Jeffery, D., Kamin, S., Katsamakis, G., Khatri, B., Langer-Gould, A., Lynch, S., Mattson, D., Miller, T., Miravalle, A., Moses, H., Muley, S., Napier, J., Nielsen, A., Pachner, A., Pardo, G., Picone, M., Robertson, D., Royal, W., Sheppard, C., Thrower, B., Twyman, C., Waubant, E., Wendt, J., Yadav, V., Zabad, R. and Zarelli, G. (2018) Effect of natalizumab on disease progression in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (ASCEND): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with an open-label extension, *The Lancet Neurology*, 17(5), pp. 405-415.

Kearney, H., Grussu, F., Schneider, T., Zhang, H., Alexander, D. and Ciccarelli, O. (2013) Neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging in the multiple sclerosis spinal cord, In *Proceedings for ECTRIMS* 2013. October 2-5, 2013, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Kensing, F., Simonsen, J. and Bødker, K. (1998) MUST - A Method for Participatory Design, *Human-Computer Interaction*, 13(2).

Kerridge, T. (2015) *Designing Debate: The Entanglement of Speculative Design and Upstream Engagement.* PhD Thesis, London, Goldsmiths, University of London.

Knorr-Cetina, K. (1981) The manufacture of knowledge: an essay on the constructivist and contextual nature of science, Pergamon international library of science, technology, engineering, and social studies, Oxford ; New York, Pergamon Press.

Knutz, E., Markussen, T. and Thomsen, S. M. (2018) Materiality in probes: three perspectives for co-exploring patient democracy, *CoDesign*, pp. 1-21.

Krueger, R. A. and Casey, M. A. (2009) *Focus groups: a practical guide for applied research*, 4th ed, Los Angeles, SAGE.

Kuhn, T. S. (1969) The Structure of scientific revolutions, International encyclopedia of unified science Foundations of the unity of science, Chicago, Ill, Chicago Univ. Press.

Kurtzke, J. F. (1983) Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: an expanded disability status scale (EDSS), *Neurology*, 33(11), pp. 1444-1452.

Lamers, I. and Feys, P. (2014) Assessing upper limb function in multiple sclerosis, *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 20(7), pp. 775-784.

LaRocca, N. G., Ritvo, P. G., Miller, D. M., Fischer, J. S., Andrews, H. and Paty, D. W. (1996) 'Quality of Life' Assessment in Multiple Sclerosis Clinical Trials: Current Status and Strategies for Improving Multiple Sclerosis Clinical Trial Design, In Goodkin, D. E.

and Rudick, R. A. (eds.), *Multiple Sclerosis: Advances in Clinical Trial Design, Treatment and Future Perspectives*, London, Springer London, pp. 145-160, [online] Available at: https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4471-1271-6\_7.

Latimer, J. (2018) Afterword: materialities, care, 'ordinary affects', power and politics, *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 40(2), pp. 379-391.

Latimer, J. (1998) Organizing context: nurses' assessments of older people in an acute medical unit, *Nursing Inquiry*, 5(1), pp. 43-57.

Latour, B. (1990) Drawing things together, In Lynch, M. and Woolgar, S. (eds.), *Representation in scientific practice*, Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press.

Latour, B. (1999) On recalling ANT, The Sociological Review, 47(S1), pp. 15-25.

Latour, B. (2005a) *Reassembling the social: an introduction to actor-network-theory*, Clarendon lectures in management studies, Oxford ; New York, Oxford University Press.

Latour, B. (1987) *Science in action: how to follow scientists and engineers through society,* Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press.

Latour, B. (1988) *The pasteurization of France*, First Harvard University Press paperback ed, Cambridge, Mass., Harvard Univ. Press.

Latour, B. (2005b) What is Given in Experience ? A Review of Isabelle Stengers 'Penser avec Whitehead' | bruno-latour.fr, Boundary 2, 32(1), pp. 222–237.

Latour, B. (1992) Where are the missing masses? The sociology of a few mundane artifacts, In Bijker, W. and Law, J. (eds.), *Shaping Technology/Building Society: Studies in Sociotechnical Change*, Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press, pp. 225–258, [online] Available at: http://www.bruno-latour.fr/sites/default/files/50-MISSING-MASSES-GB.pdf (Accessed 15 April 2016).

Latour, B. (2004) Why Has Critique Run out of Steam? From Matters of Fact to Matters of Concern, *Critical Inquiry*, 30(2), pp. 225–248.

Latour, B. and Woolgar, S. (1986) *Laboratory life: the construction of scientific facts*, Princeton, N.J, Princeton University Press.

Law, J. (2004) *After methodology*, London, Routledge.

Law, J. and Hassard, J. (1999) Actor network theory and after, *The Sociological review monographs*, Oxford [England]; Malden, MA, Blackwell/Sociological Review.

Law, J. and Singleton, V. (2003) Allegory and its others, In Nicolini, D., Gherardi, S., and Yanow, D. (eds.), *Knowing in Organizations: A Practice Based Approach*, New York, M. E. Sharp, pp. 225–254, [online] Available at: http://oro.open.ac.uk/22041/ (Accessed 19 April 2016).

Law, J. and Urry, J. (2004) Enacting the social, *Economy and Society*, 33(3), pp. 390-410.

Lawton, J. (2003) Lay experiences of health and illness: past research and future agendas: Lay experiences of health and illness, Sociology of Health & Illness, 25(3), pp. 23-40.

Learmonth, M. (2005) Doing Things with Words: The Case of 'Management' and 'Administration', *Public Administration*, 83(3), pp. 617-637.

Lezaun, J. (2007) A market of opinions: the political epistemology of focus groups, *The Sociological Review*, 55, pp. 130–151.

Lezaun, J. and Soneryd, L. (2007) Consulting citizens: technologies of elicitation and the mobility of publics, *Public Understanding of Science*, 16(3), pp. 279–297.

Licoppe, C. (2010) The 'Performative Turn' in Science and Technology Studies: Towards a linguistic anthropology of 'technology in action', *Journal of Cultural Economy*, 3(2), pp. 181-188.

Lin, W. -y. (2013) Displacement of Agency: The Enactment of Patients' Agency in and beyond Haemodialysis Practices, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 38(3), pp. 421-443.

Löwgren, J. and Reimer, B. (2013) Collaborative media: production, consumption, and design interventions, Cambridge, Mass., MIT Press.

Lury, C. (2009) Brand As Assamblage: Assembling culture, *Journal of Cultural Economy*, 2(1-2), pp. 67-82.

Lury, C. (2018) Routledge handbook of interdisciplinary research methods, London, Routledge.

Lury, C. and Wakeford, N. (eds.) (2012) *Inventive methods: the happening of the social*, London ; New York, Routledge.

Lynch, M. (1985) Discipline and the Material Form of Images: An Analysis of Scientific Visibility, *Social Studies of Science*, 15(1), pp. 37-66.

Lynch, M. (2001) Ethnomethodology and the logic of practice, In Schatzki, T. R., Knorr-Cetina, K., and von Savigny, E. (eds.), *The Practice Turn in Contemporary Theory*, Routledge, pp. 131-148.

Macdonald, A. S. (2013) The Inner Resource: Enabling the Designer within Us All – A Case Study, *The Design Journal*, 16(2), pp. 175–196.

Mackenzie, D. (2006) Is Economics Performative? Option Theory and the Construction of Derivatives Markets, *Journal of the History of Economic Thought*, 28(01), p. 29.

MacKenzie, D. (2004) The big, bad wolf and the rational market: portfolio insurance, the 1987 crash and the performativity of economics, *Economy and Society*, 33(3), pp. 303–334.

MacKenzie, D. A. (ed.) (2008) *Do economists make markets? on the performativity of economics*. Princeton, NJ, Princeton Univ. Press.

MacKenzie, D. and Millo, Y. (2003) Constructing a Market, Performing Theory: The Historical Sociology of a Financial Derivatives Exchange, *American Journal of Sociology*, 109(1), pp. 107-145.

MacLurg, K., Reilly, P., Hawkins, S., Gray, O., Evason, E. and Whittington, D. (2005) A primary care-based needs assessment of people with multiple sclerosis, *The British Journal of General Practice: The Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners*, 55(514), pp. 378-383.

Mager, B. (2008) Service Design, In Erlhoff, M. and Marshall, T. (eds.), *Design Dictionary: Perspectives on Design Terminology*, Basel, Birkhäuser, pp. 354–356.

Mäki, U. (2013) Performativity: Saving Austin from MacKenzie, In Karakostas, V. and Dieks, D. (eds.), *EPSA11 Perspectives and Foundational Problems in Philosophy of Science*, Springer International Publishing, pp. 443-453, [online] Available at: http://link.springer. com/10.1007/978-3-319-01306-0 (Accessed 22 March 2016).

Malpass, M. (2013) Between Wit and Reason: Defining Associative, Speculative, and Critical Design in Practice, *Design and Culture*, 5(3), pp. 333-356.

Martin, G. P. (2008) 'Ordinary people only': knowledge, representativeness, and the publics of public participation in healthcare, Sociology of Health & Illness, 30(1), pp. 35–54.

Martin, G. P., Carter, P. and Dent, M. (2018) Major health service transformation and the public voice: conflict, challenge or complicity?, Journal of Health Services Research & Policy, 23(1), pp. 28–35.

Mattelmäki, T. (2006) Design probes, Helsinki, University of Art and Design.

Mattlemäki, T. (2002) Empathy Probes, In Binder, T., Computer Professionals for Social Responsibility, and Battarbee, K. (eds.), *Proceedings of the Participation Design Conference: Malmö, Sweden, 23 - 25 June, 2002, Palo Alto, Calif, Computer Professionals for Social Responsibility.* 

Mays, N. and Pope, C. (1996) Rigour in qualitative research, In Mays, Nicholas and Pope, Catherine (eds.), *Qualitative research in health care*, London, BMJ Books.

Mazanderani, F., Kelly, J. and Ducey, A. (2018) From embodied risk to embodying hope: Therapeutic experimentation and experiential information sharing in a contested intervention for Multiple Sclerosis, *BioSocieties*, 13(1), pp. 232–254.

Mazanderani, F., O'Neill, B. and Powell, J. (2013) 'People power' or 'pester power'? YouTube as a forum for the generation of evidence and patient advocacy, *Patient Education and Counseling*, 93(3), pp. 420-425.

Mazanderani, F. and Paparini, S. (2015) The stories we tell: Qualitative research interviews, talking technologies and the 'normalisation' of life with HIV, *Social Science & Medicine*, 131, pp. 66–73.

McKevitt, C. (2013) Experience, knowledge and evidence: a comparison of research relations in health and anthropology, *Evidence & Policy: A Journal of Research, Debate and Practice*, 9(1), pp. 113–130.

Merleau-Ponty, M. (1962) Phenomenology of perception, London; New York, Routledge.

Michael, M. (2016) Actor-Network Theory Trials, Trails and Translations., London, SAGE Publications.

Michael, M. (2012a) Anecdote, In Lury, C. and Wakeford, N. (eds.), *Inventive methods: the happening of the social, Culture, economy, and the social*, London ; New York, Routledge, pp. 25-35.

Michael, M. (2012b) De-signing the object of sociology: toward an 'idiotic' methodology: Designing the object of sociology, *The Sociological Review*, 60, pp. 166–183.

Michael, M. (2004) On Making Data Social: Heterogeneity in Sociological Practice, *Qualitative Research*, 4(1), pp. 5–23.

Michael, M. (2011) 'What Are We Busy Doing?': Engaging the Idiot, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 37(5), pp. 528–554.

Moggridge, B. (2007) Designing interactions, Cambridge, Mass, MIT Press.

Mol, A. (1998) Missing Links, making links: The performance of some atherosclerosis, In Berg, M. and Mol, A. (eds.), *Differences in medicine: unraveling practices, techniques, and bodies, Body, commodity, text,* Durham, N.C, Duke University Press, pp. 144-165.

Mol, A. (1999) Ontological Politics: A Word and Some Questions, In Law, J. and Hassard, J. (eds.), *Actor network theory and after, The Sociological review monographs*, Oxford [England]; Malden, MA, Blackwell/Sociological Review.

Mol, A. (2006) Proving or Improving: On Health Care Research as a Form of Self-Reflection, *Qualitative Health Research*, 16(3), pp. 405-414.

Mol, A. (2002) The body multiple: ontology in medical practice, Durham, Duke University Press.

Mol, A. and Law, J. (2004) Embodied Action, Enacted Bodies: the Example of Hypoglycaemia, *Body & Society*, 10(2-3), pp. 43-62.

Mol, A. and Law, J. (2001) Situated Bodies and Distributed Selves: on Doing Hypoglycaemia., In *Bodies on Trial: Performances and Politics in Medicine and Biology*, pp. 1-12.

Morse, J. M. (ed.) (1991) *Qualitative nursing research: a contemporary dialogue*, Rev. ed, Newbury Park, Calif, Sage Publications.

Moser, I. (2000) Against Normalisation: Subverting Norms of Ability and Disability, *Science as Culture*, 9(2), pp. 201-240.

Moser, I. (2006) Disability and the promises of technology: Technology, subjectivity and embodiment within an order of the normal, *Information, Communication & Society*, 9(3), pp. 373-395.

Moser, I. and Law, J. (2003) Making Voices: New Media Technologies, Disabilities, and Articulation, In Liestøl, G., Morrison, A., and Rasmussen, T. (eds.), *Digital Media Revisited: Theoretical and Conceptual Innovation in Digital Domains*, Cambridge, Mass., London, pp. 491–520.

MS Society (2015) What is MS?, *MS Society*, Charity, [online] Available at: http://www. mssociety.org.uk/what-is-ms (Accessed 17 September 2015).

Neves, S. M. P. das (2014) Enhancing the post-stroke patient experience at mealtime through participatory design: Eliciting, connecting and supporting multi-voicedness. PhD Thesis, Glasgow, The Glasgow School of Art.

Nguyen, V.-K. (2013) Counselling against HIV in Africa: a genealogy of confessional technologies, *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 15(sup4), pp. 440-452.

Nguyen, V.-K., Appadurai, A., Comaroff, J. L. and Farquhar, J. (2010) *Republic of Therapy: Triage and Sovereignty in West Africa's Time of AIDS*, Durham, Duke University Press.

NICE (2012) Patient experience in adult NHS services: improving the experience of care for people using adult NHS services, National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, [online] Available at: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg138 (Accessed 13 September 2014).

Niedderer, K. (2007) Designing Mindful Interaction: The Category of Performative Object, *Design Issues*, 23(1), pp. 3-17.

Nordgren, L. (2008) The performativity of the service management discourse: 'value creating customers' in health care, *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 22(5), pp. 510–528.

Norman, D. A. and Drapper (1986) *The design of everyday things*, Hillsdale, N.J, Erlbaum.

Nortvedt, M. W., Riise, T., Myhr, K.-M. and Nyland, H. I. (2000) Performance of the SF-36, SF-12, and RAND-36 Summary Scales in a Multiple Sclerosis Population, *Medical Care*, 38(10), [online] Available at: https://journals.lww.com/lww-medicalcare/Fulltext/2000/10000/ Performance\_of\_the\_SF\_36,\_SF\_12, and RAND\_36.6.aspx (Accessed 1 February 2014).

Nurse-Patient Relations and Benner, P. E. (eds.) (1994) *Interpretive phenomenology: embodiment, caring, and ethics in health and illness,* Thousand Oaks, Calif, Sage Publications.

Oliver, M. (1990) The Politics of Disablement, London, Macmillan Education UK, [online] Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-349-20895-1 (Accessed 5 March 2019).

Osborne, L. A., Middleton, R. M., Jones, K. H., Ford, D. V. and Noble, J. G. (2013) Desirability and expectations of the UK MS Register: Views of people with MS, *International*  Journal of Medical Informatics, 82(11), pp. 1104-1110.

Osborne, T. and Rose, N. (1999) Do the social sciences create phenomena?: the example of public opinion research, *The British Journal of Sociology*, 50(3), pp. 367-396.

Pardini, M., Cutter, G. and Sormani, M. P. (2017) Clinical trial design for progressive MS trials, *Multiple Sclerosis Journal*, 23(12), pp. 1642–1648.

Penta, M., Thonnard, J. L. and Tesio, L. (1998) ABILHAND: a Rasch-built measure of manual ability, *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 79(9), pp. 1038–1042.

Pfennings, L. E. M. A., Ploeg, H. M., Cohen, L., Bramsen, I., Polman, C. H., Lankhorst, G. J. and Vleugels, L. (2009) A health-related quality of life questionnaire for multiple sclerosis Patients, *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 100(3), pp. 148–155.

Pickering, A. (1995) *The mangle of practice: time, agency, and science*, Chicago, University of Chicago Press.

Pine, B. J. and Gilmore, J. H. (1999) *The experience economy: work is theatre & every business a stage*, Boston, Harvard Business School Press.

Platz, T. (ed.) (2005) ARM - Arm rehabilitation measurement: manual for performance and scoring of the Fugl-Meyer test (arm section), *Action Research Arm test and the Box-and-Block test*. Aufl, Baden-Baden, Dt. Wiss.-Verl. (DWV).

PMCPA (2016) *Code of practice for the pharmaceutical industry*, [online] Available at: https://www.abpi.org.uk/media/1605/code\_of\_practice\_2016.pdf (Accessed 11 September 2018).

Pols, J. (2005) Enacting appreciations: beyond the patient perspective, *Health care analysis: journal of health philosophy and policy*, 13(3), pp. 203–221.

Pols, J. (2014) Knowing Patients: Turning Patient Knowledge into Science, *Science, Technology, & Human Values, 39*(1), pp. 73–97.

Prahalad, C. K. and Ramaswamy, V. (2004) Co-creation experiences: The next practice in value creation, *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18(3), pp. 5-14.

Puig de la Bellacasa, M. (2011) Matters of care in technoscience: Assembling neglected things, *Social Studies of Science*, 41(1), pp. 85–106.

Puig de la Bellacasa, M. (2017) *Matters of care: speculative ethics in more than human worlds*, Posthumanities, Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.

Pullin, G. (2013) 17 ways to say yes, exploring nuanced tone of voice in augmentative communication and designing new interactions with speech synthesis. PhD Thesis, Dundee, University of Dundee, [online] Available at: https://www.dundee.ac.uk/djcad/staff/profile/graham-pullin.php#tab-Researchoutputs.

Pullin, G. (2009) Design meets disability, Cambridge, Mass, MIT Press.

Rabeharisoa, V., Moreira, T. and Akrich, M. (2014) Evidence-based activism: Patients', users' and activists' groups in knowledge society, BioSocieties, 9(2), pp. 111-128.

Räsänen, M. and Nyce, J. M. (2013) The Raw is Cooked: Data in Intelligence Practice, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, [online] Available at: http://sth.sagepub.com/content/early/2013/04/15/0162243913480049 (Accessed 15 April 2016).

Reeves, R., West, E. and Barron, D. (2013) Facilitated patient experience feedback can improve nursing care: a pilot study for a phase III cluster randomised controlled trial, *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(1), [online] Available at: http://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral. com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-13-259 (Accessed 17 October 2018).

Reiners, G. (2012) Understanding the Differences between Husserl's (Descriptive) and Heidegger's (Interpretive) Phenomenological Research, *Journal of Nursing & Care*, 01(05), [online] Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2167-1168.1000119 (Accessed 8 April 2016).

Renedo, A. and Marston, C. (2011) Healthcare professionals' representations of 'patient and public involvement' and creation of 'public participant' identities: Implications for the development of inclusive and bottom-up community participation initiatives, *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 21(3), pp. 268–280.

Riazi, A. (2006) Patient-reported Outcome Measures in Multiple Sclerosis, *International MS journal/MS Forum*, 13(3), pp. 92-99.

Ritvo, P., Fischer, J., Miller, D., Andrews, H., Paty, D. and LaRocca, N. (1997) *Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life Inventory: A User's Manual*, New York, NY, National Multiple Sclerosis Society.

Robert, G. (2013) Participatory action research: using experience-based co-design to improve the quality of healthcare services, In Ziebland, S., Coulter, A., Calabrese, J. D., and Locock, L. (eds.), *Understanding and Using Health Experiences, Oxford University Press*, pp. 138-149.

Roche (2018) Floodlight Open. Understanding MS together. The power to make the invisible is *in your hands*, [online] Available at: https://www.floodlightopen.com/en-US/ (Accessed 19 September 2018).

Rodgers, P. and Yee, J. (2016) Design Research is Alive and Kicking..., In DRS2016 - Design Research Society 50th Anniversary Conference, Brighton, UK.

Romberg, A., Ikonen, A., Ruutiainen, J., Virtanen, A. and Hämäläinen, P. (2012) The effects of heat stress on physical functioning in persons with multiple sclerosis, *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 319(1-2), pp. 42-46.

Royal Society (ed.) (1985) The public understanding of science, London.

Ruppert, E. (2011) Population Objects: Interpassive Subjects, Sociology, 45(2), pp. 218-233.

Ruppert, E., Law, J. and Savage, M. (2013) Reassembling Social Science Methods: The

Challenge of Digital Devices, *Theory, Culture & Society*, 30(4), pp. 22-46.

Salih, S. (2007) On Judith Butler and Performantivity, In Lovaas, K. and Jenkins, M. M. (eds.), *Sexualities & communication in everyday life: a reader*, Thousand Oaks, Calif, SAGE Publications.

Salvador, T., Bell, G. and Anderson, K. (2010) Design Ethnography, *Design Management Journal*, 10(4), pp. 35-41.

Sanders, E. B.-N. and Stappers, P. J. (2008) Co-creation and the new landscapes of design, *CoDesign*, 4(1), pp. 5-18.

Scanlon, L. (2013) PatientsLikeMe Unveils New Tool to Match Patients With Clinical Trials Worldwide, *Marketwired*, [online] Available at: http://www.marketwired.com/press-release/patientslikeme-unveils-new-tool-to-match-patients-with-clinical-trials-worldwide-1767363. htm.

Schön, D. A. (1983) The reflective practitioner: how professionals think in action, New York, Basic Books.

Schuler, D. and Namioka, A. (eds.) (1993) *Participatory design: principles and practices*, Hillsdale, N.J, L. Erlbaum Associates.

Searle, J. R. (2008) *Philosophy in a New Century: Selected Essays*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, [online] Available at: http://ebooks.cambridge.org/ref/id/CBO9780511812859 (Accessed 9 July 2015).

Sethi, V., Yousry, T., Tozer, D., Muhlert, N., Ron, M., Golay, X., Wheeler-Kingshott, C., Miller, D., Chard, D. and Altmann, D. (2013) Does the lobar distribution of cortical grey matter (CGM) lesions correlate with cognitive impairment seen in multiple sclerosis patients?, In *Proceedings for ECTRIMS 2013. October 2-5, 2013*, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Sevaldson, B. (2010) Discussions & Movements in Design Research, *FOR Makademisk*, 3(1), [online] Available at: https://journals.hioa.no/index.php/formakademisk/article/view/137 (Accessed 3 November 2016).

Shakespeare, T. and Watson, N. (2001) The social model of disability: An outdated ideology?, In Research in Social Science and Disability, Bingley, Emerald (MCB UP), pp. 9-28.

Shapin, S. and Schaffer, S. (1985) Leviathan and the air-pump: Hobbes, Boyle, and the experimental life: including a translation of Thomas Hobbes, Dialogus physicus de natura aeris by Simon Schaffer, Princeton, N.J, Princeton University Press.

Sharrack, B. and Hughes, R. A. (1997) Reliability of distance estimation by doctors and patients: cross sectional study, *BMJ*, 315(7123), pp. 1652–1654.

Sharrack, B., Hughes, R. A., Soudain, S. and Dunn, G. (1999) The psychometric properties of clinical rating scales used in multiple sclerosis, *Brain: A Journal of Neurology*, 122 (Pt 1),

pp. 141-159.

Shedroff, N. (2001) *Experience design 1.1*, New Riders.

Shostack, G. L. (1984) Designing Services That Deliver, *Harvard Business Review*, [online] Available at: https://hbr.org/1984/01/designing-services-that-deliver (Accessed 8 August 2016).

Singleton, V. (1998) Stabilising instabilities:the role of the laboratory in the UK cervical screening programme, In Berg, M. and Mol, A. (eds.), *Differences in medicine: unraveling practices, techniques, and bodies*, Durham, N.C, Duke University Press, pp. 86-104.

Singleton, V. and Michael, M. (1993) Actor-Networks and Ambivalence: General Practitioners in the UK Cervical Screening Programme, *Social Studies of Science*, 23(2), pp. 227–264.

Smeenk, W., Sturm, J. and Eggen, B. (2018) Empathic handover: how would you feel? Handing over dementia experiences and feelings in empathic co-design, *CoDesign*, 14(4), pp. 259–274.

Smith, P. (1992) The emotional labour of nursing: its impact on interpersonal relations, management and the educational environment in nursing, Repr, Houndmills, Basingstoke, MacMillan.

Speed, E., Davison, C. and Gunnell, C. (2016) The anonymity paradox in patient engagement: reputation, risk and web-based public feedback: Table 1, *Medical Humanities*, 42(2), pp. 135-140.

Springgay, S. and Truman, S. E. (2017) A Transmaterial Approach to Walking Methodologies: Embodiment, Affect, and a Sonic Art Performance, *Body & Society*, 23(4), pp. 27–58.

Star, S. L. (ed.) (1995) Ecologies of knowledge: work and politics in science and technology, SUNY series in science, technology, and society, Albany, State University of New York Press.

Star, S. L. (1990) Power, technology and the phenomenology of conventions: on being allergic to onions, *The Sociological Review*, 38(S1), pp. 26–56.

Star, S. L. (1983) Simplification in Scientific Work: An Example from Neuroscience Research, *Social Studies of Science*, 13(2), pp. 205–228.

Star, S. L. (1999) The Ethnography of Infrastructure, *American Behavioral Scientist*, 43(3), pp. 377-391.

Star, S. L. and Griesemer, J. R. (1989) Institutional Ecology, `Translations' and Boundary Objects: Amateurs and Professionals in Berkeley's Museum of Vertebrate Zoology, 1907-39, *Social Studies of Science*, 19(3), pp. 387-420.

Star, S. L. and Strauss, A. (1999) Layers of Silence, Arenas of Voice: The Ecology of Visible

and Invisible Work, *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* (CSCW), 8(1-2), pp. 9-30.

Stengers, I. (2018) *Another science is possible: a manifesto for slow science*, English edition, Cambridge ; Medford, MA, Polity.

Stengers, I. (2005) The cosmopolitical proposal, *Making things public: Atmospheres of democracy*, pp. 994–1003.

Stengers, I. (2000) *The invention of modern science, Theory out of bounds*, Minneapolis, University of Minnesota Press.

Stengers, I. (2002) In Hope: new philosophies for change, Annandale, Pluto Press, pp. 244-273.

Strandvad, S. and Pedersen, K. (2015) Co-Producing a Festival Experience: A Socio-Material understanding of Experience Design, In Benz, P. (ed.), *Experience design: concepts and case studies*, London ; New York, Bloomsbury Academic, pp. 105-112.

Strauss, A. L. (1975) Chronic illness and the quality of life, Saint Louis, Mosby.

Suchman, L. (2007) *Human-machine reconfigurations: plans and situated actions*, 2nd ed, Cambridge ; New York, Cambridge University Press.

Suchman, L. (1995) Making work visible, *Communications of the ACM*, 38(9), p. 56-ff.

Suchman, L., Trigg, R. and Blomberg, J. (2002a) Working artefacts: ethnomethods of the prototype, *British Journal of Sociology*, 53(2), pp. 163–179.

Suchman, L., Trigg, R. and Blomberg, J. (2002b) Working artefacts: ethnomethods of the prototype, *British Journal of Sociology*, 53(2), pp. 163–179.

Sullivan, M. (2003) The new subjective medicine: taking the patient's point of view on health care and health, *Social Science & Medicine*, 56(7), pp. 1595-1604.

Suri, J. F. and Howard, S. G. (2006) Going Deeper, Seeing Further: Enhancing Ethnographic Interpretations to Reveal More Meaningful Opportunities for Design, *Journal of Advertising Research*, 46(3), pp. 246–250.

Suri, J. F. and IDEO (eds.) (2015) The little book of design research ethics, London, IDEO.

Svabo, C. and Shanks, M. (2015) Experience as Excursion: A Note towards a Metaphysics of Design Thinking, In Benz, P. (ed.), *Experience Design: Concepts and Case Studies*, London, Bloomsbury Academic, pp. 23-32.

Thabane, L., Ma, J., Chu, R., Cheng, J., Ismaila, A., Rios, L. P., Robson, R., Thabane, M., Giangregorio, L. and Goldsmith, C. H. (2010) A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how, *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 10(1), [online] Available at: http://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2288-10-1 (Accessed 17 October 2018).

Thomson, A. (2014) Barts MS Advisory Group, *Barts MS Research Blog*, Blog, [online] Available at: http://multiple-sclerosis-research.blogspot.com/p/barts-ms-advisory-group.html (Accessed 17 October 2018).

Thomson, A., Carol Rivas, Tosh Denholm and Gavin Giovannoni (2013) Multiple sclerosis (MS) Outpatient Future Groups: Designing tools of interaction in health service improvement activities, In Alaster Yoxall and Kirsty Christer (eds.), *Proceedings of the Second European Conference on Design 4 Health 2013, 3 – 5 July 2013*, Sheffield UK, Sheffield Hallam University, Art & Design Research Centre, Sheffield, UK.

Thomson, A., Davis, A., Paterson, A., Giovannoni, G. and Schmierer, K. (2015) Designing an information resource to explain diagnostic lumbar puncture and promote best practice, In *Association of British Neurologists Annual Meeting, Harrogate*.

Thomson, A., Espasandin, M., Denholm, T. and Giovannoni, G. (2011) Analysing and redesigning the outpatient experience for people with multiple sclerosis, In 5th Joint triennial congress of the European and Americas Committees for Treatment and Research in Multiple Sclerosis, 3-5 October 2011, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Thomson, A., Rivas, C. and Giovannoni, G. (2015) Multiple sclerosis outpatient future groups: improving the quality of participant interaction and ideation tools within service improvement activities, *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(1).

Timmermans, S. and Berg, M. (1997) Standardization in Action: Achieving Local Universality through Medical Protocols, *Social Studies of Science*, 27(2), pp. 273–305.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and Food and Drug Administration (2009) *Guidance for Industry Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims*, [online] Available at: http://www.fda.gov/downloads/Drugs/ GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guidances/UCM193282.pdf Accessed August 27, 2014.

Varela, F. (1999) The specious present: A neurophenomenology of time consciousness, In Petitot, J., Varela, F. J., Pacoud, B., and Roy, J.-M. (eds.), *Naturalizing Phenomenology*, Stanford University Press, pp. 266--314.

Vennik, F. D., Adams, S. A., Faber, M. J. and Putters, K. (2014) Expert and experiential knowledge in the same place: Patients' experiences with online communities connecting patients and health professionals, *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95(2), pp. 265-270.

Vickrey, B. G., Hays, R. D., Harooni, R., Myers, L. W. and Ellison, G. W. (1995) A healthrelated quality of life measure for multiple sclerosis, *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 4(3), pp. 187–206.

Walters, A. J. (1995) The phenomenological movement: implications for nursing research, *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 22(4), pp. 791–799.

Walton, M. K., Powers, J. H., Hobart, J., Patrick, D., Marquis, P., Vamvakas, S., Isaac, M., Molsen, E., Cano, S., Burke, L. B. and International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and

Outcomes Research Task Force for Clinical Outcomes Assessment (2015) Clinical Outcome Assessments: Conceptual Foundation-Report of the ISPOR Clinical Outcomes Assessment - Emerging Good Practices for Outcomes Research Task Force, *Value in Health: The Journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research*, 18(6), pp. 741-752.

Wendt, T. (2015) *Design for Dasein: understanding the design of experiences*, Charleston, SC, Createspace.

West, J., Davey, G., Norris, B., Myerson, J., Anderson, O. and Brodie, A. (2014) Designing out Medical Error: An Interdisciplinary Approach to the Design of Healthcare Equipment, *The Design Journal*, 17(2), pp. 238–266.

Wetherly, L. and Erez, R. (2018) PIP: a step too far. The impact of the 20 meter rule on people with MS, MS Society.

Wherton, J., Sugarhood, P., Procter, R., Rouncefield, M., Dewsbury, G., Hinder, S. and Greenhalgh, T. (2012) Designing assisted living technologies 'in the wild': preliminary experiences with cultural probe methodology, *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 12(1), p. 188.

White, J., Kieseier, B., Newsome, S., Zhu, Y., Cui, Y., Seddighzadeh, A., Hung, S., Deykin, A. and Subramanyam, M. (2013) Immunogenicity with peginterferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: data from the pivotal phase 3 ADVANCE study, In *Proceedings for ECTRIMS 2013*. *October 2-5*, 2013, Copenhagen, Denmark.

Whitehead, A. N. (1978) *Process and Reality: Corrected Edition*, Griffin, D. R. and Sherburne, D. (eds.), New York, Free Press [originally published in 1929].

Wiener, C. L. (2000) *The elusive quest: accountability in hospitals, Social problems and social issues*, New York, Aldine de Gruyter.

Wilkie, A. (2013) Prototyping as Event: Designing the Future of Obesity, *Journal of Cultural Economy*, 7(4), pp. 476-492.

Wilkie, A. (2010) *User Assemblages in Design: An Ethnographic Study*. PhD Thesis, London, Goldsmiths, University of London.

Wilkie, A. and Michael, M. (2009) Expectation and Mobilisation: Enacting Future Users, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 34(4), pp. 502–522.

Wilkie, A., Michael, M. and Plummer-Fernandez, M. (2015) Speculative method and Twitter: Bots, energy and three conceptual characters: Speculative method and Twitter: Bots, energy and three conceptual characters, *The Sociological Review*, pp. 79-101.

Williams, S. J. (1999) Is anybody there? Critical realism, chronic illness and the disability debate, Sociology of Health and Illness, 21(6), pp. 797-819.

Wilsdon, J., Willis, R. and Demos (Organization: London, E. (2004) *See-through science: why public engagement needs to move upstream*, London, Demos.

Winner, L. (1993) Upon Opening the Black Box and Finding It Empty: Social Constructivism and the Philosophy of Technology, *Science, Technology & Human Values*, 18(3), pp. 362-378.

Winthereik, B. R., van der Ploeg, I. and Berg, M. (2007) The Electronic Patient Record as a Meaningful Audit Tool:Accountability and Autonomy in General Practitioner Work, *Science*, *Technology*, & Human Values, 32(1), pp. 6–25.

Wolf, J., Niederhauser, V., Marshburn, D. and LaVela, S. (2014) Defining Patient Experience, *Patient Experience Journal*, 1(1), [online] Available at: http://pxjournal.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1004&context=journal.

Woolgar, S. (ed.) (1988) Knowledge and Reflexivity, London, SAGE Publications.

Wynne, B. (1995) Public Understanding of Science, In *Handbook of Science and Technology Studies*, California, SAGE Publications, pp. 361–388, [online] Available at: http://knowledge. sagepub.com/view/handbook-of-science-and-technology-studies/n17.xml (Accessed 17 September 2015).

Yaneva, A. (2009) Making the Social Hold: Towards an Actor-Network Theory of Design, *Design and Culture*, 1(3), pp. 273–288.

Zimmerman, J., Stolterman, E. and Forlizzi, J. (2010) An Analysis and Critique of Research Through Design: towards a formalization of a research approach, In *DIS 2010 - Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*, Aarhus, ACM.

# Appendix A: MOT sound recording transcripts

I may while to study white each
. You added left have deal by my hight have a proper have been been been been been being it is
I us my threads to drug by the bring by the bring and the (by public law) and the basis to be
that may not appoint of the international actions that the provided of the provided in the pro
them inter the other to other to be all up all and may found installing installining installing installing ins
May write gow me to the address to use it to produce to the may they make
so that is get
The left over, walk and them I talk about myself.
1 gr why way a manual the
Wills hick
in the anti-
nt. Cast wright of the antiony det.
to struck and the second the seco
EC Ver vied to be active, man upon the company of t
the MAY and ender and have have allowed near the there is a function to allow the most of the
7 opproval paper and the state of the state
his pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-pre-
used at nu (ta (w mm))
ECTIONED ON THE THE THE ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL AL
in it difault to fee different peaks of approximate unget they were perfect
und change of and is produced in produced when the the
more that going to show the show the show of the show that the
von approvation that your water that they there will be it that they
up was taken when the taken we take the taken and the party of the taken
interesting the train to there to here the train the terms there is a second to the terms in ter
within a part is in the inverte estimate the more sense of dary
mit which it was up not, within that that
"(an apoint in the second of the activity of t
that comment for big of chains, you need to new it
want private for the relation of the bag (devoked)
w is I drawed bottom and bottom and we board what within allow been within the lived ing man-
extension letter for way rain of theme of the det the det have (divides)
The Loss vacuality do any Just up long that I do not
ED Then I say let me finish patting my managers what may
to vare to do it by sign but you I have to overine
Civilis the Int and pull it through 5

	s Brilling in the pile I can pile by a pint of where it have no problem, but we then pilling of a pint of beer too the pile tool Information of pinting of a pint of beer too the pile tool information of pinting of a pint of a pint of the application of the pint of the pint of the p
	as built that it office y. Ro II do it is the many before the product of parts part in meth, Bit terminy more of firstand, becauge the finding (Rutter), but not is part of the Bit is a first on the many before the intervention of the last of the many of built on the many before the not intervent of the last of the the and care I and there he recover and detailed attempt that because entry the more diffect to the such as an attempt card in any the diffect the such as a such as the such attempt to be diffect.
A de las regiones de conserva de las las las partes partes partes de las las partes de las las las partes de las las partes de las las las partes de las las las partes de las las las las partes de las las las las partes de las	Undering is any theque late that yet in the fill by the pill boxes 1. We prove that any theque constraints the pill of the pill boxes The first it diffinit bit its function in all day everywerk is scient at any in all day RD invalid do up think of when you think of this talk. 19: Now of any think of when you thick of this talk. 19: Now of an of think of when you thick of this talk. 19: Now of an of think of when you thick of this talk. 19: Now of an of think of when you thick of this talk. 19: Now of an of think of when you thick of the scient of the RD start of you do not diapping it you're got to do it over a bovel (SI-IF your warned wheat diapping it you're got to do it over a bovel
	a marthay IN be you think to not cannow proop to be part of a mound? 4.

## **Appendix B: Notes from clinic observations**

At your this point I met with Control Appenhitments to during how the extre invertis served cart with the spontiment letters. 16th April 2013 1.40 pm (pt, friend, minuse, or, revearcher) let pt or nor finishing a sundinch & cnips of dock. Pt thus no notes so there are temporary filter. by d public special of the hypothe flicking thingh "offer, there clanced rates, children made. computer to find nume rates she made. - I meet with a fam central speatments and the de introduce me to the managed m'ad-term who are very mite and pleasant when or very and the Jennie. The first spead of explain has the meet way explain the cull of term. So which for new technology "To de storne, had been changed" "I will I had proved my note act". - "no some paper I then meet the min and the machine who alaer ill the providing. "The I speak again to the memory again I theme he is testing me neet by telyin." She isld contenting itang the line of "I will wompne calle come and see the team" - handware me "The the give of formedi-ne gave up strand in Feb. - Sed sharms "Unified" of control of and wight for a lattle decepter of spiring applicit for not puty note out, talking about changing backford. - or residua inters on somen while pt. tellary - NUSE duying " Do you know why I did that It "I've a due act the wefil le the finn happice here and they mentioned from the red You git while and your your . Tesh







### Appendix C: MOT study protocol

Barts Health NHS Trust	Queen Mary	
		Chief and Principle Investigator
		Alison Thomson Lecturer in Public Engagement and Patient Public Involvement
		Centre for Neuroscience and Trauma
		Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry
		64 Turner Street
		020 7882 2367
		a.thomson@qmul.ac.uk
Non-CTIMP: Meas	surement on Our Terms: exploring the	Co-Investigator:
role of patients w	nen developing an upper limb Patient	Gavin Giovannoni
Reported Outcom	te measurement for Multiple Scierosis	Blizard Institute, Centre for Neuroscience and Trauma
		QMUL a.giovannoni@amul.ac.uk
		Over Diver
Short Title/Acronym	Measurement on Our Terms (MOT)	Senior Researcher (Associate Professor)
Sponsor	Queen Mary University of London	Social Science Research Unit
	Dr Sally Burtles,	c.rivas@ucl.ac.uk
	Joint Research Management Office	
	Queen Mary Innovation Centre	
	London, E1 2EF	List of sites:
	020 7882 7260	
	sponsorsreperbansneaminns.uk	Panicipant identification Centre: Roval London Hospital
REC Reference	174 0/1684	Barts Health NHS Trust
		Site:
IRAS Project ID	228062	Camden Society have provided a letter to confirm they are happy for the Unity Café to be used as a research site.
		Unity Kitchen Café
		Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, 1A Honour Lea Ave. London E20 1DY
		Taska and December 20
		Centre for Neuroscience and Trauma
		Bilzard Institute
		4 rewark Street Whitechapel, E1 2AT
		Version 0.5
		12h September 2017 MOT Protocol

CLOSSARY OF TERMS AND APPREVIATIONS	
SIGNATURE PAGE	
SUMMARY	
1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background	
1.1 Patient Reported Outcome Measure (PROM)	
1.2 Upper limb function and people with multiple sclerosis	
1.3 PROMs to measure upper limb function for people with multiple sclerosis	
1.4 Developing a new PROM for upper limb function in MS	
1.5 Patient involvement in PROM development	
2 STUDY OBJECTIVES	
2.1 Frindry objective	
2.2 Secondary Objective	
3 METHODOLOGY	1
3.1 Focus groups	15
Study Scheme diagram	
3.1.1 Study – RLH and Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, East London	16
3.2 study participant criteria	17
3.2.1 Inclusion Criteria	17
3.2.2 Exclusion Criteria	17
3.2.3 Sample Size	17
3.2.4 Sampling technique	
3.3 Study recruitment	
3.4 informed Consent	
3.4.1 Withdrawal of participants	
3.5 Data collection procedures	
3.6 schedule of assessment	
3.7 Study procedures	
3.7.1 Focus group 1	
3.7.2 Online Survey	
3.7.3 Focus group 2	
3.7.4 Focus group 3	
3.8 Data analysis	
3.9 End of study definition	
3.10 Post study Activities	
4 STUDY TEAM AND ROLES	
5 ETHICS	
5.1 Ethical considerations of the focus groups:	
	25

7 DATA HANDLING AND RECORD KEEPING	
8 DEVICES AND TOOLS	
8.1 Device: c9HPT.	
8.2 Tool: WebEDSS	
9 SAFETY REPORTING	
MONITORING AND AUDITING	
10 FINANCE AND FUNDING	
11 INDEMNITY	
12 DISSEMINATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS	
12.1 Study report	
12.2 Mailing list	
12.3 Academic peer-reviewed publication	
12.4 Protocol paper	
17 REFERENCES	
18 APPENDICES	

#### GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

DMT	Disease Modifying Therapy
EDSS	Expanded Disability Status Scale
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
C9HPT	Cardboard Nine Hole Peg Test
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
Participant	An individual who takes part in a study
PF	A person with MS who is also a professional facilitator
PPI	Patient Public Involvement
PI	Principle Investigator
PROM	Patient Reported Outcome Measure
PwMS	Person with MS
QMUL	Queen Mary University London
QR	Qualitative Researcher
9HPT	Nine Hole Peg Test
WebEDSS	Web-based Expanded Disability Status Scale

IGNATURE PAGE	
IGNATURE PAGE	
IGNATURE PAGE	
GIGNATURE PAGE	
SIGNATURE PAGE	
Chief Investigator Agreement	
The clinical study as detailed within thi 2017), or any subsequent amendment Governance Framework for Health & S Declaration of Helsinki (1996) and the subsequent amendments of the appro	is research protocol (Version 0.5, dated 12 <sup>th</sup> September ts will be conducted in accordance with the Research Social Care (2005), the World Medical Association current applicable regulatory requirements and any priate regulations.
Chief Investigator Name: Alison T	Thomson
Atio	M MMAA
Signature and Date:	
Principal Investigator Agreement (if	f different from Chief investigator)
The clinical study as detailed within thi 2017), or any subsequent amendment Governance Framework for Health & S Declaration of Helsinki (1996) and the subsequent amendments of the appro-	is research protocol (Version 0.5, dated 12 <sup>th</sup> September ts will be conducted in accordance with the Research Social Care (2005), the World Medical Association current applicable regulatory requirements and any priate regulations.
Principal Investigator Name: Principal Investigator Site:	Alison Thomson Bilzard Institute, Queen Mary, University of London
	Attion theman
Signature and Date:	0.0
Manine D F	
venicer 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol	

Ve	sic	n 0.	5		
123	h 5 IT I	iepti Pana	amb rool	er 20	1

Short Title	Measurement on Our Terms: exploring the role of patients when developing an upper limb Patient Reported Outcome Measurement (PROM) for Multiple Sclerosis (MS)
Research Sites	Participant Identification CentreRoyal London Hospital Outpatient Department part of Barts Health NHS Trust     Site: Utility Kitchen Cate in the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park     Technical Department: The Bilzard Institute, Queen Mary University of London
Objectives	Primary objective: 1. To develop a PPOM to evaluate upper limb function in people with MS Secondary Objective: 2. To explore how patient experiential knowledge can contribute to the development of a PROM
Methodology	This is a mixed method study using three focus groups to identify patient important upper limb activities to develop a PROM specific for people with MS. It has a nested component exploring the impact of experiential knowledge on PROM development and will use descriptive analysis to describe the study participants.
Number of Participants	Three focus groups conducted by a patient facilitator and the researcher consisting of between eight and ten participants. Each participant will attend all three focus groups.
Main Inclusion Criteria	Bat able to give informed consert without assistance     Make and tensile patients aged 15+ and willing to     participate in the study.     Al participants will have been diagnosed with multiple     decreas according to the review 4/MacDonal' orteria     (Poinan et al., 2011) at least 6 months beforehand.     Participants will have an EDS3 with identified upper     linb function problems     Be able to attend the three local group sessions in East     communicate in English.     Here abcumeta in English.     Here abcumeta in English.

Data analysis	Quantitative data collected in this study will be used for descriptive analysis of the study participants. Immersion/Orgalization will be used to for qualitative data analysis to develop activities for the PROM as well as exploring experiminal knowledge of patients during PROM development.
Proposed Start Date	01/10/2017
Proposed End Date	31/05/2018
Study Duration	8 months
Version 0.5 12th September 2017	

#### 1, INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

This study is being led by Alson Thomson, Lecture in Patient Public Involvement (PPI) and Public Engagement in Science from Queen Mary University of London (QMUL), who has extensive experience involving patients in research activities (Thomson et al., 2011, 2015), 2015a). Alson established and chairs the Barts MS Patient Advisory Group (a PPI group) and has involved them in the design, conduct and dissemiration of this study. The outcome measure being developed through this study is a requirement Alson's professional role at QMUL, while the exploration of patient involvement in this process will form part Alson's PhD thesis registreed at Oddsmiths, Liviversity of London.

#### 1.1 PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOME MEASURE (PROM)

PROUs are an unthrelia term reterring to questionnaires, interviews, and other methods of assessing health, illness and benefits of health care from the patient's perspective. From a clinical perspective, PROMs are essentially an evaluation of the meaningfulness of therapeutic effectiveness and management strategies as rated by patients (Smith and Weldring, 2013). PROMs are sometimes referred to a quality of life measures for the reason. For a person with MS (PMAS), PROMS are claimed to measure and capture the direct impact of the chronic liness on the day-to-day lives (Riaz) cools at they are completed by patients, as opposed to tests conducted on patients, like MRI scars or examinations.

#### 1.2 UPPER LIMB FUNCTION AND PEOPLE WITH MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

In or previous (MS) is a driver progressive disease of the central nervous system (Comption and Coles, 2008) and is the leading cause of non-traumatic disability in young and indice aged ability (Comption). 2005, Vigiliati et al., 2008). In commonly leads to comutative, heterogeneous mixed disabilities over time, ranging from motor and sensory impairments to fatigue, impaired vision, cognitive deficits, speech and seasilowing problems, bladder, howel and seauid systemation. The combination of different symptoms and disabilities define limits a person's ability to perform activities of daily life and social activities which then affect people's quality of life.

Historically, MS treatments have focused on preserving lower limb function – the ability to walkand this is reflected in three main areas of clinical practice and research. Firstly, within the current climate of disease modifying therapies (IDMTs) available to PwMS, none are licensed for

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

11

13

### 1.3 PROMS TO MEASURE UPPER LIMB FUNCTION FOR PEOPLE WITH MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

SUCLENDISIS As healthcare providers place increasing emphasis on evidence based practice, outcome measures such as the EDSS and quantitative descriptions of patients' disease experience hav become more important. Particular emphasis in anow placed on including PROMs in trials and clinical practice driven by govering bodies such as the US Food and Drug Administration (PDA/ULS. Department of Health and Human Services and Food and Drug Administration, 2009), the European Medicine Agency (European Medicines Agency, 2005), and the Department of Health (Department of Health, 2001).

Current PROMs focus on measures of body functions and structures looking at the capacity to assess the maximal ability to execute a task or an action (e.g., the 9HPP II is gold standard objective measure for manual dexterity (Fischer et al., 1999)) or an activity performance measure measuring the person's habitual performance of tasks in their normal environment (the ABILHAND).

There are a range of upper limb PROMS in use, but few have been used in MS research and we are aware of only one developed specifically for PMMS (Lamers et al., 2016). For example the ABILHAND was originally developed for rheumatoid anthins with subsequent versions developed for people with atoles (Pent at et al., 1999). Although these have been validated for use with PMMS (Barret et al., 2013) their transference from another condition poses problems in that the activities that is included lack relevance to the activities specific to living with MS. They also lack relevance to modern living. For example, they are influenced by the ability to walk and there is no mention of urinary catheters, and no mention of new technologies such as the use of southcreen phones or tablets.

#### 1.4 DEVELOPING A NEW PROM FOR UPPER LIMB FUNCTION IN MS

This study will develop a new PROM to specifically measure upper limb function in people with MS using a more participatory approach to PROM development. This is inspired by participator research as the study has been designed by PwMS and will involve PwMS with upper limb problems, who are the people whose activities and life works are under study (Bergad and Thomas 2012) throughout.

PROMs are typically derived by clinicians and University researchers who only involve patients at specific stages. They therefore embed what these medical and academic professionals believe to be a "good" outcome (Rose et al., 2011), i.e. one that is clinically meaningful from the perspective of the clinicians and the researcher but these outcomes may not be enaningful to the clinical stages.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

MOT P

people with advanced forms of MS. Secondly, wheelchair users are excluded from the majority of clinical trails as (i) it is thought to be difficult to measure clinical charge in PeMS whose moto functions are already severely affected leading to concern the impact of DMTs is too subte to detect and (ii) pathophysiological dogma suggests that nore as certain level of EDSS is reached, MS becomes a neurodegenerative disease that is not amenable to DMT (Lerray et al., 2010). Fanily, and reliated to the second point, the godd standard of disease measurement, the expanded disability status scale (EDSS) (Kurtzke, 1983; Schwid et al., 1997) is weighted towards mobility i.e. a person's ability to walk. Results of a recent study (ASCEND, NC011416181) httplinted these projectiones as the primary outcomes of the trail ware negative; the EDSS and 25-bot timed toor walk, measures of lower limb function, was positive; the interloginative thore goaled statiation aboved no loss of upper limb function, confirmed at 12 weeks, compared to participants with secondary progressive MS who received placebo.

The Bank MS Research team based at Queen Mary University of London (QMUL) and Bans Health NHS Trust feel that there now needs to be a shift in focus to re-position the importance of upper link hunchino to PMMS. In Qui2016 vie Iluarched he #ThinkHand campaign to raise awareness and also initiate discussions amongst PMMS, cliniciane, charties, pharmacetical ompenies, regulators and the general public to realist the importance and work to twosd generating evidence to license DMTs for advanced MS. As part of this campaign, our team has conducted a number of PH activities at academic conferences, online and at patient events and the size of the included an online survey where 88% of PMMS (314 of 300 respondents), described their upper link function to be more important to them than their lover info hunchin (Dhussen et al., southinet to publication). This is supported by clinical studies, Beroint et al. (2015) provide evidence that 75% of PMMS have bilateral impaired manual desterity even in the early stages of the cleases. Arm and hand function, are very important to every more so for people who have already lost lower limb functions to thurk i toos the size already and the teached to be an earleady lost lower limb functions and unither limb and on the advect stages of the cleases. Arm and hand function, are very important to the transmitter of adving the earleady lost lower limb functions that there loss of functioning contributes to low mood, reduced independence and quality of Ile. Therefore, it is imperative that treatments are aimed at preserving upper limb hunching.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Photocol

the patients themselves. Jenkins and Morley (2016) describe how the potential for PROMS to be useful for individual patients all remains unresolved. Further, Lames and Feys (2014) state that a key characteristic of PROMS that has been overlooked in MS is how hey can be used to indicate the evolution of rehabilitation content and strategies. This highlights the need to develop PROMS that include activities that are meaningful to individual patients and can enable them to develop attratesies and continues to oth these activities to the second to the second terms.

#### 1.5 PATIENT INVOLVEMENT IN PROM DEVELOPMENT

It is increasingly recognised that PROM development needs to involve patients at more stages. For example, the increasing importance of PPI highlights the key role of patient involvement in the hathcare policy (starw, 2010), service improvement (Husen of Commons Head Committee, 2007) the democratisation of research (Pala-Borda and Rahman, 1981) and is increasingly recognised as crucial to the development of PROMS (Wicks, 2015). The process of PROM development and the role of both the patient and their experimental knowledge has already been explored in mental health (Rose et al., 2011). Trulyide et al., 2013) and then have been a number patient-generated or patient-8d outcome measures developed in the faid of Pherumatoid arthritis but not in MS. Classified as "patient-generated" they are developed from the perspective of users, with the involvement of pace[is who have experienced the cortex of users from those et al., 2011). This is done through participatory approaches where these poles are involved at all stages of development from item selection, to scale development and testing. This suggests that effort should be put into developing PROMS that are entrely patient generated to the development process in a participatory approaches and walks the experiential knowledge and prepreservices of patients, not just that of the researcher and clinicians (Berestord, 2005). Trulpist et al., 2013). Including the popel who will be using the end maasure in the PROM development process in a participatory way will produce a measure that reflects the needs and experiences of patients and incre likely to improve clinical practice (Users et al., 2011) and produce outcources in a participatory way will produce a measure that reflects the needs and experiences of patients and incre likely to improve clinical practice (Users et al., 2010) and produce outcources in a participatory way will produce a measure that reflects the needs and experiences of patients and increa. Unterther, including these people in th

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

...

12

#### 2 STUDY OBJECTIVES

#### 2.1 PRIMARY OBJECTIVE

 To develop a PROM to evaluate upper limb function in people with MS 2.2 SECONDARY OBJECTIVE

#### · To explore how patients experiential knowledge can contribute to the development of a

PROM.

#### 2.3 PRIMARY ENDPOINT:

· Produce a draft upper limb outcome measure

#### 2.4 SECONDARY ENDPOINT:

· Develop a list of daily upper limb activities that are affected by people with MS

#### 3 METHODOLOGY

This is a mixed method study consisting of three qualitative focus groups and an online survey. Within the study, there is a nested analysis of the impact of experiential knowledge on the development of a PROM.

#### 3.1 FOCUS GROUPS

3.1 FOCUS GROUPS
This study uses a focus group method to involve patient participants in the PROM development process, similar to the FDA process of item generation, item reduction, measure development and design. The focus group sessions will enable interactions between participants to help with the generation of new desias and personal reductions between participants to help with MS. The three focus groups will take place over three months with an on-line survey posted after the first focus groups to identify topics for the subsequent focus groups. Participants will then discuss the results of the survey and develop categories for a new PROM to measure upper limb function for PeMS.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

#### al venue in the belief that this will encourage participants to speak more freely (Kjeken et al., 2010)

3.2 STUDY PARTICIPANT CRITERIA

#### 3.2.1 INCLUSION CRITERIA

- Participants will be invited to take part in the focus group sessions if they meet the inclusion criteria of:

- •
- Be able to give informed consent without assistance Male and female patients aged 18- and willing to patipate in the study. All partoparts with have been diagnosed with multiple sciencial according to the revised "MacDonal" of them a FDS of a 5- to 6 in clusive as measured through the WebCDSS Partoparts with the was an EDS of 15- to 6 in clusive as measured through the WebCDSS Be able to attend the three boxa group sessions in East London and must have the ability t understand and communicate in English.
- be able to attend the three toous group essions in East London and must have the ability to understand and communicate in English.
   Have a documented assessment attempt for the cardboard 9-Hole Peg test (GHPT) prior to focus group

#### 3.2.2 EXCLUSION CRITERIA

- Participants will be ineligible to participate if any inclusion criteria are not met.
- Due to the nature of study we will be unable to recruit non English speaking participant This is due to not having the resources to translate patient information or consent into different languages.

#### 3.2.3 SAMPLE SIZE

There will be three focus group sessions and each will comprise of, between eight and ten participants (Krueger and Casey, 2009). Each participant will attend all three focus group. This number was decided upon recommendation from the literature (Kitzinger, 1994, 1995), previous research experience with focus groups (Thomson et al., 2015), and the Barts NS Advisory Group, involving ten. As this is a qualitative study, the number of participants is small due to the role of their involvement in producing data

#### 3 2 4 SAMPLING TECHNIQUE

PwMS will be purpositively sampled to ensure that a range of experiences of upper limb function, as described by their EDSS score, are captured and to ensure they are representative of the wider population of people living with MS. For example, people living with MS and have an

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

17

15

## The focus groups will be led by a professional facilitator (PF) who is also a PwMS supported by the PI. Working together, the PI and PF have extensive experience developing and leading patient sessions. There will also be a qualitative researcher (DR) in each focus group, who is a leader in the field or platent experience and participatory analysis. All researchers will have up to date research governance training.

#### STUDY SCHEME DIAGRAM



Diagram 1: Demonstrating an overview of the study and how the focus groups and online survey

#### 3.1.1 STUDY - RLH AND QUEEN ELIZABETH OLYMPIC PARK, EAST LONDON

The recruitment for the focus groups will be held in the outpatient department of the Royal London Hospital when patients are attending their routine appointments with their MS consu and MS Nurse.

The focus groups will be held in a community cafe meeting room in the Queen Elizabeth The focus groups will be held in a community cafe meeting room in the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park, East London, tasting an average of three hours, led by the PF in conjunction with the PL. They will be held between two and three weeks apart to ensure some memory of the previous discussion and to allow the study to keep up some momentum. This space has been chosen by the Bans MS Patient Advisory group as it is not only has the capacity to hold a meeting with a number of wheekhani users with a taxi dro of fispace at the entrance but it will provide a safe and respectful environment which is important for focus groups to be held in a

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

EDSS score of 4.0 will have very different upper limb experiences to those with an EDSS scor of 8.0. The MS Consultant and MS Nurse will be aware of this sampling method and so will be selective in considering potential participants to speak to the researcher when recruiting in nces to those with an EDSS score outpatients.

#### 3.3 STUDY RECRUITMENT

3.3 STUDY RECRUITMENT The NS consultant and MS Nurse will identify potential patients of theirs who would be suitable to take part in the toos groups within their outpatient clinic over a duration of one month. If a patient meets the inclusion criteria and is happy to speak to the researcher, only then they will be approached. This will happen after their appointment while they are still in the outpatient department. The researcher will not approach patients without direction from the MS consultant or MS Nurse notifying them. This way we avoid approaching patients who would like to take part but are ineligible. Recruitment will approximately take one month and it is anticipated that there months later. The toos groups will be completed with the study completed a further four months later.

#### 3.4 INFORMED CONSENT

Patients will be given a verbal and written description of the study by the PI who has received GCP training and will answer any immediate questions or queries individuals may have.

The study patient information describes the purpose of the focus groups and describe that they The study patient information describes the purpose of the focus groups and describe that they will be asked to participate in discussions an well as contributing there experiences of kinny with MS. This information will also include details of how confidentially will be maintained throughout the research process, how data will be recorded and their right to withdraw from the study or withdraw their consent at any point without having to supply a reason. Practical information such as details about the location of the faultiles, care parking and transport arrangements will also be included. Suby participants will be their have travel expresses reinbrude or will have travel arranged for them by the PI. The patient information has been designed and reviewed in a review of their or how the travel to their their to the review of how one have beind one deviewed the and their their their travel to their their to the review of how one have the intervel of them one have the have their their travel expression. The constraints that the review of the original travel to their heat travel expression. The constraints that the review of their original travel to their their travel expression. The faulties of their their travel expression that the travel arrangement is will have the travel arranged for them by the PI. The patient information has been designed and reviewed in a travel of the original travel and their travel that the travel arrangement is will be the travel as the travel arrangement to the travel at the travel arrangement to the travel at the trave previous PPI activity in June 2017 with the Barts MS Patient Advisory Group who stipulated that information about the study was to be presented in an engaing and easy to read format that communicates the patient-centred approach to the study.

Once the PI has spoken to patients, provided them with the printed study patient informa confirmed they would like to be involved, she will make a note of the patient's contract de (name, email, kelphone number, address), the dath the patient information is given to it patient and a convenient time to contact them within 24-48 hours to enable them to remne the statement of tion is given to the

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

16
#### the conversation, or at another convenient time agreed with them. Each participant will be telephoned or emailed as they prefer, to arrange dates, times and potentially transport for the three focus group sessions. Once webait consent has been gained, writhen informed consent will be gained from each participant on attendance to the first focus group. To reduce patient burden and upper limb failue, writhe onceant will be gained once per participant. Each participant will be asked to initial and sign the consent form if they agree to their

The observation of the study and sound received and source sets of the sets of the set of the study and sound received and source sets of the sets of the set of the

#### 3.4.1 WITHDRAWAL OF PARTICIPANTS

Participants may end their involvement at any time. We will advise them that we plan to keep all data collected from them before they end their involvement, unless they specify otherwise. However, if they require it, we will destroy <u>all</u> their data, which will be done securely. If data have been used in disseminations before withdrawal, we will advise participants that this information cannot be withdrawn.

Participants must tell us by the end of the study if they wish to avoid their data being included in reports, presentations and research materials. After this time, we can still remove data from our archives. If a participant withdraws from the study, they will not be replaced.

#### 3.5 DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES

3.3 bit A COLLECTION "ROCEUPINE If pandipanta agrees to take pair in the research, they will be asked to complete a WebEDSS and coHPT at home before the first focus group. When hey arrive at the first focus group. They will be asked to share with the researcher, their WebEDSS and cHPT score. This data will be used for descriptive purposes to describe the level of Impairment that the focus group participants experience, which may contribute to the decisions that they make when developing the outcome measure.

Each of the focus groups will be sound recorded to capture the discussions around how patients contribute to the development of a PROM.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

19

21

#### group process and to each other. The objective of the focus group is to engage the participants to develop questions for an online survey, to gather adviviles of upper limb function from another group of PMMS. The focus group will be approx. 3 hours hong. The FF will lead the group through the three focus group sessions following the focus group topic guide (Appendix A). This topic guide was developed through meetings with the research team and Barts MS Advisory Group. Each of the focus groups will be sound recorded.

#### 3.7.2 ONLINE SURVEY

By the end of the first focus group, the group will have developed questions that could be used to develop an online survey. This will be used to gather information on the different upper limb bartiles that are affected by king with WS with an EDSS of between 3.5 and 4.0. The survey will be created by the P in survey morkey and posted on the Barts MS Research blog. Social model (specifically blog) have been used to collect evidence of content validity and concept identification in new PROM development in the area of ALS (McCarrier et al., 2014; Rohman et al., 2015). The benefit of using social media, over function-to-lake interaction is that the locd can be used to access as where range of patients for the PROM development stage that would have not originally been accessed as it reaches people who can not travel, and is alio a cost effective way of including more patients.

The survey aims to gather a minimum of 50 responses but we anticipate the survey gathering around 200 responses through the Barts MS Research Blog. The survey will be closed after two weeks giving time for the data to be provided in the second focus group. The response data will be anonymised of any identifiable information. If less than 50 responses are gathered, the survey will be left open for three weeks, but the second focus group will not be moved.

The respondents for the survey are not patients and so the survey is seeking local University ethical approval.

#### 3.7.3 FOCUS GROUP 2

The aim of the second focus group is to review and discuss the results from the online survey Working in groups of 5, each group has to work round tables reviewing the responses to direntifying similarities, repetition and reviewno. They will the individual the environmental factors which contribute to the different ways to complete each activity.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

#### 3.6 SCHEDULE OF ASSESSMENT

Task/ Weeks	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	۰	9	1 0	1	1 2	3	1	1 5	1 6	1 7	1 8	1 9	20
Focus group:		-		-																
Recruitment in Outpatients				1																Γ
Arrange participant travel				1																
Written Informed Consent																				
Complete WedEDSS									1											
Complete c9HPT									1											
Focus group 1																				
Focus group 2																				
Focus group 3																				
If opt-in, review draft publications, measures and protocol publication																				
Online survey:							•			•					•	•				
Seek final QMUL ethical approval																				
Post survey online																				
Survey open																				
If opt-in, receive protocol publication																				

Chart 1: Chart showing time lines of MOT study involving both the three focus groups and online survey ethical application

#### 3.7 STUDY PROCEDURES

#### 3.7.1 FOCUS GROUP 1

The aim of the first focus group is to start the research process to identify upper limb activities important to people with MS. The PF will introduce the participants to the study topic, the focus

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

#### 3.7.4 FOCUS GROUP 3

The aim of the third focus group is to develop the format for the new PROM. The participants wi discuss practical aspects such as the name of the tool, the format of administration (digital, paper or group based), how it should be distributed and discussing the need for instructions.

#### 3.8 DATA ANALYSIS

3.5 Unit A RNL TSIS Descriptive statistics will be used to analyse quantitative information to describe the sample explaining the range of EDSS and 9HPT scores of participants involved in both the focus groups and the online survey.

Qualitative data analysis will be used to determine how participants contributed to the PROM development and interacted as a group in this process. The process of Immersion/Crystallization described by Miller and Crabtere in 1982 will be used to analyse the data aptiment from the focus group peacings. This method has been successful used before

by the researcher (Thomson et al., 2015b) and in similar research around analysing experiential knowledge (Dewar and Kenneyk, 2016) and will enable the researcher to consider the unique role that patients experiential incovelegate jupix in PROM development. The Immersion/Crystallization method is unlike more formal schematic methods of data analysis and allows the researchers to become more organged with the data to go beyond' tobvious interpretations to hear, see and feel the data.' (Borkan, 1999).

Data analysis will occur before (recording the initial engagement with the topic and any prior biases), during and after the data is collected to ensure it is high-quality (Miles and Huberman, 1994). This will allow the researcher to consider the influence of their own background on the final results and interpretation.

The research team will then meet and establish key themes as a framework for initial analysis from the learns previous knowledge and experience of PPOM development additions and professional experience. Involving the research team in the analysis process can ensure ptablis such as drawing premature conclusions or inability to reach closure, are avoided.

Discussion of the three focus groups will be transcribed verbatim by the researcher and subsequently coded along with the researcher's handwritten field notes recording group interactions and taking into consideration any 'crystallizations', insights or reflections noted during data collection in the field notes. This keys as as exotrasy aim of the study, is to analyse the interactions amongst the participants within the focus group sessions.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

The PI will immerse themselves in the data to create sub-themes can then be associated themes. The PI will then aim to validate the established sub-themes by rereading the tex searching for alternative hypothesis and interpretations. The analysis will be presented to The PI will imme the research team.

After the three stages of focus groups have finished, the PI will feedback the conclusions reported to the participants. This will give the participants an opportunity to express any further reflections or points for discussion. After the sesarcher has completed the analysis, a final account of the data will be created for the semination.

#### 3.9 END OF STUDY DEFINITION

The study will end four months after the third focus group has been completed. Within this time, the data will have been analysed, written up in a publication format and disseminated to both staff and patient groups. The study will last eight months in total.

#### 3.10 POST STUDY ACTIVITIES

Choce the study has finished, the newly developed PROM will be reviewed by the Barts MS Advioory Group to ensure it is easy to use (patients can complete it without assistance), brief (not too long in length), straightforward to answer (meaning of the rating system clear), to approve the content (familiar and easy to understand tasks) and ensure the scales are relevant. It will then be shared online for people to try. This activity is beyond the scope of this research study, but will continue.

#### 4 STUDY TEAM AND BOLES

Role title	Role and activity in this research study
Principal Investigator and main researcher (PI): Alison Thomson	PPI lead for QMUL and organiser of Barts MS Advisory Group. Will administer and manage the study (protocol writing, research activity administration, travel organisation, payments, analysis, dissemination).
Patient Facilitator (PF): Harriet Smith	PwMS for 10 years; professional experience facilitating educational and service development projects within QMUL; contributed to developing focus group topic guide
Barts MS	Ten PwMS; contribute to departmental research projects over the

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

PI and PF are aware of Queen Mary Universities Ione working policy which can be access here: <u>http://hsd.gmul.ac.uk/A-ZLone%20Working/index.html</u>. The PI will also keep a reflect diary throughout the research process to record her feelings throughout the process.

using introduction the research process is record in memory ten requiring participations. The The P will act in a respectivil and processional manner when recruiting participates. It is important to spend time at the reculument stage and at the start of each focus group ensuring the participants understand their role within the focus group and what is expected of them. The P will stifve to provide a supportive, safe environment to ensure individuals can takk heely and informally, allowing them to share on their own experiences which the researchers will have utmost respect for. The groups will have the opportunity to introduce themselves at the start of Utilities (register to the groups will never use opportunities) to insuce or emissions a new set of the sessions to help them feel at assess to the next of maintain phraves, a "Focus group hergores – Do not disturb," sign will be not the door. The focus group sessions will be held in a comfortable location, with soft turnifings, whetherefails access and accessible located to litilies nearby and there will be a break in each session where refreshments will be privided.

Within the focus groups, discussion will be facilitated in a purposeful and open way, making si wimin the locus groups, association win be isocialized in a purposed and open way, making as everyone has the opportunity to take part. The well-being of the participants in the group will take precedence over the session itself. Participants taking about their experiences of living with MS may arouse feelings that need to be acknowledged and responded to sensitively. There is the potential that patients will share experiences of increasing disability and describe There is the potential that patients will share experiences of increasing disability and describe advilles that they no long-roan take part in or complete due to their disability and the MS. If any participant looks uncomfortable, the PF will call a short break and the session can be resumed if the participant(a) are happy to continue. If not, Il may be necessary to end the session. The researchers can provide appropriate contract names and telephone numbers so that the patient participants can seek further support if they wish.

#### 5.2 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS OF SURVEY

In the event that a participant from the online survey shares information through the service or directly with the PI that conveys information about the immediate safety or wellbeing of that participant, the PI will discuss this with the Research Team. If appropriate, the PI may respond with appropriate hormation. It this studion, the PI will act in compliance with GOMZ social conversions. media conduct guidelines (General Medical Council, 2013). The PI has extensive experience interacting with patients online via the Barts MS blog, has developed and delivered social media training for clinicians and has published articles on this topic (Thomson et al. 2017). This 

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

# Advisory Group past five years; contributed to developing the study design, focus group topic guide and visited the venue to evaluate it's Expert in patient experience, qualitative research and patient analysis who will be present in each focus group to both observe Qualitative Researcher (QR): Carol Rivas Team consisting of the Professor of Neurology (Gavin Giovannoni), Occupational Therapist (Karen Hoffman) (with

	experience of PROM development), QR (Carol Rivas) and PI (Alison Thomson).
Focus group of	PwMS adhering to study inclusion and exclusion criteria, recruited
participants	for this study to attend three focus groups in London.
Survey	PwMS; readers of the Barts MS Research Blog and involved in
participants	the survey over the blog.
Table 1: Description of role	es and research activity

#### 5 ETHICS

The PI will ensure that the study will be carried out in accordance with the ethical principles in the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care (Department of Health, 2005) and its subsequent amendments as applicable legal and regulatory req

#### 5.1 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS OF THE FOCUS GROUPS:

5.1 ETHCAL CONSIDERATIONS OF THE FOCUS GROUPS: The PI and the QR have extensive experience conducting qualitative research projects involving patients and so are experienced all engaging and supporting patients through these projects. The PF also have experience facilitative gatient cours groups with the PI who will be on hand at all times to provide reassurance, if necessary. The focus group topics have been developed with the Barts MS Advisory Group to ensure that they are appropriate for this group of participants.

Although the PF is a professional she is being involved in the study for both her professional facilitation skills and also her experience of living with MS. Therefore, there is a responsibly of the study team to ensure that she is fully supported and comfortable with her role. Care will be use away even to etherwise it as it is a way supported and common with the test of the common given to not overwhere the PP and participants by expected them to read large arounds of technical tax, meet for extended periods of time or engage in energy draining tasks. Time schedules can be adjusted if needed. The PF will be vertically brieferd about how to deal with any distressed participants and will carry details and contact numbers for suitable support. Both the

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

23

25

#### 6 PATIENT PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT

The involvement of PAMS in the design of this research study and development of this protocol has been key to ensure that the research process and activities are appropriate for PAMS to be included in as participants in locus groups with other PAMS. For example, considering factors acts as the impact of tables to FPAMS which has been carefully considered. Further, there is the possibility that the participants will share experiences of increasing disability and describe activities that they no longer can take part in or complete due to their disability and their MS. The study protocol has considered how to deal with this.

Following INVOLVE principles, services user have been involved in all stages of the research so Towning introduct punctees, services use mark element induces in an auge of unit element of this including development of this protocol, cleveving the patient information, consent from and focus group topic guide. Further, this study has been designed based on learnings from the previous six years of delivering an active PPI programm of events whiln Barts MS at CMUL. The PI has extensive experience developing and delivering PPI Initiatives.

The Barts MS Advisory Group (led by the P1 and consisting of 10 PwMS who advise on all clinical and research projects from Barts MS) was involved in the study design and planning. They were instrumental in the development of the study protocal, activities, naming and study documentation. They were consulted at the inception of the study (de.g. throughout protocol development, have commented on and proof read the patient information and consent form, and will be again consulted at the end of the study with the study findings.

The focus group topic guide was developed by the PF and PI from the literature (Hobart, 2001; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and Food and Drug Administration. 2009) and in consultation with the Barts MS Advisory Group and research team

#### 7 DATA HANDI ING AND RECORD KEEPING

All research and personal data will be stored and managed in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 and the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care - uncopants details (Names, addresses, email addresses and phone numbers) will not be shared. When they sign the consent form they will be given a "Participant Kentification Nur which will be a randomly generated number, generated from a simple Excel random function This randomised number will ensure anonymity of the patients throughout the research and analysis process.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

We will give the participants the option to have their names or pseudonym included in the study

. The sound recorded data will remain on the recording device until back at the Bitzard Institute building where it will be transferred to the storage device where it will be stored in a password protected folder on an encrypted hard drive. The sound recorders memory will be wiped. The original sound recordings will then be stored by the PI, Alison Thomson, on a CMUL encrypted hand drive and atored in a locked calainer in the Bitzard Institute, a CMUL building. Only the PI will listen to the sound recordings. All documents related to the study will be archived at CMUL, including the listing of the identifies of the participants involved in the study. which will be kept separate from other documents. All documents relating to the study will be retained for at least 20 years after the end of the study before being destroyed in line with the

then existing secure QMUL practice. Patient identifying data will be securely destroyed ling to current QMUL practice at the end of the study

#### 8 DEVICES AND TOOLS

#### 8 1 DEVICE: COHPT

The cardboard 9HPT medical device will be used within this study to create a description of the participants MS that have taken part. The device is called the "Cardboard 9 Hole Peg Test" participants MS that have taken part. The device is called the "Cardboard 9 Hole Pag Test" manufacture dy Pairs-MS" and holds a CE mark, Participants for the focus group will be asked to complete the test at home before attending the first focus group. For participants of the online survey, they will be asked to supply their potalia address and will be sent a CHPT and asked to updat their results in the survey. The pattent information will describe where they can view online instructions for how to self administer the test.

The c9HPT was developed by the Barts MS Research team and has been val existing plastic version (Dubbisson et al., submitted). Its inclusion in this study is innovative as it will enable the research team to gather descriptive information from a large number of participants. They are made from cardboard and therefore are cost effective for the study to upply. Participants are welcome to keep the device after the study has completed. It can be viewed here: http://www.clinicspeak.com/9-hole-peg-test/

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

27

29

The funding will cover the focus group venue hire, refreshments, resources and participants transport for the three focus group sessions. It will also cover the cost of a cHPFT for each focus group participants and survey responder (including postage and packaging). Following the NVOLVE guidelines, members of the PPI Barts MS Advisory Group are paid for their time and so is the patient facilitator

#### 11 INDEMNITY

Queen Mary University of London is the sponsor and has arranged suitable indem concerning negligent harm to be in place for this study.

#### 12 DISSEMINATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS

The results of the study will be reported first and foremost to the study participants along with a letter of thanks. They will be sent a one-page hand-outs summarizing the key findings from each focus group session and copies of any publications.

#### 12.1 STUDY REPORT

The data will be analysed and produced in a Final Study report that can be accessed directly from the PI and will be sent around the study mailing list.

#### 12.2 MAILING LIST

The research participants will have the option to be added to the study mailing list where they Will be updated on the progress of the draft measure, development of the papers, and any poster or contennes presentations. Droce in use, biannual updates on use – how many people using, edits, etc. This newsleter will be co-authored by the PI and the PF. The aim of this method of dissemination is to continue the sense of involvement in the development of the lool.

#### 12.3 ACADEMIC PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATION

If participants would like, they can opt in if they would like their name included, their initials or a In participants would nee, they can dop in it may would nee their name includes, their initiates of a peeddown in the cademic publications. The participants will have an opportunity for service the publication before it is sub-timeted to the journal. This will be posted to them on paper and via email. Unless the participants opt to have their name on the paper, their name will not be publicatly available.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

#### 8.2 TOOL: WEBEDSS

The WebEDSS is an online questionnaire that both focus groups participants and survey participants will be asked to complete at home. It can be accessed from here https://edss.clinicspeak.com/#/welcome

#### 9 SAFETY REPORTING

There will be two researchers (PI and QR) and one PF in the focus group sessions that will take these the location of the safety of the participants while taking part in the locus groups. This team will be aware of the building's safety procedures and emergency telephone number for the location. If any medical emergencies occur during a focus group session, a member of the team will contact 599 emergency services.

It is also likely that many of the focus group participants will be wheelchair users. The focus group venue has been informed of this and has both the bathroom and emergency facilities to host this number of wheelchair users as well as appropriate evacuation procedures in the event of an emergency.

If any safety measures occur then the PI will inform the sponsor and Research Ethics Committee via email of any events immediately.

#### MONITORING AND AUDITING

The Principal Indexity will relate the right to audit any study, study site or central facility. In addition, any part of the study may be inspected by the regulatory bodies and funders where applicable. Quality control checks of procedures and documents will be undertaken should a need to identified. The source decagest the responsibility to the Principal Investigation. An internal audit may be conducted by the sponsor representative. For monitoring and audit purposes, the Sponsor and individuals from regulatory authorities may need to view data generated by the study

#### 10 FINANCE AND FUNDING

This study has been funded by the Horne Family Foundation. The research team applied to the foundation for funding in December 2016 for this specific study and other #ThinkHand initia

28

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol

#### 12.4 PROTOCOL PAPER

The research team aim to publish this protocol, along with another research article describing the draft measure in one of the MS Journals. We believe that these journals have never published any research in this format before, but due to the topic of PROM development in MS, it will be of great interest. In this article, the funder, Horne Family Foundation will be It will be of great interest. In this actioe, the funder, home Family Foundation will be acknowledged. They do not have any review or publication rights to the paper. The results will advance knowledge, improve the concrete situation and improve PROM design methodology. The researcher will upblish acticles in technical journals to reach colleagues: applied articles in periodicals read by protestional journals designed to improve the practice of PPI research. The researcher will action the European Committee for Teatment and Research in Multiple Sciences in Segtember 2018 and RIMS conference in 2018 to present the data to contribute to the sensories will be the second. the respective fields.

#### 17 REFERENCES

IV REFLEXENCES Barrett, L.; Cano, S., Zajicek, J., Hobart, J., 2013. Can the ABILHAND handle manual ability in M57 Multi. Scler. J. 19, 806–815. Berefort, P., Zolard, D., Developing the three necessarial publicating Soc. 14, 4-9. Berlohn, R.; Lamer, J.; Lome, D.C.; Peys, P., Zadanok, D., Stol, Indialezai and Indialezai dentini, R.; Lamer, J., Lome, P.C., Peys, P., Zadanok, D., Stol, Indialezai and Hubierai Memory and Soc. 14, 4-9. Borkan, J. 1998. Unresidoversitationa, Thousand Oaks, Calif, pp. 179–194. Compatibility, P. 2005. McAylers and Hubierai development (Engel Andre Soc. 14, 4-9. Development, P. Hubiera, D. 2005. McAylers and Hubierai development Esserier, Philadophia. Multiple sclenosis, Multiple sclenosis, Im PL ancet 372, 1902–1917. Commell, A., Jewis, R., 1995. What is participatory research? Soc. Sci. Med. 1982 41, 1994. Trans. J., 2005. Research governance framework for health and social care:

- 1667-1676. Department of Health. 2005. Research operanders American Schwartz, 1682 41, Department of Health. 2005. Research adjent and a separate and the second action. England. Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second action action Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second action Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the Department of Health. 2001. The second schwartz and the second schwartz and the department of Health and the schwartz and the second schwartz and the department of Health and the schwartz and the schwartz and the schwartz and the department of Health and the schwartz and the schwartz
- or nearmelated quality of life (hrq) measures in the evaluation of medicinal products. London. Fals-Borda, O., Rahman, M.A. (Eds.), 1991. Action and Knowledge: Breaking the monopoly with Participatory Action-Research. Practical Action Publishing, Rugby, Warwickshire, United Kingdom.

Version 0.5 12th September 2017 MOT Protocol



# Appendix D: NRES MOT study approval

		<b>NHS</b> Health Research Authority			
Miss Alison Thomson Lecturer in Public Engager Involvement Queen Mary, University of L Centre for Neuroscience & 4 Newark Street, Blizard Ins London E1 2AT	ent and Patient Public ondon Trauma Blizard stitute, QMUL	Email: hra.approval@nhs.net			
)7 November 2017					
Dear Miss Thomson					
	Letter of <u>HRA App</u>	roval			
Study title:	title: Measurement on Our Terms: exploring the role of patients when developing an upper limb Patient Reported Outcome Measurement for Multiple Sclerosis				
IRAS project ID:	228062				
Protocol number: 0.5					
RFC reference:	17/I O/1684				
Sponsor	Queen Mary, University	of London			
I am pleased to confirm that basis described in the appli- noted in this letter.	t <b>HRA Approval</b> has been cation form, protocol, suppo	given for the above referenced study, on the orting documentation and any clarifications			
Participation of NHS Organisations in England					

The sponsor should now provide a copy of this letter to all participating NHS organisations in England.

*Appendix B* provides important information for sponsors and participating NHS organisations in England for arranging and confirming capacity and capability. **Please read** *Appendix B* **carefully**, in particular the following sections:

- Participating NHS organisations in England this clarifies the types of participating
  organisations in the study and whether or not all organisations will be undertaking the same
  activities
- Confirmation of capacity and capability this confirms whether or not each type of participating
  NHS organisation in England is expected to give formal confirmation of capacity and capability.
  Where formal confirmation is not expected, the section also provides details on the time limit
  given to participating organisations to opt out of the study, or request additional time, before
  their participation is assumed.
- Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment *criteria*) this provides detail on the form of agreement to be used in the study to confirm capacity and capability, where applicable.

Page 1 of 8

	IRAS project ID	228062	
--	-----------------	--------	--

Further information on funding, HR processes, and compliance with HRA criteria and standards is also provided.

It is critical that you involve both the research management function (e.g. R&D office) supporting each organisation and the local research team (where there is one) in setting up your study. Contact details and further information about working with the research management function for each organisation can be accessed from www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-approval.

# Appendices

The HRA Approval letter contains the following appendices:

- A List of documents reviewed during HRA assessment
- B Summary of HRA assessment

# After HRA Approval

The document *"After Ethical Review – guidance for sponsors and investigators"*, issued with your REC favourable opinion, gives detailed guidance on reporting expectations for studies, including:

- Registration of research
- Notifying amendments
- Notifying the end of the study

The HRA website also provides guidance on these topics, and is updated in the light of changes in reporting expectations or procedures.

In addition to the guidance in the above, please note the following:

- HRA Approval applies for the duration of your REC favourable opinion, unless otherwise notified in writing by the HRA.
- Substantial amendments should be submitted directly to the Research Ethics Committee, as
  detailed in the After Ethical Review document. Non-substantial amendments should be
  submitted for review by the HRA using the form provided on the <u>HRA website</u>, and emailed to
  <u>hra.amendments@nhs.net</u>.
- The HRA will categorise amendments (substantial and non-substantial) and issue confirmation of continued HRA Approval. Further details can be found on the <u>HRA website</u>.

# Scope

HRA Approval provides an approval for research involving patients or staff in NHS organisations in England.

If your study involves NHS organisations in other countries in the UK, please contact the relevant national coordinating functions for support and advice. Further information can be found at <a href="http://www.hra.nhs.uk/resources/applying-for-reviews/nhs-hsc-rd-review/">http://www.hra.nhs.uk/resources/applying-for-reviews/nhs-hsc-rd-review/</a>.

If there are participating non-NHS organisations, local agreement should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the local participating non-NHS organisation.

Page 2 of 8

		IRAS project ID	228062
User Feedb	back		
The Health and sponso procedure. website: <u>htt</u>	Research Authority is continually striving to provide a hig rs. You are invited to give your view of the service you h If you wish to make your views known please use the fee p://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/quality-as	gh quality service ave received and edback form avail <u>surance/</u> .	to all applicants the application able on the HRA
HRA Traini We are plea details at <u>ht</u>	ng ased to welcome researchers and research management tp://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/	t staff at our traini	ng days – see
Your IRAS	project ID is <b>228062</b> . Please quote this on all correspond	lence.	
Yours since	rely		
Maeve Ip G Assessor	root Bluemink		
Email: hra.a	approval@nhs.net		
Copy to:	Dr Sally Burtles, Queen Mary, University of London – Pushpen Joshi, Queen Mary, University of London – L	Sponsor Contact Lead R&D Contac	t
			Page 3 of 8

IRAS project ID 228062

# Appendix A - List of Documents

The final document set assessed and approved by HRA Approval is listed below.

Document	Version	Date
Covering letter on headed paper [Cover Letter]		13 September 2017
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only) [Insurance]		24 July 2017
Interview schedules or topic guides for participants [Topic Guide]	0.1	15 August 2017
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_Form_14092017]		14 September 2017
Letter from funder [Funding Letter from Horne Family Charitable Foundation]		22 December 2016
Letter from sponsor [Provisional Sponsorship letter from QMUL]		12 September 2017
Participant consent form [Patient Consent Form]	0.4	19 October 2017
Participant information sheet (PIS) [Patient information]	0.5	19 October 2017
Referee's report or other scientific critique report [Peer Review confirmation]		18 August 2017
Research protocol or project proposal [MOT Research Protocol]	0.5	12 September 2017
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [CI Alison Thomson CV]		15 August 2017
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [Supervisor 1 CV]		25 July 2017
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [Supervisor 2 CV]		01 June 2017

Page 4 of 8

### Appendix B - Summary of HRA Assessment

This appendix provides assurance to you, the sponsor and the NHS in England that the study, as reviewed for HRA Approval, is compliant with relevant standards. It also provides information and clarification, where appropriate, to participating NHS organisations in England to assist in assessing and arranging capacity and capability.

For information on how the sponsor should be working with participating NHS organisations in England, please refer to the, *participating NHS organisations*, *capacity and capability* and *Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment criteria)* sections in this appendix.

The following person is the sponsor contact for the purpose of addressing participating organisation questions relating to the study:

Name: Dr Sally Burtles Tel: 020 7882 7265 Email: <u>sponsorsrep@bartshealth.nhs.uk</u>

### HRA assessment criteria

Section	HRA Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards?	Comments
1.1	IRAS application completed correctly	Yes	The applicant confirmed that NHS activity is limited to patient identification and initial approach.
2.1	Participant information/consent documents and consent process	Yes	No comments
3.1	Protocol assessment	Yes	No comments
4.1	Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented	Yes	This is a non-commercial single site study taking place in the NHS where that single NHS organisation's partner University is the study sponsor. Therefore no study agreements are expected.
4.2	Insurance/indemnity arrangements assessed	Yes	Sponsor's insurance policy will cover the design, management and conduct of the study.
L			Page <b>5</b> of <b>8</b>

Section         HRA Assessment Criteria         Compliant with Standards?         Comments           Where applicable, independent contractors (e.g. General Practitioners) should ensure that the professional indemnity provided by their medical defence organisation covers the activities expected of them for this research study           4.3         Financial arrangements assessed         Yes         External funding has been secured from the Horne Family Foundation.           5.1         Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed         Yes         Clarification has been requested around access to medical records.           5.2         CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed         Not Applicable         No comments           5.3         Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations         Yes         No comments           6.1         NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies         Yes         REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC           6.2         CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received         Not Applicable         No comments           6.3         Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received         Not Applicable         No comments           6.4         Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received         Not Applicable         No comments				IRAS project ID 228062
Where applicable, independent contractors (e.g. General Practitioners) should ensure that the professional indemnity provided by their medical defence organisation covers the activities expected of them for this research study         4.3       Financial arrangements assessed       Yes         5.1       Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed       Yes         5.2       CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed       Not Applicable         5.3       Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations       Yes         6.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes         6.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes         6.1       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments	Section	HRA Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards?	Comments
4.3       Financial arrangements assessed       Yes       External funding has been secured from the Horne Family Foundation.         5.1       Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed       Yes       Clarification has been requested around access to medical records.         5.2       CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed       Not Applicable       No comments         5.3       Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations       Yes       No comments         6.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes       REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC         6.2       CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.4       Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments				Where applicable, independent contractors (e.g. General Practitioners) should ensure that the professional indemnity provided by their medical defence organisation covers the activities expected of them for this research study
5.1       Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed       Yes       Clarification has been requested around access to medical records.         5.2       CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed       Not Applicable       No comments         5.3       Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations       Yes       No comments         6.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes       REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC         6.2       CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.4       Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments	4.3	Financial arrangements assessed	Yes	External funding has been secured from the Horne Family Foundation.
5.2       CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed       Not Applicable       No comments         5.3       Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations       Yes       No comments         5.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes       REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC         5.2       CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received       Not Applicable       No comments         5.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments	5.1	Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed	Yes	Clarification has been requested around access to medical records.
5.3       Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations       Yes       No comments         6.1       NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies       Yes       REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC         6.2       CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.4       Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments	5.2	CTIMPS – Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed	Not Applicable	No comments
6.1NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studiesYesREC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC6.2CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter receivedNot ApplicableNo comments6.3Devices – MHRA notice of no objection receivedNot Applicable Not ApplicableNo comments6.4Other regulatory approvals and authorisations receivedNot Applicable Not ApplicableNo comments	5.3	Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations	Yes	No comments
6.2       CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.4       Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments	6.1	NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies	Yes	REC Favourable Opinion was issued by the London – Stanmore REC
6.3       Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received       Not Applicable       No comments         6.4       Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received       Not Applicable       No comments	6.2	CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received	Not Applicable	No comments
6.4 Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received Not Applicable No comments	6.3	Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received	Not Applicable	No comments
	6.4	Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received	Not Applicable	No comments
				Page <b>6</b> of <b>8</b>

	IRAS project ID	228062
Participating NHS Organisations in England		
This provides detail on the types of participating NHS organisations in the activities at all organisations are the same or different.	n the study and a staten	ient as to whether
The applicant confirmed that only The Royal London Hospital ( for patient identification and initial approach but no consent or the NHS site.	(Barts Health NHS Tru research activities will	ist) will be used be conducted at
This is a non-commercial single site study taking place in the N organisation's partner University is the study sponsor. There is research.	NHS where that single s only one site type inv	NHS olved in the
The Chief Investigator or sponsor should share relevant study organisations in England in order to put arrangements in place should be sent to both the local study team, where applicable, management function at the participating organisation. For NIH LCRN contact should also be copied into this correspondence. participating NHS organisations please see the HRA website.	documents with partic to deliver the study. T and the office providir IR CRN Portfolio stud . For further guidance	ipating NHS The documents og the research ies, the Local on working with
If Chief Investigators, sponsors or Principal Investigators are a participating NHS organisations in England which are not provide the Chief Investigator, sponsor or Principal Investigator should <u>hra.approval@nhs.net</u> . The HRA will work with these organisate to information provision.	sked to complete site ided in IRAS or on the notify the HRA imme tions to achieve a con	level forms for HRA website, diately at sistent approach
Confirmation of Capacity and Capability		
This describes whether formal confirmation of capacity and capability organisations in England.	is expected from partic	ipating NHS
This is a non-commercial single site study taking place in the N organisation's partner University is the study sponsor. The part therefore <b>be expected to formally confirm their capacity an</b> <b>according to local requirements</b> .	NHS where that single ticipating NHS organis d capability to host t	NHS ation will t <b>his research</b>
<ul> <li>Following issue of this letter, participating NHS organisation</li> </ul>	ations in England may	now confirm to

• Following issue of this letter, participating NHS organisations in England may now confirm to the sponsor their capacity and capability to host this research, when ready to do so. How capacity and capacity will be confirmed is detailed in the *Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented (4.1 of HRA assessment criteria)* section of this appendix.

The <u>Assessing, Arranging, and Confirming</u> document on the HRA website provides further information for sponsors and NHS organisations on assessing, arranging and confirming capacity and capability.

Page 7 of 8

IRAS project ID	228062
-----------------	--------

# **Principal Investigator Suitability**

This confirms whether the sponsor's position on whether a PI, LC or neither should be in place is correct for each type of participating NHS organisation in England, and the minimum expectations for education, training and experience that PIs should meet (where applicable).

A Principal Investigator (PI) is expected for this type of study.

GCP training is <u>not</u> a generic training expectation, in line with the <u>HRA statement on training</u> <u>expectations</u>.

# **HR Good Practice Resource Pack Expectations**

This confirms the HR Good Practice Resource Pack expectations for the study and the pre-engagement checks that should and should not be undertaken.

The activities at the participating NHS organisation will be undertaken by local staff therefore it is expected that adequate contractual relationship with the host organisation are already in place.

Where contractual arrangements are not already in place, external staff (or similar) undertaking research activities would be expected to obtain Honorary Research Contracts on the basis of a Research Passport (if university employed) or a Letter of Access on the basis of an NHS to NHS confirmation of pre-engagement checks letter (if NHS employed).

# Other Information to Aid Study Set-up

This details any other information that may be helpful to sponsors and participating NHS organisations in England in study set-up.

- The applicant has indicated that they <u>do not intend</u> to apply for inclusion on the NIHR CRN Portfolio.
- Some participants may also be recruited outside the NHS and some activity may take place outside the NHS. HRA approval does not cover activity outside the NHS. Before recruiting or undertaking activity outside the NHS the research team must follow the procedures and governance arrangements of responsible organisations.

Page 8 of 8

# Appendix E: QMUL MOT study approval



# Appendix F: QMUL sponsorship



# **Appendix G: IRAS form**

RAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684		IRAS Version 5.5.2
Welcome to the Integrated Resea	rch Application System		
IRAS Project Filter			
The integrated dataset required for system will generate only those que bodies reviewing your study. Pleas Please complete the questions in o questions as your change may have a study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of the study of study of st	your project will be created from the answers you give to stions and sections which (a) apply to your study type a e ensure you answer all the questions before proceedin rder. If you change the response to a question, please a e affected subsequent questions.	o the follow ind (b) are i g with your select 'Save	ing questions. The required by the applications. It and review all the
Please enter a short title for this Measurement on Our Terms (MOT	project (maximum 70 characters)		
1. Is your project research?			
⊛Yes ⊜No			
2. Select one category from the lis	t below:		
Clinical trial of an investigation	nal medicinal product		
Clinical investigation or other s	study of a medical device		
Combined trial of an investiga	tional medicinal product and an investigational medical	device	
Other clinical trial to study a ne	ovel intervention or randomised clinical trial to compare i	ntervention	s in clinical practice
Basic science study involving	procedures with human participants		
<ul> <li>Study administering questionn methodology</li> </ul>	aires/interviews for quantitative analysis, or using mixed	l quantitativ	ve/qualitative
Study involving qualitative met	hods only		
<ul> <li>Study limited to working with I only)</li> </ul>	numan tissue samples (or other human biological samp	les) and da	ta (specific project
Study limited to working with d	ata (specific project only)		
Research tissue bank			
C Research database			
If your work does not fit any of th	ese categories, select the option below:		
Other study			
2a. Please answer the following q	uestion(s):		
a) Does the study involve the use	of any ionising radiation?	⊖Yes	No
b) Will you be taking new human	tissue samples (or other human biological samples)?	○ Yes	No
c) Will you be using existing hum	an tissue samples (or other human biological samples)	7 OYes	No
-, ,,,			Ŭ.
3. In which countries of the UK wi	II the research sites be located?(Tick all that apply)		
England Scotland			
ate: 14/09/2017	1	225	3062/1128129/37/08
	•	220	

IRAS Form	1	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2
Wales	ern Ireland		
3a. In which	h country of the UK will	the lead NHS R&D office be located:	
@ Engls	ind		
Scott	ho		
Wale			
North	ern ireland		
This:	tudy does not involve the	NHS	
~ · ·			
4. Which a	pplications do you requi	re?	
IMPORTA from Nort Research	NT: If your project is takin hern Ireland, Scotland or Ethics Committee applic	ig place in the NHS and is led from England select Wales select 'NHS/HSC Research and Developme stions, as appropriate.	"IRAS Form". If your project is led ent Offices" and/or relevant
<b></b> IRAS	Form		
Confid	entiality Advisory Group (	CAG)	
Nation	al Offender Management	Service (NOMS) (Prisons & Probation)	
For NHS, Informat collabora	HSC R&D Offices in Nori ion forms, for each site, itors.	hern Ireland, Scotland and Wales the CI must c in addition to the study wide forms, and transf	reate NHS/HSC Site Specific fer them to the PIs or local
For parti informat	cipating NHS organisatio ion. Refer to IRAS Help	ns in England different arrangements apply for for more information.	the provision of site specific
Most rese your stud	arch projects require re y exempt from REC revie No	view by a REC within the UK Health Department: w?	s' Research Ethics Service. Is
5 Will any	recearch eitee in this et	why he NHS organizations?	
<ul> <li>Yes</li> </ul>	_No	ay be the organizations :	
5a. Are all research e Research Translatio	the research costs and .g. NHS Support costs) f Unit, NIHR Collaboration nal Research Centre or a	infrastructure costs (funding for the support and or this study provided by a NIHR Biomedical Res for Leadership in Health Research and Care (CLJ Diagnostic Evidence Co-operative in all study si	d facilities needed to carry out earch Centre, NIHR Biomedical AHRC), NIHR Patient Safety ites?
Please se	information button for	further details.	
⊖ Yes	No		
Please se	information button for	further details.	
5h. Do voi	wish to make an applic:	tion for the study to be considered for NIHR Clin	aical Research Network (CRN)
Support a	nd inclusion in the NIHR	Clinical Research Network Portfolio?	(orai)
Please se	information button for	further details.	
⊖ Yes	No		
Date: 14/0	9/2017	2	228062/1128129/37/983

	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.
The NIHR Clinical Res happen in the NHS e.g	search Network provides researchers with the practical support they g. by providing access to the people and facilities needed to carry ou	need to make clinical studies It research "on the ground".
If you select yes to thi (PAF) immediately aft the PAF ahead of othe your study.	is question, you must complete a NiHR Clinical Research Network ( fer completing this project filler question and before submitting other er applications e.g. HRA Approval, may mean that you will be unable	CRN) Portfolio Application Form applications. Failing to complete to access NIHR CRN Support for
6. Do you plan to inclu	lude any participants who are children?	
⊖Yes ⊛No		
7. Do you plan at any for themselves?	stage of the project to undertake intrusive research involving adu	Its lacking capacity to consent
⊖Yes ⊛No		
Answer Yes if you plar loss of capacity. Intrus, identifiable tissue sam Group to set aside the further information on	n to recruit living participants aged 16 or over who lack capacity, or to the research means any research with the living requiring consent in pipes or personal information, except where application is being man common law duy of confidnetiality in England and Wales. Please the legal frameworks for research involving adults lacking capacity i	o retain them in the study following law. This includes use of de to the Confidentiality Advisory onsult the guidance notes for n the UK.
8. Do you plan to inclu who are offenders su Yes No	lude any participants who are prisoners or young offenders in the pervised by the probation service in England or Wales?	custody of HM Prison Service or
9. Is the study or any Yes No	part of it being undertaken as an educational project?	
9. Is the study or any • Yes No Please describe brief This study is being le and Public Engagem developed through th	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? of the prochemotion of the advertisy of by Nation Thomas is part of they rem in Science at Queen Mary University of London (QMUL). The out is study is a requirement Allows propressional role.	Patient Public Involvement tcome measure being
9. Is the study or any	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? In the involvement of the aducent(s): the involvement of the aducent(s): there in Science all Queern Mary University of London (QMUL). The our his study) is a regiment Alliano's professional role. eting a PhD registered at Goldsmiths. University of London looking: with MS. Part of the study, specifically the exploration of patient ex- process (e. how patients can dicuus impovements for other pairs withen about in the these. This discussion will only form a small pa- tion of the study. Second aduces with only form a small pa-	Patient Public Involvement come measure being it how to improve the patient periential knowledge in this ents based on their own at of the thesa:
Is the study or any     Yes No     Please describe brie     This study is being le     and Public Engagem     developed through th     Alison is also comple     experience for people     PROM development     experiences), will      3a. Is the project bein	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? My the involvement of the student(s): the involvement of the student(s): terr in Science al Queern Mary University of London (QAULL). The our instably is a regiment Allacora protectional role, and study is a regiment Allacora protectional role, and with MS. Part of the study, seeficiality the exploration of patient es- process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other pain striften about in the Intel®. This discussion will only form a small pa- regiment and the study and the study and the study and the study and role and the study and the study and the study and the study and and the study and the study and the study and the study and and the study and the study and the study and the study and the study of the study and the study and the study and the study and the study of the study and the study and the study and the study and the study of the study and the study and the study of the study of the study and undertaken in part fulfilment of a PhD or other doctorate?	Patient Public Involvement Involvement and the patient of too to improve the patient presential consideration in the presential consideration of the too the based on their const rt of the thesis.
S. Is the study or any     () Yes No     Please describe brief     Please describe brief     Please describe brief     Please developed through II     Alison is also comple     PROM development     experience for people     PROM development     experience so     No     Sa. Is the project bein     () Yes No	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? Any the involvement of the student(s): the involvement of the student(s): terr in Science al Queen Mary University of London (QAULL). The our instably is a regulation of the student of the student of the study is a regulation of the student of the student of the study is a regulation of the student of the student of the process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other patient process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other patient process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other patient stuffers about the thesis. This discussion will only form a small pa- rig undertaken in part fulfilment of a PhD or other doctorate?	Patient Public Involvement focome measure being It how to ingrove the patient periodial tozolegie in this ands based on their own at of the thesis.
S. Is the study or any     (() Yes \overline No     Please describe brie     This study is being the     developed through 1     Alison is also comple     experience for people     ROM development     experiences), will be     98. Is the project bein     (() Yes \overline No     10. Will this research     ts divisions, agencie     () Yes (() No     )	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? Ally the involvement of the student(s): the involvement of the student(s): terr in Science al Queen Mary University of London (QAULL). The our instably is a regulated of the student of the student of the study is a regulated at Goldsmiths, University of London locking with MS. Part of the study, specifically the exploration of patient es- process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other pain withins shoul in the study, specifically the exploration of patient es- process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other pain withen shoul in the thesis. This discussion will only form a small pa- rg undertaken in part fulfilment of a PhD or other doctorate? The financially supported by the United States Department of Heal is or programs?	Patient Public Involvement toome measure being In two to ingrave the patient pertential tooolegie in this anta based on their own at of the thesis.
S. Is the study or any     () Yes ON     Please describe brie     This study is being is     developed through it     developed through it     shisn is also comple     experience for people     PROM development     experiences), will be     Sa. Is the project bein     () Yes ON     () Yes	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? Ally the involvement of the student(s): the involvement of the student(s): terk in Science al Queen Mary University of London (QAULL). The our instably is a regulation of the student of the student of the study is a regulation of the student of the student of the student student as the study, seefcalably the exploration of patient es- process (a. how patients can discuss improvements for other patient students above the thesis. This discussion will only form a small pa- rig undertaken in part fulfilment of a PhD or other doctorate? The financially supported by the United States Department of Heal is or programs?	Patient Public Involvement toome measure being In how to improve the patient periodial tooolega in this antib based on their own at of the thesis.
Se the study or any     Yes \no     Please describe brie     and Public Engagem     developed Invaright II     Alison is also comple     PROM development     Provent in a site or omple     PROM development     PROM development     PROM     Se No     S	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? why the involvement of the student(s): edu biological content of the student(s): edu biological	Patient Public Involvement toome measure being In how to ingrove the patient periential tooolegie in this and based on their own at of the thesis.
8. It he study or any	part of it being undertaken as an educational project? why the involvement of the student(s): et y Miton Thomson as part of the professional role as Lecturer in them in Science al Cozern Mary University of London (QMUL). The ou- his study is a requirement Allicon's protessional role. et al. So Por projected al Coldminiths. University of London locking white Allow Line thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- set in Subject and thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- regulated and the thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- regulation of the thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- regulation of the thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- regulation of the thesis. This discussion will only form as mail pro- regulation of the theory of the theory of the doctorate? The financially supported by the United States Department of Heal is or programs? attent data be accessed outside the care team without prior consets on of potential participants]?	Patient Public Involvement toome measure being It how to improve the patient enter based on their own int of the thesis.



		Reterence: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.
ntegrated Resea	rch Application System for Research involving	qualitative methods only	
IRAS Form (pro	ject information)		
Nease refer to the	E-Submission and Checklis	t tabs for instructions on submitting this a	oplication.
The Chief Investig symbol displayed selecting Help.	ator should complete this for We recommend reading the	orm. Guidance on the questions is availab te guidance first. The complete guidance a	le wherever you see this and a glossary are available by
Please define any	terms or acronyms that mig	ght not be familar to lay reviewers of the a	pplication.
Short title and ve Measurement on	rsion number: (maximum 7 Our Terms (MOT)	70 characters - this will be inserted as hea	ider on all forms)
Please complete ti	hese details after you have i	booked the REC application for review.	
DEC Reference h	h make at		STOP.
PART A: Core	study information	14/09/2017	
PART A: Core	study information	14/09/2017	
REC Reference N 17/LO/1684 PART A: Core 1. ADMINISTRATION A1. Full title of the Measurement on Measurement for	tumber: study information research: Dur Terms: exploring the ro Multiple Scienceis	14/09/2017	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference M 17/L0/1684 PART A: Core 1. ADMINISTRATION A1. Full title of the Measurement on Measurement for A2-1. Educational	study information study information research: Dur Terms exploring the ro Multiple Scienosis projects	14/09/2017	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference M 17/L0/1684 PART A: Core 1. ADMINISTRATION A1. Full title of the Measurement for Measurement for A2-1. Educational Name and contact	tumber: study information VE DETAILS research: Dur Terms: exploring the ro Multiple Sciences projects t details of student(s):	14/09/2017	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference M 17/L0/1684 PART A: Core 1. ADMINISTRATE A1. Full title of the Measurement on Measurement for A2-1. Educational Name and contar Student 1	study information study information research: Cur Tems: exploring the ro Multiple Sciences projects (details of student(s): Title Forename/initial	14/09/2017	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference 1 17/L/U/184 PART A: Corro 1. ADMINISTRATI AL. Full title of the Messurement for Messurement for A2-1. Educational Name and contas Student 1 Address	study information study information research: Out Terms: exploring the ro Multiple Sciencias projects d details of student(s): Title Forename/initial Miss Alson/A Centre for Neuroscient Bizard fastike, ONUL 4 Newark Street, With	14/09/2017 -	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference 1 T/LC/1584 PART A: Corre 1.4.0/metSTRAT A1. Full title of the Measurement for Measurement on A2-1. Educational Student 1 Address Post Code E-mail Telephone	study information  #EDETALS  #EDETALS	* Surname Thomson te A Trauma Bilizard :	mb Patient Reported Outcome
REC Reference 1 T/LOTI684 PARTI A: Corre A1. Full title of the Measurement on Measurement on Measurement or Measurement or A2.1.Educational Rudent 1 Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Give details of Name and eduals	tumber:  study information  research: OUT Terms: exploring the ro Multiple Sciencial  ropiects  it details of student(s):  Title Forename/initial Miss Alson/A  Centre for Neuroscient Bizzard nestitue, OUU  4 Newark Steel, Whit E1 AAT a. ahmonsofigmula e. ahmonsofigmula e. D2078822387 the of course/ degree:	14/09/2017	mb Patient Reported Outcome

		Reference: 17/LO/1684	IKAS version 5.5
PhD in Design			
Name of educa	ational establishment		
Goldsmiths, U	niversity of London		
Name and conta	t details of academic	supervisor(s)	
Academic sup	ervisor 1		
	Title Forename/I Dr Alex	nitials Surname Wilkie	
Address	Department of D	esign	
	Goldsmiths		
	University of Lon	don, New Cross, London	
Post Code	SE14 6NW		
E-Mail Telenhone	a.witkie@gold.ac	uk	
Fax			
Academic sup	ervisor 2		
	Title Foren	ame/Initials Surname	
	Professor Bill	Gaver	
Address	Department of D	esign	
	Goldsmiths	ten New Cress Landan	
Post Code	SF14.6NW	Juli, New Closs, London	
E-mail	w.gaver@gold.ac	uk	
Telephone	0.000		
Fax			
Please state whi Please click "Sau	ch academic supervis e now" before comple	or(s) has responsibility for which student(s): ting this table. This will ensure that all of the student	and academic supervisor
	correcay.	Academic supervisor(s)	
Student(s)		Dr Alex Wilkie	
Student(s) Student 1 Miss	Alison/A Thomson	IN A REAL THREE THREE	
Student(s) Student 1 Miss	Alison/A Thomson		
Student(s) Student 1 Miss	Alison/A Thomson	Professor Bill Gaver	
Student(s) Student 1 Miss	Alison/A Thomson	Professor Bill Gaver	) must be submitted with the
Student(s) Student 1 Miss copy of a <u>current</u> oplication.	Alison/A Thomson	Professor Bill Gaver	1) must be submitted with the
Student(s) Student 1 Miss copy of a <u>current</u> oplication.	Alison/A Thomson	View Professor Bill Gaver      Professor Bill Gaver      d the academic supervisor (maximum 2 pages of Av      fee this study 2	I) must be submitted with the
Student(s) Student 1 Miss copy of a <u>curren</u> oplication. 2-2. Who will act	Alison/A Thomson	✓ or order transc ✓ Professor Bill Gaver     ✓	I) must be submitted with the
Student(s) Student 1 Miss copy of a <u>current</u> pplication. 2-2. Who will act () Student	Alison/A Thomson	M Professor Bill Gaver Professor Bill Gaver d the academic supervisor (maximum 2 pages of Ar for this study?	f) must be submitted with the
copy of a <u>curren</u> student(s) Student 1 Miss copy of a <u>curren</u> splication. 2-2. Who will act Student Academic su	Alison/A Thomson	Where the trace of the grade of the study?	I) must be submitted with the
copy of a <u>curren</u> pplication.  2-2. Who will act Student Academic su Other	Alison/A Thomson	We release the structure of the structur	I) must be submitted with the
copy of a current splication. 2-2. Who will act Student Academic su Other	Alison/A Thomson	In the study?	) must be submitted with the
Copy of a <u>curren</u> splication.	Alison/A Thomson	We return the group of the group of the study?	) must be submitted with the
Student(s) Student(s) Copy of a <u>curren</u> pplication. 2.2. Who will act Student Academic su Other 3.1. Chief Invest	Alison/A Thomson	(b) - retaining (c) Professor Bill Gaver d the academic supervisor (maximum 2 pages of Ar- for this study?	) must be submitted with the

		17/LO/1684	IRAS Version S
	Miss Alison	merinitials Surname Thomson	
Post	Lecturer in P	ublic Engagement and Patient Public Involver	nent
Qualifications	BSc Hons, M	A RCA	
ORCID ID			
Employer	Queen Mary,	University of London	
Work Address	Centre for Ne	euroscience & Trauma Blizard	
	4 Newark Str	eet, Blizard Institute, QMUL	
	London		
Post Code	E1 2AT		
Work E-mail	a.thomson@	qmul.ac.uk	
* Personal E-r	nail a.thomson@	qmul.ac.uk	
Work Telephor	te 0207882236	7	
* Personal Tel	ephone/Mobile 0784659841	7	
Fax			
A4 Who is the c	ontact on behalf of the eno	neor for all correspondence relating to appl	cations for this project?
	Dr. Only	Burtlee	
Address	Joint Research Manage	ment Office (JRMO)	
Address	Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation	ement Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor	
Address	Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street , Londo	ement Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor	
Address Post Code	Dr Sally Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street , Londo E1 2EF enongeneran@hartebas	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor 20	
Address Post Code E-mail	Dr Sally Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street, Londo E1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshea 020 7882 7265	annon Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor an	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone	Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street, Londo E1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshea 020 7882 7256	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax	Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street , Londo E1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshee 020 7882 7265 020 7882 7276	Banand Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax A5-1. Research	Joint Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street, Londt E1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshea 020 7882 7265 020 7882 7276	entrol Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on sittlin.nhs.uk	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax A5-1. Research Applicant's/org	Un Saity Join Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street , Londs E1 2EF sponsorsrep@batshee 020 7882 7265 020 7882 7276 reference numbers. Please anisation's own reference nu	ment Office (RMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor n altin.nhs.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (if	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax A5-1. Research Applicant's/org: available): Soonsor's/mnth	Un Saity Join Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation S Watden Street, Lond E 1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshet Q20 7882 7265 020 7882 72765 reference numbers. Please anisation's own reference nu sool numbers.	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on alth.nha.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (ff 0.5	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Abt. Research Applicant's/org: available): Sponsor's/pott Protocol Versio	Un Sany Join Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street , Lond E 12EF sponsorsrep@bartshet 202 7882 7265 020 7882 785 020 7882 785 020 7882 785 020 786 020 786 000000000000000000000000000000000000	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on altin.nhs.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (if 0.5 0.5	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Applicant's/orgr available): Sponsor's/prot Protocol Date:	Dr Satty Join Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation S Walden Street, Lond E 1 2EF sponsorarep@bartshet Q20 7882 7265 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276 reference numbers. Please anisation's own reference nu bool number: n:	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor in alth.nhs.uk r give any relevant references for your study: miber, e.g. R & D (f 0.5 0.5 1209/2017	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Asplicant'sorg: available): Sponsor's/prot Protocol Versio Protocol Date: Funder's refere	Dr Sany Join Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation 5 Walden Street, Lond E 1 2EF sponsorrer@Bhartshet 020 7882 7276 200 7882 7276 reference numbers. Please anniastion's own reference nu ocol number: n: n: ne number:	ment Office (JRMO) Contre, Lower Ground Floor on altin.nhs.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (if 0.5 5. 1206/2017	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Asplicant'slorg; available): Sponsor'slorot Protocol Versio Protocol Versio Protocol Date: Funder's refere Project website:	Dr Satty John Reasent Manage Queen Many Innovation S Walden Streen (Bjanthe E 1 2EF sponsorsreg Bjanthe 20 7 882 7265 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276 020 7882 7276	ment Office (RMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor a silth.nhs.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (I 0.5 0.5 1209/2017	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fat Asplicant/sorg available): Sopnos/fatprof Protocol Nersis Funder's refere Project website:	Un sainty John Research Manage Queen Mary Innovation Mary Innovation 5 Valders Titres I, Lond E 1 227 5 Valders Titres Que Tata 2020 7882 7285 Cato 7885 7285 Cato 7885 7285 Cato 7885 728	ment Office (RMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor si alth.nhs.uk give any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (f 0.5 0.5 120092017	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax Ast.Research Applicant'siorg: available: Funder's refere Protocol Versit Protocol Date: Cunder's refere Protocol Testite: Additional refere Additional refere Additional refere	on cashaech Manga Orann May Innovation 5 Wilden Street, Lond El 227 sonorovreg@bartihe oog 782 7226 veference numbers. Please ninsation's own reference nu ooon number: more number: ence number(s): ence number(s):	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on alth.nhs.uk agive any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R & D (if 0.5 0.5 12/09/2017	
Address Post Code E-mail Telephone Fax As-1. Research Applicant's/org: available): Sponsor's/protocol Date: Funder's refere Protocol Date: Additional refer Ref. Number D Registration of your NHS orga access publish	Un sainty Joint Research Manage Queen May Innovation May Innovation S Valderi Street, Lond S Valderi Street, Lond E 1 22F 2007 782 7285 Cao 782 7285 Cao 782 7285 Please anniation's own reference nu bool number: men number: escription research studies is encoursy research studies is encoursy research studies is encoursy	ment Office (JRMO) Centre, Lower Ground Floor on stitts.nhs.uk glve any relevant references for your study: mber, e.g. R. & D (I 0.5 0.5 1200/2017 Reference Number get wherever possible. Your may be able for or a metical mesant chartity, or publish yourge	gitter your study through bloco (through an open fearers number()*

	17/LO/1684	
section.		
A5-2. Is this application linked to a	a previous study or another current application?	
O Yes  No		
Please give brief details and refer	ence numbers.	
2. OVERVIEW OF THE RESEARCH		
To provide all the information re specific questions. This section members of the public. Please re	quired by review bodies and research information invites you to give an overview using language co ad the guidance notes for advice on this section.	i systems, we ask a number of omprehensible to lay reviewers and
A6-1. Summary of the study. Plea easily understood by lay reviewers Health Departments' Research Eth website following the ethical review	ase provide a brief summary of the research (maxim and members of the public. Where the research is r ics Service, this summary will be published on the h . Please refer to the question specific guidance for th	num 300 words) using language eviewed by a REC within the UK lealth Research Authority (HRA) his question.
Patient Reported Outcome Measu benefits of health care from the pa Multiple Sclerosis (MS) on a perso in tools which are not condition sp patients have been involved in the tools.	res (PROMs) are tools used in clinical practice to a tient's perspective. However, the PROMs currently ms upper limb function have been developed with it ecific nor up to date. In other health fields, such as a entire PROM development process therefore creati	ssess health, illness and sed to measure the impact of the patient involvement resulting mental health for example, ng more effective measurement
This research seeks to explore ho condition to the development of a	w people living with MS can contribute their experier new upper limb PROM.	nces of living with the chronic
Participants will be asked to atten and contribute their experience of They will also be able to discuss to care. Explorative methods, such a development and improvement pro-	I three focus groups lasting an average of three hou how their MS has affected their ability to complete up heir experience of completing PROMs and the role of s focus groups, have been previously used to involv sjects, but not in PROM development with people will	irs over a three month period pper limb activities and tasks. of measurement in their clinical e patients in service th MS.
The study is funded by the Home I Barts Health NHS Trust outpatient	Family Foundation and participants will be recruited f department.	from the Barts MS Service at the
A6-2. Summary of main issues. P	lease summarise the main ethical, legal, or manage	ment issues arising from your study
Not all studies raise significant issu and managed routinely. Others ma review body (as appropriate to the organisational or legal issues. You consider.	es. Some studies may have straightforward ethical y present significant issues requiring further conside issue). Studies that present a minimal risk to particip should try to consider all the types of issues that the	or other issues that can be identified ration by a REC, HRA, or other pants may raise complex different reviewers may need to
It is not the researchers' intent to o when discussing their health and e people with MS within the Barts M discussion topics are appropriate impact of fatigue when attending It and in the discussions themselves increasing disability and describe their MS.	ause undue worry or concern to any of the participa experiences. Therefore in the design and planning or 5 Patient Advisory Group was key to ensure that the for use by other people with MS. For example, consi he focus groups for people with MS has been careful Further, there is the possibility that the participant activities that they no longer can take part in or com	nts involved in this research f the study, the involvement of research process and idering factors such as the ally considered in the topic guide s will share experiences of plete due to their disability and
The study has addressed these is experiences, including profession roles can be accessed if necessar	sues by including activities to make participants fee al facilitation skills within the discussions and ensur y.	I supported to share their ring the relevant professional
Date: 14/09/2017	8	228062/1128129/37/98

IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5
The focus groups will be facilitated by a profession professional she is being involved in the study for living with MS. Therefore, there is a responsibly with her role. Care will be given to not overburden technical text, meet for extended prodos of time o about how to deal with any distressed participants	hal facilitator (PF) who is also living t both her professional facilitation sk the study team to ensure that she i the PF and participants by expectin r engage in energy draining tasks. T and will carry details and contact r	with MS. Although the PF is a lils and also her experience of a fully supported and comfortable g them to read large amounts of he PF will be verbally briefed umbers for suitable support.	a lay person. The secondary researc A further research obje PRCM.	h objective is to develop a PROM to evaluate upper limb functio	n in people with MS. tribute to the development of a
Index starting each focus group easion, in the based on the within information previously provid the start of the sessions to help them feel at easi explored. The PF has worked on sensitive of Although the PF has worked on sensitive of any environment of the service developm environ bolitation the storage and the PI and PF ensure a collection thereprecision of the research dongside the PL has to ensure the PI and PF ensure a collection thereprecision of the research to Convert20VM comprises timin Each session will qualitative research (cR) and the PF to ensure through the start). The wider ensures the start of the start the start of the start of the PI and the analysis proces throughout the start).	peneing darkers, the FV will televal- ch. The groups will have the opport and that three will be regulate break of the second of the second of the second of the second of the second of the second of the second of the second of the mess detailed during the focus of the drougs of the second of the second that all questions have been answe set of Neurology and an occupation that all questions have been answe set of Neurology and an occupation that all questions and will be supported	It the purpose of the focus group, milly to introduce themselves at a where reflexitinentials will be topics that are discussed. Defore, it is the Pis responsibility we research will be in the room disafely (one work) and to space. Both are aware of Queen subsci between the Pi, the ed and the PF feels supported. all therapist, will meet throughout repictive is maintained by two supervisors when doing	A12. What is the scient The research will enga (PROM) development, in metal health, bat n measure upper inith the bat involved in the proc when they complete P1 patients would like in or of their control disease. T entropy of the control disease of perspectives which will paraclice. The research patiopants make sent	If instituction for the research? Please put this in language ge people with MS throughout the whole process of patient reg There has been similar research which looked at developing of seperitary looked at upper tims function in MS. With the the seperitary looked at upper tims function in MS. With the the approximation of the seperitary of high with the obtained the prove poople with MS experimence effects of MS on their day to 400 km and take part in measurement activities. Discussions with setting the service and the role that measure increase the chance of generating innovative ideas that have is all orighting the that one of generating innovative ideas that have is increase the chance of generating innovative ideas that have is all orighting the time patients.	comprehensible to a lary person. onted outcome measures utcome measures with patients of MS, new PROMS to mig the potential for patients to day activities, how they feel lesphoe and deforme how emend plays in their monitoring technologies in their monitoring good chance of working in ploring how the focus group
3. PURPOSE AND DESIGN OF THE RESEARCH	will not have access to any original	data.	A13. Please summarise participant, how many tie Do not simply reported	your design and methodology. It should be clear exactly wha mes and in what order. Please complete this section in languag or refer to the orotocol. Further auidance is available in the ou	t will happen to the research re comprehensible to the lay person idance notes.
A7. Select the appropriate methodology descript Case series/case note review Case control Cohort observation Cohort observation Cohort observation Conces-exclusional study Database analysis Experimitive research Concestionnaire, interview or observation study Metanolysis Woullaflow esearch Constructionale trial Constructionale trial Constructionale trial Constructionale trial Constructional sectory Focus groups and descriptive statistics The principle research objective is to identify hour The principle research objective is to identify hour	ion for this research. Please tok al normal sector of the	that apply: comprehensible to a lay person. ROM development.	This is maked reading to a method to involve is a nested analysis of group method to involve interactions between p experiences of living we different upper the purpositive expanded disability site and the survey and device of the survey and device of the survey and device and the survey set device of the survey and device and the purpositive expanded disability site and effect upper time are of the survey and device the to be involved, the date the patient inform them to remember the session. Once verball attendance to the first once participants the site of the patient of the date the patient inform. Drasphilly Status Sales desorbe the type of MI their own computer, in home and again, comp effect and spin comp effect and spin comp effects of the status of the site of the first focus group. This	study consisting of three qualitable focus groups and an online the impact of experiminal knowledge on the development of to zeros. The anticipants to help with the generation of new ideas and person in MS. The three focus groups will like place over three month on participants in the PROM development process. The anticipants to help with the generation of new ideas and person on catagories for a new PROM to measure upper limb function on participants on the plant analysis of experimences of upper limb liss score (EDS) score, are captured and to ensure they are re- solved to the score of the score of the participants in the score (EDS) score, are captured and to ensure they are re- solved to the score of the score of the score of the score of the score of the score of the score of the score of the score (EDS) score, are captured and to ensure they are re- solved to the score of score of the score of the score of the score of the score of score of the sc	a survey. Which the study, there should be a source of the should be should be a source of the subscription of the subscrip
A11. What are the secondary research questions	lobjectives if applicable? Please p	ut this in language comprehensible to	Focus group overview: Focus groups of betwee	en eight and ten people will be used to collect qualitative data	via sound recordings that will
Date: 14/09/2017	9	228062/1128129/37/983	Date: 14/09/2017	10	228062/1128129/37/9
IRAS Form	Reference:	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference:	IRAS Version 5.5

IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2
provide detailed insights into individual limb function and also how this can be patients, analyse these results then de patients, analyse these results then de Detailed description of focus groups as the aim of the first focus groups is to MS. The PF will introduce the participa of the focus group is to engage the pai limb function from another group of PP through the three focus group session meetings with the research team and fi	is understanding and experiences of living with M measured. PaintOpants will work as a group to d vector a new PROM. sessions: and the research process to identify upper limb ac inst to the study topic, the focus group process an intribut the study topic, the focus group process and ritigants to develop questions for an online surve WRS. The focus group will be approx. 3 hours hon so following the focus group point guide. This topin lasts MS Patient Advisory Group.	IS, how this affects their upper esign a survey for other twites important to people with for each other. The objective y, to gather activities of upper g. The PF will lead the group guide was developed through	Give details of involvement, or if The Bant MS Patient Advicey of incorporated and are reflected in information and consent forms. agree that it will support the stud- study. Focus group participants will be receive via the postal system a view with any written postal system a view.	none please justify the absence of involvement croup were consulted and their comments and suggest the design of the reach methodology. The focus gro they visited the space to evaluate it's appropriateness at y sams of provide a supportive, released atmosphere informed of the findings of the research when it has con- ritten description of the conclusions of the focus group internet.	ed amendments were top topic guide, patient guide, patient that is appropriate for the holded. The participants will if they are interested, along
By the end of the first focus group, the survey. This will be used to gather inf with an EDS of between 3.5 and 8.0. Social media (specifically blogs) have new PROM development in the area or tool can be used to access a wide ran, been accessed as it reaches people w	group will have developed questions that could b formation on the different upper limb activities that The survey will be created by the P1 and posted o been used to collect evidence of content validity I ALS. The benefit of using social media, over face ge of patients for the PROM development stage th tho can not travel, and is also a cost effective way	e used to develop an online are affected by living with MS in the Barts MS Research blog. Ind concept identification in e-to-face interaction is that the sta would have not originally of including more patients.	4. RISKS AND ETHICAL ISSUES RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS		
The survey aims to gather a minimum through the Barts MS Research Blog. to be included in the second focus gro than 50 responses are gathered, the s moved.	of 50 responses but we anticipate the survey gat The survey will be closed after two weeks giving ti sup. The response data will be anonymised of any survey will be left open for three weeks, but the se	thering around 200 responses me for the data to be prepared identifiable information. If less cond focus group will not be	A15. What is the sample group of Select all that apply:	r cohort to be studied in this research?	
The aim of the second focus group is each group has to work round tables r will then identify all the environmental to	to review and discuss the results from the online e reviewing the responses to identifying similarities, factors which contribute to the different ways to co	survey. Working in groups of 5, repetition and relevance. They mplete each activity.	Cancer Cardiovascular Congenital Disorders		
The aim of the third focus group is to or aspects such as the name of the tool, distributed and discussing the need for	fevelop the format for the new PROM. The particip the format of administration (digital, paper or grou or instructions.	ants will discuss practical up based), how it should be	Dementias and Neurodeger Diabetes Ear	erative Diseases	
The focus groups will be held in a con lasting an average of three hours, led i weeks apart to ensure some memory This space has been chosen by as it i with a taxi drop off space at the entran focus groups to be held in a non-medi The Camden Society have provided a	munity cafe meeting room in the Queen Elizabeth by the PF in conjunction with the PL. They will be h of the previous discussion and to allow the study a not only has the capacity to hold a meeting with noe but I will provide a safe and respectful environ cal venue in the belieft that this will encourage par letter to confirm they are happy for the Unity Café	I Olympic Park, East London, eld between two and three to keep up some momentum. a number of wheelchair users ment which is important for ticipants to speak more freely. to be used as a research site.	Eye Generic Health Relevance Infection Inflammatory and Immune S Inflammatory and Immune S	ystem	
The study will end four months after th been analysed, written up in a publica eight months in total.	e third focus group has been completed. Within th tion format and disseminated to both staff and pa	his time, the data will have tient groups. The study will last	Mental Health Metabolic and Endocrine Metabolic and Endocrine Musculoskeletal V Neurological		
			Oral and Gastrointestinal Paediatrics Renal and Urogenital		
A14-1. In which aspects of the researce and/or their carers, or members of the	ch process have you actively involved, or will yo e public?	u involve, patients, service users,	Reproductive Health and Ch Respiratory	ildbirth	
Design of the research Management of the research			Skin Stroke		
Analysis of results			Gender: Lower age limit: 18	Male and female participants Years	
None of the above			Upper age limit:	No upper age limit	
late: 14/09/2017	11	228062/1128129/37/983	Date: 14/09/2017	12	228062/1128129/37/983

AS Form Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5
		informed	form at the start of the first focus group in the con	nmunity cafe in the Queen Olympic
17-1. Please list the principal inclusion criteria (list the most important, max	6 5000 characters).	consent	session.	y and sound recording or each
Participants will be invited to take part in the focus group sessions if they meet to give informed consent without assistance.	the inclusion criteria of being able to	WebEDSS 1 10 minutes	Patient will conduct on their own at home	
Participants must be over the age of 18 and have been diagnosed with Multiple ind have an EDSS of between 3.5 and 8.0.	Sclerosis more than 6 months ago	Cardboard 9 1 10 Hole Peg Test minutes	Patient will conduct on their own at home	
Participants must be able to attend all three focus group sessions in East Lond	ion.	Focus group 1 1 3 hours	Principal Investigator, patient facilitator and the q Location to be a community cafe in the Queen Eli	ualitative researcher. izabeth Olympic Park.
articipants must have documented assessment attempts for Expanded Disabil /ebEDSS and cardboard 9-Hole Peg test (c9HPT) prior to the focus groups.	ity Status Scale (EDSS), via the	Focus Group 2 1 3 hours	Principal Investigator, patient facilitator and the q Location to be a community cafe in the Queen El	ualitative researcher izabeth Olympic Park.
articipants must also be able to understand and be able to communicate in Er	nglish.	Focus Group 3 1 3 hours	Principle Investigator, patient facilitator and the q Location to be a community cafe in the Queen Eli	ualitative researcher. izabeth Olympic Park.
articipants who will be invited to complete the online survey that is generated fi aders of the Barts MS Research Blog. This group of participants will not be re- scal ethical approval only which is being requested.	rom the first focus group will be cruited as patients so are subject of	Dissemination 1 5 of results minutes	Principal Investigator - results to be emailed or p	osted to patients home address
hey will also be asked to complete the WebEDSS and c9HPT before completin 18 and have been diagnosed with Multiple Sclerosis more than 6 months ago	ig the survey and must be over the age with an EDSS of between 3.5 and 8.0.	A21. How long do you expect eac	ch participant to be in the study in total?	
7-2. Please list the principal exclusion criteria (list the most important, mat	x 5000 characters).	The expect purseparts to be in the	c and y for an ee monanta.	
articipants will be ineligible to participate if any inclusion criteria are not met. For molete the CRHPT or WebEDSS score	or example, if they do not want to	A22. What are the potential risks	and burdens for research participants and how	will you minimise them?
ue to the nature of study we will be unable to recruit non English speaking part	ticipants. This is due to not having the	For all studies, describe any pote to lifestyle. Only describe risks or would be taken to minimise risk:	ential adverse effects, pain, discomfort, distress, in r burdens that could occur as a result of participati s and burdens as far as possible.	trusion, inconvenience or changes on in the research. Say what steps
19. Give details of all non-clinical intervention(s) or procedure(s) that will be search protocol. These include seeking consent, interview, non-clinical dese processes and the second seco	received by participants as part of the visitions and use of questionnaires. Sprat da part of the research polocol part of their care outside the research, have place.	estation. Sessions will only resu- not, the session may be terminal support if they wish. If there are researchers are unable to mana Advicery Laison service (PALS) another consultant Neurologial va- ate in the patient information. The PF and the PF will facilitate I opportunity to take part. The res- Neurology, part of the research 1	me if all participants are in agreement and comb det early and this will be recorded in the focus agr site contact names and telephone numbers for all any sensitive of disturbing issues disturbing issues disturbing there agreed to be contacted by individual patients tho is not involved in the stupy, but who knows ab the discussions in a guptosh, but who knows ab the discussions in a guptosh, but and open way, mail accher will refer that participants can contact e earn. if they have any issue they would like to discu-	table with the session resuming. If up session notes. The participants to seek further meetings for which the pproached as follows. The Patient in this instance, and so has uit it. Both of these contact details ing sure everyone has the ither the PI or Professor of iss about the research activity.
tervention or 1 2 3 4		A23. Will interviews/ questionnai	ires or group discussions include topics that mig	pht be sensitive, embarrassing or
10 mins The Principal Investigator will speak to pattern Barts Healt Niels Tout and provide them will contact details (name, email, Heighteen number information is given to the pattern and a convel details (name, email, Heighteen number information is given to the pattern and a convel details to evalue them to remember the cor- firm agreen with them.           Province call or 1         15           Each participant will be belephoned or emails minutes times and potentially transport for the three fit minutes	Is in the outpatient department at the printes study patient information. the will make a note of the patient's study of the patient's study of the patient's wersation, or al another convenient d as they prefer, to arrange dates, occa group sessions.	(e) Yes (c) No If Yes please give details of pro- The nessanch are and detailstor will in the focus group topic guide, is sessions. There is a possibility that the di- diability from guides. The reis responses to any statements. The group and ensure that these sits	cedures in place to deal with these issues: ill encourage discussion, through a series of queue o encourage individuals to share their experience scussions may include topics of diagnosis, sympt acches and PF will listen to the participants stori he researchers will also be mindful that there are rised on of cause upped or alarm. If this situation	tion prompts to the group, written s and facilitate discussions in the oms and experiences of increased es and provide sensitive other patients involved in the does arise, the researchers will
arrange focus group times		remind the arous that the surres	on of the research activity is to discuss facilians re-	ation to completing activities. If
arrange focus group times and dates Written 1 10 mins The Principal Investigator will ask each partic	ipant to initial and sign the consent	remind the group that the purpo necessary, the researcher can s	se of the research activity is to discuss feelings rel suggest a refreshment break and move onto anoth	ating to completing activities. If er topic after the break.

RAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	
If information is disclosed that requires with the more experienced researcher interactions will be written up by the PI.	followup action or notification, the rese and then inform the Professor of Neurolo	archer will immediately discuss this igy. All topics of conversation and	
24. What is the potential for benefit to	research participants?		
There are no immediate benefits for par	ticipants in taking part in this research. It	is anticipated that in the future the	
newly developed PROM will be used by	patients and benefit anyone who uses it	-	
26. What are the potential risks for th	e researchers themselves? (if any)		
Potential risks to the researchers and the here are any situations within the reseat participants or in the support of the PF of	e PF have been discussed with the rese rch activity where the PF or the PI feels of f the focus groups, the PI will inform the	arch team and the PIs supervisors. If incomfortable by either approaching Professor of Neurology and her	
supervisors immediately. Both the PI an of Queen Mary Universities lone working	d PF are aware of Queen Mary Universit a policy which can be accessed here: http://www.commonwork.com/pressed/pre	ies lone working policy. Both are aware p://hsd.gmul.ac.uk/A-	
Z/Lone%20Working/index.html. The PI v eelings throughout the process.	vill also keep a reflective diary throughout	the research process to record her	
Dealerstein land and the DL will man	manthly through and the duration of the	response process Millio these	
neetings any issues that have arisen th	at have concerned the PI will be discuss	research process, within these sed and any action that is needed will	
je taken.			
RECOLITMENT AND INFORMED CONSEL	NT		
		dy. Please give separate details for	
In this section we ask you to describe different study groups where appropr	the recruitment procedures for the stu iate.	dy. Please give separate details for	
In this section we ask you to describe different study groups where appropri	the recruitment procedures for the stu iate.	dy. Please give separate details for	
n this section we ask you to describe lifferent study groups where appropri- 27-1. How will potential participants, r ii be used/25c example identification	the recruitment procedures for the stu- iate.	dy. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised search of GP records or review of	
n this section we ask you to describe lifferent study groups where appropri 27-1. How will potential participants, a lib e used?For example, identification ledical records. Indicate whether this w	the recruitment procedures for the stu late. records or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute W be done by the direct healthcare team	dy. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised search of GP records, or review of or by researchers acting under	
In this section we ask you to describe illerent study groups where appropri- 27-1. How will potential participants, ill be used?For example, identification tedical records. Indicate whether this w rangements with the responsible care	the recruitment procedures for the stu- iste. ecords or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute all be done by the direct healthcare team organisation(s).	dy. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources issed search of GP records, or review of or by researchers acting under	
In this section we ask you to describe inferent study groups where appropri- 27-1. How will potential participants, ill be used?For example, identification redical records. Indicate whether this we rangements with the responsible care to be US concultant and US burrs will identification.	the recruitment procedures for the stu- iate. ecords or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease registre. compute til be done by the direct healthcare team organisation(s).	dy. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised search of GP records, or review of of by researchers acting under with he suitable to take nost in the force	
In this section we ask you to describe different study groups where appropri- 27-1. How will potential participants, i III be used?For example, identification edical records. Indicate whether this we rangements with the responsible care free MS consultant and MS Nurse will ide rouns within their outpatient clinic over	the recruitment procedures for the stu- iate. ecords or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute 10 be done by the direct healthcare feam organisation(s). entify potential patients of theirs who wo a duration of come month. If a natient me	dy. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources issid search of GP records, or review of or by researchers acting under uld be suitable to take part in the focus tells he inclusion; refersi and its harow.	
In this section we ask you to describe inferentiated groups where appropri- prior and the section of the section of the ledical records. Indicate whether this were appreciated and the responsible care the MS consultant and MS Narse will id propage within their outpatient clinic over a peak to the researcher, only then the	the recultiment procedures for the stu- action of the studies of t	cty. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised sarech of CP records, or review of or by researchers acting under or by researchers acting under or by researchers acting and in the focus tet the inclusion ortices and is huppy tet their accounter while the vare	
In this section we ask you to describe Thernot study groups where appropri- tion and the section of the section of the edical records. Indicate whether this argements with the responsible care the MS consultant and MS Narse with a the MS consultant and MS Narse with a line outpatient department. The re- s speak to the researcher, only then the till in the outpatient department. The re-	the recutiment procedures for the stu- iate. ecords or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute il be done by the direct healthcare team organisation(2), entify potential patients of theirs who wo a duration of one month. If a patient me y will be approached. This will happen a searcher will not approach patients with	cty. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised sampt of GP records, or review of or by resarchers acting under uid be suitable to take part in the focus its the inclusion ortheria and is happy to direction from the XS consultant or	
In this section we ask you to describe illerent study coupse where segrence 27-1. How will potential participants, ill be used?For example, identification readers and indicate whether this we rangements with the responsible care from SG consultant and MS Naves will id prouge within their outpatient chinc over pack to the researcher, only then the till in the outpatient department. The re SS Naves notifying them. This way we	the recaliment procedures for the state ecords or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute 10 e done by the direct healtnear team organisation(s). entity potential patients of theirs who wo a duration of one month. If a patient me will be approached. This will happen a searcher will not approach patients with would if avoid approaching patients who would in	cty. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rised search of CP records, or review of or by researchers acting under out be suitable to bide part in the focus et bits inclusion onlines and is huppy the third appointent while they are out direction from the MS concultant or to to take path or the milegible. The	
This extension we as a year to extend the internet thirdy provide the III be used? For example, identification extension of the second second second second and the second second second second the MS consultant and MS Narse will id rouge within their clusteriet (init) composed to provide the researcher, only then the till in the outpatient department. The rol SNarse notifying them. This way we escarter will be avere of the vulnear to SNarse notifying them.	the recontinent procedures for the struc- exact set as angles be identified? White may involve a disease register, computed 10 is done by the direct healthcare team organization(s). entity optication and the structure of the struc- and autoain or of new multi-lin a patient me y will be approached. This will happen a searcher will not approach patients with avoid approaching patients diversed in the organization of the structure of the structure in the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure of the structure will be approached. This will be structure of the structure will be approached by the structure of th	cty. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rated search of GP records, or relever of or presentions along under uid be suitable to take part in the focus the the industrian criteria and a happy and details criteria and a happy or direction from the KO consultant or he to take part but are neightin. The pained repairing.	
27.1. How will potential participants, 18.1. How will potential participants, 18.1. But used?for example, identification decida records: fundates whether this war angements with the responsible care the MS consultant and MS hurse will in upops within their outpatient discover the fundation and the second department. The response speak to the researcher, only then the till in the outpatient department. The re- speak to the researcher, only then the sub- speak to the researcher. The researcher the sub- speak to the researcher of the researcher of the sub- speak to the researcher of the sub- speak to the researcher of the sub- speak to the researcher of the researcher of the sub- speak to the sub- speak to the sub- speak to the researcher of the sub- speak to the sub- speak to the sub- speak to the researcher of the sub- speak to the sub- speak	the recontinent procedures for the sta- sectors or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute 16 e done by the direct healtbare team organization(s). ently potential galerists of theirs who wa a duration of one month. If a patient me will be approached. This will happen avoid approaching patients with war avoid approaching patients who ward avoid approaching patients who ward avoid approaching patients who ward	c) Please give segments initials for will carry this out and what resources must area of GP records, or review of or or presenties early under will be sublicle to take gut in the floas the her clustor citerat and is happy filth filth and the segment of the second filth filth and the second filth and pleases department. The researcher individual may have.	
If this access the participants, it is a participant of the participants of the second second participants of the participants of the used? For example, identification encoder across. Another the second second participants with the example, identification in the Sconsultant and MS Nurse will be provide the Sconsultant and MS Nurse will be the MS consultant and MS Nurse will be in the outpatient department. The example as the second GCP taking and will asso patients would like to how more inform	the recommend proceedures for the stru- ecords or samples be identified? White may involve a disease register, compute the school by the direct healthcare learn and the school by the direct healthcare learn as a school one month. If a plant me a ball hour of one month. If a plant me school one month is a plant me school one plant the school ball of the avoid approach plant study who avoid approach plant study who avoid approach plant study who avoid approach plant study who would it illy of plant study me reculting in the outer any mendals questions or queries antion about the study, the will be outer	cty. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources rates asard of GP records, or relever of of presentions and in pany will be suitable to take part in the focus tis the individual model. The patient of the take the Consultant or the bible part but are neight. The patient department. The researcher motivation im the researcher motivation in the information in the take base patient and the researcher motivation in the information in the take base patient and the researcher motivation in the information in the	
27.1. How will potential participants, and the losses? For excepts, dentification less lesses? For excepts, dentification edical records. Indicate whether this war- rangements with the responsible care by the sound of the researcher, only then the lish the soundation data. Then, there are also also also also also also also also	execution advantage of the destination of the desti	c) Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources need search of OP records, or review of or presentance setting under uld be sublicate to take part in the focus details to the provide and is payoy fair their appointment while they are out details of the the Sconstatet or patient department. The researcher individuals may have, proposed and purpose of the focus proposed and proposed proposed propos	
27.1. How will potential participants, III be used? For example, dentification will be used? For example, dentification reargements with the responsible core transported with the responsible core to pose with their the responsible core or page to the researcher, only then the till in the outpatient dentification of the researcher, and will make a secarcher will be assued of the virtuant as received GCP training and will anso patients would like show on the information and consent escolar table to have one dentification of patients would like to have more information and consent escolar built any will be assued to point the schedule to patients.	the records or samples be identified? Who may involve a disease register, compute on the same of the same same same same same same same same same same same sametary of the same same same y will be approached. This will happen a sametar of one same same same y will be approached. This will happen a sametar of one same same same y will be approached. This will happen a sametar of one same same y will be approached. This will happen a sametar same same y will be approached. This will be approached a same same same a same same same a same same y and the same same a same same a same same a same a same same a same	ety. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources tries dearch of GP records, or relever of or presentions acting under will be suitable to take part in the focus at the the disaction criteria and is happy and and the criteria and and the take the suitable to take part in the focus plant disactions in the parposed of the focus groups and and entering and entering as well the provide of the focus groups and and entering and entering as well the provide of the focus groups and the provide of the provide of th	
27. I have all patienting participants, bit search for a sample, identification reliand and the sample. Identification reliand a sample can be also all the MS consultant and MS hares will be appeared to the researcher only then the search of the searcher of the virtual sample. The sample can be also all the searcher of the virtual sample can be also all the same of the virtual patients would like to know more there are participant and consent more participants and consent the same they all be asked to partici- tation and like to know more there are will be participant and consent the same they all be asked to participant or participant and an enter the same the same the same the same the same the same will be asked to the same the same will be asked to participant.	execution of anymptics the identification of the magnetic sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the ending of the sector of the sector of sector of the sector of the sector of sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of sector of the	c) Please give segments details for will carry this out and what resources must a search of CP records, or review of or presentieve setting under will be sublickle to take part in the focus the her clustor citerate and is happy fair their appointment while they are obtained to the the Scottac The patient department. The researcher individuals may have, versibli and written information in the papers of the focus propose and es generation and reviewing as well to prove. This information will also once. This information will also	
27.1. How will potential participants, the second second second second second second second second ender access, include whether the use many second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second	the recordure is be identified? Who executes a samples be identified? Who is a sample of the sample of the sample of the other is the sample of the sample of the sample endly obtained in the sample of the sample of the y will be approached. This will happen a sample of the sample o	c) Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources intel search of QP records, or review of or phresentices sating under und be sublicate builting under und be sublicate builting under the backston central and is happy fare their appointment while they are upd records on the Monomulant or lab to back and the Monomulant or detailed from the Monomulant backstone and the Monomulant or lab to back on the Monomulant backstone and the Monomulant or detailed from the Monomulant backstone and the Monomulant backst	
27. I have all patienting participants. It is award? For example, it certification edical records, indicate whether this is the ward? For example, it certification edical manual and the second second second and the second second second second second is the two calculates and the second second is the second second second second second second second second second second second patients ward like to know more there is a constraining their separeters. The two years a constraining their separeters and conser- tion of patient information and consert a constraining their separeters of the second constraining their separeters of the second	exercise or examples to Mercifiker? Who may involve a disease register, compare list of the second second second second second is a darked of the disease register, disease entity potential patients of theirs who wa a darkedin of one mouth. If a patient much searcher will not approach patients with work of a second second second second second second sequencing patients who would ally of patients when recounting in the ou- er any immediate quarters who would be given from. The information will deautise the second set the study, they will be given from. The information will deautise the grant of the second second second second grant and the study, the second second grant of the second second second second grant second second second second second second grant second second second second seco	cb) Please give apparent initials for will carry this out and what resources need a search of OP accords, or releve of of or reasoritive adding under will be statistical to take put in the focus the initial carry of the the search of the first and the statistical search of the first and the search of the search patient department. The researcher individuals may have, verstal and written information in the papers of the focus groups and and the search opposes. The searcher individuals were also to the bench of the search before toops. This information will also pload the research papers.	
27.1 Now the potential pot	the excerning of proceedance is being the set encode on examples to identified? Who may honce a discrete register c-cooled bill be doned by the direct healthcare team organisation(2). The example of the set of the set of the synthese set of the set of the set of the synthese set of the set of the set of the synthese set of the s	etc. Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources need asard of QP records, or review of or presentions carry under uld be unable to take grunter to the second carry and the tops for the second carry and the tops patient dispatient dispatient dispatient dispatient tops and the tops of the top tops and the second the tops of the top tops the top top the top tops of the top top the tops of the tops of the top top top the tops of the tops of the top top top the tops of the tops of the top top top the tops of the tops of the top top the top top the top top the top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top the top top top top top the top	
27.1. Now will have have a subscription of the search of the company, it dentification decision of the search of the company destination of the decision of the search of the company destination of the the NS company and the the search of the subscription of the search of the subscription of disk in the obligation of the subscription of the NS company and the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the subscription of subscription of the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the subscription of subscription of the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the subscription of the search of the search of the search of the search of the the search of the search of the search of the search of the the search of the search of the search of the search of the the search of	the excertainment proceedance is both the in- ter-centre or examples to identified? Which may move a discover segment compared to the optimal list of other by the direct healthcare fears organization(c). The movement is a patient with the second segment of the second second second second second sequencing patients with well and second sequencing patients with well and and any messality accession, analysis, a with MS, Informing the patients with well and and a patient of the study of the second sec	cb) Please give apparete details for will clearly this out and which resources or by researchers acting under or by researchers acting under the be inclusion clearly and be they are the inclusion clearly and the they are the inclusion clearly and the they are observed to the they are the be to be part to the englishe. The particular dispatient, the researcher individuals may have used and written information in the segmention and revening as well up the bear of the research before any. This information will also the bear will be the the other and the research before any the bear of the the second of the particular dispatient and the bear of the research before any the particular base the approximation of the research before any the particular base the approximation of the research before any the particular base the approximation of the research before any the particle of the particular base of the particular base the approximation of the research before any the particular base the approximation of the particu	
271. How this potential poteinaires and a settingent of the settin	the recommend proceedures is for the state second on earlysis to identified? White second on earlysis explosite c-constraints of the done by the direct healthcare team opanisation(c). entity optication of the state of the state second on the state of the state of the state second on the state of the state of the state state of the state of the state of the state state of the state of the state of the state state of the state of the state of the state state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the confidential y will be maintained throug who fins the state of the state of the state of the confidential y will be maintained throug who fins the state of the state state of the confidential y will be maintained throug who fins the state of the state state state state state state state of the state state of the state state state state state state state state state state of the state state states at the state state stat	cb) Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources intere search of QP records, or review of or phrasectores carry under uld be unabled to take grunder the base of the search of the search the base of the carry of the search the base pointment while they are out decidention from the AD consultant or decidention from the AD consultant to the base pointment while they are out decidention and the AD consultant to the base of the AD consultant or decidention and the AD consultant to the base of the AD consultant of a parking and transport tarbone number, address), the date	
27.1. Low of a potential potein-pote- tic law off in a sense of the se	the recommend proceedance to be identified? White many and/or a function of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state with the state of the s	cb) Please give separate details for will carry this out and what resources need as and of QP records, or releven of or presentions eating under uld be unliable to take grunt the Boost flam the separation and is pago flam the appointment while they are out addition to the the Socialitation of anciencing from the Socialitation of the Social the Socialitation of the Social and the Social the Social the Socialitation of an anti-sing and transport of an anoing and transport of an anoing and transport of the Social the Socialitation of them by leptonen member, addressi, the delight er viell only dollam the patients contact	
221.1. Now will potential participants, and index and any angle sector sector of the method of the sector's composite determinants medical records. Indicate whether this war- medical records. Indicate whether this war- angements with the negostable case the medical records. Indicate whether this war- angement with the negostable case and the sector's comparison of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the sector of the	the reconstruction of proceedance is both the struc- tion of the structure	cb) Please give apparent which for will carry this out and which resources or by researchers acting under "In the second of the second of or by researchers acting under the be inclusion criteria and is page the fine and second of the second for the second on the neighbor. The patient department. The researcher patient department. The researcher individuals may have patient department. The researcher patient department of the research before on the second of the research before on the second of the research before and any point without having to a patient point second of the second	
27.1. Low of a pointing period parts, the used?frie carry ca	The reconstruction of proceedance is for the stra- second or examples to identify the strange of the stra- per mode a discess register. compare in provide a discess register. compare a duration of one mouth. If a patient mouth is a duration of one mouth. If a patient a duration of one mouth. If a patient a duration of one mouth. If a patient with the strange of the strange of the sample of the strange of the st	cb/ Please give acquirate details for state a search of the acoustic, or releven of interacting acquiration of the acoustic, or releven of a for presenting acquiration of the acoustic the heritage of the acoustic of the acoustic the heritage on the acoustic of the acoustic the heritage on the acoustic of the acoustic the heritage on the acoustic of the acoustic patient department. The researcher individuals may have patient department. The researcher acoustic of the acoustic of the acoustic to the born of the acoustic of the patient department. The researcher acoustic of the acoustic of the patient department of the acoustic of the thermal on the acoustic of the patient department of the acoustic of the participant the patients contact of the thermal on the acoustic of the participant while be telephoned or the following the patients contact of the following t	
In this extent way such a year to describe a submersi taky are presented a surface such as the submersion of the super- sion of the submersion of the supersistic sub- medical records. Indicate whether this a very superset with the responsible care to speak to the researcher, only then its the submersion of the submersion of the submersion of the submersion of the sub- stance and the submersion of the sub- tion of patient information and consent as contributing their experiences of thirs the participate, will be respectively as the submersion of the submersion of the sub- ticular thermation and consent include information about details of how many of the submersion of the sub- ticular thermation and the sub- ticular the submersion of the sub- stance and the submersion of the sub- stance and the submersion of the sub- stance and the submersion of the sub- ticular the submersion of the submersion of the patient of the submersion of the submersion of the submersion of the submersion of the	the extended proceedance is for the state sector of a samples to be identified? Which may mobe a discere register: compared to be done by the direct heathcare frame you'll be approached. This will happen a advariation of one momell. If a patient may will be approached. This will happen advariation of the momelling appendix of advariation of the momelling appendix of advariation of the momelling appendix of advariation of the momelling appendix advariation of the momelling appendix mation about the study, they will be given from. The information will deacted be appendix the second and appendix of the moment of the study, they will be given from. The information in the focus of portoxie information in the focus of portoxie information in the focus of the data study to building access. the have travel expenses minibured of valents of contact details (name, mail, the direct and the research will confirm will method to building access. the study appendix building access. The	<text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text>	



RAS Form	Reference:	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference:	IRAS Version 5.5.2
	17/LO/1684			17/LO/1684	
like to be involved, she will make a no	rovided them with the printed study patient infor ote of the patient's contact details (name, email.	telephone number, address), the	Use of audio/visual recordin	ig devices	
date the patient information is given to	o the patient and a convenient time to contact the	em within 24-48 hours to enable	Storage of personal data on	any of the following:	
them to remember the conversation, o	or at another convenient time agreed with them.		Manual files (includes pa	iper or film)	
A 60 4 140 - 4			NHS computers		
written information given in English.	or who have special communication needs?(e.	p. translation, use of interpreters)	Social Care Service com	puters	
Due to the enture of study we will be a	upable to rear it one English speakers and up d	a pat have the resources to	Home or other personal	computers	
translate patient information or conser-	ints. Participants must be able to understand ve	bal and written English	University computers		
information.			Private company comput	ers	
			Laptop computers		
A35. What steps would you take if a p study? Tick one option only.	participant, who has given informed consent, le	oses capacity to consent during the			
The participant and all identifiable	e data or tissue collected would be withdrawn fro	om the study. Data or tissue which	Further details:		
is not identifiable to the research tear	m may be retained.		Any data stored on a Queen Man purposes, the Sponsor and indivi	y University computer of laptop will be anonymised. For iduals from regulatory authorities may need to view da	r monitoring and audit ta generated by the study
The participant would be withdraw	wn from the study. Identifiable data or tissue alre	ady collected with consent would	perpense, are sponted that many	,,,,,,,	
be retained and used in the study. No out on or in relation to the participant	o turtner data or tissue would be collected or an	other research procedures carried	A37. Please describe the physic	al security arrangements for storage of personal da	a during the study?
The participant would continue to	be included in the study.		The original second recordings will	I he stered by the Di en a Queen Man I laiversity ener	inted hard drive in personned
Not applicable - informed conser	nt will not be sought from any participants in this	research.	protected folders stored in a lock	ed cabinet in the Blizard Institute building in Queen Ma	y University. Only the PI will
Not applicable – it is not practical	ble for the research team to monitor capacity an	d continued capacity will be	listen to the sound recordings. A	All documents related to the study will be archived at the	e study site, including the
assumed.			instang of the identities of the part	copania interes in the stady which will be kept separa	te nom oner occalifents.
			Any data stored on a Queen Man	y University computer of laptop will be anonymised.	
Further details:					
Participants may end their involvement before they end their involvement, unl	nt at any time. We will advise them that we plan less they specify otherwise. However, if they re-	to keep all data collected from them suire it, we will destroy all their data.	A38. How will you ensure the con procedures for ensuring confident	nfidentiality of personal data?Please provide a gener liality e.g. anonymisation or pseudonymisation of data	al statement of the policy and
which will be done securely. If data has	ave been used in disseminations before withdra	wal, we will advise participants that			- 
Participants must tell us by the end of	If the study if they wish to avoid their data being i	ncluded in reports, presentations	generated number, generated fro	form they will be given a "Participant Identification Nur om a simple Excel random function. This randomised	number which will be a randomly number will ensure anonymity
and research materials. After this time	e, we can still remove data from our archives. I	a participant withdraws from the	of the patients throughout the re-	search and analysis process. Participants will remain	anonymous with regards to any
study, they will not be replaced.			in the publication.	unless they have requested to be named by either the	er name, pseudonym or initials
			The second second of data will use	and an iter second as dealers will be also it iter that and	- In the Martin and America Martin Martin
CONFIDENTIAL ITY			transferred to the storage device	where it will be stored in a password protected folder	on an encrypted hard drive. The
			sound recorders memory will be	wiped.	
		ptentially be identified. It includes			
pseudonymised data capable of bein	ng linked to a participant through a unique cod	e number.	A40. Who will have access to pa	rticinante' nereonal data during the etudy? Where a	naee is hu individuale nuteida tha
Plazare and use of nemonal data du	wing the study		direct care team, please justify an	d say whether consent will be sought.	
36 Will you be undertaking one of th	he following activities at any stage /including in	the identification of notential	The Professor of Neurology, Gav	in Giovannoni, an authorized member of the research	team, will access the Electronic
articipants)?(Tick as appropriate)	ne ronowing activities at any stage (including in	the identification of potential	Health Records system to save a not be accessed again.	a scanned copy of the Patient consent form to patient	nedical notes. Patient notes will
Access to medical records by the	ose outside the direct healthcare team		Starsus and use of data affected		
Access to social care records by	those outside the direct social care team		Storage and use of data after th	e end of the study	
Electronic transfer by magnetic o	or optical media, email of computer networks		A41. Where will the data generat	ed by the study be analysed and by whom?	
snaring of personal data with oth	ner organisations		Only the PI will leten to the enum	d recordings when transcribing the data in a private Or	een Many Liniversity office, All
Export of personal data outside th	ne EEA		analysis activities within the rese	arch team will take place in this office.	con many oniversity office. All
Use of personal addresses, post	tcodes, taxes, emails or telephone numbers				
Publication of direct quotations fr	rom respondents		A42. Who will have control of an	d act as the custodian for the data generated by the	study?
Publication of data that might allo	ow identification of individuals				
ate: 14/00/2017	17	228062/1128120/27/022	Date: 14/09/2017	18	228062/1128120/27/00
uno. 1-100/2017		220002/1120128/3//803	Date: 14/08/2017	10	22000211120128/37/903
			L		

Ender in Pin and Change A. Chan		17/LO/1004	
His Alice Tromson     His Alice Tromson     Person     His Alice Tromson     Person     His Alice Tromson     Person     His Alice Tromson     Person     His Alice Tromson     How Alice     His Alice Tromson     His Alice Tromson     Person     His Alice Tromson     His Alice Tromson     His Alice Tromson     His Alice     His			
Person March 2014       Person 2014 Interaction March 2010 Design Interaction Design Interaction Part Interaction Part Interaction Part Interaction March 2010 Design Interactio		Title Forename/Initials Surname	
Line Lineway of Landes Dunde BS: Hos 2008 Interactive Media Design. Calification: A goal Catege of M. Lindon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon MR CA 2009 Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uni. of Landon Design Interaction: Gatematike, Uniteraction: Gatematikee, Uniteraction: Gatematikeee, Uniteraction: Gatematikee, Uniteraction: Gatemati	Post	Lecturer in PPI and PES	
Gualification:       Royal College of ArL London MR CR2 2010 Design (Research)         Work Area       Bit and Instank, OAUL         List and Instank, OAUL       List and Instank, OAUL         Work Area       Bit and Instank, OAUL         Kons Telephone       CO278622367         Work Net Telephone       CO278622367         Work Telephone       CO278622367         Work Telephone       CO278622367         Maximum College of ArL College of College of Co278622367       Telephone         College of Telephone       CO278622367         Act. Network with Weith Stand Stank be stored or accessed after the study has ended?       Image: Co278622367         So - 6 months       So - 6 months         So - 6 months       So - 6 months         So - 7 syers       So - 7 syers         Core 3 years       So - 7 syers		University of Dundee, Dundee BSc Hons 2008 Interactive Media Design	
Work Alexand Installay, OutDu         Lindom         Bitard Installay, OutDu         Lindom         Bitard Installay, OutDu         Lindom         Wink Frain       a flommon(genuid acuk         Wink Train Young       CORT 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 200	Qualifications	Royal College of Art, London MA RCA 2010 Design Interactions Goldsmiths, Uni. of London PhD Exp. 2018 Design Research	
	Work Address	64 Turner Street	
London Lo		Blizard Institute, QMUL	
Post Core       E 12 AB         Work Teaming and Johnsond@gmula.cuk       Work Teaming and Johnsond@gmula.cuk         Add Now long will generated able stored or accessed after the study has ended?		London	
Work Teap       a Bromsongenul ac.uk         Work Teap       a Bromsongenul ac.uk         Work Teap       a Good Statzaba         Far	Post Code	E1 2AB	
Work Telephone         02078822387           Fax         Image: Control of the control of a coccessed after the study has ended?           Outcass than 3 months         3 - 6 months           Get - 21 months         3 - 6 months           Mark Foor how fong will you store research data generated by the study?         Year: 20           Months: 0         Months: 0           A44. Foor how fong will you store research data generated by the study?         Year: 20           Months: 0         Months: 0           The original count of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say mise data life a time with we have been by which with an if lower above and life arrangements to the study. How and year after the study has ended. Say mise data life a time with we have been by weintige of a lower above and life arrangements to the study. Where the study has ended in a table at the study have access and the arrangements to that are access.           Months: 0         Months: 0           Months: 0         Months: 0           Months: 0         Months: 0           Months: 0         Monthow and low and lower been data at the study has ended. Say mise	Work Email	a.thomson@qmul.ac.uk	
Att. How long will personal data be stored or accessed after the study has ended?  Att. But so they will be accessed after the study has ended?  Att. Exh controls  3 - 6 months  3 - 6 months  3 - 7	Work Telephone	02078822367	
A43. How long will personal data be stored or accessed after the study has ended?	Pax		
□ Classes         ○ 3 - 6 months         ○ 3 - 6 months         ○ 4 - 2 months         ○ 1 - 2 months         ○ 1 - 2 months         ○ 1 - 2 months         ○ Cover 3 years    Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study? Years: 30 Months: 0 Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study? Years: 30 Months: 0 Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study? Years: 40 Months: 0 Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study has ended. Say three data will be stord; will have access and the arrangements to ensure security. The original score for ordings will be stored by ther 0 in a Queen May University of London including. All documents related to the study be archived at generation of the study blace months of the study blace will be study blace being data will be security estimation of the study the study and the study will be study will be study blace being data will be security estimation of the study the study and the study will be s	A43. How long will	personal data be stored or accessed after the study has ended?	
Or - Browning     Or - B	ULESS than 3 n	UTUTS	
Be - Ta monthe     Cover 3 years     Cover	3 – 6 months		
Or an order – 3 years     Or a 4 year     Or a 4 year     Or a 4 yeary     Or a 4 yeary     Or a 4 yea	6 – 12 months     6		
Cover 3 years  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Year: 30  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study?  Add. For how long will you store research data generated by the study how long will you how long the study has ended. Say  Add How add will be stored, who will have access and the arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say  the original count controlling will be stored by the Pin 9 and Queent Bay University or London including.  Add Gouments will be study bofore being gestroyed in line with the horn existing stored by advisory data will be study by the pin 9 and Queent you stored by the pin 9 and Pin 9	12 months – 3	years	
A44. For how long will you store research data generated by the study? Year: 20 Month: 0  A45. Por ease lyve details of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say where data will be stored, who will have access and the arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say where data will be stored, who will have access and the arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say where data will be stored, who will have access and the arrangements for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say will be activated at Dueen May University of London hulting. A document's relation to be study will be activated at Dueen May University of London in addies, and the arrangement for a storage the study show the study show the best separate from their documents. A well on the study show they document area into the study.  Accent the study show the study back being destroyed in line with the then existing secure Custen May best after the end of the study back being destroyed in line with the then existing secure Custen May best alcoording to current Oueen May University of London practice at the end of the study.  Accent the study show the the secure back and the study is the study of the study is the study show the store show the store show the study show the study	Over 3 years		
ALL Plasse give details of the long term ammigration for storage of research data after the study has ended. Say where data will be stored, who will have access and the amagements to ensure security. The original sound recordings will be stored by the P on a Queen May University of cuondo tables. The discussed to the study closed cable in the Bland Institute of London tables, and downersk related to the study the stored cable in the relation of the study have and stored in a stored in a stored in the study which will be kept segmine from other downersk. All downersk relating to the study will be related to the study thread the study laber being detay downersk relating to the study will be related to a stored in the study intervention of the downersk relating to the study will be related to a stored in the study constrained to an intervention of the downersk relating to the study will be related to a stored in the study intervention of the downersk relating to the study will be related to a stored in the study intervention of the downersk relating to the study. The study is the study care many University of London tartice, at the end of the study. The study is a stored to a study of the study is current downersk per stored by a stored by the study intervention of the study university of London tartice. The end of the study is current downersk per stored by the stored by the stored by the study is a stored by the stored b	Years: 20 Months: 0		
INCENTIVES AND FAVILENTS  ACCENTIVES  ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES  ACCENTIVES  ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCENTIVES ACCEN	Montals. 0		
NECHTICES AND PAYNETIS           A48. Will research participants receive any payments, reimbursement of expenses or any other benefits or incentive for taking part in this research?                (************************************	A45. Please give d where data will be a The original sound locked cabinet in ti will be archived at the study which wi least 20 years afte University of Lond	tables of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the tored, who will have access and the arrangements to ensure security. recording will be stored by the PI on a Outeen May University encryted hard Bitzard statilute in Goen Mary University of London building. All document of back programs are located with the state and the state of the state of the state of better back and the state of the state the state of the state of better back and the state of the state of the state of better back to be the state of the state of the state of the state of better back to be the state of the state of the state of better back to be the state of	tudy has ended. Say drive and stored in a related to the study rticipants involved in will be retained for at e Queen Mary of the study
Adk. Will research purticipants receive any psyments, reimbursement of expenses or any other benefits or incentive for taking part in this research? @YesNo /* Sk, please give defails. For monetary psyments, indicate how much and on what basis this has been determined. Travet expenses will be reimbursed for patient travet to and from the focus group sessions. Refrestments will be provided for the patients will be interchanged for patient travet to and from the focus group session. Bridgenst will also be able to keep the cardboard 9 Hole Peg Test that they were posted at the start of the study if they wish.	A45. Please give d where data will be : The original sound locked cabinet in th will be archived at the study which wi least 20 years afte University of Lond recruitment accord	statis of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the tored, who will new access and the arrangements to ensure security. recording will be stored by the PL on a Queen May University encryted hard. Bittand statilute i Queen May University of London battlers. Al document of University of London, including the Ising of the identities of the ap- Queen May University of London, including the Ising of the identities of the ap- titation of the study before being destinyed in line with the three resisting secur- tion practice. Patient Genethying data will be exceeding desting the study. The end of the study before being destinyed in line with the three resisting secu- ing the current Queen May University of London practice at the end of the study.	tudy has ended. Say drive and stored in a related to the study rifopants involved in will be relatined for at e Queen Mary of the study
(e) Yes (b) No If Yes, Desar give details. For monetary payments, indicate how much and on what basis this has been determined. Travel expenses will be reimbursed for patient travel to and from the focus group seasions. Refersiments will be reimbursed by the season of the seas	A45. Please give d where data will be : The original sound locked cabinet in ti will be archived at the study which will least 20 years after university of Lond recruitment accord	tables of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the stored, who will new access and the arrangemental to ensure accurdy. recording will be stored by the Jr or a Caeser May University anoyado taus the Bittori storettier. A local May University of Locado battleys, a Adsonment on the University of Locado, including the Isting of the identities of the part be kert separate the moder documents. In practice, Patient Garding data still be accurdy at initiation to the study the end of the study before being destingwal in line with the thren existing accurd practice. Patient Garding data still be accurdy desting that is a market. Desting the study before being cestory desting and the market. Battle data the study. The data of the study before being cestory desting within 12 months region and the study. At MEXITS	tudy has ended. Say drive and stored in a related to the study ricipants involved in will be retained for at e Queen Mary of the study
If Yes, please give defails. For nonetary payments, indicate how much and on what basis this has been determined, Toreel expenses and the indiversal for statistic tread's and not the flow group cassion. Referentments will be provided for the participants in the break time in each focus group session. Participants will also be able to keep the cardboard 9 Hole Peg Test that they were posted at the start of the study if they wish.	Adds. Please give d where data will be : The original sound locked cabine in it will be archived at the study which will be archived at the study which will east 20 years afte University of Lond recruitment accord INCENTIVES AND Adds. Will research for taking part in th	tables of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the tored, who will have access and the arrangements to ensure security. recording will be stored by the P1 on a Onesen May University encrystel hand be Bizard ratifilitie to loom May University of London building. All document elibards taskills to loom May University of London building to the study the end of the study before being destroyed in line with the then exainly security ing to current Queen May University of London practices of the and the generative security and the study before being the study. ArrAEx15 Participants reactive any payments, reimbursement of expenses or any other is research?	tudy has ended. Say drive and stored in a related to the study rticipants involved in & Queen Mary of the study of the study
	A45. Please give d where data will be a the original sound locked cables in in will be archived at the study which will least 20 years afte University of Lond recruitment accord INCENTIVES AND A46. Will research for taking part in ti @YesN	tables of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the tored, who will have access and the arrangements to ensure security. recording will be stored by the P1 on a Ouese May University encryted hard be Bizard statiller a locen Mary University of Locedo building. All document elization statiller all locens Mary University of Locedo building to the start be kept separate from there documents. All document relating to the start practice. Patient behaviory data will be accessed petatogical with 12 months and be accessed building the start of the start of the acted of the start behavior being destroyed in line with the there existing accur. In give control Queen Mary University of Locedon practice at the end of the starty. ArrAtest15 participants receive any payments, reimbursement of expenses or any other is research?	tudy has ended. Say drive and stored in a related to the study introduction to involve the related to the study of the study of the study
ate: 14/09/2017 19 228062/1128120/37/	Add. Please give d Adds. Please give d where data will be: The original sound locked cabinet in to the study which wi least 20 years after the study which wi least 20 years after INCENTIVES AND Add. Will research for taking part in to I Yos, please give Trovid expenses y rovided for the pa cardboard 9 Hole 1	It is of the long term arrangements for storage of research data after the toted, who will have access and the arrangements to ensure security. recording will be stored by the P1 on a Oneen Mary University encrystel hand and the Bizard ratifilite is locan-Mary University of London building. All document elibard institute is locan-Mary University of London building to the study. The end of the study before being destroyed in line with the then existing security in go our end Queen Mary University of London practice at the end of the study. Arritect15 Arritect15 In research? In research? In the study and the study of the study in is research? In research of the study in the bizer of the study. Arritect16 In research? In the break time in each locar group session. Refer tripping in the break time in each locar group session. Participants will also go the study optical study in the study and on what basis this has all be reinbursed for patient travel to and from the focus group session. Refer tripping in the break time in each locar group session. Participants will also go the study expected and the study of the study in the study in the study in the break time in each locar group session. Participants will also the reinbursed for patient travel to and from the focus group session. Refer tripping the basis were patient at the study of	tudy has ended. Say drive and sloned in a method shored in a method shored in a method shored of a distribution of the shored of the study of the study of the study of the study schem determined shored shored by a been determined

1010101		Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5
A47. Will inc	ividual researchers receive	any personal payment over and above non	mal salary, or any other benefits o
incentives, f	or taking part in this resear	rch?	
Yes	No		
A48. Does the	e Chief Investigator or any	other investigator/collaborator have any dir	ect personal involvement (e.g.
give rise to a	possible conflict of interes	st?	or rendering the research that may
O Yee	(C) No.		
0.03			
NOTIFICATI		A1 S	
Noninokni		A20	
A49-1. Will y	ou inform the participants'	General Practitioners (and/or any other hea	Ith or care professional responsit
for their can	b) that they are taking part i	in the study?	
○ Yes	No		
If Yes, pleas	e enclose a copy of the infor	mation sheet/letter for the GP/health profession	onal with a version number and date
PUBLICATIO	ON AND DISSEMINATION		
A50. Will the	research be registered on	a public database?	
Yes	No		
0			
Please give	details, or justify if not regist	lering the research.	
The researc	h will not be registered on a	public database, as there seems to be none	for this specific study area. If the
REC can re	command a relevant databa	ee we have no objections to registering the r	asearch
REC can re	commend a relevant databa	se, we have no objections to registering the r	esearch.
REC can re	commend a relevant databa	se, we have no objections to registering the r puraged wherever possible.	esearch.
REC can re Registration You may be or publish y	commend a relevant databa of research studies is enco able to register your study our proficed through an one	se, we have no objections to registering the r puraged wherever possible. through your NHS organisation or a register r a access publisher. If you are aware of a suit	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of
REC can re Registration You may be or publish y publication,	n of research studies is enco e able to register your study our protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y	se, we have no objections to registering the r puraged wherever possible. through your NHS organisation or a register r n access publisher. If you are aware of a suit ou may indicate that no suitable register exis	esearch. un by a medical research charily, able register or other method of ts. Please ensure that you have
REC can re Registration You may be or publish y publication, entered reg	n of research studies is enco a ble to register your study our protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y istry reference number(s) in	se, we have no objections to registering the r buraged wherever possible. through your NHS organisation or a register r n access publisher. If you are aware of a suit or any indicate that no suitable register exis question AS-1.	esearch. un by a medical research charily, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have
REC can re Registration You may be or publish y publication, entered reg	I minimo to regulate on a commend a relevant databa on of research studies is enco able to register your study our protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y istry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d	se, we have no objections to registering the r uranged wherever possible. through your HNS cognisation or a register r n access publisher. If you are aware of a suit our may indicate that no suitable register exist question A5-1. Isseminate the mesuits of the study 27/ck as	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have anomoniate
REC can re Registration You may b or publish y publication, entered reg	In wirm of the registration of the commend a relevant database of research studies is enco- eable to register your study your protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y istry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d	se, we have no objections to registering the r wraged wherever possible. through your NHS organisation or a register r access publisher, il you are aware of a suit ou may indicate that no suitable register exis question A5-1. isseminate the results of the study?Tick as a	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be or publication, entered reg A51. How do	and the second of register your study of research studies is enco- able to register your study our protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y istry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals	e, we have no objections to registering the truncaged wherever possible. Invarged wherever possible. Through pour INFS cognisation or a register in access publisher. If you are aware of a suit our may indicate that no suitable register arisis question AS-1. isseminate the results of the study?Tick as	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be or publish y publication, entered reg A51. How do	commend a register your studies is enco able to register your study able to register your study instry reference number(s) instry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report	ex, we have no objections to registering the r suraged wherever possible functionary our MRS organisation or a register in sccess publisher. If you are evener of a suit of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription sccess publisher. If you are evener of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and a subscription of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and subscription of a subscription (scenario) and scenario) and scenario of a subscription of a subscription of a subscription (scenario) and scenario) and scenario (scenario) and scenario) and scenario) and scenario) and scenario) (scenario) and scenario) and	esearch. un by a medical research charly, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be or publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Internal Confere	commend a register your studies is enco able to register your study able to register your study please give details. If not, y you instruct intrage and give details. If not, y you instruct intrage and the you instruct to report and d viewed scientific journals report not persentation	e., we have no objections to registering the r unged inheren (5000) the state of	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be or publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Internal Confere Publication Publication	commend a relevant databa of research studies (is enco- table to register your study our protocol through an ope please give detains. If not, y istry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report ince presentation film on website	ex, we have no objections to registering the r surged where Possible through your MOS openingside call angles at your may indicate that no suitable register exist or may indicate that no suitable register exist question A5-1.	esearch. un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of is. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be or publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Vinternal Confere Publica Other p	commend a relevant databa of research studies is enco- able to register your study our protocol through an ope please give detains. If not, y istry reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report noce presentation tion on website bulication	ex, eve have no objections to registering the rought entry of t	un by a medical research charly, able register or other method of all, Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration you may bu or publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Internal Confere Publication Confere Publication Publ	commend a relevant databa or of research studies is enco able to register your study our protocol through an ope please give details. If not, y istary reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report ince presentation tion on website ublication	ée, we have no objections to registering the r wraged where Possible. Wraged your MSG organisation can angleter mouth your MSG organisation same of a sub- ray indicate that no subble register exis question A5-1. Isseminate the results of the sludy?TCk as : 10 million of the sludy?TCk as : 10 m	esearch. un by amount classify, un by amount or other method of s. Please ensure that you have appropriate:
REC can re Registration You may be publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Pinternal Conferr Publica Conferr Publica Conferr Publica Conferr Publica Conferr Publica Conferr Publica Conferr Publica	commend a relevant databa of of research studies is encor able to register your study our protocol through an ope place give details, if noc y stary reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report noce presentation tion on website blication sion to regulatory authorities	ex. eve have no objections to registering the requirements of the registering the requirements of the registering of the requirements of the register exits of the study? Trick as a constrained the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results and the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results and the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results and the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results and the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results and the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as a second of all the results of the study? Trick as second of all the results of the study? Trick as sec	esearch. un by medical research charity, te register or other method of ts. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee
REC can re Registration You may b publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Internal Conferr Publica Other p Submis Access on behalf on Access	commend a relevant databa of rresearch studies is even date to registery our study our protocol through an ope passa give deals. If not, y taby reference number(s) in you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report tion on vessile duication sion for regulatory author(lie to raw data and right to public all investigators	ée, ee have ne objections to registering the r uraged wherever possible. Invaged wherever possible invaged wherever possible or any indicate that no suitable register exist question A5-1. Isseeminate the results of the study?TCk as isseeminate the results of the study?TCk as is thereby by all investigators in study or by in table by by all investigators in study or by in the study or by in the study or by in the study.	esearch. un by amount deserver charge, the register content and the method of ta. Please maure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee
REC can re Registration You may be or publish publication, entered reg AS1. How de Peer re Internal Conferr Publica Other p Submis Access on behalf o No plat	commend a relevant databa of of research studies is each add to register your study our protocol through a ray ad- add to register your study you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report more presentation ision on website ublication ision to regulatory authorities tail investigators is on report of tail investigators	ex, we have no objections to registering the requirements of the registering the requirements of the registering of the registering of the register of the study? Trick as a second of a second of the study? Trick as a second of a second of the register	un by a medical research charity, able register or other method of a. Rease ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee
REC can re Registration You may be or publish or publication, entered reg A51. How do Per re Internal Confere Publica Confere Publica Confere Publica Confere Submis Access on behalf o No plar	commend a relevant databa dels in register your study also is negative your study please give declais. <i>If not</i> , you please give declais. <i>If not</i> , you you latend to report and d wiewed scientific, journals report not presentation tion on website ubication to raw data and right to public to raw data and right to raw	ée, we have no objections to registering the r uraged where possible. Uraged where possible necessa polither, buy one newer of a sub- necessa polither, buy one newer of a sub- necessa polither, buy one newer of a sub- section AS-1. isseminate the results of the study?TCk as: isseminate the results of the study?TCk as: is is in the flag by all investigators in study or by in he results.	esearch. un by medical insearch charry, the register or charr, method of ts. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee
REC can re Registration You may be or publics p publication, entered reg A51. How do Peer re Internal Confere Publica Conferer Confere	commend a relevant databa deb negative your study our probable negative your study our probable negative your study our probable negative your study our probable negative your study relevant your study relevant your study weeks significant neg presentation non website bublication to new data and right to public to nave data and right to public to rave data and right to rave	ée, we have no objections to registering the r surged wherever possible. The provide the provide the surged are informed on may indicate that no subable register exist question A5-1. Itseeminate the results of the sludy?Tick as: is the surged by all investigators in study or by in the results.	esearch. un by anotocial research downly, also register or come methods of ts. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee
REC can re Registration you may be or publication publication A51. How do Peer re Confer Publication Confer Publication Confer Publication Confer Other (p No plar Other (p A52. If you you you	commend a relevant databa of measers shade is enclained up of a flag shade is neglisely up at flag shade is neglisely up at flag please give destine. If not, please give destine. If not, shade the shade the shade the shade report and presentation tion on weakline dicitation ison to regulatory autoholities ison to regulatory autoholities to report or disseminate II blease specify Iff the using identifiable perf	ex. we have no objections to registering the r unspeed resources possible. Interpret possible, and a second second second second access publicle - you are avere of a sub- access publicle - you are avere of a sub- access publicle - you are avere of a sub- access of the sub- register of the sub- register of the sub- second secon	esearch: un by a matical insearch chair); te register or other method of s. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee aty will be maintained when
REC can re Registration you may be or publication publication A51. How do Peer re Confert Publication Confert Publication Confert Publication Confert Other pi Confert Other () A52. If you y publishing t	commend a relevant databa dels in registrer of studies is encoder and the interplane of studies is de- tables in registrer out study please give destins. If not, a study reference number(ig) in yous intend to resport and d wiewed scientific journals report more presentation tion on explaintory authonities to raw data and right to public to raw data and right to raw data and right to raw data and right to raw data	ée, we have no objections to registering the r wraged where rootsble. wraged services possible wraged services possible for a service of a service of a service of a service of a more include that no suitable register exist quadratic AS-1. isseminate the results of the study?Tick a: is the freely by all investigators in study or by in her results sonal data, how will you ensure that anonym	search. un by medical inservich charry, the register or charry, ts. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee thy will be maintained when
REC can re Registration You may b or publics in publics in publics in publics in metered res A51. How do Publics Publics Onfere You function Submis Confere You function Submis Confere You function Submis Confere Confere Submis Confere Submis Confere Submis Confere Submis Confere Submis Confere Confere Submis Confere Confere Submis Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Confere Conf	commend a relevant databa data for greaters at subtest is encour- able to register your study please give cetatist. If rod, you please give cetatist. If rod, you you intend to report and d viewed scientific journals report ince presentation ince presentation inco n vetabilit to raw data and right to public is to report or disseminate II viewes specify it low subjects to report or disseminate II viewes testing the subjects the results?	ée, we have no objections to registering the re wraged wherever possible. Montply your MYS comparison on an of a set to any object of the set of the set of the set of the set or any indicate that no subble register exist question ASS. I Its members of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the set of the is the results of the set of the set of the set of the set of the is the results of the set of the set of the set of the set of the is the results of the set of the is the results of the set of the is the results of the set of th	esearch. un by amplication dealing, the register or dealer method of ts. Please ensure that you have appropriate: dependent Steering Committee sty will be maintained when 228062/1128129/37

RAS Form Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.
Identifiable personal data such as participants details (Names, addresses, email addre will be collected at recruitment from patients but will not be shared. When participants as be given a "Participant leshification Number" which will be a randomy generated numbe Excel random function. This randomised number will ensure anonymity of the participar and analysis process.	sses and phone numbers) gn the consent form they will r, generated from a simple ts throughout the research	This sample will be group of participants living with MS. The participants to speak	surposively sampled to ensure that a range of experiences are of that are involved in the study to ensure they are representative IS Consultant and NS Nurse will be aware of this sampling met to the research when recruiting in outpatients.	captured and conveying in the of the wider population of people hod when they refer potential
When disseminating the results of the study, participants will have the option to have the included in the study publications, crediting their involvement.	ir names or a pseudonym	A60. How was the sa giving sufficient infor	mple size decided upon? If a formal sample size calculation w mation to justify and reproduce the calculation.	vas used, indicate how this was done,
A53. Will you inform participants of the results?		Each focus group wi research experience	If have between eight and ten participants. This number was de with focus groups involving ten participants, and the Barts MS A	ecided upon based on previous dvisory Group, involving ten. As
		uns is a quantative s	udy, the number of participants is small due to the role of their i	involvement in producing data.
Please give details of how you will inform participants or justify if not doing so. First and foremost, the researcher will return the key findings to the study participants alo or post) of thanks. This will also include a one page hand out summarizing the key findin and if they noted to be under due to the project development through the mailtoin list. They	ng with a letter (sent via email gs from each focus group,	A62. Please describe which the data will b	<ul> <li>the methods of analysis (statistical or other appropriate met e evaluated to meet the study objectives.</li> </ul>	thods, e.g. for qualitative research) t
and a mey opped to be opported on the project detectopment anough the maning has any t	and receive and.	Descriptive statistics EDSS and 9HPT sco	will be used to analyse quantitative information to describe the ores of participants involved in both the focus groups and the on	sample explaining the range of line survey.
Scentific and statistical Keview  A54. How has the scientific quality of the research been assessed?Tick as appropriate     Independent external review	:	Qualitative data ana interacted as a grou gathered from the fc similiar research aro that patients experie	ysis will be used to determine how participants contributed to th p in this process. The process of Immersion/Crystallization w cus group sessions. This method has been successfully used lund analysing experiential knowledge and will enable the resea ntial knowledge plays in PROM development.	e PROM development and ill be used to analyse the data before by the researcher and in archer to consider the unique role
Review within a company		Data analysis will oc	cur before (recording the initial engagement with the topic and	any prior biases), during and after
Review within a multi-centre research group		the data is collected	to ensure it is high-quality. This will allow the researcher to con	sider the influence of their own
Review within the Chief Investigator's institution or host organisation		background on the ti	nai results and interpretation.	
Review within the research team		The research team of previous knowledge	will then meet and establish key themes as a framework for initiand experience of PROM development activities and profession	al analysis from the teams
Review by educational supervisor		research team in the	analysis process can ensure pitfalls such as drawing prematu	ire conclusions or inability to reach
Other		closure, are avoided	The feature around will be transactional worketion by the researchers	and subsequently and along
Justify and describe the review process and outcome. If the review has been undertaken researcher, give details of the body which has undertaken the review: The PI submitted the study protocol for peer review from two members of staff from Quee	but not seen by the	" with the researcher's 'crystallizations', insi of the study, is to an	I handwritten field notes recording group interactions and taking ights or reflections noted during data collection in the field notes alyse the interactions amongst the participants within the focus	g into consideration any s. This is key as a secondary aim group sessions.
Dr Klaus Schmierer is a consultant Neurologist who is a specialist in the area of MS rese to improve the patient quality of life for people with upper limb issues. Dr Schmierer's cor scientific background of the study and clarified the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Folior included more relevant literature to this area.	earch and leads on activities mments regarded the ving this comments, the PI	The PI will immerse then aim to validate interpretations. The	themselves in the data to create sub-themes can then be assor the established sub-themes by rereading the text, searching for analysis will be presented back to the research team.	ciated to key themes. The PI will alternative hypothesis and
Dr Karen Hoffman is an occupational Therapist based at Barts Health NHS Trust and has people with MS but also developing PROMs. Dr Hoffman's comments regarded the methr qualitative analysis process. Following Dr Hoffman's comments, the PI re-arranged the Lite primary and secondary objectives and re-wrote the data analysis section of the protor	s experience both treating boology of the study and the yout of the protocol, clarified col.	After the three stage This will give the par researcher has com	s of focus groups have finished, the PI will feedback the conclus ticipants an opportunity to express any further reflections or poin pleted the analysis, a final account of the data will be created for	sions reported to the participants. Ints for discussion. After the or dissemination.
For all studies except non-doctoral student research, please enclose a copy of any availab together with any related correspondence.	Ne scientific critique reports,	6. MANAGEMENT OF	THE RESEARCH	
For non-doctoral student research, please enclose a copy of the assessment from your ed	lucational supervisor/institution.	A63. Other key inves members of the Chie	tigators/collaborators. Please include all grant co-applicants, f Investigator's team, including non-doctoral student researcher	protocol co-authors and other key 's.
A59. What is the sample size for the research? How many participants/samples/data re total? If there is more than one group, please give further details below.	cords do you plan to study in			
Total UK sample size: 10			Title Forename/Initials Surname Dr. Carol Bivas	
Total international sample size (including UK): 10		Post	Senior Lecturer (Associate Professor)	
Total in European Economic Area: 10			PhD Medical Sociology, Queen Mary, London University (2012)	
Further details: Each focus group will comprise of, between eight and ten participants. Each participant w	vill attend three focus group.	Qualifications	MSc Cognitive Neuropsychology (Distinction) (evening course), 1993) BSc (Hons) Zoology (Upper Second), Queen Mary College, Lor specialised in physiology and behaviour	, Birkbeck, London University (1991- Idon University (1978-1981):

	17/LO/1684		
	PGCAP (distinction) 2013		
Employer	University College London		
Work Address	SSRU, UCL		
	18 Woburn Square		
Post Code	WC1H 0NR		
Telephone	02076126923		
Fax			
Mobile			
Work Email	c.nvasgud.ac.uk		
	Title Forename/Initials Surname		
	Professor Gavin Giovannoni		
Post	Professor of Neurology		
Qualifications	MBBCh, FCP, CCST, PhD		
Employer	Queen Mary University of London		
Work Address	Bizard Institute, Centre for Neuroscience and Trauma		
	4 Newark Street		
Post Code	E1 2AT		
Telephone	02078828954		
Fax			
Mobile			
Work Email	g.giovannoni@qmul.ac.uk		
64. Details of re	search sponsor(s)		
.64. Details of re 34-1. Sponsor	search sponsor(s)		
.64. Details of re 64-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor	search sponsor(s)		
64. Details of re 34-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: ONHS	search sponsor(s)	Commercial status:	Non-
.64. Details of re 54-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: ONHS @Acad	search sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation termic	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 44-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @Acar _ Phan	search sponsor(s) i or HSC care organisation temic mexecuted industry	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 84-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @ Acat @ Phat @ Med	search sponsor(s)	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 34-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @Acar Phan @Med @Lease	search sponsor(s) for HSC care organisation femic mexecution industry cal device industry cal device industry	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 44-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS Acaa Phan Med Locs	search sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation temic mecedical industry al Authority	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 64.1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @Acad Phai OMed Loca Othe	earch sponsor(s) ior HSC care organisation famic mexcellal industry cal device industry 4 Authority ir social care provider (including voluntary sector or private	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 34-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @ Acad Details Med CLCE Othe organis Othe	earch sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation femic mexcitical industry cal device industry (Authority) foolia care provider (industing voluntary sector or private totor) r	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
64. Details of re 14-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS Status: NHS Acac Phan Med Cother Other If Other, I	earch sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation termic mexcludi industry cat device industry 4.4thorby for social care provider (including voluntary sector or private or biology categories (including voluntary sector or private) or biology	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
44- Details of ro 44-1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @ Acat Data Data Other, If Other, Contect pages	aearch sponsor(s) i or HSC care organisation femic maceudical industry cal device industry cal device industry r scala care provider (industing voluntary sector or private storio) r e	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
44. Datain of ro 44.1. Sponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS @ Acat O Phan O Med O Companisa O Other If Other, Contact person	earch sponsor(s) i or HSC care organisation Jemic mexecutal industry cal device industry a device industry # postal care provider (industing voluntary sector or private titori) d please specify:	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
Contact person	assech sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation ternic maceutical industry cal device industry Autoraty social care provider (industing voluntary sector or private autoration) or please specify: autoration Queen Mary, University of London	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
44. Details of ro     44.1. Sponsor     44.1. Sponsor     Contact person     NHS     Other     Other     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organisi     organis     organis	asarch sponsor(s) i or HSC care organisation temic temic temic cal device industry cal device industry cal device industry a social care provider (industry r process apendy: r temic temi	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial
44.1.3ponsor Lead Sponsor Status: NHS Acas Phan Acas Othe Contact person Name of organisi Family name	search sponsor(s) or HSC care organisation term: maceutical industry tAuthority tAuthority tAuthority c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	Commercial status:	Non- Commercial

Address Townicity Post code Country Telephone Fax E-mail Is the sponsor bar O Yes No Under the Researc	Joint Research Management Office (JRMO), Queen Mary Innovation Cente, Lower ( Proof, SYMae) E12EF UNITED KINGDOM 02078827205 02078827205 0.0078827276 s.burfles@gmul.ac.uk	Ground
Townicity Post code Country Telephone Fax E-mail Is the sponsor bas Ores No Under the Research	Poor, 5 wate London E 1 2EF UNITEC KKOGOM 027 78827265 s. burtles@gmul.ac.uk sed outside the UK?	
Post code Country Telephone Fax E-mail Is the sponsor bas O Yes No Under the Researc	Europe El 26F UNITE KINGDOM 02078227265 0207827275 autrite@gmul.ac.uk	
Country Telephone Fax E-mail Is the sponsor bat O Yes No Under the Researce	L L LEU UNITED KINGDOM 02778827265 02778827276 8. burtles@gmul.ac.uk	
Telephone Fax E-mail Yes (*) No Under the Research	Unite_INReGUM	
Telephone Fax E-mail Is the sponsor bas Yes No Under the Researc	0077827265 007 78827276 s.burtles@gmul.ac.uk	
Fax E-mail Sthe sponsor bas Yes No Under the Researc	020 7822 7276 s.burrles@qmul.ac.uk sed outside the UK?	
E-mail	s.burtlesgighnul.ac.uk	
Is the sponsor bas Yes No Under the Research	sed outside the UK?	
Under the Research		
legal representativ	ch Governance Framework for Health and Social Care, a sponsor outside the UK must ap re established in the UK. Please consult the guidance notes.	ipoint a
A65. Has external fe	unding for the research been secured?	
Funding secure	ed from one or more funders	
External fundin	g application to one or more funders in progress	
No application	for external funding will be made	
What type of resea	irch project is this?	
Standalone pre	oject	
Project that is	part of a programme grant	
Project that is a	part of a Centre grant	
Breiset that is	nort of a fallowship ( namonal award) reasonab training award	
Fioject that is	part of a fellowship/ personal award/research training award	
Other		
Other - please stat	te:	
Please give details	of funding applications.	
Organisation	Home Family Foundation	
Address	1390 North McDowell Blvd., Suite G – #186,	
	Petaluma	
Post Code	CA 94954	
Telephone	707-775-2466	
Fax		
Mobile		
Email	info@hornefamilyfoundation.org	
Funding Application	on Status: <ul> <li>Secured    <ul> <li>In progress</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	
Amount: 60	0,000.00	
Duration		
Date: 14/09/2017	24 228062/1	128129/37/98

101010111		Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version
Years:			1
Months:			
If applicable, pl	ease specify the programme	/ funding stream:	
What is the fun	ting stream/ programme for t	his research project?	
A66. Has response than a co-sponse	ibility for any specific resea r listed in A64-1) ? Please g	irch activities or procedures been dele ive details of subcontractors if applicable	gated to a subcontractor (other e.
⊛Yes ⊜N	2		
Name: Harriet	Smith		
Type of organis	ation:	0.0	
ONHS ON	cademic O Commercial 🔘	Other	
Please give furt	her details of sub-contractor a	and main areas of delegated responsibil	ity: Professional facilitator
involveu in leau	ng me mee nocus groups		
Please provide a reasons for the ui	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee	ion letter(s). You should explain in your n addressed in this application.	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the un	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D conta	iion letter(s). You should explain in your n addressed in this application. act for this research:	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detai	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D conta Title Forename/Initials S	iion letter(s). You should explain in your n addressed in this application. act for this research: urname	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the un A68-1. Give detai	copy of the unfavourable opinion flavourable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D conta Title Forename/Initials Si Pushpen Jo	ion letter(s). You should explain in your n addressed in this application. act for this research: urname shill	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D contr Tille Forename/Initials Si Pushpen Jc Queen Mary, University of Jcrit Besearch Managem	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a addressed in this application. act for this research: urname ashi London - Quan Maru Jonouth	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have been a of the lead NHS R&D contu- Tible Forename/initiale Si Pushpen Jc Queen Mary, University of Joint Research Managem Lower Ground For, 5 W	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a addressed in this application. act for this research: urname shi London ent Office (FMO), Queen Mary Innovati dem Street	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D contr Tible Forename/Initials S Pushpen Jc Queen Mary, University of Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Floor, 5 Wa London	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a addressed in Ma application. act for this research: urname anti London to Office (RMO), Queen Mary Innovati Mén Street	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detai Organisation Address Post Code	copy of the unfavourable opin favourable opinion have bee a of the lead NHS R&D conta Title Forename/Initials S Pushpen J. Queen Many, University of Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Floor, 5 Wa London E1 25F	iion letter(s). You should explain in your a ddressed in this application. act for this research: umane shi London ent Office (IRMO), Queen Mary Innovski dden Street	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detai Organisation Address Post Code Work Email	copy of the unfavourable opinion have bee feverable opinion have bee s of the lead NHS R&D contu Tille Forename/Initials S Pushpen J Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Floor, 5 Wa London E 1 2EF sponsorarc@bartshealt	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a ddressed in this application. act for this research: urname shi London to (Office (RMO), Queen Mary Innovati iden Street	answer to question AG-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the un A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Telephone	copy of the unfavourable opinion have bee a of the lead NHS R&D conti Title Forename/Initials S Pushpen Downship Outern Man, University of Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Infor, S Wa London E1 2EF sponsorsrep@bartshealt	ion lefter(s). You should explain in your a difference in this application. act for this research: umame shi London ent Office (IRMO), Queen Mary Innovati deen Street h.nhs.uk	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Telephone Fax	copy of the unfavourable cophin favourable ophinion have bee a of the lead NHS R&D contr Tille Forename/initials Si- Pushpen Jo Queen Mary, University of Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Floor, 5 Wa London E 1 2EF sponsorsreg@bartshealt 020 7882 6574	ion Jetter(s). You should explain in your a addressed in this application. Let for this research: urname shi London tel (Office (RMO), Queen Mary Innovati kiden Street	answer to question AG-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the un A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Telephone Fax Mobile	copy of the unferviourable opinion have been ferviourable opinion have been as of the lead NHS R&D contr TBE proteaments is perturned in the second second perturned in the second second cont Research Many, University of London London El 12EF sponsorsnipgBartsheall cont 7882; cfr 4 202 7882; cfr 4 202 7882; cfr 4	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a siddressed in this application. act for this research: umame shill London ent Office (FRMO), Queen Mary Innovati daten Street nhs.uk	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Teleptone Fast Mobile Details can be ot	opp of the unfreventable opping a of the lead NHS R&D control Particle Porenamolrinitials Si Putation J. Control Control Reads, U. Manage Gardin Reads, U. Manage London Filor, S. Wu London Control Filor, S. Wu London Filor, S.	ion lefter(s). You should explain in your a datessed in this application. act for this research: unname base base base to Office (IRMO), Queen Mary Innovasi kiden Street h nths uk	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the un reasons for the un A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Telephone Fax Mobile Details can be of	copy of the unfreventable ophics have bee a of the lead NHS R&D conti Tile Forename/initials Si Pustpern J: Oursen Mary, University Joint Research Managem Lower Ground Floor, 5 Wa Lobit E of Conum Floor, 5 Wa Lobit Color 20 7182 (25) 20 7182 (	ion lefter(s). You should explain in your a datessed in this application. act for this research: urname sain London London Storet toffice (IRMO), Queen Mary Innovati den Siteet h.nhs.uk sorum webaite: <u>http://www.clforum.chs.uk</u> et In the IKY?	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Telephone Fax Mobile Details can be of A69-1. How long :	Copy of the unflavourable control have been a of the lead NHS R&D control Title Forename/initials S Pustgeen J Course NARY, University Jaim Research Wang,	ion jetter(s). You should explain in your a ddressed in this application. act for this research: urname shi London to folice (JRMO), Gueen Mary Innovati iden Street h.nha.uk soum webaile: <u>http://www.ctforum.nha.uk</u> at In the UK?	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Teleptone Fax Mobile Details can be ob A69-1. How long Planned start da	opp of the undervourselve opport of the lead NIS R&D cont Tile - Proteiner-Initials & Journe May, University of Journe May, University of Journe May, University of Journe May, University of Journe May, University of Sponsorreg Bartsheat Sponsorreg Bartshe	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a diversed in this application. act for this research: umane shi London ent Office (RMO). Queen Mary Innovati diden Street h.nhs.uk shum website <u>http://www.citicoum.nhs.uk</u> at in the UK?	answer to question AG-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work Email Teleptone Fax Mobile Details can be of A69-1. How long Planned start of Planned end dat Planned end dat Planned start of Planned star	Copy of the unflavourable copins a of the lead NHS R&D contr Title Forename/initials S Pustpen J. Cueen Nary, University of Joint Research Warth of the Lower Crown Floor, S WE Lomoto E 1 2EF London E 1 2EF 2017 Copies 12 2017 Copie	ion jetter(s). You should explain in your a ddressed in this application. act for this research: urname bahi London to Office (JRMO), Queen Mary Innovati iden Street h.nhs.uk srum website: <u>http://sesse.rationem.nhs.uk</u> at in the UK?	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work femail Telephone Fax Nobile Details can be of A69-1. How long. Planned end atart da Total duration:	opp of the undervoursele opport of the undervoursele opport Title processment of the lead NHS R&D cont Title processment of the lead NHS R&D cont Jacon Mary, Livensky of Jacon Mary, Livensky	ion letter(s). You should explain in your a diversed in this application. act for this research: umame shi London ent Office (RMO), Queen Mary Innovati Men Street h.nhs.uk h.nhs.uk stain website: <u>blas Jacon rationen nhs.uk</u> at in the UK?	answer to question A6-2 how the
Please provide a reasons for the ur A68-1. Give detail Organisation Address Post Code Work fismal Telephone Fax Mobile Details can be of A69-1. How long Planned and dal Planned end	Copy of the undersvarable opinion have bee a of the lead NHS RAD control Tille Forenancin and the second second putpersonal and the second second second putpersonal second from 5 We London En 2017 Second Second Second E 1 2EF second Floor 5 We London E 1 2EF second Second Second Second E 1 2EF second Second Second Second Second Second Second E 1 2EF second Second Second Second Second Second Second E 1 2EF second Second Second Second Second Second Second E 1 2EF second Second Second Second Second Second Second Second E 1 2EF second	ion lefter(s). You should explain in your a differsed in this application. act for this research: urname John John John Man Steet h.nhs.uk h.nhs.uk brum webaite: <u>http://www.cdforum.chs.uk</u> at in the UK?	answer to question A6-2 how the

IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5
Years: 0 Months: 8 Days: 0		
A71-1. Is this study?		
Single centre		
Multicentre		
A71-2. Where will the research take place	e? (Tick as appropriate)	
England		
Scotland		
Wales		
Northern Ireland		
Other countries in European Econor	nic Area	
Total UK sites in study		
Does this trial involve countries outside	the EU?	
OYes ONo		
NHS organisations in England	1	
NHS organisations in Wales		
INVISION Organisations in Scotland	ul.	
CB prostings in Fooland	iu	
CP practices in England		
GP practices in Wales		
GR practices in Northern Ireland		
Joint health and social care agencies	s (eq	
community mental health teams)	- (	
Local authorities		
Phase 1 trial units		
Prison establishments		
Probation areas		
Independent (private or voluntary sec	tor)	
organisations	1	
Independent research units	1	
Other (nive details)		
Unity Kitchen Cafe	1	
Total UK sites in study:	3	
	tified through any organisations other than	the research sites listed shows?
A73-1. Will potential participants be iden		the research sites instea above.
A73-1. Will potential participants be iden	26	229062/1129120/27/0

	17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2
⊖Yes		
A74. What arrangements are in	place for monitoring and auditing the conduct of the re-	search?
The Principal Investigator will ret study may be inspected by the re and documents will be undertak Principal Investigator. An interna	ain the right to audit any study, study site or central facility. egulatory bodies and funders where applicable. Quality con en should a need be identified. The sponsor delegates th i audit may be conducted by the sponsor representative.	In addition, any part of the nhrol checks of procedures his responsibility to the
A76. Insurance/ indemnity to m	eet potential legal liabilities	
<u>Note:</u> in this question to NHS in (HSC) in Northern Ireland	ndemnity schemes include equivalent schemes provid	ed by Health and Social Care
A76-1. What arrangements will t sponsor(s) for harm to participa	be made for insurance and/or indemnity to meet the pot ints arising from the <u>management</u> of the research? <i>Ple</i>	ential legal liability of the ease lick box(es) as applicable.
<u>Note:</u> Where a NHS organisation Indicate if this applies (there is no arrangements and provide evide	has agreed to act as sponsor or co-sponsor, indemnity is o need to provide documentary evidence). For all other sp nce.	provided through NHS schemes. onsors, please describe the
NHS indemnity scheme will	apply (NHS sponsors only)	
Other insurance or indemnit	y arrangements will apply (give details below)	
Queen Mary University of Londo be in place for this study.	in is the sponsor and has arranged suitable indemnity co	ncerning negligent harm to
Please enclose a copy of relevan	t documents.	
A76-2. What arrangements will b sponsor(s) or employer(s) for ha applicable.	be made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po arm to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the resea	tential legal liability of the rch? Please tick box(es) as
A76-2. What arrangements will b sponsor(s) or employer(s) for hu applicable. <u>Note:</u> Where researchers with su through NHS schemes. Indicate i authors (e.g. company employee	be made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po arm to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the resear balantive NHS employment contracts have designed the. It has applies (there is no need to provide documentary ve a, university members), please describe the arrangemen	tential legal liability of the rch? Please tick box(es) as research, indemnity is provided idence). For other protocol Is and provide evidence.
A76-2. What arrangements will b sponsor(s) or employer(s) for hi applicable. Note: Where researchers with su through NHS schemes. Indicate i authors (e.g. company employee NHS indemnity scheme will	se made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po arm to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the rease batantive NHS employment contracts have designed the. If this apples (three is no need to provide documentary ev s, university members), please decision the arrangemen apply (protocol authors with NHS contracts only)	tential legal liability of the rch? Please lick box(es) as research, indemnity is provided idence). For other protocol is and provide evidence.
A76-2. What arrangements will & sponsor(s) or employer(s) for har applicable. Note: Where researchers with su through NHS schemes. Indicate if authors (e.g. company employee NHS indemnity scheme will Other insurance or indemnit	De made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po- term to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the read- bistantive NHS employment contract have designed the the applicat pitce and the size to need to provide designed the a university members), please designed the arrangement papy (protocal autors with NHS contracts only) y arrangements will apply (give details below)	tential legal liability of the rch? Please tick box(es) as research, indemnity is provided idence). For other protocol is and provide evidence.
AT6-2. What arrangements will Esponsor(s) or employer(s) for has applicable. Mode: Where researchers with su through NHS schemes. Indicate i authors (e.g. company employee WHS indemnity scheme will W Other insurance or indemnit Please enclose a copy of relevan	De made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po- term to participants arising from the designed of the reade batantion MYS employment contracts have designed he is applied members), please describe the arrangement is a university members), please describe the arrangement pacy (protocal authors with NHS contracts on/) y arrangements will apply (give details below) it documents.	tential legal liability of the nch? Please lick box(et) as research, holdormity a provided vision, for other provide vision, for other provide stand provide evidence.
A76-2. What arrangements will be sponsorip or employer(s) for hu sponsorip or employer(s) for hu sponsories. Indicate through INFS schemes. Indicate Mitter (e.g. computer medicate Mitter (e.g. computer Mitter (e.g. computer Mitter (e.g. computer Mitter (e.g. computer Mitter Mitter (e.g. computer Mitter	De made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po term to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the need batantite NFS employment contracts have the decumentary e to any end of the single and the single source the arrangement source with NFS contracts only in y arrangements will apply (give details below) t documents.	tential legal legal legal tability of the mch7 Please lick loxice) as research, indemnity a provided idence, For other potocol ts and provide evidence.
A76-2. What arrangements will E sponsor(s) or employer(s) for h applicable. blobs: Where researchers with as authors (e.g. company employee WHS indemity scheme will will Other insurance or indemiti 00 Other insurance or indemiti 20 Other insurance	De made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po term to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the reset betantive MrSS employment contracts have descurbed the su, surversity members), betase describes the arrangement su, surversity members), betase describes the arrangement poly (protocal adversity with MrSI contracts only) a mangements will apply (give details below) d documents.	tential legal liability of the rch7 Please lick lox/ed as research, indemnity is provided idence, For other protocol ts and provide evidence.
A76-2. What arrangements will E apponsor(3) or employer(3) for hi apponsor(3) or employer(3) for hi bage. Where researchers with an authora (e.g. company employer WHS indemity scheme will will be an employer and the application of their insurance or indemiti with the analysis of the applica- tion of the application of the application of the applica- tion of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the application of the applicatio	e made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po arm to participants arising from the <u>deging</u> of the reese betantive MrSG employment contracts have describe the supplex firster is no need to provide decoundent to us, university members), please describe the arrangement poly (protocal admics with MrSI contracts only) arrangements will apply (give details below) it documents. The made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po for harm toget is no need to provide document the res MrSG patients, indemnity is provided through the MrSI so to the whole study (meet is no need to provide document there is no need to pr	tertial legal liability of the rch7 Please lick loxice) as research, indemnity is provided disence. For other protocol ts and provide evidence. Itential legal liability of arch7 tertial legal liability of arch7 arch7 evidence. Where on ArHS argements which will be made at
A76-2. What arrangements will be appointed of a employer(a) for hit beginstead of a employer(a) for hit beginstead of the second second and the second second second and the second second second second second of the second second second second second A76-3. What arrangements will be investigation and second second second second second trivestigation and the second second second second and the second second second second second and the second	De mads for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po term to participants arising from the degling of the reads batantive NHS employment contract have degined the the supplier given set is to need to privite decimentary or the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier and the supplier given set is to need to privite decimentary or a universe with NHS contracts only y arrangements will apply (give details below) it documents. The supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the the supplier of the supplice of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier of the supplier	tertial legal liability of the rch7. Please lick lox(e) as research, indemnity la provided direction, if or other protocol ts and provide evidence. tertial legal liability of arch7. tertial legal liability of
A76-2. What arrangements will E sponsor(s) or employer(s) for hi sponsor(s) or employer(s) for hi sponsor(s) or employer(s) for hi blogs. Where researchers with as white interment interment interment With Sindemmity scheme will with the sponsor of the sponsor histogrammity. Incident for a sponsor beaminy, incident for a sponsor lates altes and protocer with a with sindemmity scheme or p WRSesearch includes non-NHS	e made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po- term to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the reset betantive NHS employment contracts have designed the tilts applies (there no need to provide concentary e s, university members), please describe the arrangement apply (protocal starburs with NHS contracts only) arrangements will apply (give details below) it documents. The made for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po- ter for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po- ter show the participants in the <u>cont</u> document the re- served, including private practices, please describe the ar- vrofossional indemnity will apply (garticipants recruited at s alse (give details of insurance indemnity arrangement	tertial legal lability of the rch7 Please lick lox/ed as research, indemniy is provided disense. For other protocol ts and provide evidence. Tertial legal lability of arch? Tertial legal lability of arch? Tertial legal lability of arch? Tertial legal lability of arch? Tertial legal lability of arch?
A76-2. What arrangements will E apponsor(3) or employer(3) for hi apponsor(3) or employer(3) for hi applicable. Molt: More researchers with as Molt: More researchers with as MOS interministic and the applicable MOS int	emade for insurance and/ or indemnity to meet the po mm to participants arising from the <u>design</u> of the reset betantive MFS employment on the order by provide designed the the supplies (meet the provide designed the arrangement the supplication of the supplica	tertial legal liability of the rch7 Please lick loxice) as research, indemnity is provided list and provide evidence. Is and provide evidence. Is and provide evidence. Itertial legal liability of arch7 arch7 tertial legal liability of arch7 tertial legal liability

IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.
Please enclose a copy of relevant do	ocuments.	
A78. Could the research lead to the	development of a new product/process or the ge	eneration of intellectual property?
O rea O no @ nor sale		
		00000011100100007

	RAS Form	Ref 17/	ference: LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Versi
	ART C: Over	rview of research sites			PART D: Declarations		
	AILT C. OVER	view of research sites			D1. Declaration by Chief Inves	tigator	
	ease enter details search sites. Fo	Is of the host organisations (Local Author For further information please refer to guide	rity, NHS or other) in the UK that ance.	will be responsible for the	1. The information in this it.	form is accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief	and I take full responsibility for
<ul> <li>Marcin Ramon Diage Service Se</li></ul>	Investing*			t	2. I undertake to abide by	the ethical principles underlying the Declaration of Hels	inki and good practice
	identifier Res	search site	Investigator Na	me	3. If the research is appro-	wed I undertake to adhere to the study protocol, the term	ns of the full application as
	N1	NHS site	Forename	Alison	approved and any cont	fitions set out by review bodies in giving approval.	r the terms of the approved
	۲	Succession and	Middle name Family name	Thomson	<ul> <li>application, and to see</li> </ul>	k a favourable opinion from the main REC before imple	menting the amendment.
	Inet	stitution name Queen Mary University of	Email London Qualification	a.thomson@qmul.ac.uk	<ol> <li>I undertake to submit a bodies.</li> </ol>	innual progress reports setting out the progress of the re	esearch, as required by review
	Dep	epartment name Neuroscience and Trauma	a, Blizard (MD) Country	UNITED KINGDOM	<ol> <li>I am aware of my resp guidelines relating to s</li> </ol>	onsibility to be up to date and comply with the requireme ecurity and confidentiality of patient or other personal date	nts of the law and relevant ita, including the need to regist
	Stre	reet address 4 Newark Street wn/city London			when necessary with th identifiable data to third	e appropriate Data Protection Officer. I understand that I parties unless the disclosure has the consent of the dat and Walae, the disclosure is covered by the terms of an	I am not permitted to disclose at subject or, in the case of a approval under Section 251 c
	Pos	ust Code E1 2AT Duntry UNITED KINGDOM			the NHS Act 2008.		
<ul> <li></li></ul>					7. I understand that researched.	irch records/data may be subject to inspection by review	v bodies for audit purposes if
<ul> <li></li></ul>					<ol> <li>I understand that any p managers and that this 1998.</li> </ol>	versonal data in this application will be held by review bo will be managed according to the principles establishe	dies and their operational d in the Data Protection Act
<ul> <li>A 16 100 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1 C 1</li></ul>					<ol> <li>I understand that the in correspondence with re</li> </ol>	formation contained in this application, any supporting eview bodies or their operational managers relating to the	documentation and all ne application:
					<ul> <li>Will be held by R&amp;D offices (w</li> </ul>	the REC (where applicable) until at least 3 years after th here the research requires NHS management permissi	e end of the study; and by NHS on) in accordance with the NH
					Code of Practie May be disclosed (where applied	ce on Records Management. ed to the operational managers of review bodies, or the	appointing authority for the RE
					any complaint. May be seen b	y auditors appointed to undertake accreditation of RECs	(where applicable).
					Will be subject to requests ma May be sent by	to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Acts an de under the Acts except where statutory exemptions ap remail to BEC members	d may be disclosed in respons ply.
					10. I understand that inform held on national resea extablished in the Data	mation relating to this research, including the contact de rch information systems, and that this will be managed : Protection 4rt 1998	tails on this application, may be according to the principles
					11. Where the research is understand that the out	reviewed by a REC within the UK Health Departments R	esearch Ethics Service, I the National Research Ethice
					Service (NRES), togeth than 3 months after iss	er with the contact point for enquiries named below. Put ue of the ethics committee's final opinion or the withdra	plication will take place no earli wal of the application.
					Contact point for publication, NRES would like to include a information. We would be grat Chief Investigator	(Not applicable for R&D Forms) contact point with the published summary of the study fo leful if you would indicate one of the contact points below	r those wishing to seek further v.
AN Form     Regroce	ate: 14/09/2017	29		228062/1128129/37/983	Date: 14/09/2017	30	228062/1128129/
<ul> <li>Buddeep contracts</li> <li>Buddeep cont</li></ul>	AS Form	Ref 17/1	ference: LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Versio
<ul> <li>one processing to statis</li> &lt;</ul>	Study co-ordin	inator			D2. Declaration by the sponso	r's representative	n=ennenze hu a comman t-t-
○ Nore Conservations of the training purposes. All periodial data for the Club thread data for the ADD for the space and the expectation for the approximation. Club thread data for the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation. The approximation is the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation. The approximation is the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation. The approximation is the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation. The approximation is the apprication in confidence of the approximation is the apprication in confidence of the approximation. The approximation is the apprication is the expected in approximation is the apprication in confidence of the approximation in the apprication in confidence of the approximation is the apprication in approximation in the apprication is the apprication in approximation in the apprication is the approximation in the apprication is the apprication in approximation in the apprication is the apprication in approximation in the apprication in approximation is the apprication in approximation in the apprication in approximation is the apprication in approximation in the apprication in approximation is the apprication in approximation in the apprication in apprication in approximation in the apprication in apprication in approximation in the apprication in apprication in apprication in approximation in the apprication in apprication in approximation in the apprication in apprication i	Other - please	se give details			of the lead sponsor named at	aos, una acuarauon anouro de signed on denall of the c A64-1.	<ul> <li>sponsors by a representative</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>becase to proceed for a particular for a particular for <i>RED</i> form:</li> <li>Option <i>I</i> particular for a particular for <i>RED</i> for have access to the information in the application in confidence for have approach. And ensembles the information in the application in confidence for have approach. And ensembles the definition of the application in the application in confidence for have approach. And ensembles the definition of the application in the application in confidence for have approach. And ensembles the definition of the application in the application in confidence formation in the application in confidence formation in the application in confidence formation.</li> <li>And sproaches application on 113002007 10:04.</li> <li>And proaches of definition of the advances framework for header to particular depondence for an application on 113002007 10:04.</li> <li>And proaches of the interaction as application in the application in confidence formation in the application in the ap</li></ul>	None				I confirm that:		
<ul> <li>A nagpopolital process of a pippolital:</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated in the time search proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that this research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that this research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that this research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that that research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that that research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that that research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that that research proposal is worthwhile entrowed.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of closefile Critique has demonstrated that that research has the output of the research table in process of closefile Critique has demonstrated in particular that we have the entropeolitic is the output of the research table in process of closefile Critique has demonstrated has a proposal.</li> <li>A nagpopolital process of the interpreter has a demonstrated has a demonstrated has a demonstrated has a proposal.</li> <li>A normooffier of the interpreter has a demonstrated has demonstrated has a demons</li></ul>	Access to applica	ation for training purposes (Not applicable	e for R&D Forms)		1. This research propose sponsor the research	I has been discussed with the Chief Investigator and a is in place.	greement in principle to
<ul> <li>Any necessary indentify or isuance arrangement, and described in question ATD, will be inplace before the study after inplaces to the duration of the duration du</li></ul>	V I would be con	ntent for members of other RECs to have a	access to the information in the a	oplication in confidence	<ol> <li>An appropriate proces of high scientific quality</li> </ol>	s of scientific critique has demonstrated that this resear /.	rch proposal is worthwhile and
<ul> <li>A charagement will be rigidate block the stady data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean to access resources and supported in the second test by data for the research lean test by data f</li></ul>	or training purpos emoved.	ses. All personal identifiers and reference	s to sponsors, funders and resea	rch units would be	<ol> <li>Any necessary indemn this research starts. In necessary.</li> </ol>	nity or insurance arrangements, as described in question surance or indemnity policies will be renewed for the du	n A76, will be in place before ration of the study where
dot TilePour       Lecturer in Public Engagement and Patient Public Involvement         Organisation:       Queen Mary University of London         Email:       a thomson@gruu.ia.c.uk	his section was si	signed electronically by Miss Alison Thom:	son on 13/09/2017 10:48.		<ol> <li>Arrangements will be i to deliver the research</li> </ol>	n place before the study starts for the research team to as proposed.	access resources and support
Organisation:       Queen Mary University of London         Email:       a.thomson@gmul.aic.uk	Job Title/Post:	Lecturer in Public Engagement and	Patient Public Involvement		5. Arrangements to alloc	ate responsibilities for the management, monitoring and research starts	I reporting of the research will
#.monsonggnul.ac.uk       undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Search 2015; declaration to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Undertaken in relation to finis research.         B.monsonggnul.ac.uk       Excellention to finis research.	Organisation:	Queen Mary University of London			6. The duties of sponsors	a set out in the Research Governance Framework for He	salth and Social Care will be
<ul> <li>Press norms, for the design of the problem of the pro</li></ul>	Email:	a.thomson@qmul.ac.uk			undertaken in relation	to this research.	woval above They will not he
<ul> <li>Where the research is reviewed by a REC within the UK health Departments Research Encid Service. 1 place no earlier than 3 months after save of the efficies Service. 1 place no earlier than 3 months after save of the efficies committees final opixion or the withdrawal of the application.</li> <li>Specification, for submissions to the Research Efficies Committees (REC0)1 detains that any and all division medicines, devices, combination of medicines and devices that any and all division medicines, devices, combination of medicines and devices or other citical trials) have been registered publication.</li> <li>Specification, for submissions to the Research Efficies Committees (REC0)1 detains that any and all division medicines, devices, combination of medicines and devices or other citical trials) have been registered publication, setting and any advision.</li> <li>Specification, UK, and the Risk and State State State structure and the UK, or that any determal granteed by the HRA and State State State structure and advision determal granteed by the HRA and State State State structure and the UK, or that any determal granteed by the HRA and State State</li></ul>					considered by the Res	earch Ethics Committee.	
<ul> <li>application:</li> <li>Specification, for submissions to the Research Ethics Committees (RECN) I desires that any and all chick trates approved by the HRA size colling of thick and devices of the ethical strates approved by the HRA size colling and the ethic of the ethic and devices of the ethical strates approved by the HRA size colling and the ethic ethic ethics, and devices of the ethic all registers and devices of the ethic all registers and devices of the ethic all registers and devices of the ethic et</li></ul>					<ol> <li>Where the research is understand that the su Service (NRES), toget place no earlier than 3</li> </ol>	reviewed by a REC within the UK Health Departments F mmary of this study will be published on the website of her with the contact point for enquiries named in this app months after issue of the ethics committee's final opini	Research Ethics Service, I the National Research Ethics blication. Publication will take on or the withdrawal of the
Trial approved by the HHA since 30th September 2013 (as defined on IRAS entroprines and divisors of reducting indications, divisors, or provide inclinical trials) have been registered of publically accessible register in compliance with the HRA registration requirements for the UK, or that and defined or provide by the HRA still applies.         This section was signed electronically by Dr Sally Burlles on 13:09:2017 10:00.         Job TitlePost:       Director of Research Services & Business Development         Organisation:       Queen Mary, University of Contion         Email:       sponsorarep@bartshealth.nhs.uk					application. 8. Specifically, for submit	ssions to the Research Ethics Committees (RECs) I der	lare that any and all clinical
This section was signed electronically by Dr Sally Burlles on 13/09/2017 18:00. Job TitlePost: Director of Research Services & Business Development Organisation: Queen Mary, University of London Email: sponsorarep@bartshealth.nhs.uk					trials approved by the medicines, devices, cr publically accessible medicines devices to deferral granted by the	HRA since 30th September 2013 (as defined on IRAS combination of medicines and devices or other clinical tri- gister in compliance with the HRA registration requirem HRA still applies.	ategories as clinical trials of als) have been registered on a tents for the UK, or that any
Job Tilde Post: Director of Research Service & Busines Development Organisation: Queen Mary, University of London Email: sponsorarep@bartshealth.nhs.uk					This section was signed electronic	onically by Dr Sally Burtles on 13/09/2017 16:00	
Organisation:     Outern Mary, University of London       Email:     sponsonrep@bartshealth.nhs.uk					Job Title/Post Dirar	tor of Research Services & Rusiness Development	
Email: sponsorsrep@bartshealth.nhs.uk					Organisation: Quee	en Mary, University of London	
					Email: spon	sorsrep@bartshealth.nhs.uk	
					1 1		
to: 14/00/2017 21 229062/14/29120/27/092 Dotto: 14/00/2017 20 2020001100							

IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2	IRAS Form	Reference: 17/LO/1684	IRAS Version 5.5.2
D3. Declaration for stu	dent projects by academic supervisor(s)				
<ol> <li>I have read and app of the research is satis</li> </ol>	proved both the research proposal and this application. I am satisfie factory for an educational qualification at this level.	d that the scientific content			
2. I undertake to fulfil t Framework for Health	the responsibilities of the supervisor for this study as set out in the F and Social Care.	Research Governance			
<ol> <li>I take responsibility the Declaration of Hels clinical supervisors as</li> </ol>	for ensuring that this study is conducted in accordance with the eth sinki and good practice guidelines on the proper conduct of researc appropriate.	ical principles underlying h, in conjunction with			
<ol> <li>I take responsibility relevant guidelines rel clinical supervisors as</li> </ol>	for ensuring that the applicant is up to date and complies with the r ating to security and confidentiality of patient and other personal da appropriate.	equirements of the law and la, in conjunction with			
Academic superviso	r1				
This section was sign	ed electronically by Professor William Gaver on 13/09/2017 11:58.				
Job Title/Post:	Professor of Design				
Organisation:	Goldsmiths, University of London				
Email:	w.gaver@gold.ac.uk				
Academic superviso	r 2				
This section was sign	ed electronically by Dr Alex Wilkie on 13/09/2017 11:46.				
Job Title/Post:	Senior Lecturer				
Organisation:	Goldsmiths, University of London				
Email:	a.wilkie@gold.ac.uk				
-					
Date: 14/09/2017	33	228062/1128129/37/983	Date: 14/09/2017	34	228062/1128129/37/983

# Appendix H: Participant information booklet













# Hello,

We would like to invite you to take part in our research study, Measurement on Our Terms.

This research is being carried out by a researcher from the Barts Multiple Sclerosis (MS) Research Team at Queen Mary University of London (QMUL).

Before you decide whether to take part you need to understand why the research is being carried out and what it would involve for you.

Please take time to read this information about the study carefully. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information; our contact details are at the end of this booklet.

Alison Thomson Principal Investigator



# What is the purpose of the study?

This study will explore how people with MS can contribute to the design of new ways to measure upper limb function. We plan to do this through three focus groups with people living with MS.

# Why am I being invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part because you have been diagnosed with MS and you are a patient at The Royal London Hospital. We are very interested to hear the experiences of people whose upper limb function is affected by their MS. We would like to ask you to share your experiences with us.

# Do I have to take part?

No, it is up to you to decide whether or not to take part in this study. A decision not to take part will not effect the standard of care or treatment you receive.

If you decide to take part you will be asked to sign a consent form allowing us to sound record the focus group discussions.

4

You are free to leave the study at any time.

# What would be involved?

You would take part in three focus groups that will be held over a period of three months. The focus groups will involve other people with MS. If you decide you do not want to take part in every focus group then that is entirely your decision, but we hope to involve people who can commit to the three sessions.

The researcher and a professional patient facilitator will run the focus groups. They will start by asking the group questions to prompt them to think about their experiences of completing upper limb activities at home. The group will then create a survey that will gather these experiences from other patients online. At the next meeting, you will work as a group to discuss these results, then finally use them to create the new measure.

Each focus group will last about three hours and will be sound recorded, transcribed into print and then analysed by the researcher. You will receive a copy of the researchers' analysis and will be able to provide verbal and/or written comments on this. You will also be provided with a copy of the final research report, if you wish to receive it.

# Where will the focus groups be held?

The focus groups will be held in a meeting room in the Unity Kitchen, within the Olympic Park in East London. The address is:

Timber Lodge Cafe

Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park E20 1DY

Stratford Underground, Overground and National Rail station is one mile away.

Transport to and from each focus group can be arranged for you free of charge, or your travel expenses will be reimbursed. The researcher can arrange this for you before each session.

# What do I have to do?

If you take part in the study it is important you attend all three focus groups on time.

You will be asked to sign a consent form prior to the start of the first focus group session in the presence of the researcher. This form will be added to your patient notes by a member of your healthcare team.

You will also be asked to complete two MS outcome measures before you attend the first focus group and share your results with the researcher. The WebEDSS online survey and a 9 hole peg test, which will be posted to your home, both take around 10 minutes to complete. Your score is important to describe the different experiences of people involved in the focus group.

# Will I be identifiable in the transcriptions of the workshop discussion or in any other verbal or


#### written report?

No. You will not be personally identifiable in the typed transcriptions (you will be given a random participant identification number) or in any other verbal or written account. The sound files will not be heard by anyone other than the researcher.

For monitoring and audit purposes, the Sponsor and individuals from regulatory authorities may need to view data generated by the study.

All sound files will be stored securely in locked premises and electronic material will be password protected. Sound files will be destroyed confidentially twenty years following completion of the study. The draft analysis of each focus group will be given to everyone who takes part to read and provide written or verbal comments if they want to. Extracts may be published in articles and reports but no one would be able to identify you from these.

## Are there any benefits to taking part?

There are no direct benefits to you as an individual. There will be benefits for other people with MS whose upper limb function is affected by their MS in the future. This study will provide insights to create information for people to record their activity.

## What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

8

The study involves discussing your experiences of upper limb activities and how they are affected by MS. It is possible that, depending on the issues discussed, this could be difficult or concern you. Whilst other people in the discussion may provide you with support, you are free to leave if you want.

If taking part in the study causes you concern, please discuss this with one of the members of our research team after the focus group.

If you do not wish to discuss issues with the researcher, but wish to talk with someone who is independent of the research then the Patient Advice and Liaison service is available to you:

	Patient Advice and Liaison service
Tel:	020 3594 2040
Email:	pals@bartshealth.nhs.uk

This is a free, confidential service for patients which helps to deal with issues, and concerns you may have.

## What happens at the end of the study?

After the third focus group you will be sent a draft of the researchers' final report. You will have the opportunity to provide comments verbally and/or in writing and may do so anonymously if you want. The final report will inform the design of future outcome measures. The report will be written up as a paper and submitted for publication in academic journals and presented at conferences.

9



### Who has reviewed the research study?

The study has been reviewed and approved by the London-Stanmore Research Ethics Committee.

## What if something goes wrong?

Queen Mary University of London has agreed that if you are harmed as a result of your participation in the study, you will be compensated, provided that, an injury was caused as a direct result of taking part in the study.

These special compensation arrangements apply where an injury is caused to you that would not have occurred if you were not in the study. These arrangements do not affect your right to pursue a claim through legal action.

## What do I do now?

Please contact Alison Thomson by either email or telephone to confirm that you would like to take part in this study. You will then be contacted with the prospective dates and times of the focus group sessions. You will be asked to sign the consent form prior to the start of the first focus group session in the presence of the researcher.

Thank you for taking the time to read this information.

11

# Appendix I: Participant consent form

	PATIENT CONSENT FORM	
	Study Title: Measurement on Our	Terms
	Participant Identification Number:	
		Please <b>initial box</b> to indicate agreement:
1	I confirm that I have read and unders 19/10/2017 (Version 0.5) for the above to consider the information, ask quest satisfactorily.	stood the patient information dated ve study. I have had the opportunity stions and have had these answered
2	I understand that my participation in three hours is voluntary. I am free to any reason, without my medical care	the three focus groups, each lasting withdraw at any time, without giving or legal rights being affected.
3	I understand that my participation wil of and consent to, use of these recor	I be sound recorded and I am aware dings for content analysis purposes.
4	I understand that what I say in the for anonymised and used in publications presentations). I will be given a uniquand anonymity will be maintained and from this quoted material.	cus groups will be transcribed, s (e.g. academic journals, conference Je participant number. Confidentiality d it will not be possible to identify me
5	I understand that relevant sections or may be looked at by individuals from from regulatory authorities or from th my taking part in this research. I give have access to this data. For monitor and individuals from regulatory author generated by the study	f the data collected during the study, Queen Mary University of London, e NHS Trust, where it is relevant to permission for these individuals to ring and audit purposes, the Sponsor prities may need to view data
6	I agree to take part in the above stud	ly.
	Name of Patient Date	Signature
	Name of Researcher Date	Signature
	One copy of this form will be for the patient ar	nd one copy will be added to the patients notes by al will be kept by the Researcher.

## Appendix J: Questions for the Measurement on Our Terms meetings







Appendix K: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 1.

Activity 1: Opening crisps         3       Crisp mackets or anything that requires the double grip and pull apart motion         9       Opening prisps         38       Opening packages eg. Crisps         Activity 2: Knife and fork         2       I can't hold cullery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cullery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         18       I can't hold cullery         9       Eating with cullery         9       Eating with cullery         9       I can ipsi about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         18       I concentrate on picking up cutlery these usually end up flying across the room         19       Eating knife and fork         45       heavy weighted cullery impossible as hand is also weak.         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (chop onions et cao l can et al using a fork to stab food on my plate (chop onions et cao l can et al using a fork in my right hand         64       Some of my fingers do not do what 1 want them to when holding cutlery         72       Using a knife and fork         73       Using a knife and fork         74       Using a knife and fork	Respondent number	What hand and arm (upper limb) activities do you find difficult, due to your MS?	Are there any tips, hacks, devices or tools you use to help you complete any of these activities?	Are there any upper limb activities that you avoid doing?
3       Crisp packets or anything that requires the double grip and pull apart motion         9       Opening crisps         38       Opening packages eg. Crisps         Activity 2: Knife and fork		Activity 1: Opening crisps		
9       Opening crisps         38       Opening crisps         Activity 2: Knife and fork         2       I can't hold cutlery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         27       I concentrate on picking up concenting I can often do if, but for everyday things like picking up across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork         49       Using a fork         41       Sorme of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         42       Using a fork         43       Using cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up motod by myself and things full off my forkspoon before they get to my mouth         44       Sorme of my fingens do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         45       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak         72       Using cutlery         74       Using a knife and fork         75       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids         74       Using cutlery	3	Crisp packets or anything that requires the double grip and pull apart motion		
38       Opening packages eg. Crisps         Activity 2: Knife and fork         2       I can't hold cutlery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       for everyday things like picking up something I can often do it, but recurses the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       I cat with a small desert fork- heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         64       Some of my fingers do not do what 1 want them to when holding cutlery         74       Using a ford         74       Using a knife and fork         74       Using utlery         74       Using a knife and fork         73       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drifticut to cut food         74       Use suife and fork         75       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids         74       Use horie for difficult to cut food         75       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food meresy. Loccasionally just dro	9	Opening crisps		
Activity 2: Knife and fork         2       I can't hold cutlery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       for everyday things like picking up cutlery these usually end up flying across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       Leat with a small dessert fork- heavy weighted outlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         63       Some of my fingers do not do what 1 want them to when holding cutlery         64       Some of my suppose and more diffuelt, comerine I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall of my fork pon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         64       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak       I eat mainly with just a fork         72       Using a knife and fork       I eat mainly with just a fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food       I eat mainly with just a fork         73       Talse have intention thermor so carrying liquids like drinks or food mergys / occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands       <	38	Opening packages eg. Crisps		
2       I can't hold cutlery         9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       If I concentrate on picking up correctively these usually end up flying across the room         36       Using a knife and fork         45       leat with a small dessert fork- heavy weighted cutlery impossible ashand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork         63       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more my food by myself and things fall of my fork/spon before they get to my mouth         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands         71       Using a knife and fork         84       Using utlery         74       Using utlery         74       Using utlery         75       I as hand is and fork         76       Using utlery         77       Using utlery         78       Using utlery         74       Using utlery		Activity 2: Knife and fork		
9       Using a knife to cut         17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       If I concentrate on picking up content is pressure to be of any use and the picking up catery these usually end up flying across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       leat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up mouth model and the stand fork         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak         72       Using a unife and fork         74       Using a knife and fork         84       Using a unife and fork         72       Using a unife and fork         73       I as a maintent or the other of thinks or food is gove any mouth         74       Using a unife and fork         73       I as one any inger of one or as carrying liquids         74       Using a unife for difficult to cut food         75       I as one any any reason why	2	I can't hold cutlery		
17       Cutlery use         19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       If I concentrate on picking up something I can often do it, but for everyday things like picking up cutlery these usually end up flying across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall of my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak       I eat mainly with just a fork         72       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         84       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         73       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	9	Using a knife to cut		
19       Eating with cutlery         24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       If I concentrate on picking up something I can often do it, but for everyday things like picking up cutlery these usually end up liying across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       Leat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork         63       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my flood by myself and things fail of my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         74       Using a knife and fork       I eat mainly with just a fork         84       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         83       Use knife for difficult to cut food         73       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and oftern messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	17	Cutlery use		
24       I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use         29       If I concentrate on picking up something I can often do it, but for everyday things like picking up cuttery these usually end up flying across the room         38       Using a knife and fork         45       I eat with a small dessert fork- heavy weighted cuttery impossible as hard is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork         63       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cuttery         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cuttery         65       Gripping cuttery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fail off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak         72       Using a knife and fork         84       Using a knife and fork         84       Using cuttery         74       Using a knife and fork         88       Use kinfe for difficult to cut food         37       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apaparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	19	Eating with cutlery		
29If I concentrate on picking up something I can often do it, but for everyday things like picking up cuttery these usually end up flying across the room38Using a knife and fork45I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cuttery impossible as hand is also weak48Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)62Using a forkUse scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop onlone set so I can using a fork to stab food on my plate64Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutteryRubber band wrapped around cuttery handles is a great help65Gripping cuttery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouthRubber band wrapped around cuttery handles is a great help72Using a knife and forkI eat mainly with just a fork84Using cutteryI eat mainly with just a fork83Use knife for difficult to cut food33I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop whink for a sparsen treason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	24	I can just about hold a knife, but can't apply enough pressure to be of any use		
38       Using a knife and fork         45       I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork to stab food on my plate to open packets, cut up food, chop onions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak       I eat mainly with just a fork         72       Using a knife and fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and offen messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	29	If I concentrate on picking up something I can often do it, but for everyday things like picking up cutlery these usually end up flying across the room		
45       I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak         48       Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)         62       Using a fork       Use scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop mions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand         64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery       Rubber band wrapped around citient in my right hand         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak       I eat mainly with just a fork         71       Using a knife and fork       I eat mainly with just a fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	38	Using a knife and fork		
48Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)62Using a forkUse scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop onions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand64Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery65Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth66Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak71Using cutlery72Using cutlery74Using cutlery88Use knife and fork88Use knife for difficult to cut food73I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy.1 occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	45	I eat with a small dessert fork - heavy weighted cutlery impossible as hand is also weak		
62Using a forkUse scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop onions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand64Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery65Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouthRubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help66Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak72Using cutlery74Using cutleryI eat mainly with just a fork88Use knife for difficult to cut foodActivity 3: Carrying liquids3I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. J occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	48	Using a fork to stab food on my plate (weakness)		
64       Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery         65       Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall of my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth       Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help         66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak       Cutting food and eating it as hands         72       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         84       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         Activity 3: Carrying liquids         3       I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	62	Using a fork	Use scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop onions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand	
65Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouthRubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help66Cutting food and eating it as hands to weakImage: Cutlery72Using cutleryImage: Cutlery74Using a knife and fork84Using cutleryI eat mainly with just a fork88Use knife for difficult to cut foodActivity 3: Carrying liquids3I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my handsRubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help	64	Some of my fingers do not do what I want them to when holding cutlery		
66       Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak         72       Using cutlery         74       Using a knife and fork         84       Using cutlery         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         Activity 3: Carrying liquids         I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	65	Gripping cutlery is more and more difficult, sometimes I cannot cut up my food by myself and things fall off my fork/spoon before they get to my mouth	Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help	
72       Using cutlery         74       Using a knife and fork         84       Using cutlery         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         Activity 3: Carrying liquids         I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	66	Cutting food and eating it as hands to weak		
74       Using a knife and fork         84       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         Activity 3: Carrying liquids         I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	72	Using cutlery		
84       Using cutlery       I eat mainly with just a fork         88       Use knife for difficult to cut food         Activity 3: Carrying liquids         I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	74	Using a knife and fork		
<ul> <li>88 Use knife for difficult to cut food</li> <li>Activity 3: Carrying liquids</li> <li>I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands</li> </ul>	84	Using cutlery	I eat mainly with just a fork	
Activity 3: Carrying liquids I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands	88	Use knife for difficult to cut food		
I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands		Activity 3: Carrying liquids		
	3	I also have intention tremor so carrying liquids like drinks or food is quite unpredictable and often messy. I occasionally just drop things for no apparent reason which I assume is muscle spasm in my hands		

20	Holding open containers of liquids	I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me. I take a mug with a sealing lid so I can carry a coffee at work	
30	Carrying a mug of hot coffee - particularly difficult as i use a crutch in my good hand	Making a flask of coffee	
34	Carrying hot drinks		
37	Holding things such as glasses regardless full or empty		
62		Use a tea trolley to get plates/ glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house	

## Activity 4: Dealing with coins

4	Picking up coins/small objects	Slide coins, small items to edge of table. Never use change from purse when paying	
28	I started separating my coppers out of my purse prior to 2008 when I was diagnosed as I was finding them too fiddly		
35	Pick up small objects (coins etc.)		
48	Picking the correct coin from my purse (fine motor skills)		
69	Getting money out of purse		
	Activity 5: Pills out a blister pa	ck	
20	Handling tiny tablets		
38		Pill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half	
48	Picking up my daily tablet from the work surface (dexterity)		
65	Have difficulty opening tablets and pills; not enough strength to open bottles especially child proof tops, awkward to push pills out of foil sheets and dropping them while putting them in my mouth		
69	Sorting tablets into medidose container		
77	Getting pills out of blister packs and not dropping them		
82	Picking up pills out of pill container		
	Activity 6: Changing sheets		

#### 24

Changing bedclothes is pretty impossible and need help, but most other tasks are possible single handed

51	Changing beds	
	Activity 7: Tying shoe laces	
9	Tying shoe laces	Laces
11	Shoe Laces	
24	Tasks I find difficult are dressing, including pulling up trousers and tying shoe laces	
27	Shoe laces	Tying shoe laces
29	Clothes with buttons or zips can be challenging so to are laces	

30	Fastening shoe laces		
34	Tying shoes		
54	Doing up shoe laces		
60	Shoes (laces)		
62	Tying shoe laces		
65	My husband ties my shoelaces		
69	-	Slip on, velcro or zip shoes. Luckily I can wear children's sizes	Shoe laces

#### 

Using a key in darkness

		31203	
71	Tying shoelaces		
	Activity 8: Sewing		
4	Sewing	S	Sewing
8	Sewing		
11	Using a needle and thread		
13	Threading a needle		
21	Threading a needle		
22	While I can type and knit I cannot do it for any length of time	I e F	no longer sew and embroidery was one of my nobbies
33	Gripping knitting needle		
34	Threading a needle	S	Sewing
42		F	Fine motor activities, like sewing
48	Threading a needle, controlling fabric through a sewing machine, cutting accurately	S	Sewing
51	Sewing		
52	When fatigued my fingers lose strength, ability to grip and do not react quickly - moving them becomes more concious I struggle to grip small things - keys, zip pulls, sewing needles etc and when I am fatigued my reynaud's is often also worse so my fingers are more numb and have less sensation so I can't feel very well	I t g	can't sew if I am tired becuase my fingers won't grip the needle
65		( r	Can no longer sew or mend clothes
69	Sewing		
83		I jı	try to avoid really fiddly obs like sewing buttons
	Activity 9: Using keys		
7	Putting key in lock with left hand		
29	I used drop my key when opening the door and then overbalance when picking it up. I now have my keys attached to my hand bag with a extendable ski pass holder		
30	Turning the ignition key		

46	Finding keys etc in bag/pocket without looking		
52	When fatigued my fingers lose strength, ability to grip and do not react quickly - moving them becomes more concious I struggle to grip small things - keys		
	Activity 10: Playing piano / gu	itar / instrument	
3	I can no longer play the violin or piano		
8	Playing the recorder		
11	Too much piano playing worsens the numb feeling in my fingertips and can become painful at times	Take breaks if playing the piano	
21	Playing piano - the runs not the chords		I rarely play the piano these days
50		Changed from an acoustic 6 string guitar to a Bass (4 strings) guitar	
83	My arms tend to feel weak after playing the piano and the slight numbness in my fingertips makes prolonged playing sometimes uncomfortable, almost painful		
	Activity 11: Lifting heavy pots	while cooking	
33	Lifting and tipping saucepans to get out contents	_	Serving from full saucepans
34	Lifting pots while cooking		Anything need to hold especially hot pans
41			Heavy cooking pans
46	Lifting a pan of pasta/potatoes for a family of 4		Lifting anything heavy
48	Draining water from a pan of cooked vegetables, tipping cooked food from a pan (eg beans)		
49	Carrying pots		
51	Lifting saucepans		
54			Anything that needs lifted with 2 hands is avoided such as pots, casserole dishes
60	Transferring food from saucepan		
84	Lifting heavy pans		Lifting pans
	Activity 12: Hair; washing, dry	ing, brushing, straightning	
4	Doing hair (arm tires easily)		
9	Washing hair		
18	Doing my hair - tricky to keep my hands/arms above shoulder height		
19	Unable wash back legs hair		
25	Washing my hair		I haven't found another way of washing my hair other than someone else doing it for me

29 sometring rear of for everyday thing heider web	n picking up often do it, but gs like picking up	Sometimes I'm not able to dry my hair with dryer due to tremors and wealness
<b>30</b> Fasten my hair ba	ack	
<b>37</b> Washing my hair	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
<b>45</b> Tremor in right a impossible to blo	rm means it is w-drv hair	
48 Washing my hair		
54		Straightening hair is impossible with just one arm/hand so I've gone curly
<b>60</b> Washing Hair		
<b>65</b> Difficulty using h brushing/combin and find the hair hold steady	air dryer and Ig hair, some days rms high enough dryer to heavy to	
72 Washing hair in s	shower	
<ul> <li>Have noticed tha hair and the dog' coarser now so I t some fine touch b affect day to day to</li> </ul>	t my hair, partner's s coat feel much think i have lost put it does not tasks	
82 Holding blow dry to dry hair	ver above my head	
84 Brushing hair		
Activity 13: Ty	ping	
1 Typing on compu	1-, 2-finger typing	
3 All keyboard activitouchscreen to a	vities and lesser extent	
14 Typing on a Com	nputer	
<b>18</b> Typing after a wi	hile	<u>_</u>
18         Typing after a with           19         19	hile	Typing ipad or computer
18   Typing after a with     19   19     21   I type slower with	hile	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type slower with	hile n more mistakes and knit I cannot th of time	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type and it for any lenged of it for any lenged27Typing on a compared of the state of	hile n more mistakes and knit I cannot th of time puter	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type at do it for any lenged27Typing on a compared30I now only use matter	hile n more mistakes and knit I cannot th of time puter y left hand for ting the mouse	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type a do it for any lenged27Typing on a compared30I now only use may typing and opera36Typing after a longed	hile  n more mistakes and knit I cannot th of time puter y left hand for ting the mouse ng period of time	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type a do it for any lenged27Typing on a compared30I now only use may typing and opera36Typing after a lor39Typing on a keyb	hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type ado it for any lenge27Typing on a compare30I now only use may typing and opera36Typing after a lor39Typing on a keyb40Typing is usually mouse cursor dow sensitive	hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with19212122While I can type and it for any lenged of it for any lenged2730303036373939393930303132333435363738393939303031323334353637383939393031323334353637383939303031323334343535363737383939303030303132333435353637383939303030303132333435353637373839 <th>hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile</th> <th>Typing ipad or computer</th>	hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with191921I type slower with22While I can type ado it for any lenge27Typing on a comparison30I now only use may typing and operation36Typing after a lor39Typing on a keyb40Typing is usually mouse cursor down sensitive43Typing, especiall51Typing on comparison	hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile	Typing ipad or computer
18Typing after a with19212122While I can type ado it for any lenged of it for any lenged2730301 now only use matter a lor36393939393040304351Typing on compute54Typing	hile hile hile hile hile hile hile hile	Typing ipad or computer

62	Typing		
67	With prolonged typing		
72	Typing		
74	Typing		
76	Typing can be difficult at times, especially if the keys are quite raised (like the ones at work)		
	Activity 14: Touchscreen tech.		
2	Using touchscreen tech - texting		
3	All keyboard activities and touchscreen to a lesser extent		
19	ipad		Typing ipad or computer
20	Problems with tremor, pins and needles in fingertips, security of grip, judgement of grip, strength and repeated actions; eg writing, using touchscreens		
29	Tremor in arms and hand cause me to double click when using keyboard on laptop/phone/tablet		
34	Touch screens (correct pressure)		
43	Typing, especially on a smart phone		
82	Any repetitive activities, holding cell phone in one hand, texting, using my finger to delete e- mails, pressing iPad control buttons, when scrolling with finger down iPad accidentally activate other sights due to finger jumping		
	Activity 15: Handwritting		
3	Handwriting longer than a sentence or two becomes both illegible and painful		_
4	Writing		Writing unless I really have too
8	Handwriting	Cursive handwriting	
9	Writing		Writing
11	Lots of writing	Not really at the moment though I don't spend too long writing in one go	
14	Writing		
16	Writing by hand		
17	Writing		
18	Handwriting	·	
20	Writing		Writing more than a line
22	Writing is difficult as I cannot feel properly or control my fingers to hold a pen		
23	Writing	·	
26			Writing

30	Sometimes I'm unable to write		
34			Handwritten forms on bad day
35	The left hand has become dominant, but not able to handwrite		
36	Writing with a pen		
39	Holding a pen and controlling it to write		
40	Only thing I can't do with left hand is write & writings v difficult for me now & sometimes impossible. So I often avoid writing or ask others to do. This has all happened in the past year. I work full time in an office job	Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit	Writing
42	Hand writing up to a certain extent		
45	Tremor in r hand/fingers makes it impossible handwrite		Hand-writing
46	Writing legibly is tricky unless i concentrate		
65	My handwriting is unrecognisable and my signature could be anyone! due to not being able to grip the pen firmly and my hand not moving smoothly across the page		
66	Writing		
68		I steady my hand with my other hand, and use my left arm for a lot of tasks (except for writing.)	
71	Writing is becoming more difficult	Have to write more slowly	
72	Writing with affected dominant hand	I use a very fat pen for writing which makes the task easier and my penmanship more legible	Writing
73	Writing		I try to avoid writing
74	Writing		
79	Writing for any length of time	With writing I generally hope for the best	
82	Handwriting gets worse as my hand tries holding pen		
83	Finding handwriting more difficult these days - seem a little shaky	. <u> </u>	
84	Writing-gripping the pen properly		
89	Sometimes if i am doing extensive writing my letters start to smush together		
	Activity 16: Putting on Jewelle	ry	
4	Putting on earrings and necklace		
9	Jewelry necklace	·	
29	I can no longer put on jewellery on my own like bracelets and necklaces		
30	Fastening a necklace	Wearing necklaces which go over my head	

37	Putting on earings		
39	Jewellery fastenings eg necklaces, earrings		
46	Can't do up necklaces		Rarely wear jewellery
51	Fastening jewellery		
54	Putting on jewellery		
61	Difficulty with putting earring in right ear		
65	Can push earrings through my pierced ears but cannot do up the back		
81	Eg putting jewellery on		
88	Cannot put on earrings or necklaces that need to open and close		
	Activity 17: Make up		
4	Putting on makeup		
48	Applying makeup (weakness to keep my hand up at face height, fine motor movement to apply eyeliner/ mascara/lipstick)		
58	Lifting right arm e.G. Putting on mascara causes a burning sensation all along		
73	Putting on make-up		
84	Putting on makeup		
	Activity 18: Putting on a bra		
9		Bra on	
	Doing up a bra	My husband helps me do my bra	
20			·
20 45	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48 63	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48 63 65	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48 63 65 79	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now	
20 45 48 63 65 79	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra Activity 19: Opening a jar	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra Activity 19: Opening a jar Opening jars	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2 13	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra Activity 19: Opening a jar Opening jars	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2 13 29	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra <b>Activity 19: Opening a jar</b> Opening jars Weakness in hands means I'm unable to undo jar lids	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2 13 29 33	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra <b>Activity 19: Opening a jar</b> Opening jars Weakness in hands means I'm unable to undo jar lids Opening jars	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now Jar openers	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2 13 29 33 43	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra <b>Activity 19: Opening a jar</b> Opening jars Weakness in hands means I'm unable to undo jar lids Opening jars	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks  I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now Jar openers Grippers for jars	
20 45 48 63 65 79 2 13 29 33 43 51	Cannot wear a bra so use a light sports bra with no hooks Fastening / unfastening my bra Bra the hardest thing My husband ties my shoelaces and does up my bra for me Doing up the back of my bra <b>Activity 19: Opening a jar</b> Opening jars Weakness in hands means I'm unable to undo jar lids Opening jars	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks	

53	Opening jars		
67	Opening jars		
78	Opening jars		
79	Opening tight jar lids or small bottles		
84	Opening jars		
	Activity 20: Chopping vegetab	les	
21	Chopping vegetables or fruit with a knife quickly		
23	Chopping food		
46	Chopping tricky veg eg butternut squash, sweet potatoes, celeriac		
48	Chopping vegetables, peeling vegetables		
52			I don't use sharp knives eg chop vegetables etc if I am fatigued because of the risk of cutting myself
60	Cutting food	Chopping board with spikes to hold food	
62		Chop onions etc	
67	I also have difficulty chopping vegetables		
72	Chopping vegetables		
81	I am not as fast at preparing food (cutting/cooking) and have to look at what I am doing all the time		
84	Chopping vegetables		
	Activity 21: Getting dressed		
9	Putting on socks, putting on knickers and trousers		
24	Tasks I find difficult are dressing, including pulling up trousers and tying shoe laces	Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples	
32	Putting on socks		
34	Dressing		
36	Putting on socks on myself or on my 7 year old son		
44	Tucking tops into trousers		
48	Putting my arm into a shirt, gripping clothing to be able to pull it on (pants, socks, trousers etc), fastening buttons, pitting the zipper in the zip, gripping the zip on jeans to pull the zip up		
50	Putting socks on		
51	Getting dressed		
60	Dressing: buttons, zips, pulling up trousers, putting on / off tight fitting tops, socks		

62	Left arm/hand weakness. So difficult activities are getting dressed/undressed, doing buttons or zips	Wear trousers that when done up go over my hips, use a belt to keep up.	
	Activity 23: Buttons		
2	Sometimes buttoning shirts & blouses		
3	As all small buttons		Buttons
4	Small buttons		
9	Doing up buttons.		Buttons
11	Doing up buttons		
13	Intricate things like fastening buttons		
14	Closing buttons		
16	Buttoning shirts	Don't buy clothes with buttons	Buttoning shirts
17	Buttons		
21	Using buttons on clothing, especially small ones		
26			I find doing up buttons of a shirt difficult
29	Clothes with buttons		
35	Or open the buttons		
42	Buttoning my shirts		
45	Difficult to do up buttons		
46	Fastening a button		
48	Fastening buttons		
50			Avoid wearing buttoned shirts
53	Doing up shirt buttons sometimes		
54	Buttons		
56	Doing up buttons		
60	Buttons		
62	Doing buttons		
63	Buttons	Keeping buttons on blouses done up all the time	
65	I can no longer do up buttons and zips are becoming more difficult		
66	Buttons		
71	Doing up buttons		
72	Buttons		
73	Doing up small buttons		
74	Buttons		Buttons
77	Doing up cuff buttons		
78	Doing buttons up behind my back as numb fingers seem to need sight		

## Appendix L: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 2.

## What external factors affect how you complete upper limb activities?

Respondent number	upper limb activities?
External Factor 1: Tim	e of day
3	If I am exhausted from doing too much physically generally hand function also declines. I am better doing anything physical in the morning, late afternoon my nadir and evening I am improved again like the morning
4	Amount of time spent, as day goes on gets harder
13	Time of day (it's worse in the evenings) and after activity (if I am tired or have done a lot that day it is worse)
18	Time of day
20	Everything is worse in late evening
22	My hand gets worse throughout the day. It is best early morning
24	I manage better in the morning before fatigue sets in and makes things much harder
29	My legs and arms tend to kick out more in the evening or at night in bed. But sometimes if i have overdone it the day before i can get it earlier in the day
32	Morning - 10:30
33	Evenings, after a couple of hours of knitting
36	First thing in the morning or anytime if feeling especially fatigued
37	Easier for me in the morning
41	The evening is worse, when I'm tied
43	Worse as day goes on. Much better first thing in the am
49	Any time of day on my own
50	Symptoms deteriorate as the day progresses and with fatigue
51	Time of day, how tired I am, whether I have exercised at all that day
53	Time of day (much more capable in the mornings)
54	Left side does not function when tired so need help afternoons and evenings
55	I get more fatigued as the day goes on so I try to do any jobs I need to do in the morning
60	Time of day
62	What time of day it is and wnen I've taken my muscle relaxant tablets that maybe allows me to do a few activities
63	Time of day
66	Afternoons and evenings are worst
67	Worse later in the day
68	Seems to be more of a problem in the afternoon
71	In morning dressing is very slow, particularly buttons. In evening wrists are weaker and manual dexterity fades
72	Time of day
77	I'm better in the morning, before fatigue sets in, unless I've had a shower in which case i need time to recover before doing anything
79	I generally function better in the morning
80	Time od the day-night
82	Later in the day more fatigued
84	If i get out of bed late, eg. An hour later than normal at weekend, i feel much weaker doing tasks than on weekdays. If the day before has been busy, again, i am weaker the day after

86	Late in evening
External Factor 2	: Duration of activity
2	Overuse affect spasticity / spasm
3	As with all activities i am much better at doing anything for the first couple of minutes muscle fatigue in fingers hands wrists arms shoulders kicks in very quickly.
4	Amount of time spent, as day goes on gets harder
18	length of the activity
30	How long I've been doing the activity for, i.e. I can write for a short while.
34	repetition &/or prolonged lift of heavy pots
67	Worse with repetition
76	Obviously worse when I am tired and if I get stressed at work about how long it is taking me to type
83	Playing the piano can be exhausting, especially at the end of a long day or if I have to play for a long time such as during a church service
External Factor 3	: Temperature
2	Cold temperatures
3	I am very sensitive to cold and become quite rigid and tremor ridden when cold, hot weather improves my function. As above i need to use a walking stick, so in very cold weather when my hands get cold it's greatly limits my ability to use the stick and so to walk
4	If too warm or too cold I am either wobbly or stiff
7	Cold weather
14	Also when it is warm
16	Heat
29	Temperature
34	Needle threading length worse when tired or hot
55	If it is hot weather I feel very fatigued
58	Worse if cold. If my hands get cold they feel numb and get cold burn
65	If I am hot I find it more difficult to do anything as my arms/hands just stop working
66	Heat makes them worse
69	I suppose a bit worse when tired or too hot or hands cold
70	I think my hands are worse if they are cold
73	Gripping is difficult in cold weather.
74	Body temperature (weather or fever)
77	When it's very hot I find everything more difficult
79	I generally function better if it is cooler
81	Being tired and heat very much affects me. I work inside so that usually helps, but being in australia if it is summer and hot out then when i first start sometimes it takes a while to cool off and then I can be extra clumsy when I start
82	Heat
86	Weather; too hot and too cold
External Factor 4	: Visibility
42	If I cannot see what I'm doing, darkness
63	They work better when I can see what I am doing with them. Doing up my bra is sometimes impossible.
External Factor 5	: Emotion
2	High emotion
28	Nothing particular maybe feeling flustered

29	Stress (particularly when I was at work as I was not supported at all and so fatigue set in and I was unable to move my upper body, I would also shake a bit like the nodding dog!!
37	Other people yelling, unexpected activity, emotional situation
39	How I'm feeling, whether I'm feeling rushed
40	Generally unaffected by external factors. But stress does make tremor worse
53	How confident I feel because of fatigue and how well my balance is at the time
76	Obviously worse when I am tired and if I get stressed at work about how long it is taking me to type
79	I generally function better if I'm feeling cheerful
External Fa	ctor 6: Being watched
11	Probably fumble a bit more if other people are around waiting for me/ watching
20	Also if I'm in unfamiliar surroundings, situation or with unfamiliar people, everything is harder and worse
39	How I'm feeling, whether I'm feeling rushed
53	I do not attempt the activities unless a family member is present
60	Being watched
65	I find that I become more clumsy if someone is watching me
76	Others waiting for me etc. (Shared hospital ward computers)
83	If I am surrounded by people and they're watching me then my handwriting tends to be worse and i'm more shaky. I do struggle with my nerves playing in front of other people
External Fa	ctor 7: The activity before
5	After exercising, or after work (I do eight hour shifts at a care home)
9	If I am tired, rushing, in a different environment
11	Writing is harder if hand has been used previously on other tasks
13	After activity (if I am tired or have done a lot that day it is worse)
18	What I did before
20	What I've been doing before
63	What I have been doing before
68	Also relates to how hard I've been working
72	How well I slept, how exerted I am
77	If I've had a shower in which case I need time to recover before doing anything
89	Fatigue is always worse at the end of a workday and the end of a workweek. These make my grip strength and weakness worse
External Fa	ctor 8: Other
15	Ongoing infection worsens it
17	Only really can dress myself in my ofwn home where everything is the exact height, in the correct place etc
21	Level of fatigue, how I am feeling (weak or not)
23	At home mum and partner prepare food & make & carry drinks
73	Worse in the few days before my tysabri infusion, gripping is difficult in cold weather
78	The higher the fatigue the more difficult, tending to drop things more if am talking or multitasking
81	Being tired and heat very much affects me. I work inside so that usually helps, but being in australia if it is summer and hot out then when i first start sometimes it takes a while to cool off and then i can be extra clumsy when I start. The level of neuropathic pain I get in my arms/ hands is also a factor
88	Husband helps with earrings and jewellery , do not wear clothes with buttons, cooking virtually impossible at any time of day. I hate not being able to function independently

Appendix M: Responses from MOT online survey to Question 3.

Participant number

## Are there any tips, hacks, devices or tools you use to help you complete activities?

Tech. solution	
2	I have haptic feedback on my mobile phone and can unlock the phone with a fingerprint sensor
3	Voice input for anything electronic, I recommend Dragon nuance version 10 and above for serious paperwork on both PC and Mac
26	I use Dragon dictation software because of difficulty writing or using a computer key board
27	Voice operation facilities some help
62	Use voice to dictate texts
67	I use audio recording for some computer work
74	Voice to speech
Change type of	object
4	Wear dangly earrings with hook rather than butterfly, wear other jewellery with magnetic clasps
8	Using a large threaded needle
15	Tried weighted silverware and push buttons. Can be hard to push
18	thin narrow keyboard
19	Light weight cutlery
21	Use a pen with a rubber gripper
27	Elastic shoe laces, dish washer, slicing tools, electric nail cutter/filer
30	Wearing necklaces which go over my head; use an electric tin opener; make more use of the dish washer
34	Use scissors instead of knives to cut herbs, fish etc.
41	I use the smallest and lightest weight kettle for the kitchen, made out of plastic
43	Use scissors to open bags
45	Cannot wear a bra so use a light-weight sports bra with no hooks, get my eyelashes and eyebrows tinted at beauticians, similarly nails manicured. Vanity, I know!
46	Magnetic fastenings for necklaces. I'm thoughtful about what pans I buy
49	A bottle opener some times work or ask neighbor
54	Electric tin opener is great, use dyson stick vacuum as cannot pull plugs out of sockets anymore, sketchers with no laces are amazing. Bought an automatic car as moving gears stick was impossible
56	Food processor would help probably
62	Wear trousers that when done up go over my hips, use a belt to keep up. Use stylfile clippers with rubber band, for grip, on to cut finger nails -clippers with scissor action so easier to use. Use scissors a lot invaluable to open packets, cut up food, chop onions etc so I can eat using a fork in my right hand. Use clothes pegs to close packets instead of fiddly metal ties. Magnetic necklace clasps
65	Rubber band wrapped around cutlery handles is a great help, velcro fastenings are good for shoes, using cups and mugs with big handles, wearing clothes that slip on with no buttons or fiddly fastenings
69	Slip on, velcro or zip shoes. Luckily I can wear children's sizes
72	I use a very fat pen for writing which makes the task easier and my penmanship more legible
79	I usually buy sports bras now
85	Holding things: opt for plastic instead of glass/ceramic, try to pay close attention to my "gripping"
Introduction of	a secialist device / tool
3	I have perch stools and grab rails everywhere at home

13       I use klitchen devices such as jar openers and grips         18       Special mouse         20       Using a situlus for my mobile. I use a mouse with the laptop         20       I take a mag with a sealing lid so I can carry a coffee at work         23       Weighted wrist bonds but they make my arms tited         51       Situ pass holds: I use a hot water machine at home where I place my cup under the nozzle and push a button which dispenses the correct amount of water for my whatever size cup 1 an using. I use a wailler whichpart from helping me balance also holds myhandbag do that I do not having to carry it         30       Have a steering knoh fitted on my car         38       Pill Cutter to help with medication as I cant snap medical pills in half         40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         51       Chings can be draged or pushed ather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         54       Have a vertical nonset arxow; A ambider most, codless wertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       grabbers, chorging boort with weights help         7       Use right hand         7       Use right hand         7       Use right with weight helps with writing         7       Use right what disc wait tak		
18       Special mouse         20       Using a stylus for my mobile. I use a mouse with the laptop         20       I take a mug with a sealing lid so I can carry a coffee at work         23       Weighted wrist bands but they make my arms tired         54       Ski pass holder. I use a hot water machine at home where I place my cup under the nozel and push a buttom which dispenses the correct anomol of water for my whatever size cup I am using. I use a walker which pain from helping me bahance also holds myhambage to buth 1 do not having to carry it         30       Have a steering knoh fitted on my car         38       Pill Cuttor to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half         40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         51       Lik to open jars, sont storing tooker. Alow trobles so that things can be danged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars, sont storing tooker. Alow trobles so that things can be danged or pushed rather than lifted         60       grabbers. Alow trobles so that change and possibles to hold food         76       Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidecarrous, cordless vertical mouse has been nothered for work and will hopefully help         79       I have some placed rithyp material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an ad to help pope ing boar with my thole food         79       I have some placat rithyp material and a battery operated baro	13	I use kitchen devices such as jar openers and grips
20       Using a stylus for my mobile. Use a mouse with the laptop         20       I take a mug with a sealing lid so I can carry a coffee at wrk         23       Weighted writes bands but they make my arm sited         51       Ski pass holder. I use a hor water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water water the state which pass more the water for my water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water machine at home where I place my cup under firm water water index water can be an index of an index of the my my set out of water I and place at weight angle of public at later than I fird         40       Weighted water and muse at were. A ambidectrone, couldes wertical mouse has been ordered for work. A ambidectrone, couldes wertical mouse has been ordered for work. An ambidectrone, could water a late water and with hopefully help         51       Law a vertical mouse at were. The weight help with writing         60       graph with writing to more than others (howe because of the typing issue but alab use a distraphone a lot	18	Special mouse
20       Take a mag with a sealing lide a Lean carry a coffee at work         23       Weighted wrist bands but they make my arms tired         Sit pass holder. Lise a hor water machine at home where I place my cup under the nozzle and push a button which dispenses the correct amount of water for my whatever strate cup 1 an unsign. Lise a water which part form helping me balance also halds myhandbag do that 1 do not having to carry it         30       Have a steering knob fitted on my car         38       Pill Catter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half         40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippens for jars, proper pen         Electric can open reg adget to open jars no storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. A how trolleys to that things can be draged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars, use of a perching stool, rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things.         46       Sharp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (noo), helping hand grabber, chouging board with splets to hold food         76       discaphone a low more than or there share idat and babatery operated jar opener. I also have a an ida to help open ring pull cans.         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Pira on. Back to from. Use testh and hand to open packets	20	Using a stylus for my mobile. I use a mouse with the laptop
23         Weighted wrist bands but they make my arms tired           Ski pass holder. I use a hot water machine at home where I place my cup under the nozie and push a butnew which dispense the correct anount of water for my whatever size cup I am using. I use a walker which part from helping me balance also holds myhomdawing do that I do no having to earny it           30         Have a steering knob fitted on my car           38         Pill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half           40         Weighted far pen. Helps a bit           43         Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen           51         Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, net storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless La nylick them up with a grabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted           53         Aid to open jars, use of a perching stool, rall to help me pull myself out of bed           54         Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidestroux, cordless vertical mouse has been ondered far vork and with ophefully help           60         grinp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (xoo), helping hand grabbers, chorping board with spikes to hold food           79         Inhave taken far too much work home because dato help open ring pull cans           84         Wrist weight helps with writing           79         Inhave alset to from the material and baseler open packets           70         Use right hand           79	20	I take a mug with a sealing lid so I can carry a coffee at work
Ski pass holder. I use a hot water machine at home where I place my cur under the noziz and push a bution which dispenses the correct amount of water for my whatever size cup I am using. I use a walker whichapart from helping me balance also holds myhandbaug du that I do not having to carry it           30         Have a steering knob fitted on my car           36         Pill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half           40         Weighted far pen. Helps a bit           43         Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen           51         Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted           53         Aid to open jars, use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed           54         Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambideatrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help           60         grabbers, chooping board with splake to hold fod           76         Have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull can           84         Wrist weight helps with writing           70         Use right hand           9         Era on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets           My husben helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kertle with only a smalil amountof water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my	23	Weighted wrist bands but they make my arms tired
30       Have a steering knob fitted on my car         38       Pill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half         40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         51       Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         58       been ordered for work and will hopfelly help         60       grabbers, chopping board with spiks to hold food         76       dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         70       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         20       me         20       me         21       trais exectivities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to war clothing is essential. Elstic waist track botoms and woiding buttons are a couple of examples. Delive tragred exercis helps maintain some strength and sure that using a sea	29	Ski pass holder. I use a hot water machine at home where I place my cup under the nozzle and push a button which dispenses the correct amount of water for my whatever size cup I am using. I use a walker whichapart from helping me balance also holds myhandbag do that I do not having to carry it
38       Fill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half         40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         58       Been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       Sharp brives with special handles. Fat handled preelers (oxo), helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have excretarial support thankfully)         77       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         70       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         70       Ws dight helps with writing         71       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         70       Use right hand         70 </th <th>30</th> <th>Have a steering knob fitted on my car</th>	30	Have a steering knob fitted on my car
40       Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit         43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         1       Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not storing foodstuffs in high or very flow shelves, unless I can pick them thy with a grabher. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars, use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         60       Barbs rbinses with special handles. Fat handled peelers (oxo), helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidextrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         74       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         Change in technique       7         70       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My bubband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refils the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me      <	38	Pill Cutter to help with medication as i cant snap medical pills in half
43       Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen         51       Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not storing foodstuffs in high or very jow shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. Alow trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted         53       Aid to open jars, use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         60       Sharp finives with special handles. Fat handled preders (oxo), helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphore a lot more than others (have scretarial support thankfully)         79       Thave some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         71       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of watter. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       me         21       Kost activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttoms are a couple of examples. Thelive target excersice helps maintain some of any table for me         26       Licking fingers         30 <th>40</th> <th>Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit</th>	40	Weighted fat pen. Helps a bit
Electric can opener, gadget to open jars, not toring foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, juntes I can pick them up with a gabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted           53         Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed           56         I use a grab stick to help me pick up things           58         Have a vertical mouse at work A ambidextrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help           60         Sharp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (oxo), helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food           76         Have taken fat too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)           79         I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans           84         Wrist weight helps with writing           7         Use right hand           9         Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets           My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me           20         Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting earth and sure that using a seated row machine at the grim has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength           28         Licking fingers	43	Needle threaders, grippers for jars, proper pen
53       Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed         55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         58       Been ordered for work: A ambidextrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seared row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on a lower shell so i can reach them; making a flasts of coffee         30       on to a lower shell so i can reach them; making a flast of coffee         34       Wy non-dominant hand as the in or afflected; put some items on to a lower shell so i can reach them; making a flast of coffee	51	Electric can opener, gadget to open jars,not storing foodstuffs in high or very low shelves, unless I can pick them up with a grabber. A low trolley so that things can be dragged or pushed rather than lifted
55       I use a grab stick to help me pick up things         58       Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidextrous, cordiess vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       Sharp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (oxo). helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have sceretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track botoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34 <td< th=""><th>53</th><th>Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed</th></td<>	53	Aid to open jars; use of a perching stool; rail to help me pull myself out of bed
58       Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidextrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help         60       Sharp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (oxo), helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have sceretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essent for wanching at the gym hait improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34       Wy thing with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support	55	I use a grab stick to help me pick up things
60       grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food         76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an ald to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted excise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seared row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34       Wind the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         44       tracting fingers         35       Licking fingers         36       I on or a tower shelf	58	Have a vertical mouse at work. A ambidextrous, cordless vertical mouse has been ordered for work and will hopefully help
76       Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)         79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       mot to allower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         31       Sit while cooking so balance inst't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drice), batch prepare meals so can just microware when ready, sit to dress and especially sock/shoes         41       I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdor eating as they are light weight to carry         46       damaged by the MS         57       Some aspects of driving	60	Sharp knives with special handles. Fat handled peelers (oxo). helping hand grabbers, chopping board with spikes to hold food
79       I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans         84       Wrist weight helps with writing         Change in technique         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34       while to coking as balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble direr), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/hoes         41       and outdoor eating as the gate light weight to carry         46       My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS         53       Make sure I am sitting down to complete th activities <th>76</th> <th>Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)</th>	76	Have taken far too much work home because of the typing issue but also use a dictaphone a lot more than others (have secretarial support thankfully)
84       Wrist weight helps with writing         Change in technique         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       me         Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34       While cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         44       My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS         53       Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities         59       Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves         61       I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more bu	79	I have some plastic grippy material and a battery operated jar opener. I also have an aid to help open ring pull cans
Change in technique         7       Use right hand         9       Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets         My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me         20       Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         28       Licking fingers         30       Might be andle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         32       Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         34       When ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         41       I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         46       damaged by the MS         57       Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves         58       Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves         59       Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves	84	Wrist weight helps with writing
7Use right hand9Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packetsMy husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me20Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength28Licking fingers30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoces44My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS55Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	Change	in technique
9Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets20My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me20Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength28Licking fingers30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee34Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to care then car to house. <th>7</th> <th>Use right hand</th>	7	Use right hand
20My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me20Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength28Licking fingers30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave 	9	Bra on. Back to front. Use teeth and hand to open packets
Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength28Licking fingers30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty62Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	20	My husband helps me do my bra and does all cooking and refills the kettle with only a small amount of water. I ask people in cafes to carry coffee to my table for me
28Licking fingers30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move 		Most activities can be achieved one handed and selecting easier to wear clothing is essential. Elastic waist track bottoms and avoiding buttons are a couple of examples. I believe targeted exercise helps maintain some strength and sure that using a seated row machine at the gym has improved my ability to pull up
30Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41Ifill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength
32Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength Licking fingers
34Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61Use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty62Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to 	24 28 30	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee
41I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty62Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28 30 32	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support
46My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty62Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28 30 32 34	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes
53Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28 30 32 34 41	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry
59Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28 30 32 34 41 46	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS
61I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty61Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.	24 28 30 32 34 41 46 53	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS         Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities
<ul><li>Use a tea trolley to get plates/glasses from worksurface to table and to move things around the house. Use a wheely bag to transport shopping from shop to car then car to house.</li></ul>	24 28 30 32 34 41 46 53 59	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS         Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities         Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves
	24 28 30 32 34 41 46 53 59 61	trousers. A stress ball has helped keep a small amount of grip strength         Licking fingers         Using the handle of a wooden spoon to open ring pulls on tins; I've learnt to do many things with my non dominant hand as that is not affected; put some items on to a lower shelf so I can reach them; making a flask of coffee         Kneel on floor next to bed or similar support         Sit while cooking so balance isn't an issue, use a dryer indoors for washing (both hanging rack and tumble drier), batch prepare meals so can just microwave when ready, sit to dress and especially socks/shoes         I fill the water to the minimal level for boiling. I use plastic plates for camping and outdoor eating as they are light weight to carry         My non-dominant hand is getting better at doing buttons etc as that side is less damaged by the MS         Make sure I am sitting down to complete the activities         Some aspects of driving are easier when I am wearing gloves         I use my left hand more. I am left handed but over time used my right more and more but have now returned to being more of a lefty

63	Keeping buttons on blouses done up all the time
64	My husband
68	I steady my hand with my other hand, and use my left arm for a lot of tasks (except for writing.)
71	Have to write more slowly
77	My family :-)
78	Stabbing the milk top!
79	I put my bra on with the clips on the front, do them up, twist it to the back and slip the arm straps up. Almost anyone who wears a bra can show what I'm talking about. I usually buy sports bras now
81	Using air con to maximum (esspecially in car, when I am en route somewhere) Buying food that is prepared as much as possible (stuff that is already cut up). I live alone, and with fatigue and food prep being a problem if it is not easy it will not happen (and I refuse to live off microwave meals). Managing fatigue is important for me (it increases neuropathic pain, decreases ability to use hands and I keep the meds to a minimum as the effect my cognition and increase fatigue and ability to work)
84	I eat mainly with just a fork, use thumb to press aerosols, use teeth to open tig tubes and lids (I know! idiot!) microwave veg instead of heavy pans of water
85	Opening containers: rubber gaskets/hot water/wet cloth/husband. Boots: dont wear them
Rest /	′ take breaks
11	Take breaks if playing the piano
14	Resting, asking my Family for help, eating ice-cream
18	Breaks
52	Rest until possible even if that means just going to bed and trying again tomorrow
83	Not at the moment but I try not to write or play the piano too much in one go
86	Try to relax, if evening put things away and usually go to bed